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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 21 JUNE 2021 

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning Mr Myburgh,  good morning  

everybody.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Good morning Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning Mr Gigaba.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Good morning Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning.  

MR GIGABA:   Good morning Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Good morning Mr Solomon.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Good morning – good morning Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Good morning to  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Thank you.   The oath you 

took on Thursday Mr Gigaba wi l l  cont inue to  apply  today.   

Thank you.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Good morning Mr Gigaba.  

MR GIGABA:   Good morning Mr Myburgh.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  ask you p lease to  turn to  

Bundle 7(a) .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To Exhib i t  BB24.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i f  I  cou ld ask you p lease to  turn 

to  page 129 i t  is  Mr Mahlangu’s  aff idavi t  or  in  fact  i t  is  

996.129.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Just  repeat  the page number? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   996.129 Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  just  wanted to  ask you a few 

quest ions in  re la t ion to  Mr Mahlangu’s aff idavi t  before we 

f in ish off  on h im.   At  paragraph 106 he says:  

“That  the core funct ions of  the  Min is te r  

enta i led overseeing the per fo rmance of  the 

SOC’s that  fe l l  under h is  responsib i l i ty  and 10 

exerc is ing  shareholder  power in  respect  o f  

those ent i t ies.   The la t te r  funct ion  involved 

the appointment  and removal  o f  d i rectors of  

the DPE re lated SOC’s. ”  

 Would you conf i rm that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes among others.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then he says at  107.  

“Thus my dut ies  as the specia l  advisor  to  

the Min is te r  inc luded advis ing the Min is te r  in  

respect  o f  the decis ions he was requi red to  20 

make in  the d ischarg ing h is  core  funct ions 

inc lud ing the appointment  and removal  o f  

d i rectors amongst  other  funct ions. ”  

 Would you conf i rm that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes of  course  there was a process 
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Chai rperson to th is .   The advisors  were – were par t  o f  a  – 

of  that  p rocess.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So I  then wanted to  come to that  

process Mr Gigaba.   I  th ink you wi l l  f ind that  a t  page 

996.133 at  paragraph 120 where Mr Mahlangu sets out  that  

process.   He says at  120.1.  

“Appl i cat ions or  nominat ions would be  

received f rom the publ i c  by departmenta l  

o ff ic ia ls ,  min is ter ia l  advisors such as mysel f  

and the Min is ter  h imsel f . ”  10 

 I  just  wanted to  take you to  120.4.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Someth ing that  you spoke about  I  

th ink on Fr iday – 120.4.  

“Based on the assessment  of  the sk i l ls  gap 

in  a par t i cu la r  board the legal  and 

governance uni t  together  wi th  the uni t  

responsib le fo r  the SOC would  prefer  – 

would prepare a sk i l ls  mat r ix . ”  

 Do you conf i rm that?   20 

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink you spoke about  that  on  

Fr iday.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes I  conf i rm i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  I  could ask you then to  have a look 
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a t  paragraph 120.6 p lease at  page 996.134.   A t  120.  Mr  

Mahlangu says:  

“The DDG’s and the specia l  advisors would 

then set t le  on a l is t  o f  candidates.   I  would  

then take th is  l is t  to  the Min is ter  fo r  h is  

considerat ion.   This ensured that  the 

Min is ter ’s  v iews were taken in to account  

before an off ic ia l  memorandum was 

submi t ted to  h im by the department  to  

approve recommended candidates. ”  10 

 Would you conf i rm that?  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson I  would not .   The – the  off ic ia l  

process would emanate I  th ink  as I  out l ined in  my 

submission – I  am not  sure whether  i t  is  – just  –  i f  you just  

bear  wi th  me.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Gigaba just  to  locate you th is  is  

in  your  main  bundle –  i t  is  the  fu l l  a ff idavi t  o f  Mr  

Mahalangu.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Your  response to Mr Mahlangu is  20 

conta ined in  a d i f ferent  bundle.  

MR GIGABA:   Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  we looked at  on Fr iday where 

you responded to par t icu lar  sect ions.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  can take you there but  I  –  as I  recal l  

you d id not  – you were not  ca l led  upon to respond to th is  

par t icu lar  sect ion.   

MR GIGABA:   Because what  – what  the process 

Chai rperson wou ld enta i l  is  that  the department  would  

in i t ia te because they would know which board members or  

which – which board are due fo r  ro tat ion at  which point  the 

– the department  would prepare the sk i l ls  matr i x ,  the repor t  

o f  assessment  of  the board and –  of  the board co l lect i ve ly  

and ind iv idual l y  and would in i t ia te the process.   To the  10 

extent  that  my advisors would br ing cer ta in  issues to  my 

at tent ion that  were st i l l  w i th in  the board – wi th in  the 

departmenta l  p rocess.   That  was not  par t  o f  the process.    

 I t  would be in formal  br ie f ings to  me but  i t  d id  not  

happen a l l  o f  the t ime or  most  of  the t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry just  take one step back I  

missed a sentence you made.   You want  to  look at  your  

aff idavi t?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr Myburgh wi l l  look – help you 20 

look.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja le t  me jus t… 

MR GIGABA:   To f ind the bundle.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Gigaba le t  me take you to  page 

996.274.   This is  where you respond to the aff idavi t .  
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MR GIGABA:   99? 

CHAIRPERSON:   6  is  i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   996.274.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   P lease do not  fo rget  the points you 

were making because there is  one that  I  missed.   So I  want  

to  take you back.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So th is  is  your  response to Mr 

Mahlangu that  you wi l l  see that  i t  does not  deal  –  i t  is  not  a  

cr i t i c i sm wi th  paragraph 120 because you were not  asked to  

respond to i t  –  i t  does not  seem in the 3.3 Not ice.  10 

MR GIGABA:   Sor ry Chai r  I  am st i l l  t ry ing to  get  to  274.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  you might  – you may set  out  

somewhere.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You are wel l  ahead of  both of  us.   Just  te l l  

us the page again  – 996.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   274 Chai r.  

MR GIGABA:   274 yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   274 okay.    20 

MR GIGABA:   So in  – I  th ink… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes I  have got  i t .  

MR GIGABA:   From 996 27 -  .279.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR GIGABA:   Paragraph 8.5.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR GIGABA:   I  … 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You set  out  the process.  

MR GIGABA:   I  set  out  the process.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l l  r ight .  

MR GIGABA:   Now as I  sa id Cha i rperson there was no in  

the formal  process there was no requi rement  that  the  

advisors should take the l is t  and br ing i t  to  me fo r  me to  

appra ise my – appr ise mysel f  o f  the – of  the l is t  so that  I  

could make submissions before the – the board – I  mean 10 

before the department  f ina l i ses  the board nominat ions 

process.   That  would have – that  would happen occasional ly  

i t  was an in fo rmal  par t  just  to  keep me abreast  maybe of  

cer ta in  th ings wh ich they thought  were important  and then 

they would re ly  on me responding to  those issues.    

 But  the formal  o ff ic ia l  p rocess of  the department  

took p lace r ight  f rom the department  unt i l  the department  

would present  a submission to  me.   So there were  i f  I  am 

not  mistaken two or  th ree ways in  which th is  happened.    

 I t  would  e i ther  be  a submission wh ich  conta ined the  20 

rat ionale – the argument  and the names proposed or  i f  we 

were prepar ing for  an AGM we would in  the course of  

d iscussing the connoted agenda of  the AGM then as  par t  o f  

that  as we go f rom i tem to i tem of  the connoted agenda we 

would then get  to  the board nominat ion process and then 



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 10 of 357 
 

the department  would star t  by out l in ing th is  is  the board  

that  is  outgoing –  th is  is  the repor t  assessment  of  th is  – of  

th is  board.   These are board members who are – who are  

e i ther  complet ing the i r  f i rs t  term and are due for  

reappointment  or  who have completed a second te rm and 

must  be ret i red or  who – who have completed a f i rs t  term 

but  for  cer ta in  reasons emanat ing f rom the  board 

assessment  repor t  we recommend that  they should be  

ret i red.    

 Then we would look at  those and then they would  10 

say these are board members  that  we are  recommending – I  

mean these are  candidates that  we are recommending 

should f i l l  in  the  gaps that  are being created so that  we 

would say the fo l lowing are being reta ined – the fo l lowing 

are being nominated.  

 Now that  is  a  formal  process of  prepar ing for  an  

AGM.  Obviously except ions would happen i f  vacancies 

happened in  – in  the middle of  a  term or  in  the middle of  a  

year  maybe as a resul t  o f  natura l  a t t r i t ion or  as a  resul t  o f  

res ignat ion in  which case i f  i t  was real l y  absolute ly  20 

important  we would have to  look at  that  one or  two 

vacancies to  f i l l  them in and take them to cabinet .    

 But  the off i c ia l  p rocess d id not  requi re that  advisors  

should as par t  o f  that  process approach me wi th  a l is t  o f  

people who –  whom I  th ink need to be included on the 
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board.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So is  the – is  the d i f ference between what  

Mr Mahlangu is  saying about  the process and what  you are  

saying s imply that  what  you say occur red unoff i c ia l ly  and 

not  as a norm just  for  some t imes.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What  he says occur red as par t  o f  the 

formal  p rocess that  i s  the d i f ference between the  two of  

you.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.   Exact ly  Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   As you go back to  20.6 

just  to  p ick up on the Chai r ’s  po int  a t  page 996.134.   So the  

last  sentence:  

“This ensured tha t  the Min is te r ’s  v iews were  

taken in to account  before an off i c ia l  

memorandum was submi t ted to  h im. ”  

 Now that  o ff ic ia l  memorandum is  the decis ion 

memorandum and that  you see reference being made to at  

paragraph 120.9.  20 

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    

“The speci f i c  sector  un i t  and legal  

compl iance would then prepare a decis ion  

memorandum wi th a mot ivat ion  for  the  
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appointment . ”  

 And then at  120.10.  

“The Min is te r  would e i ther  approve the l i s t  

wi th  or  wi thout  condi t ions. ”  

 And then as I  understand i t  Mr Gigaba what  f lowed 

f rom that  is  tha t  on the  st rength of  your  approval  the  

department  would  prepare  a cabinet  memorandum.  Is  that  

correct?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes that  is  –  that  would be the process yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And that  would then serve before  10 

cabinet .  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And we have seen var ious examples  

of  these decis ion memorandums and cabinet  memorandums.   

I  th ink when we star ted wi th  your  ev idence.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  deal t  for  example wi th  the  

appointment  of  Mr  Sharma etcetera.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  then just  wanted to  take you one 20 

other  th ing in  th is  aff idavi t  and that  re la tes to  – and just  to  

get  your  comment  i t  re la tes to  a meet ing that  Mr Mahlangu 

had wi th  Mr Dames and Ranesh Gupta.   That  you see at  

page 996.174.    

 Now you see at  278 he says:  
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“ Insofar  as the meet ing  between Mr Gama’s  

– I  beg your  pardon Dames and Ranesh 

Gupta is  concerned i t  arose out  o f  a  speci f ic  

context . ”  

 And then at  279 he expla ins and I  wi l l  paraphrase 

that  one of  the companies owned by the Gupta fami ly  owned 

a farm somewhere in  Mpumalanga and i t  had coal  deposi ts .   

The Gupta ’s  had r ights to  mine th is  coal  -  that  cer ta in  

envi ronmenta l  compl icat ions arose and th is  had impl icat ions 

for  them and the supply of  coal  to  Eskom.   10 

 And then at  280 over  the page you see at  the last  

sentence:  

“ I t  is  on th is  basis that  Mr Gupta requested that  I  organise a 

meet ing between h im and Mr Dames. ”  

 You see that .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now I  just  wanted to  ask you about  

that  and I  th ink the Chai rperson may have ra ised th is  i ssue 

on Fr iday.   Why d id Mr Mahlangu have to be invo lved in  

meet ing of  th is  sor t?  I  mean why d id Mr Gupta no t  s imply 20 

ar range the meet ing h imsel f  wi th  Mr Dames? 

MR GIGABA:   As I  say Chai rperson – as I  responded on 

Fr iday Mr Mahlangu must  – might  have wanted to  

understand what  was being d iscussed so that  i f  i t  had any –  

i f  there was any reason for  h im to a ler t  me as to  some of  
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the issues that  were being d iscussed he would do so.  

 Because as he sa id in  h is  –  at  the opening of  h is  

aff idavi t  I  had asked h im to – to  manage these re lat ions  

because I  d id  not  want  them to get  out  o f  hand.   So i f  there 

was anyth ing that  he needed to ra ise wi th  me which  would  

requi re me e i ther  to  ta lk  to  the CEO involved or  the  

Chai rperson of  the board or  ta lk  to  i f  need be – i f  necessary  

to  say to  h im Mr Mahlangu p lease te l l  these guys that  look 

th is  cannot  be done in  the fo l lowing  -  for  the fo l lowing 

reasons.   Then he would have to  do  so.  10 

 I  th ink he just  wanted to  understand what  was being 

d iscussed and what  would be the outcomes of  those th ings 

and cer ta in ly  not  in  order  to  in f luence the outcomes or  

create the impression that  I  was involved.  

 Insofar  as I  understand wel l  I  do not  – I  do no t  

remember how th is  issue was resolved and – and so I  do 

not  th ink he d id br ing i t  to  my at ten t ion.  

 I  th ink the mat te r  u l t imate ly  requi red the  Department  

of  Envi ronmenta l  Affa i rs  i f  they  were  envi ronmenta l  

impl icat ions involved.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  i s  not  the impression created that  

you are involved because your  own specia l  advisor  is  a t  the 

meet ing and in  fact  sets up the meet ing? 

MR GIGABA:   I  th ink he does expla in in to – too tha t  he d id 

not  lure Mr Dames to the meet ing – he d id not  know – he 
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knew of  the meet ing in  advance and agreed to i t .   I t  was the 

f i rs t  and only t ime he d id th is  and the purpose as I  out l ined 

before the commission was not  to  c reate the impression that  

I  had any in terest  in  the mat ter  or  that  the mat te r  had to  be  

resolved in  any par t i cu lar  way.  

 Chai rperson le t  me set  th is  out .   Th is was not  the  

only meet ing and as Mr Mahlangu and I  on Fr iday expla ined 

there were many other  such meet ings.   In  other  meet ings I  

took a more for thr ight  approach in  t ry ing to  resolve those 

issues because we were  deal ing  in  those instances wi th  10 

organisat ions and we needed to deal  wi th  i ssues of  a  pol i cy  

nature insofar  as speci f i c  SOC’s or  a l l  SOC’s are  

concerned.  

 I  made reference to the  – the  legal  –  the – the 

account ing – audi t ing and the adver t i s ing/market ing  

professionals in  which case we – we fac i l i ta ted – he  

fac i l i ta ted meet ings Mr Mahlangu and involved me in  those 

meet ings.  

 But  insofar  as ind iv iduals  were concerned he d id not  

involve me and he only at tended just  so that  he understands 20 

what  was being d iscussed as I  had sa id.  

 And there were many other  instances Chai rperson 

where  in  addi t ion  to  the ones I  have c i ted  where we –  we 

would have been involved off ic ia l l y  as the Department  in  

t ry ing to  resolve issues of  d ispute.  
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 But  a l l  o f  those issues were not  involv ing ind iv idual  

business people  t ry ing  to  get  business f rom the  SOE’s.   

Insofar  as these are concerned as  I  s tated last  week i t  was 

– i t  was only to  create accessib i l i ty  but  Mr Mah langu’s 

presence in  those meet ings was not  to  in f luence those 

meet ings because to – to  the extent  that  I  can understand 

he d id not  make any inputs in  those meet ings in  favour  of  

the business people concerned.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  was th is  not  a  pure operat ional  

issue? 10 

MR GIGABA:   I  th ink Chai rperson I  have responded to th is .   

I t  was a pure operat ional  issue but  i t  happened even today.   

Business people request  meet ings wi th  var ious leaders of  

ent i t ies or  even departments.    

 There are instances when they come to you as a 

Min is te r  and you say to  them I  cannot  – you know they – 

they would meet  us at  var ious levels and they say,  can I  

meet  wi th  your  – wi th  you I  want  to  d iscuss th is  th ing.   And 

we say to  them,  i t  is  not  my issue.  I t  is  a  mat te r  o f  the 

department .   I  can refer  you to  the  DG – meet  wi th  the DG – 20 

ta lk  to  h im;  hear  what  the DG says.   He wi l l  out l ine to  you 

whatever  you need to understand.   

 You know in  democracies and South Af r ica is  no 

except ion you cannot  c reate a buffer  between business and 

government .   That  is  why in  par t  government  establ i shed at  
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one stage the CEO’s forum where out  o f  concerns by 

business that  they were – the  economy was not  g rowing – i t  

was in  the midst  –  we were in  the midst  o f   a  – a g lobal  

economic recession.   I t  was affect ing the South Af r ican 

economy.   Our economy began to  decl ine.   A CEO’s forum 

was establ i shed to ensure that  CEO’s can ta lk  to  

government  on mat te rs which a lso  involved pol i cy which  

pol i cy would be in  favour  of  business.  

 Now in  some instances ar is ing out  o f  those 

in i t ia t ives labour would a lso say but  your  meet ings wi th  the 10 

CEO’s is  t i l t ing economic pol i cy in  favour  of  business and 

therefore we a lso want  a forum where we would a lso be 

able to  s tate our  v iews.    

 Now the issue w i th  such engagement  is  that  i t  is  

dynamic and – and in  some instances qui te  f lu id  but  the 

understanding among a l l  those invo lved is  that  you – you do 

not  in tend to  take a decis ion out  o f  such engagement  that  

may – that  may or  wi l l  be out  o f  the PFMA and other  

ex is t ing leg is la t ion which guides how procurement  and 

supply chain i ssues operate.  20 

 So even i f  i t  was an operat ional  mat ter  but  you -   

you t ry  as government  to  – to  ensure that  you can assis t  

business where you can.   I  had occasions when – where I  

met  wi th  the board of  Investec on severa l  occasions and 

var ious other  companies for  that  mat te r.  
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 Or  in  some instances I  would refer  those business 

people to  – to  the off ic ia ls  in  the department  to  meet  wi th  

them.    

 The understanding I  re i terate was that  no decis ion  

wi l l  be taken which  undermined or  cont ravened the PFMA 

and other  supply chain and procurement  processes in  

government  and o ther  re levant  ex is t ing leg is la t ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see Mr  Gigaba I  suppose I  just  

want  to  make th is  po int .   On the face of  th is  Mr Gupta d id  

not  want  to  meet  wi th  you.   I t  was not  where he requi red 10 

min is te r ia l  in tervent ion.   He d id not  even want  to  meet  wi th  

Mr Mahlangu.   I t  says at  280:  

“ I t  was on th is  basis that  Mr Gupta  

requested that  I  organise meet ing  between 

h im and Dames. ”  

MR GIGABA:   Absolute ly  Chai rperson and that  is  the point  

which I  have been making.   That  is  the point  which  I  have 

been making that  as government  we f rom t ime to t ime have 

to assis t  business to  meet  wi th  re levant  leaders in  the 

organisat ions so that  they are able to  s tate the i r  issues and 20 

the understanding  ar is ing out  o f  tha t  is  that  there wi l l  be no  

decis ion taken which cont ravenes the PFMA, the  supply 

chain management  process,  the  procure – the  publ i c  

procurement  p rocess and other  ex is t ing leg is la t ion.  

 This is  the point  which I  am t ry ing  to  emphasise.   I t  
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is  not  me.   You know I  sa id  ear l ier  that  I  d id  not  want  to  be  

the one who fac i l i ta tes these meet ings and to the extent  

possib le  when somebody ra ised these issues wi th  me 

because I  do  not  have t ime to be fac i l i ta t ing  meet ings and 

looking at  the d ia r ies of  – of  leaders of  ent i t ies or  

departments.   I  would ask my advisors to  a rrange those 

meet ings and to go ahead.  

 In  th is  case Mr Mahlangu was doing what  I  had sa id  

he needed to do in  order  to  manage re lat ions but  he  

understood what  was the c lear  ins t ruct ion provided to  h im 10 

and that  is  why he says in  2.8.  –  in  282 that  there was no 

in f luence he put  to  bear  in  the meet ings and – and you 

know even though the meet ing ended the way that  i t  d id  Mr 

Mahlangu says that  – sorry is  i t  too – i s  i t  too – in to-  he  

says that  i t  was the f i rs t  and only  t ime that  he went  wi th  

Dames to the meet ing because of  how the meet ing ended 

and he real i sed as a resul t  o f  the inst ruct ion I  had g iven 

that  such meet ings should not  be resul t ing anyth ing 

untoward.   He then af ter  that  d id  not  a rrange such 

meet ings.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry Chai r  d id  you –  I  see you took 

off  your  mask wh ich is  usual l y  a  s ign that  you want ing to  

say someth ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  somet imes –  somet imes I  want  to  say 

someth ing and then I  decide not  to .  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 20 of 357 
 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  I  want  to  – I  want  to  ask only when 

you have f in ished on th is  po int  so I  g ive you a chance to 

exhaust  what  you have on th is  po int .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  just  want  to  then ra ise two other 

th ings.   You ta lk  about  paragraph 108 – sor ry 282.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  just  ask you to  have a  look at  

four  l ines f rom the bot tom of  282.    

“At  the meet ing Mr Gupta ra ised h is  10 

compla ints.   Mr Gupta was usual l y  b lunt  and 

forward in  a manner of  expression. ”  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    

“This d id  not  s i t  wel l  wi th  Mr Dames. ”  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    

“He understandably found i t  rude and 

insul t ing. ”  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then at  283.  

“Dur ing th is  conversat ion Mr Gupta a lso  

compla ined tha t  Eskom discr iminated 

against  the TNA and favoured establ i shed 

newspapers.  A l though the meet ing was 
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tense the tension eased as the  meet ing 

progressed. ”  

 You see that .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes I  see i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Do you have any comment  on that?  

MR GIGABA:   I  was not  in  the  meet ing Chai rperson so  I  do 

not  know whether  i t  eased or  d id  not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  le t  us go back to  the point  that  Mr  

Myburgh was ask ing you about  and the one that  you have 

expla ined comprehensive ly.   10 

 I  do have d i f f icu l ty  wi th  the not ion  that  there was a  

need fo r  Mr Mah langu to at tend these meet ings between 

Tony Gupta and SOE,  CEO’s and so on when you ta lk ing 

about  Kona,  you ta lk ing about  Mr Dames and so on in  o rder  

to  hear  what  was being sa id and repor t  back to  you.  

 So because I  asked the quest ion these were  

operat ional  mat te rs.   I  say Tony Gupta  wanted to  see the 

CEO’s as Mr Myburgh says not  –  not  you – not  your  advisor.   

Why – why – why d id your  advisor  not  s imply say  

1 .  Mr Tony Gupta you are ent i t led to  approach the CEO 20 

and CEO’s off ice  an make d i rect  ar rangements and i f  

he agrees the two of  you wi l l  meet .   I  have noth ing  to  

– to  do there – wi th  that .    

I f  subsequent ly  – subsequent ly  that  meet ing you need to  

see the Min is te r  –  the Min is ter  can say see me and I  hear  
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what  you have to  say but  that  meet ing where you want  to  

see the CEO of  a  par t icu la r  SOE i t  is  between the two of  

you.   We do not  have to  – we do not  have – the Min is te r  

does not  have to  hear  anyth ing about  i t  un less one of  you 

has reason to want  to  ta lk  to  h im ar is ing out  o f  those 

issues.   Why – why was that  not  the  correct  approach? 

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson Mr Mah langu could have opt ion  

for  that  –  fo r  tha t  –  for  that  approach but  he – he – and 

there are two instances we ta lk ing about  here.   Maybe there 

could be three I  am not  sure.    10 

 I t  invo lved Mr Kona,  i t  invo lved Mr Dames and I  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   And of  course the  –  

MR GIGABA:   I  cannot  recal l  because there were e ight  

SOE’s in  the por t fo l io  I  cannot  recal l  i t  there were other  

CEO’s who – who a lso had a s imi la r  exper ience.   But… 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  there might  not  have been – i t  is 

important  to  say a t  least  my recol lect ion is  those two.  

MR GIGABA:   Exact ly  out  o f  e ight .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  o f  course as you sa id he d id fac i l i ta te 

other  meet ings that  he might  not  have involved Tony Gupta  20 

but  involved other  business people and so on.   And my 

understanding of  what  you were saying is  i t  is  a long the 

same l ines.   You know.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So the pr inc ip le  was the same – h is  
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invo lvement .   But  you can deal  wi th  i t .  

MR GIGABA:   Thank you.   I t  is  important  a lso Chai rperson 

to put  on record that  insofar  as the SOE’s are concerned I  

th ink i t  is  two ou t  o f  e igh t .   Now,  and I  say,  as  I  repeat ,  

Cha i rperson.   We cou ld ,  w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  say,  

he  shou ld  no t  have been the re .  I  do  no t  know the  ex ten t  to  

wh ich  i t  was happen ing  in  o the r  a reas.   I  do  no t  know to  

the  ex ten t  to  wh ich  i t  i s  s t i l l  happen ing  even a t  the  present  

moment  and so  i t  a lso  wou ld  be  impor tan t  to  es tab l i sh  the  

ex ten t  to  wh ich  i t  i s  s t i l l  happen ing ,  the  ex ten t  to  wh ich  i t  10 

happened in  the  past  and even pr io r  to  2010 because there  

wou ld  have been ins tances when i t  happened peop le ,  

bus inesspeop le  come to  o r  wou ld  come to  where  the  ANC 

MEC was hav ing  meet ings,  reques t  to  meet  w i th  Min is te rs .    

 Somet imes the  DG’s  wou ld  a lso  be  present  even 

pr io r  to  me be ing  a  Min is te r.   And there  were  ins tances 

when –  I  made example ,  I  th ink ,  i f  no t  on  Fr iday  then i t  

must  have been  on Thursday when one bus inessperson 

dec ided to  wr i te  to  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec tor  p ro tes t ing  tha t  

Min is te r  D lamin i  Zuma d id  no t  want  to  meet  w i th  them to  20 

d iscuss an  opera t iona l  mat te r  a t  Home Affa i r s .    

 I  do  no t  reca l l  how tha t  i ssue was reso lved but  i t  

was based on the i r  exper ience or  expecta t ion  tha t  they 

wou ld  be  thus ass is ted  w i th  the  fac i l i ta t ion  o f  the  meet ings  

and d iscuss ions.   The pr inc ip le  was a lways tha t  no  
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dec is ion  w i l l  be  taken out  o f  such engagements  wh ich  

wou ld  cont ravene the  Supp ly  Cha in  Management ,  the  

pub l i c  p rocurement  p rocess and o ther  ex is t ing  leg i s la t ion  

inso fa r  as  these issues are  concerned.    

 I  th ink  the  –  there  was an ins tance when I  was a t  

Home Affa i rs  when I  t r ied  to  fac i l i ta te  a  d iscuss ion  be tween 

the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs  and the  depar tment  inso fa r  

as  the  F i reb lade,  a  p r iva te  te rm ina l  was concerned.   And 

my v iew was,  he re  is  a  p roposa l  wh ich  has been  p laced 

before  us .    10 

 Le t  the  depar tment  now ta lk  w i th  the  peop le  

invo l ved.   And tha t  i s  why,  a t  the  end o f  tha t  meet ing ,  the  

dec is ion  was tha t  the  D i rec tor  Genera l  must  conduct  due  

d i l igence,  f ina l i se  the  specs fo r  th is ,  engage fu r ther  w i th  

th is  company inso fa r  as  the  Supp ly  Cha in  Management  

p rocess is  concerned.   We d id  no t  take  the  dec is ion  a t  the 

meet ing  i t se l f  because I  unders tood tha t  I  as  a  Min is te r  

has no  ju r isd i c t ion  tenders ,  con t rac ts ,  and the  Supp ly  

Cha in  Management  p rocess in  government .    

 And tha t  i s  why you say then:   DG,  you go ahead  20 

and do th is  and ensure  tha t  the  p rocesses a re  fo l lowed to  

the  la t te r,  consu l t  w i th  o ther  re levant  depar tments .   Now,  i t  

wou ld  then be necessary,  Cha i rperson,  aga in ,  to  make a  

proposa l  in  th is  ins tance tha t  i s  go ing  to  be  a l l  

encompass ing  so  tha t  there  is  be t te r  understand ing  o f  how 
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such issues shou ld  be  dea l t  w i th  because inso far  as  I  

cou ld  reca l l ,  they  were  be ing  dea l t  w i th  f rom the  

perspect ive  o f  each depar tment  as  i t  went  a long  w i thout  

there  ex i s t ing  an  a l l  encompass ing  comprehens ive  

f ramework  fo r  how do you engage w i th  bus iness  peop le  

who have compla in t  and the  men who have issues tha t  they  

w ish  to  ra ise ,  who have quer ies  they want  to  ra ise  and they 

use whatever  oppor tun i ty  they ge t  fo r  them to  be  ab le  to  

ra ise  those issues.    

 And inso far  as  you as  the  Min i s te r  a re  concerned  10 

or  inso far  as  I  as  the  Min is te r  were  concerned,  I  d id  no t  

want  to  be  invo l ved in  tak ing  the  dec is ion  there .   I  wou ld  

say:   You go ta lk  about  th is .   Wha tever  dec i s ion  you ar r i ve  

a t ,  tha t  then is  the  mat te r  be tween  the  two o f  you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  do  you say to  the  propos i t ion  tha t  

in  e f fec t  you were  as  Min i s te r  a t tend ing  those meet ings  

th rough your  spec ia l  adv isor?  

MR GIGABA :    No . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    You were  no t  phys i ca l l y  there  bu t  he  was 

rep resent ing  you there .   Wha t  do  you say  to  tha t  20 

propos i t ion?  

MR GIGABA :    As  I  accept ,  Cha i rperson,  I  was no t  there ,  

and Mr  Mah langu  unders tood tha t  he  is  under tak ing  these 

engagements  in  o rder  to  remove me f rom presence.   And 

the  unders tand ing  w i th  the  SEO’s  and tha t  i s  why  I  ra ise  
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th is  even in  one  o f  the  meet ings  be tween the  cha i rs  and  

the  CEO’s  o f  the  SOE’s  in  our  po r t fo l io  tha t  shou ld  

anybody come to  you –  and I  made  example  o f  the  fac t  tha t  

peop le  come to  me and say to  me:   Man,  the  P res ident  has  

sa id  I  must  come and say th is  to  you.   And I  wou ld  say to  

them:   Wel l ,  the  Pres ident  i s  my employer.   I f  the  Pres ident  

wants  to  g i ve  me an ins t ruc t ion ,  he  w i l l  ca l l  me,  no t  you.   

He wou ld  no t  te l l  you  to  come and  g ive  me ins t ruc t i ons.   I  

was not  appo in ted  by  you.    

 And in  some ins tances,  I  wou ld  ca l l  the i r  b lu f f  and  10 

say:   Le t  me ca l l  the  Pres ident  and  f ind  ou t .   And they 

wou ld  immedia te l y  reca l l  i t  and say:   But  no ,  no ,  no .   He 

d id  no t  say  do  th is .   He sa id  I  must  come and ta lk  to  you.   I  

made tha t  examp le  to  them and sa id :   In  the  ins tance tha t  

somebody comes  to  you,  e i ther  together  w i th  my adv i sors  

or  comes a lone and says I  had sa id  they must  come and 

ta lk  to  you.   P lease bear  i n  m ind tha t  I  d id  no t  g ive  an  

ins t ruc t ion  as  to  how th is  i ssue shou ld  be  reso lved.   You 

have a  respons ib i l i t y  to  fo l low the  processes and 

procedures ex is t i ng  in  your  o rgan isa t ion  and has p rov ided 20 

in  the  pub l i c  p rocurement  po l i cy  f ramework  as  we l l  as  the  

Pub l ic  F inance Management  Act ,  because in  the  end,  you  

are  an  account ing  o f f i ce r.   You w i l l  have to  account  fo r  th is  

dec is ion  and how you account  fo r  i t ,  you  cannot  say  tha t  

the  Min i s te r  made me do i t .   I  d id  no t  make you do i t  bu t  
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unders tand the  env i ronment  in  wh ich  we opera te  or  

opera ted .    

 And the  SOE env i ronment  i s  very  d i f f i cu l t  in  tha t  

regard ,  in  tha t  there  are  many peop le  w i th  in te res ts ,  g loba l  

o rgan isa t ions,  g loba l  compan ies ,  and domest ic  compan ies ,  

bus inesspeop le ,  ind iv idua ls  and co l lec t i ves  who seek these 

types o f  p la t fo rms and you need to  es tab l i sh  a  ve ry  c lear  

f ramework  as  to  what  dec i s ions can be taken and  what  i t  

means when somebody to  a  SEO say ing  tha t  I  have spoken  

to  the  Min i s te r,  and they have re fe r red  me to  you.    10 

 So,  Cha i rpe rson,  in  my op in ion  tha t  shou ld  be  an  

in te rpre ta t ion ,  bu t  i t  wou ld  be  the  wrong in te rpre ta t ion  in  

the  sense tha t  I  had spoken to  the  SEO’s  and tha t  i s  why 

none o f  them says:   I ,  there fore ,  d id  th is  as  a  resu l t  o f  

p resuming tha t  the  Min is te r  was in  suppor t  o f  th is .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   But ,  you see,  Mr  Mah langu makes  

i t  c lear  in  one o f  h is  a f f idav i t s  and  I  do  no t  know i f  i t  i s  th is  

one tha t  whatever  in te rac t ions he  had w i th  Mr  Tony  Gupta ,  

they were  in  h is  capac i ty  as  your  lega l  adv isor  o r  spec ia l  

adv isor.   I  th ink  he  says somewhere  he  was not  ac t ing  in  20 

h is  persona l  capac i ty  when he in te rac ted  w i th  them.   They  

were  no t  h is  persona l  f r iends.    

 Now,  tha t  –  and then,  o f  course ,  I  th ink ,  one  

deduces f rom tha t ,  i f  Mr  Mah langu does not  say  so  

express ly,  tha t  when he was a t tend ing  these meet ings,  
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whethe r  i t  i s  w i th  Tony Gupta  and Mr  Kona,  Tony  Gupta ,  

and Doug las ,  he  was not  there  in  h is  pe rsona l  capac i ty.   

He was there  because he was your  adv isor  and obv ious ly  

everybody who was in  those two meet ings knew tha t  he  

was your  spec ia l  adv isor  and,  obv ious ly,  i t  wou ld  be  

reasonab le  fo r  them to  th ink  tha t  –  I  am now ta lk ing  about  

the  SEO’s  –  to  th ink  tha t  he  wou ld  repor t  back to  you.   

Would  you qu ibb le  w i th  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  Mr  Mah langu wou ld  no t  have  

been g iven th is  respons ib i l i t y  by  me to  ins t rument ing(?)  i t  10 

f rom these engagements  had he not  been my spec ia l  

adv isor.   So,  I  gave h im th is  responsib i l i t y,  unders tand ing  

the  ro le  tha t  he  had to  p lay  in  my o f f i ce ,  and gave h im a  

fu r ther  ins t ruc t ion  as  to  how he shou ld  conduct  h imse l f ,  

and tha t  i s  why in  h is  a f f idav i t ,  p rev ious ly,  he  says a t  a l l  

t imes he conducted h imse l f  p ro fess iona l l y.   So,  tha t  i s  the  

f i rs t  p r inc ip le  to  es tab l i sh  he re .    

 Second ly.   The leaders  o f  our  SEO’s  unders tood,  

no t  on ly  in  regard  to  Mr  Ra jesh Gupta ,  bu t  in  regard  to  

every  o ther  persona l  who came to  them,  tha t  th is  was the  20 

mat te r  –  th is  was  the  manner  the  approach they needed to  

take  on those issues,  because  in  the  end,  even as  

Mr  Mah langu wou ld  have organ ised those two meet ings or  

o thers  w i th  o ther  o rgan isa t ions or  ind iv idua ls ,  the  manner  

in  wh ich  these issues wou ld  be  reso lved wou ld  have to  
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take  in to  cons idera t ion  –  because I  had i t  very  c lea r,  

Cha i rperson,  no  ambigu i t ies  abou t  th is ,  because as  I  say,  

when I  spoke about  th is ,  I  spoke about  the  p lan(?) .    

 I  even made re ference to  how peop le  approach me,  

and I  made i t  c lear  to  them tha t :   P lease,  fo l low the  Supp ly  

Cha in  Management  p rocess,  because there  is  leg i s la t ion  

ex i s t ing .   That  i s  why the  issue o f  F i reb lade ac tua l l y  

surpr i sed me to  c la im tha t  I  had approved a  name in  an  

emai l (? )  th rough  verba l  ag reement  tha t  F i reb lade  shou ld  

opera te .    10 

 I t  surpr ised me because tha t  i s  no t  how I  

unders tand the  Pub l ic  F inance Management  Act  and the  

Supp ly  Cha in  Management  p rocesses ar i s ing  thereof .   In  

the  end,  whatever  dec is ion  has  to  be  taken wh ich  has 

f inanc ia l  imp l ica t ion  is  no t  taken  by  the  Min is te r  o r  by  

in f luence o f  the  Min is te r.    

 The Min i s te r  i s  no t  an  account ing  o f f i ce r,  ne i ther  in  

the  depar tment  over  wh ich  they are  m in is te r,  nor  in  SOE’s 

over  wh ich  they  are  shareho lde r  representa t i ves .   The  

account ing  o f f i ce r  i s  to  take  a  dec is ion  wh ich  has fu l f i l l ed  20 

a l l  leg is la t i ve  requ i rements  in  te rms o f  Supp ly  Cha in  tha t  

shou ld  have had to  be  approved by  the  board .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Cou ld  I  take  you to  

another  a f f idav i t ,  p lease?  I f  you  go to  Bund le  11  and i f  you  
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cou ld  tu rn  . . . [ in tervenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Jus t  a  moment .   You are  –  you have gone to  

Bund le  11 .   I  am s t i l l  on  7(a) .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sure .   And cou ld  you tu rn  Bund le  11  

–  there  i s  a  f lag ,  15 .  

MR GIGABA :    15 . . .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then perhaps I  cou ld  ask  you to  tu rn  

to  page 942.1?  

MR GIGABA :    N ine . . .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor t  o f  m id-way in to  tha t  d iv ide r.  10 

MR GIGABA :    N ine ,  four,  two. . .   Po in t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    One.  

MR GIGABA :    Okay.   Yes,  I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now th is  i s  the  a f f idav i t  o f  the  

Manag ing  D i rec to r  o f  Fundudz i .  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Ernest  Nekhavhambe.   

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you see tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And we know tha t  Fundudz i  were  

appo in ted  by  Nat iona l  Treasury  to  conduct  cer ta in  

invest iga t ions and produced a  se r ies  o f  repor ts  tha t  a re  

fea tures  in  th is  inqu i ry.   There  a re  jus t  a  few th ings tha t  I  

wou ld  l i ke  to  ask  you in  re la t ion  to  th is  a f f idav i t .   Cou ld 



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 31 of 357 
 

you  p lease tu rn  to  page 942.13.  

MR GIGABA :    N ine ,  two,  four  o r  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    942.13.  

MR GIGABA :    I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    R igh t  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page a t  

parag raph 78,  Mokho lo  s ta ted :  

“Min is te r  G igaba in t roduced an in fo rmal  way o f  

board  appo in tments  and fu r ther  tha t  there  was 

no f ramework  or  po l i cy  in  p lace . . . ”  

 Now,  who is  Mokho lo?  10 

MR GIGABA :    Ms Mokho lo  was  an ac t ing  DDG. . .   Ah,  

sor ry,  no t  –  was a  DDG Lega l  in  government  in  the 

Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises  when I  was  there ,  

appo in ted  du r ing  my tenure .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And tha t  we see f rom the  top  o f  the  

page,  co r rec t?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    There  is  a  schedu le  se t t ing  ou t  a t  

parag raph 72,  the  va r ious ind i v idua ls  who served  dur ing  

your  tenure  and i t  then re f lec ts  he r  as  an  ac t ing  DG.   What  20 

do  you say to  he rs  or  to  th is  parag raph tha t  she s ta ted  tha t  

you in t roduced an in fo rmal  way o f  board  appo in tments  and  

fu r the r,  tha t  there  was no f ramework  o f  po l i cy  in  p lace?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  m in is te rs  do  no t  o f ten  ar r i ve  in  

depar tments  and  change ex is t ing  po l i c ies .   There  was a  
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po l i cy  o f  how board  were  appo in ted  when I  a r r i ved and tha t  

po l i cy  in  tha t  na ture  p reva i led .   When I  became Min is te r  –  I  

am not  sure  whether  paragraph 78  is  re la ted  to  paragraph  

75 in  wh ich  parag raph 75 –  i t  i s  sa id  tha t :  

“Min is te r  G igaba d id  no t  approve the  

memorandum and h is  re jec t ion  was suppor ted  

by  the  fo l low ing s ta tement :   Such a  

presenta t ion  shou ld  be  p repared and the  da te  

se t . . . ”  

Now th is  was in  re la t ion  to  my ar r i va l  in  2010 and a  10 

memorandum was brought  to  my  a t ten t ion ,  and th is  was 

dur ing  a  t ime when I  was rece iv ing  br ie f ings (?)  and my  

v iew was,  a  mat te r  o f  th is  magn i tude requ i res  me to  be 

br ie fed  verba l l y,  you present  the  memo,  you br ie f  me,  you  

a l low me to  engage w i th  i t  because i f  I  want  to  ask  

quest ions:   Who  do I  ask  i f  I  am s i t t ing  w i th  a  p i le  o f  

papers  in  f ron t  o f  me?  I f  you wan t  to  unders tand,  why are  

you suggest ing  th is?   Why is  th is  f ramework  p roposa l  

there?  I  need to  ask  the  peop le  who are  d ra f t ing  th is  so  

tha t  they en l igh ten  me because I  am new in  the  depar t .    20 

 And in  ac tua l  fac t ,  I  was new in  the  env i ronment  o f  

Pub l ic  Enterpr ises .   I  had served s ix  years  as  Deputy  

Min is te r  o f  Home Affa i rs .   A t  Home Affa i rs  we d id  no t  

appo in t  boards fo r  compan ies  o f  the  schedu les  o f  the 

SOE’s .   And even where  there  was maybe the  Immigra t ion  
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Board  appo in ted ,  tha t  was the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  the  

Min is te r.   I  on ly  had to  no te  the  submiss ion  and tha t  i s  why 

I  p roposed tha t ,  p repare  such  a  presenta t ion  and se t  a  

da te  fo r  i t  to  happen and tha t  happened.    

 We had a  d iscuss ion .   I  re fu te  the  c la im tha t  there  

was an in fo rmal  way o f  board  appo in tments  and there  was  

no f ramework .   In  my f i rm unders tand ing .   When I  a r r i ved,  

there  were  ce r ta in  boards in  wh ich  some board  members  

wou ld  have served fo r  n ine  years  or  more .   That  inc ludes 

the  Board  o f  Eskom,  tha t  inc ludes  the  Board  o f  –  I  cannot  10 

remember  wh ich  o ther  board  bu t  there  were  i ns tances 

where  board  members  who wou ld  have sa t  fo r  per iods o f  

seven,  e igh t ,  n ine  years  or  even more .    

 And the  dec is ion  taken o f f i c ia l l y  dur ing  my tenure  

was tha t  no  member  o f  a  board  wou ld  serve  a t  most  fo r  

longer  than two  te rms o f  th ree  years  each.   So,  we  

regu lar i sed tha t  each board  member  wou ld  se rve  fo r  th ree  

te rms.   A t  most ,  you wou ld  rece ive  a  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    A shor t  te rm o f  th ree  years  each?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes,  wh ich  means,  i t  i s  s ix  yea rs .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  thought  you sa id  th ree  t imes.  

MR GIGABA :    Oh,  sor ry,  sor ry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    I  meant  two te rms o f  th ree  years  each.   

Yes.   Or  th ree  years  pe r  te rm wh ich  w i l l  be  a  to ta l  o f  s ix  
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years  w i th  the  prov i s ion  tha t  in  the  ins tance tha t  you a re  

no t  pe r fo rming in  te rms o f  the  board  assessment .   So,  we 

a lso  regu la r ised board  assessments  on  an annua l  bas is .   

So,  as  we went  to  the  AGM,  there  wou ld  be  a  board  

assessment .   I t  was regu lar ised.    

 And tha t  board  assessment  wou ld  ind i ca te  to  us  

whethe r  somebody has taken over  more  board  pos i t ions ,  

because one o f  the  th ings we d id  was to  ins is t  tha t  you  

must  no t  serve  –  I  cannot  remember  on  more  than how 

many boards.   I  do  no t  whether  –  I  cannot  remember  10 

whethe r  i t  was on more  than th ree  or  fou r  boards.   So tha t  

you are  ab le  to  g ive  your  t ime to  the  SOE’s  because they 

were  impor tan t  d r ivers  o f  ou r  in f ras t ruc tu re  ro l lou t .   We 

need board  members  who have got  t ime.   Who are  no t  jus t  

embel l i sh ing  the i r  CV ’s  bu t  who are  very  invo lved in  the  

work  o f  ou r  SOE’s .    

 So,  we in t roduced a  number  o f  f rameworks  tha t  –  

and po l i c ies  tha t  ensured tha t  the  process was fo rmal ised.   

So,  i t  i s  no t  t rue  tha t  I  in t roduced an in fo rmal  way o f  board  

appo in tments .   Ac tua l l y,  what  i s  an  in fo rmal  way o f  board  20 

appo in tments?    

 I  do  no t  unders tand what  tha t  concept  means,  an  

in fo rmal  way o f  board  appo in tments ,  bu t  the  board  

appo in tment  p rocess was very  fo rmal ised.   I t  invo l ved the  

depar tment .   I t  o r ig ina ted  f rom the  depar tment .   I t  invo lved  
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engagement  a t  the i r  leve l  inc lud ing  check ing  the  CV’s ,  

co l lec t ing  the  CV ’s ,  check ing  the  su i tab i l i t y  o f  those 

peop le ,  the i r  e l ig ib i l i t y  to  serve  on  the  boards  un t i l  i t  

served before  me.   And I  th ink  I  have exp la ined  ear l ie r  

today how th is  then wou ld  be  dea l t  w i th .    

 I f  by  in fo rmal  they meant  –  they mean tha t  I  wou ld  

have sa id  in  ins tances:   Ins tead o f  jus t  g iv ing  me a  memo,  

come present  th is  to  me.   Le t  me unders tand your  ra t iona l .   

Le t  me unders tand what  you are  suggest ing  here .   Because 

even in  how you prepare  fo r  AGM’s ,  I  ins is ted  on  a t tend ing  10 

a l l  AGM’s  w i th  the  SOE’s  inc lud ing  the  ones  I  have  

de legated to  my deputy.    

 I  ins is ted  tha t  I  wanted to  a t tend them,  because in  

the  end,  my depu ty  i s  –  i t  becomes my probes because as  

the  Min i s te r  and the  Execut ive  Author i t y  o f  the  depar tment ,  

I  am the  shareho lde r  rep resenta t i ve .   I  am the  one who  

repor ts  to  Cab ine t .    

 Now I  ins i s ted  tha t  I  wou ld  a t tend them even on  

occas ion  I  wou ld  no t  make the  shareho lde r  s ta tement  bu t  

wou ld  meet  my deputy  to  make i t ,  bu t  I  wou ld  be  there  and  20 

ensure  tha t  the  dec is ions taken have the  fu l l  app rova l  o f  

the  shareho lder  rep resenta t i ve  and wou ld  i ns is t  tha t  

ins tead o f  say ing  to  me tha t  we are  go ing  to  an  AGM,  we  

meet  a t  the  AGM,  you jus t  g ive  me a  board  pack.   Le t  the  

depar tment  come and present  to  me so  tha t  I  unders tand  
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what  dec is ions need to  be  taken and we dea l  w i th  board  

appo in tments  and o ther  i ssues,  the  conf i rmat ion  o f  

aud i to rs  o r  rep lac ing(?)  thereof  in  those d i scuss ions.    

 I  thought  I  was engag ing  as  the  Min is te r  w i th  the  

top  o f f i c ia ls  in  tak ing  these dec is ions,  unaware  tha t  

somebody might  have v iewed i t  as  an  in fo rmal  way,  but  

they shou ld  have sa id  to  me tha t :   Min is te r,  then th is  

becomes v iewed  by  us  as  an  in fo rmal  way o f  do ing  the  

work  –  o f  dec id ing  on  boards.    

 But  in  the  end,  they came wi th  tha t ,  we have  10 

d iscussed w i th  them,  we have agreed,  the re  was  

consensus.   Nobody wou ld  fee l  tha t  I  had been le f t  ou t  in  

te rms o f  my v iews and then tha t  i s  how we proceeded.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh,  I  jus t  want  to  ask  a  po in t  

tha t  i s  no t  d i rec t l y  in  l ine  w i th  what  you are  quest ion ing  

Mr  G igaba on,  bu t  i t  a r i ses  par t l y  f rom what  you have sa id .   

You jus t  sa id  tha t  you wou ld  have  wanted the  depar tment  

to  make p resenta t ions to  you as  the  shareho lde r  

rep resenta t i ve  so  tha t  you cou ld  repor t  back to  Cab ine t .    

 What  was the  way o f  repor t ing  to  Cab ine t  and the  20 

Pres ident  about  the  s tage o f  SOE’s  du r ing  your  te rm?  In  

o ther  words.   Would  there  be  wr i t ten  repor ts  tha t  you as  

the  Min i s te r  o r  wr i t ten  repor t s  tha t  you wou ld  have  p laced 

before  Cab ine t  o r  the  Pres ident  to  say th is  i s  the  s ta te  o f  

Eskom,  th is  i s  the  s ta te  o f  SAA,  th is  i s  the  s ta te  o f  
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Transnet .    

 So  tha t  over  the  f i ve  years  o f  your  te rm you are  

ab le  to  say I  kept  the  Pres ident  in fo rmed or  the  Cab ine t  

in fo rmed o f  what  the  s ta te  o f  these SOE’s  were?  So,  I  am 

in te res ted  in  tha t  because one o f  the  quest ions tha t  a r ises  

fo r  me in  a  d i f fe ren t  contex t  i s .    

 How i t  was poss ib le  tha t  a  number  o f  these SOE’s  

tha t  we are  dea l ing  w i th  here ,  Eskom,  SAA,  Transnet ,  

Dene l ,  how i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  they cou ld  go  down the  way 

they seem to  have gone down and  w i th  a  lo t  o f  cor rup t ion  10 

happen ing  a f fec t ing  the i r  f inances  w i thout  someth ing  tha t  

seems e f fec t i ve  be ing  done to  a r res t  the  dec l ine .    

 So,  and I  wonder  whether  i t  wou ld  jus t  a  mat te r  o f  

the  re levant  Min is te r  o r  whether  the  re levant  Min i s te r  

wou ld  be  keep ing  the  Cab ine t  aware  and the  Pres ident  

aware  and they wou ld  have had oppor tun i t ies  to  see tha t  

th ings are  ge t t ing  worse  in  the  worse  SOE’s ,  co r rup t ion  is  

r i s ing ,  i r regu lar i t ies  are  r i s ing ,  and  they wou ld  have had an  

oppor tun i ty  to  ass i s t  o r  in te rvene or  g rabb le  w i th  the  

prob lem.    20 

 So,  what  was the  way?  Would  there  have been  

some wr i t ten  repor ts  o r  whethe r  jus t  verba l  repor t s?   What  

was the  way  o f  communica t ing  to  Cab ine t  and/or  Pres ident ,  

the  s ta te  o f  cha l lenges in  the  va r ious SOE’s?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  there  are  no  repor ts  tha t  you  
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submi t  on  a  month ly  o r  annua l  bas is  to  the  Cab ine t  on  the  

s ta te  o f  SOE’s .   When mat te rs  o f  SOE’s  serve  be fore  

Cab ine t ,  i t  i s  usua l l y  w i th  regards to  e i ther  appo in tment  o f  

boards or  app l i ca t ions fo r  government  guarantees or  

recap i ta l i sa t ion  when the  Nat iona l  Treasury  together  w i th  

the  re levant  m in is t ry  represent ing  the  shareho lder  wou ld  

then come to  Cab ine t  on  those issues.    

 So,  i f  i t  i s  a  mat te r  tha t  invo lves SANRAL(?)  and  

the  Gauteng E- to l l s ,  i t  wou ld  be  the  Depar tment  o f  

Transpor t  and Nat iona l  Treasury.   I f  i t  invo lves over  a l l  10 

guarantees tha t  wou ld  ar r i ve  f rom the  Min is te r  o f  F inance ’s  

budget  p rocess as  they b r ie f  Cab ine t  on  the  phys ica l  

f ramework .    

 Now,  the  –  so ,  there  are  no  repor t s  tha t  go  to  

Cab ine t  tha t  say  –  even a f te r  AGM’s ,  you know,  a t  the  

AGM,  the  re levan t  Min is te r  wou ld  rece ive  the  repor t  on  the  

annua l  f inanc ia l  s ta tements  in  wh ich  repor t  he  wou ld  then  

dea l  w i th  the  f inance repor t ,  the  aud i ted  s ta tements  wh ich  

wou ld  ra ise  i r regu lar  spend ing ,  i t  wou ld  ra ise  the  issues 

about  the  sa la r ies ,  and long- te rm and shor t - te rm 20 

incent ives ,  what  p ro f i t s  have been  made,  and so  on .    

 Even those do not  serve  be fore  Cab ine t  except  

when we wou ld  have gone Cab ine t  to  request  Cab ine t  to  

cons ider  tak ing  a  dec is ion  on  the  sa la ry  sca les  o f  SOE’s ,  

CEO’s  and CFO’s ,  the  board  members ,  as  we l l  as  the  long-
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te rm and shor t - t e rm incent ive  i ssues wh ich  were  qu i te  

damages on the  f inances o f  the  SOE’s .    

 So,  what  then –  how then tha t  ge ts  dea l t  w i th  

subsequent ly  i s .   A f te r  the  repor t  o f  the  Pres ident ia l  

Rev iew Commi t tee  wh ich  was checked and when she 

became Commiss ioner  o f  Po l i ce  by  Mr  Mash in in i ,  in  tha t  

PRC,  Pres ident ia l  Rev iew Commi t tee ,  i t  i s  -  you know,  315  

or  tha t  repor t  ident i f ied  715 SOEs.   

The Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  Ente rpr i ses has overs igh t  

over  on ly  e igh t .   There  are  715 SOEs in  the  count ry  10 

ex i s t ing  a t  Nat iona l ,  P rov inc ia l  and Loca l  leve ls  and some 

o f  the  pub l i c  en t i t ies  even though  they are  o f  the  fo rm o f  

SOEs have not  dec la red themse lves or  be ing  dec lared as  

SOEs creates  a  d i lemma in  tha t  there  is  no  ins t i tu t ion  in  

the  count ry ,  s ing le  ins t i tu t ion  wh ich  ove rs igh t  over  a l l  

these SOEs and there fore  cab ine t  does not  have a  fu l l  v iew  

o f  i t s  SOEs how they are  per fo rming what  i s  the i r  asset  

va lue ,  what  a re  the i r  l i ab i l i t i es  overa l l ,  what  i s  –  how much 

are  they spend ing  in  te rms o f  cap i ta l  investments  and what  

a re  the i r  opera t iona l  expend i tu res ,  what  i s  the  f igure  o f  the  20 

opera t iona l  expend i tu re .   I t  does not  have a  v iew,  an  

overa l l  v iew o f  what  i s  happen ing  in  tha t  regard .  

What  the  PRC repor t  then suggests  i s  tha t  

government  must  es tab l i sh  and SOEs counc i l  wh ich  wou ld  

be  a  counc i l  o f  m in is te rs  because the  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  
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En terp r ises ,  who is  the  custod ian ,  you know,  and is  v iewed 

in  the  count ry  as  the  custod ian  o f  our  Pub l ic  Ente rpr ises 

on ly  has overs igh t  over  i t .  

The Min i s te r  o f  T ranspor t  has 11  p lus  SOEs in  the i r  

por t fo l io ,  then there  are  o the rs  i n  Energy and so  on  and 

some o f  these enterpr i ses  are  o f  a  commerc ia l  na ture ,  

o thers  are  non-commerc ia l ,  o thers  serve  a  pub l i c  va lue  l i ke  

PRASA even though i t s  commerc ia l  bu t  i t  has  more  o f  a  

pub l i c  va lue  in  tha t  i t s  c l ien te le  a re  ord ina ry  South  

A f r i cans who l i ve  in  townsh ips  and  rura l  a reas who use the  10 

pub l i c  ra i lway sys tem and there fo re  regu lar ly  government  

w i l l  have to  subs id ise  these SOEs.    

So tha t  i s  the  d i lemma.   Now there  is  no  repor t ,  

there fo re ,  Cha i rperson,  wh ich  I  wou ld  have submi t ted  o ther  

than anecdota l  i ssues wh ich  re la te  to  board  appo in tments ,  

guarantee f ramework  app l i ca t ion  and someth ing  e lse  wh ich  

we might  be  repor t ing  about ,  the  appo in tments  o f  CEs and 

o ther  execut ive  d i rec tors  in  the  SOEs and those  repor ts  

w i l l  no t  ass is t  you very  much though,  when you  look a t  a l l  

o f  them,  they w i l l  g ive  a  sense o f  the  board  appo in tments  20 

over  the  per iod  f rom 1994 but  i t  w i l l  no t  exp la in  to  you,  

Cha i r ,  tha t  when  1994 happened  most  o f  our  SOEs had 

been to ld  tha t  they wou ld  be  pr i va t i sed i nc lud ing  Transnet  

and there fore ,  fo r  a  long per iod  Transnet  d id  no t  invest  in  

new ra i l  capac i t y  and locomot ive  capac i ty  because they 
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were  to ld  they wou ld  be  pr i va t i sed and there fo re  the i r  

f inances began to  dwind le .   

I f  you  look a t  Eskom,  the  same wou ld  app ly  to  them.   

From the  outse t  they knew tha t  they wou ld  be  e i ther  

p r iva t i sed or  a  p r iva te  compet i to r  wou ld  be  in t roduced.   

Eskom d id  no t  invest  in  e lec t r i c i t y  genera t ion  capac i ty .   As 

a  resu l t  when  2008 happened,  we found ourse lves 

exper ienc ing  load shedd ing  and began a t  tha t  per iod  to  

commiss ion  new power  s ta t ions ,  the  cont rac ts  o f  wh ich  

were  en te red in to  in  a  rush because the  count ry  was 10 

a l ready exper ienc ing  load shedd ing  and because o f  tha t ,  

those cont rac ts  were  weak and they favoured the  g loba l  

o r ig ina l  equ ipment  manufac turers  and w i th  the  de lays  in  

the  comple t ion  o f  const ruc t ion ,  those de lays  have resu l ted  

in  cost  over runs runn ing  up to  b i l l i ons  o f  rand because o f  

the  de lays  and the  type o f  cont rac ts  tha t  were  en tered in to  

and the  fa i lu re  to  appo in t  p ro jec t  managers  on  s i te  tha t  

wou ld  manage  both  the  cont rac tors ,  the  pr imary  

cont rac tors ,  the  secondary  cont rac tors  and labour .    

That  i s  why a t  Medup i  you had these severa l ,  I  th ink  20 

two or  th ree ,  p ro longed s t r i kes  because there  was no one  

on s i te  on  beha l f  o f  Eskom and the  cont rac tors  who was  

manag ing  the  re la t ions  be tween the  cont rac to rs  and 

labour .  

So those are  d i f f i cu l t ies  wh ich  have been there  
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wh ich  hopefu l l y  the  appo in tment  o f  the  SOEs counc i l  i s  

go ing  to  he lp  to  reso lve  because i t  has  a  mandate .   The 

min is te r  un for tunate ly  looks a t  opera t iona l  i ssues  inso far  

as  SOEs,  there  are  overs igh t  inasmuch as  i t  i s  s t ra teg ic  

and is  expected to  be  s t ra teg ic  i s  a lso  opera t iona l ,  nar row.   

The SOEs counc i l  has  tha t  much more  broader  overs igh t  

wh ich  wou ld  be  ab le  to  look  a t  the  who le  range o f  po l i c ies  

because the  depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr ises has i t s  own  

governance f ramework  wh ich  i t  has  es tab l i shed but  o ther  

depar tments ,  p rov inc ia l  t ie rs  and munic ipa l i t ies  wh ich  a lso  10 

have SOEs have  d i f fe ren t  government  f rameworks .   Even  

we have d i f fe ren t  governance f rameworks  in  add i t ion  to  

wh ich  there  is  an  en t i re  –  there  is  a  lead t ime o f  leg is la t ion  

impact ing  on  SOEs.   The Companies  Act ,  the  PFMA,  key 

code o f  governance and a  w ide  range o f  o thers .   Some 

SOEs have got  es tab l i shment  leg is la t ion ,  o ther  SOEs do 

not ,  they  j us t  s imp ly  ex is t  and the i r  governance is  

dependent  on  the  f ramework wh ich  wou ld  have been  

cra f ted  by  the  shareho lder  depar tment .  

So a l l  o f  those i ssues,  Cha i rpe rson,  impact  on  the  20 

SOE env i ronment  and how i t  opera tes  and they  crea te ,  

there fo re ,  the  loopho les  tha t  you see in  many o f  ou r  SOEs 

i f  you look a t  wha t  they a re  expected to  do  and wha t ,  in  the  

end,  they are  ab le  to  de l i ve r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  no ,  thank you,  tha t  i s  ve ry  
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impor tan t .   I  mean,  par t  o f  what  we are  look ing  a t  i s  how 

s t rong o r  weak  were  overs igh t  mechan isms fo r  SOEs 

because the  weaker  the  overs igh t  mechan isms and  

s t ruc tures  ove r  the  SOEs the  eas ie r  i t  seems i t  wou ld  have  

been fo r  peop le  who wanted to  loo t  the  SOEs to  do  so  

w i thout  re levant  s t ruc tures  p i ck ing  th is  up  and then maybe  

tha t  i s  why we are  where  we are  w i th  the  SOEs so  par t  o f  

what  the  Commiss ion  i s  look ing  a t  i s  how s t rong were  the  

overs igh t  mechan isms,  why were  these th ings no t  p icked  

up on t ime and tha t  i s  where  the  quest ion  ar i ses  f rom.   10 

Okay,  bu t  what  you have sa id  i s  he lp fu l .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   I f  I  cou ld  take  you 

p lease to  page 942.14,  paragraph 79?   

“Moko lo  fu r ther  s ta ted  tha t  the  in fo rmal  way 

in t roduced by  M in is te r  G igaba resu l ted  in  a lmost  a l l  

names in  respect  o f  board  appo in tments  or ig ina t ing  

f rom the  m in is te r ’s  o f f i ce . “  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   I  was not  aware  o f  th is ,  Cha i rperson,  and to  

my unders tand ing ,  as  I  have s ta ted  i t ,  the  names,  the  20 

cand ida tes  fo r  boards emanated f rom the  depar tment .   

There  wou ld  be  a  few ins tances where  I  th ink  i t  wou ld  re fe r  

to  the i r  names wh ich  I  spoke about ,  Ms T j i j i  Maponya,  Pro f  

Zane le  Magad i  and a  few o thers  were ,  I  wou ld  have sa id  to  

the  depar tment ,  look  a t  th is  as  we l l  bu t  even those had 
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been b rought  to  my a t ten t ion  by  my adv i se rs ,  they wou ld  

no t  have emanated f rom me d i rec t l y  and so  the  ex ten t  tha t  

I  th ink  here  what  Ms Moko lo  i s  ta lk ing  about  i s  the 

engagement  wh ich  was there  be tween my o f f i ce  as  we l l  as  

the  depar tment  in  how the  names o r ig ina ted .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  she  is  ac tua l l y  ta lk ing  about  Mr  

Mah langu.   I f  you  cou ld  go  to  paragraph 83:  

“The sa id  board  members ’  mot iva t ions fo r  

appo in tment…”  

Now not  jus t  the  names,  bu t  mot iva t ions fo r  appo in tment .  10 

“…to the  SOC boards were  sent  by  Mah langu to  

Min is te r  G igaba,  Matona,  and Moko lo . ”  

A t  84 :  

“Moko lo  ind ica ted  tha t  i t  was not  Mah langu ’s  ro le  to  

send mot iva t ions fo r  board  appo in tments  to  Min is te r  

G igaba.   Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   And 85:  

“We cou ld  no t  f ind  any ind ica t ion  tha t  Min is te r  

G igaba requested Mah langu to  p rov ide  cand ida tes  

and/or  mot iva t ions fo r  board  appo in tments . ”  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :   I  th ink  85  is  impor tan t  too ,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry ,  Mr  G igaba,  can I  jus t  ask  you  

to  d i rec t  yourse l f  f i rs t l y  to  the  issue o f  Mr  Mah langu? 

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  I  th ink ,  Cha i rpe rson,  i t  wou ld  have  
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been impor tan t  to  engage h im on  these asser t ions  so  tha t  

h is  unders tand ing  is  es tab l i shed because to  my 

unders tand ing ,  he  wou ld  have no t  had a  respons ib i l i t y  to  

deve lop  the  fu l l  names fo r  boards.   That  respons ib i l i t y  

wou ld  have had to  l ie  w i th  the  depar tment  and up unt i l ,  th is  

i s  what  I  thought  happened.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   So i f  we cou ld  have a  look a t  

one o r  two o ther  aspects  o f  th is  a f f idav i t .   Cou ld  I  ask  you 

p lease to  tu rn  t o  page 942.24?   I f  I  cou ld  d i rec t  you r  

a t ten t ion  and th is  i s  a  sect ion  dea l ing  w i th  the  appo in tment  10 

o f  the  SAA board  in  2012.   I f  I  cou ld  d i rec t  your  a t ten t ion  

p lease to  paragraph 134?  

“On 30 August  2012 Pa lesa Nkomo…” 

Now who was she? 

MR GIGABA :   She was spec ia l  adv i ser  on  economic  

i ssues.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A lso  in  your  o f f i ce?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     

“…sent  an  emai l  to  m in is te r  G igaba and cop ied  20 

Mah langu.   In  her  emai l  Nkomo ra ised her  concerns 

in  the  manner  in  wh ich  the  p roposed SAA board  was  

compi led . ”  

And i t  says :  

“Nkomo s ta ted :   Dear  Min i s te r ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  
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con f i rm tha t  the  f ina l i sa t ion  o f  th is  l i s t  was no t  

conso l ida ted .   Here  are  my comments  to  S iya  two 

days ago and he had ignored  them.   He has 

changed the  l i s t  every  day and  d id  no t  inc lude  

peop le  w i th  exper t i se .   In  the  f ina l  l i s t  he  has  

re fused to  inc lude the  fo l low peop le  who have the  

exper t i se  and  w i l l  add va lue .   The MRO 

conso l ida t ion  a t  a  la te r  s tage. ”  

And then l i s ts  ce r ta in  peop le .   A t  135 i t  i s  reco rded:  

“ In  her  emai l  Min is te r  G igaba,  Nkomo ind ica ted  tha t  10 

Mah langu had missed a l l  the  de l ibera t ions on  SAA 

d iagnost ic  repor t .   Nkomo fu r ther  i nd ica ted  tha t  she  

d id  no t  agree w i th  Mad ise la  shou ld  seat  on  the  SAA 

board  as  i t  wou ld  be  in te rpre ted  as  doub le-d ipp ing  

by  cab ine t . ”  

Then a t  136:  

“Based on Nkomo’s  react ion  to  t he  p roposed l i s t  

there  may have been a  lack  o f  t ransparency in  the  

manner  in  wh ich  the  SAA board  members  were  

nominated and f ina l l y  approved. ”  20 

Th is  i s  Mah langu ’s  l i s t .   137:  

“Th is  i s  ev ident  f rom the  concerns  ra ised by  Nkomo 

to  Min i s te r  G igaba regard ing  the  lack  o f  

consu l ta t ions  by  Mah langu when compi l ing  the  l i s t  

fo r  SAA board . ”  
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Then a t  138:  

“ In  h is  response  to  our  wr i t ten  quest ions Min is te r  

G igaba ind i ca ted  tha t  he  does not  know why Nkomo 

ra ised ob jec t ions ,  tha t  there  was  no consu l ta t i ve  

process. ”  

139:  

“Mr  G igaba fu r ther  s ta ted  tha t  he  d id  no t  reca l l  the  

above ins tance g iven tha t  he  d id  no t  want  to  

m icromanage the  appo in tment  o f  board  members  as  

i t  cou ld  have crea ted an impress ion  tha t  he  had an 10 

in te res t . ”  

And a t  140:  

“Min is te r  G igaba  fu r ther  s ta ted  tha t  as  fa r  as  he  

was aware  the re  were  su f f i c ien t  in te rna l  p rocesses  

w i th in  the  depar tment  to  consu l t  and when there  

were  concerns regard ing  consu l ta t ion  he  wou ld  

re fer  the  issue back to  the  process . ”  

Do you have any comment  fu r ther  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   No,  there  is  no  fu r ther  comment ,  

Cha i rperson,  on  th is ,  I  th ink  what  I  s ta ted  here  tha t  I  was  20 

aware .   One,  I  d id  no t  want  to  m icromanage the  process 

and two,  I  was not  aware  there  was no su f f i c ien t  in te rna l  

consu l ta t ion  p rocess because  my unders tand ing ,  

Cha i rperson,  was tha t  a t  a l l  t imes the  names emanated  

f rom the  depar tment .   I  wou ld  have been happy i f  the  DG 



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 48 of 357 
 

had come to  me to  say tha t  Min is te r ,  ac tua l l y  these  names 

have not  emanated f rom the  depar tment ,  then I  wou ld  have  

in te rvened a t  the  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you accept  tha t  th is  l i s t  on  the  

face  o f  i t ,  d id  no t  emanate  f rom the  depar tment ,  i t  

emanated f rom Mr  Mah langu.  

MR GIGABA :   I  do  no t  accept  i t ,  Cha i rperson,  because I  

was not  aware  o f  i t .   Th is  i s  one v iew on the  mat te r,  there  

cou ld  be  o ther  v iews on the  same mat te r,  so  i t  i s  an  

asser t ion  tha t  I  cannot  jus t  w i l l y  n i l l y  accept .   You know,  10 

what  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    You can ne i ther  accept  o r  d i spute ,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR GIGABA :   No,  I  am –  yes,  I  can ne i the r  accept  no r  

d ispute ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  you do not  know about  i t .  

MR GIGABA :   That  i s  i t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  we l l  then le t  us  look  a t  what  

i t  says  towards the  foo t  o f  page 942.25,  the  appo in tment  o f  

Mr  Mutane,  someth ing  we have a l ready looked a t .   I  can  20 

jus t  run  th rough th is  qu i ck ly,  i f  you  go to  942.26:  

“On 11 September  2012 Mahlangu  sent  an  emai l  to  

Mr  G igaba t i t led  Mot iva t ion  fo r  Mutane.   In  th is  

emai l  Mah langu wro te…”  

And then the  ema i l  i s  quoted.   I f  you  go to  144:  
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“On 12 September  2012 Mahlangu  sent  an  emai l  to  

Mr  G igaba t i t led  Fur ther  Thoughts ”  

And i f  you look a t  146,  the  second sentence:  

“A t tached to  Mah langu ’s  emai l  was a  document  

t i t led  Doctor.docs.   The sa id  a t tached document  

was a  one page summary o f  Mutane ’s  work  

exper ience. ”  

And then you see  a t  147:  

“The document  fu r the r  ind ica ted  the  fo l low ing i n  

respect  o f  Mutane,  h i s  pass ion  fo r  bu i ld ing  10 

bus inesses. ”  

E tce tera .   And then i f  you go to  149:  

“Dur ing  ou r  rev iew o f  the  a t tached document  we 

noted tha t  the  document  was  crea ted on 12 

September  and las t  mod i f ied  by  Ashu. ” :  

The poss ib i l i t y  ex is ts  tha t  Ashu Chawla .   I  a l ready asked  

you about  th is .   Do you have anyth ing  to  say about  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   We l l ,  I  was not  aware  aga in  o f  where  these –  

because,  Cha i rpe rson,  as  I  say,  I  le f t  these processes to  

be  run  by  the  depar tment ,  I  d id  no t  want  to  keep in te r fe r ing  20 

a t  eve ry  moment  o f  the  board  appo in tment  p rocess  

because,  as  I  say,  I  d id  no t  want  the  depar tment  to  

p resume me to  be  hav ing  an  in te res t  in  the  issues.   So 

even i f  my adv i sers  came to  me to  say these a re  peop le  

who recommend,  I  wou ld  say take  those names in to  the  
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depar tment ’s  p rocess and le t  them be dea l t  w i th  in  tha t  

p rocess be fo re  you br ing  them to  me.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  he is  no t  jus t  pu t t ing  fo rward  a  

name,  he  is  ac tua l l y  wr i t ing  or  p resent ing  you w i th  the  

mot iva t ion  fo r  appo in tment .  

MR GIGABA :   Even in  tha t  case,  Cha i rperson,  i t  i s  

immater ia l  whether  he  prov ides mot iva t ion  because  even i f  

you were  to  say  to  me appo in t  Mr  Myburgh as  a  board  

members ,  whether  you prov ide  mot iva t ion  or  no t  I  wou ld  

say take  th is  i ssue to  the  depar tment ,  le t  i t  be  dea l t  w i th  10 

there ,  the  name o f  Mr  Myburgh,  i f  i t  passes muste r  in  the  

depar tment  and process then i t  wou ld  re tu rn  back to  me 

th rough the  normal  rou tes  tha t  a re  es tab l i shed.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you w i l l  see  a t  151 tha t  on 

the  12  September  a t  833 Mahlangu sent  a  second emai l  to  

Min is te r  G igaba t i t led  Rev ised Mot iva t ion  and then a t  153:  

“The second document  was las t  mod i f ied  by  Ashu  

on 12 September. ”  

Do you see tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  I  see tha t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t  154 i t  records  the  

response by  Mr  Mah langu to  the  e f fec t  tha t  he  d id  no t  have  

any knowledge tha t  Mr  Chawla  was invo lved bu t  I  jus t  

wanted to  p ick  up  on someth ing  tha t  you ment ioned ea r l ie r  

and tha t  i s  tha t  some o f  the  quest i ons tha t  we have  shou ld  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 51 of 357 
 

be  d i rec ted  by  Mr  Mah langu.   I  jus t  wanted to  po in t  ou t  to  

you –  and he says th is  on  a  number  o f  occas ions,  you see 

i t  in  th is  a f f idav i t ,  155:  

“Mah langu fu r the r  ind ica ted  tha t  he  was unab le  to  

respond to  our  quest ions on  spec i f i c  board  

appo in tments .   He s ta ted  tha t :  

‘ In  my v iew these board  appo in tments  or  ro ta t ions 

are  conf ident ia l  and lega l l y  p r iv i l eged.   The same 

app l ies  to  the  lega l  adv ice  or  no tes  tha t  I  p repared 

fo r  the  then min i s te r  du r ing  my t ime as  h i s  spec ia l  10 

adv iser. ’ ”  

MR GIGABA :   So  tha t  w i l l  be  in  one bund le  so  tha t  I  can  

d i rec t  my a t ten t ion  to  i t  as  we l l  wh i le  you are  p resen t ing… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    942.28.  

MR GIGABA :   Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 155.  

MR GIGABA :   R igh t .   Th is  i s  no t  an  a t to rney/c l ien t  

p r iv i lege,  th is  i s  Mr  Mah langu be ing  asked quest ions about  

appo in tments  and h is  in te rac t ion  w i th  you and say ing  tha t  

they a re  conf iden t ia l  and lega l l y  p r iv i leged,  i t  i s  par t  o f  h is  20 

job .  

MR GIGABA :   I  p resume tha t  to  be  h is  response.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh ,  I  wonder  whe ther  Mr  
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So lomon can s t i l l  hear  us .   I  see  there  is  some s igna l  

cha l lenges here .   Mr  So lomon,  can  you hear  us?  He is  no t  

answer ing .   A re  the  techn ic ians work ing  on  i t?   Okay.   I  do  

no t  know whether  he  wou ld  have an ob jec t ion  i f  we 

cont inue o r  whether  we shou ld  s top .  

MR GIGABA :   Cou ld  I  request  a  comfo r t  b reak,  though,  

Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MR GIGABA :   Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rpe rson,  the  techn ica l  s ta f f  10 

asked i f  they  cou ld  have f i ve  m inutes  to  res tore  the  

connect ion  i f  poss ib le .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  tha t  co inc ides w i th  the  reques t .   Can 

I  a lso  request  somebody to  swi tch  on  the  heate r  here?   

Okay,  le t  us  –  maybe le t  us  make  i t  ten  m inutes  because  

f i ve  m inutes  can be qu i te  shor t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    We wi l l  take  a  ten  m inutes  b reak.   We 

ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 20 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  G igaba i f  I  cou ld  ask  

you to  look  a t  page 942.29.  

MR GIGABA:    I  am on i t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And go to  paragraph 163.  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  records  there :  

“There  is  no  ev idence tha t  p rob i ty  checks as  

prov ided fo r  in  the  2008 handbook or  the  

subsequent  DPE Board  Appo in tment  F ramework  

were  conducted on Tarney i n  2012 when he was  

appo in ted  to  the  SAA Board . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?     

MR GIGABA:    Cha i rperson I  p resumed tha t  th is  had been  10 

done.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  fac t  perhaps we cou ld  tu rn 

back . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  the  dec is ion  memorandum as I  

unders tand th is   document  to  have been ca l led  no t  dea l  

w i th  such th ings,  in  o ther  words to  say w i th  regard  to  th is  

cand ida te  fo r  appo in tment  we have checked h is  o r  he r  

academic  qua l i f i ca t ions or  he r  c la ims about  bus iness 

exper ience or  h is  o r  her  c la ims  about  connect ions w i th  

Ind ia  or  whatever,  wou ld  i t  no t  dea l  w i th  those th ings to  20 

make sure  tha t  you are  aware  what  background  checks  

have been done,  o r  wou ld  i t  s imp ly  say,  background checks 

have been done w i thout  te l l ing  you exact ly  what  has been  

done?  

MR GIGABA:    Cha i rperson,  i t  wou ld  no t  go  in to  tha t  de ta i l  
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o f  exp la in ing  tha t  the  prob i ty  check had been done,  to  the 

ex ten t  tha t  i t  served befo re  me I  wou ld  have presumed tha t  

i t  had been done in  the  back p rocess.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you and jus t  inc identa l l y,  

i f  you  go back to  page 942.20,  we  know tha t  Mr  Essa was 

appo in ted  to  the  Board  o f  B roadband In f raco,  i t  says  a t  

119:  

“ In  h is  response to  our  quest i ons,  Mr  G igaba  

ind ica ted  tha t  Mr  Essa 's  appo in tment  on  the  10 

Broadband In f raco Board  was done in  accordance 

w i th  the  processes o f  the  depar tment .  But  aga in ,  i t  

i s  recorded w i th  the  fund ing  o f  Fundudz i  was there  

is  no  ev idence tha t  a  thorough ve t t ing  process was  

conducted on Essa in  2011. ”  

Any comments  or  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:    No,  no  comments ,  Cha i rperson.   I  p resumed 

aga in  tha t  th is  wou ld  have been done.   I  th ink ,  the  

Fundudz i  Repor t  i s  -   was comple ted  in  2018 or  2019.   In  

2011,  when 2011 or  2012,  when the  appo in tment  was done,  20 

inso fa r  as  I  am concerned because the  Board  appo in tments  

d id  no t  o r ig ina te  f rom me,  I  wou ld  there fore  have presumed 

tha t  a l l  the  peop le  be ing  recommended had been checked.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then i f  I  can  ask  you p lease to  

go  back to  942.29.   
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MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  167 towards the  foo t  o f  the  page.   

“We recommended in  ou r  f ina l  repor t  tha t  DPE 

shou ld  cons ider  invest iga t ing  whether  Tarney was 

s t ra teg ica l l y  p laced a t  SAA to  ensure  tha t  SAA 

c loses down the  Mumbai  -  Johannesburg  to  make 

way fo r  Gupta  l inked a i r l ines . ”  

168:  

“ In  h is  response  to  our  wr i t ten  quest ions,  Min is te r  

G igaba ind ica ted  tha t  he  was not  aware  o f  any  10 

in f luence wh ich  Ashu Chawla ,  Gupta  fami ly  ended  

the i r  assoc ia te /Sa l im Essa may have had on the  

appo in tment  o f  Board  members  a t  the  var ious SOE 

Board ’s ,  do  you have any comment  on  those two  

paragraphs?  

MR GIGABA:    i f  you  go to  parag raph 120,  167,  

Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    167.  

MR GIGABA:    Yes,  parag raph 167,  yes .   I  wou ld  no t  be  

sure  o f  th is ,  perhaps i t  m igh t  have  been in  the  m inds o f  the  20 

peop le  who m ight  have nom inated h im.  But  my 

unders tand ing  is  tha t  the  dec i s ions w i th  regards to  c los ing  

the  Johannesburg  Mumbai  rou te  i t  s ta r ted  pr io r  t o  2010,  

p r io r  to  2010 and he had gone th rough var ious execut ive  

d i rec tors  a t  SAA and th rough var ious Boards o f  SAA,  w i th  
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a round 2010 the  new CEO of  SAA,  mak ing  i t  very  c lear  tha t  

SAA had no in ten t ion  to  pu l l  o f f  the  Mumbai  rou te .   

Between 2010 and 2014,  there  was no ins t ruc t ion  to  SAA to 

pu l l  o f f  the  Mumbai  rou te  because  tha t  was the  d i scuss ion  

o f  the  a i r l ine ,  wh ich  wou ld  have  moved f rom the  a i r l ine ,  

f rom the  Man Co,  Management  Commi t tee  to  the  Board ,  

f rom the  Board  to  the  Min i s te r.   

A t  the  t ime,  the  dec i s ion  on  shut t ing  down rou tes  or  

pu l l ing  o f f  rou tes ,  wh ich  were  no t  f inanc ia l l y  v iab le ,  wou ld  

be  taken by  the  execut ives  recommended to  the  Board  and  10 

then sent  to  the  Min is te r  fo r  f ina l  approva l .   The 2012 tu rn  

around,  long te rm tu rnaround s t ra tegy then came to  the  

conc lus ion  tha t  tha t  p rocess was  pro t rac ted  and not  very  

he lp fu l  to  the  a i r l ine  in  te rms o f  tak ing  dec is ions on  rou tes .  

And there fo re  the  recommendat ion  o f  the  long te rm 

tu rna round s t ra tegy was tha t  the  dec is ion  on  rou tes  wou ld  

have to  be  taken  by  the  Board  ins tead because i f  i t  comes 

to  the  Min i s te r,  i t  de lays  the  dec is ion ,  the  a i r l ine  cont inues  

b leed ing  on the  rou tes  and the  Min is te r  does not  have the  

capac i ty,  o r  the  depar tment  does not  have the  capac i ty  to  20 

eva lua te  the  v iab i l i t y  o r  no t  there  o f ,  o f  a  par t i cu la r  rou te .  

Th is  had to  do  w i th  a  number  o f  o ther  rou tes  bu t  

inso fa r  as  the  Mumbai  rou te  i s  concerned,  I  had sa id  

ear l ie r  tha t  in  2010,  the  new CEO of  SAA sa id  they wou ld  

no t  pu l l  o f f  the  rou te .   In  2011 i t  seems tha t  Man Co 
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subsequent ly  dec ided to  pu l l  o f f  the  rou te  bu t  the  Board  

sa id  no ,  do  no t  pu l l  o f f  the  rou te  ra the r,  le t  us  exp lore  

par tnersh ips  and  coopera t ion  wh ich  wou ld  op t im ise  the  

rou te  fo r  the  a i r l ines  c l ien ts  who wou ld  have been  

t rave l l ing  f rom As ia  to  South  Amer i ca ,  Sao Pau lo  in  

par t i cu la r.   

So I  am not  sure  and I  th ink  i t  wou ld  be  necessary  

to  tes t  the  verac i t y  o f  th is  c la im tha t  Mr  Tarney was 

appo in ted  to  ensure  tha t  the  rou te  i s  shut  down.   Of  

course ,  the  Board  o f  SAA in  2015,  i f  I  am not  m is taken,  10 

dec ided to  pu l l  o f f  the  rou te .   I  was Min i s te r  o f  Home 

Affa i rs  by  then and I  was no longer  invo l ved w i th  SAA but  I  

th ink  i t  wou ld  be  necessary  tha t  the  verac i t y  o f  th is  

asse r t ion  be  tes ted  w i th  Board  members  tha t  were  there  a t  

the  t ime as  to  why they pu l led  o f f  the  rou te .   

My unders tand ing  is  tha t  SAA cont inued b leed ing  on 

the  rou te ,  i t s  f inances not  on ly  in  re la t ion  to  th is  rou te  bu t  

in  re la t ion  to  i t s  opera t ions and as  a  go ing  concern  were  

qu i te  weak and I  th ink  there  was a  pe r iod  o f  more  than a  

year  o r  fo r  about  two years  i f  I  am not  m is taken,  when SAA 20 

was not  ab le  to  go  to  an  AGM because the  aud i to rs  had  

ra ised ser ious concerns w i th  regard  to  the  go ing  concern  

s ta tus  o f  SAA.   

And so  a  number  o f  rou tes  wou ld  have been 

a f fec ted  in  tha t  ins tance,  no t  on ly  the  Mumbai  rou t  bu t  
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o ther  rou tes  in  Europe and e lsewhere .   I t  seems tha t  a  

number  o f  long hau l  rou tes  o f  SAA were  a f fec ted .  So to 

what  ex ten t  th is  asser t ion  by  Fundudz i  i s  t rue  o r  no t ,  I  

rea l l y  cannot  te l l .   

A l l  I  am say ing  is  there  is  a  b roader  contex t  tha t  

needs to  be  looked a t  and i t  wou ld  be  necessary  to  then  

engage the  Board  members  who were  the re  a t  SAA in  2015  

when the  dec i s ion  was taken to  unders tand the  ra t iona le  

and the  Man Co tha t  was the re  a t  the  t ime so  tha t  they can  

exp la in  why they took th is  dec is ion .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then Mr  G igaba can I  ask  you 

p lease to  go  to  page 942.143.  

MR GIGABA:    143?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yeah,  so  Fundudz i  asked  you a  

ser ies  o f  quest ions in  the  process  o f  p repar ing  the i r  repor t ,  

do  you reca l l  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you responded by  way o f  your  

a t to rneys,  then Tshaba la la  A t to rneys?  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And tha t  response commences a t  

942.143.   I  jus t  wanted to  ask  your  comment  on  one th ing ,  

wh ich  I  have iden t i f ied ,  i f  you  go to  page 942.154.  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You were  asked -  i f  you  go t  to  the 
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bo t tom o f  the  page to  paragraph 4 .11  under  the  head ing  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gupta ’s ,  you were  asked:  

“Do you have any  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gupta ’s? ”  

And you your  answer  was:  

“No. ”  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GIGABA:    Wel l ,  I  th ink  I  d id  exp la in  ear l ie r  perhaps 

the  quest ion  was a  l i t t le  b i t  ambiguous because prev ious ly,  

I  had exp la ined  my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gup ta ’s  in  10 

Par l iament ,  I  exp la ined them here  tha t  i t  was j us t  the  

soc ia l  re la t ionsh ip .  So when I  sa id  no  here  I  was -  I  

p robab ly  meant  tha t  there  is  no  re la t ionsh ip  beyond soc ia l  

and jus t  cu l tu ra l  as  I  had exp la ined.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So,  what  you cou ld  perhaps have 

sa id  i s  tha t  you r  re la t ionsh ip  was soc ia l  and cu l tu ra l .  

MR GIGABA:    I  cou ld  have sa id  tha t ,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So as  I  unders tand tha t  -  jus t  to  end 

o f f  on  tha t  i ssue,  you cons idered yourse l f  to  be  a  f r iend o f  

A jay  Gupta?  20 

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  fac t ,  and you must  co r rec t  me 

i f  I  am wrong,  one o f  the  reasons tha t  you fe l t  comfor tab le  

w i th  Mr  Mah langu in te rven ing  as  be tween you and the  

Gupta ’s  i s  because i t  then avo ided the  need fo r  you to  dea l  
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w i th  A jay  Gupta .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GIGABA:    Le t  me rephrase your  -  the  answer  to  your  

quest ion ,  because i t  i s  lead ing  i n  a  par t i cu la r  d i rec t ion .  

Cha i rperson,  I  -  no t  tha t  I  fe l t  comfor tab le  in  Mr  Mah langu,  

I  ins t ruc ted  h im to  manage the  re la t ionsh ip ,  so  tha t  I  d id  

no t  have to  f ind  myse l f  ex tend ing  beyond my soc ia l  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Mr  A jay  in  the  ins tance because they are  

bus iness peop le .  

I  knew them to  be  bus iness peop le  and I  d id  no t  

want  fo r  ins tances to  a r ise ,  wh ich  wou ld  c ross  the  l ines  10 

and ex tend the  soc ia l  re la t ionsh ip  in to  what  now wou ld  

appear  to  be  a  bus iness engagement ,  I  d id  no t  want  tha t  to  

happen.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  I  th ink  the  po in t  i s  tha t  you r  

f r iendsh ip  was c lose  enough so  tha t  you d id  no t  want  tha t .  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And as  I  unders tand your  ev idence 

to  you surmised tha t  perhaps he saw i t  the  same way and  

tha t  was the  reason I  th ink  you surmised why Mr  Mah langu  

wou ld  then have  dea l t  w i th  Ra jesh Gupta  and not  A jay  20 

Gupta ,  d id  I  record  your  ev idence cor rec t l y?   

MR GIGABA:    Yes,  p robab ly  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  o the r,  wh ich  o f  the  o the r  

Gupta  bro thers  d id  you know? 

MR GIGABA:    I  knew a l l  o f  them,  I  knew a l l  o f  them –  we l l ,  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 61 of 357 
 

th ree ,  I  knew a l l  th ree  o f  them and I  wou ld  have met  them 

on severa l  occas ions,  inc lud ing  when I  was there  fo r  the  

cu l tu ra l  ac t i v i t ies .  When we met  a t  the  a t  TNA SABC 

breakfas t  p rog rams,  a t  some o f  the  p rograms o f  the  ANC 

and even a t  the  -  I  th ink  they hosted  once or  tw ice  South  

A f r i ca  o f  the  year  award  and I  wou ld  have met  them there  

a lso ,  because I  was a  guest ,  among o thers .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And I  mean ,  a re  you ab le  to  pu t  your  

f inger  on  what  caused you to  fos ter  f r iendsh ip  w i th  A jay 

Gupta ,  bu t  no t  w i th  the  o ther  b ro thers?  10 

MR GIGABA:    I  do  no t  know,  I  mean,  I  -  i t  jus t  a  -  there  i s  

no  par t i cu la r  reason,  he  i s  jus t  t he  person tha t  I  used to  

ta lk  to  p robab ly  h im,  I  th ink  as  an  e lde r  b ro ther  to  the  two.   

He i s  the  one tha t  I  jus t  used to  ta lk  to ,  there  was no 

spec i f i c  reason tha t  I  l i ke  th is  one,  there fore ,  I  w i l l  fos ter  a  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then Mr  Ashu Chawla ,  d id  you  

meet  and know h im? 

MR GIGABA:    Mr  Ashu Chawla  I  wou ld  have seen  h im on 

severa l  occas ions bu t  jus t  he  wou ld  be  greet ing  and so ,  so  20 

I  d id  no t  have any d iscuss ions w i th  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And wou ld  you see h im fo r  example ,  

on  those occas ions when you went  to  Sahara  Computers?  

MR GIGABA:    I  do  no t  ac tua l l y  reca l l  whether  I  had seen  

h im there ,  I  do  no t  reca l l  i f  I  had seen h im there  -  h is  no t  
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somebody tha t  I  saw tha t  much I  mean,  there  i s  qu i te  a  lo t  

o f  peop le  I  have  met  ove r  the  years  bu t  I  do  reca l l  tha t  I  

have seen h im.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then as  I  remember  your  

ev idence,  and p lease cor rec t  me i f  I  am wrong.   In  re la t ion  

to  Mr  Sa l im Essa your  ev idence as  I  reca l l ,  was tha t  the 

f i rs t  t ime tha t  you met  h im was when you were  in t roduced  

to  the  Broadband  In f raco Board ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GIGABA:    Yes,  I  th ink  so .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  you then have occas ion  to  10 

meet  h im a f te r  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:    Except  when we were  a t  B roadband  In f raco,  

I  do  no t  reca l l  o ther  occas ions  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  us  go  back to  tha t  ques t ion  and  

your  answer  a t  page 942.154  where  you were  asked,  do  

you have any re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gupta ’s  and you sa id ,  

no .   I  cannot  remember  he re  how you desc r ibed tha t  

quest ion  bu t  I  th ink  you descr ibed  i t  in  a  way tha t  suggest  

tha t  i t  may have been vague or  someth ing .   But  i t  seems to  20 

me to  be  qu i t e  s t ra igh t fo rward ,  do  you have any  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gupta ’s ,  i s  tha t  no t  a  very  

s t ra igh t fo rward  quest ion?  

MR GIGABA:    I t  cou ld  be  -  i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  in te rpre ta t ion ,  

Cha i r,  i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  in te rpre ta t ion .   I  th ink ,  perhaps I  
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cou ld  have expanded as  I  have expanded dur ing  the  

sess ions o f  th is  Commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see,  because when they say,  do  you  

have any re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gup ta ’s ,  they are  no t  say ing  

bus iness or  persona l  o r  anyth ing ,  they jus t  want  you to  

ind ica te  whether  you have any re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them o f  

whatever  na tu re ,  you accept  tha t ,  tha t  i s  what  the  quest ion  

requ i res .  

MR GIGABA:    I t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  in te rpre ta t ion ,  Cha i r.   I  am 

sure  i f  they  were  a lso  spec i f i c ,  I  wou ld  then maybe have  10 

responded spec i f i ca l l y  because they le f t  the  quest ion  

vague.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  look  a t  i t  now leave out  fo r  now,  how 

you might  have in te rp re ted  i t  a t  the  t ime you answered the  

quest ion .   Look a t  i t  now,  do  you not  accept  tha t  i t  i s  

s t ra igh t fo rward?  

MR GIGABA:    No,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Why do you say  is  no t  s t ra igh t fo rward?  

MR GIGABA:    I t  i s  no t  -  a  re la t ionsh ip  cou ld  be  anyth ing  

f rom bus iness to  anyth ing  and my  sense was tha t  i s  what  20 

they were  ask ing  and tha t  i s  why  I  have exp la ined before  

the  Commiss ion  my soc ia l  and o ther  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them,  

bu t  I  made i t  very  c lea r  f rom the  outse t  tha t  there  was no  

bus iness or  commerc ia l  re la t ionsh ip .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  you see my  d i f f i cu l t y  i s  in te rpre t ing 
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any  re la t ionsh ip  to  be  a  re ference to  a  bus iness  

re la t ionsh ip  when the  quest ion  i s  qu i te  open tha t  i s  my 

d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  your  in te rpre ta t ion .  

MR GIGABA:    The fami ly  Cha i rperson is  known as a  

bus iness fami ly,  in  Par l iament ,  I  had exp la ined my  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them in  the  same way tha t  I  have 

exp la ined i t  here  a t  the  Commiss ion .   My read ing  o f  th is  

quest ion  was tha t  i t  was vague i t  had been i t  had asked a  

number  o f  i ssues  wh ich  had to  do  w i th  SOE’s ,  the  bus iness 

dea l ings o f  the  fami ly,  and tha t  i s  p robab ly  why I  10 

responded in  th i s  sympathet ic  manner,  bu t  the  in ten t ion  

was not  to  h ide  anyth ing ,  because  i f  tha t  was the  in ten t ion  

then I  wou ld  have s t i l l  gone ahead a t  th is  Commiss ion  and  

not  d isc losed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  you see,  i f  you  tu rn  over  to  

page 942.155 the  top  quest ion  the re ,  tha t  quest ion  says:  

“ I f  the  answer  to  the  above is  yes. ”  

And we know your  answer  was no.  

“ I f  the  answer  to  the  above is  yes ,  what  was or  i s  

the  na ture  o f  the  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gupta ’s  o r  20 

the i r  assoc ia tes? ”  

So,  I  want  to  suggest  to  you tha t  i f  you  thought  tha t  any 

re la t ionsh ip ,  the  re ference to  any re la t ionsh ip  in  the 

quest ion  a t  page 942.154 was d i rec ted  a t  a  bus iness  

re la t ionsh ip ,  when you came to  th is  quest ion ,  you wou ld  
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have rea l i sed tha t ,  oh ,  depend ing  on my answer,  in  the 

prev ious quest ion ,  they want  to  know the  na ture  o f  the  

re la t ionsh ip ,  wh ich  is  bus iness or  f r iendsh ip  or  whatever,  

and tha t  you wou ld  then have rea l i sed and gone back and  

sa id ,  yes ,  I  d id  have a  re la t ionsh ip ,  i t  was a  f r iendsh ip  and 

not  a  bus iness re la t ionsh ip .   But  the  answer  tha t  you gave  

to  the  quest ion  a t  942.155 was the  quest ion  has become 

academic  and fa l l s  away in  v iew o f  the  answer  g iven in  

parag raph 4 .10 .1  supra ,  what  do  you say about  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:   No,  I  take  the  po in t  the  Cha i rperson is  10 

mak ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR GIGABA:    Yes,  tha t  I  shou ld  ac tua l l y  have read th is  – 

and the re fore  c la r i f y  i t  tha t  my in i t ia l ,  the  prev ious -  my 

read ing  o f  the  prev ious paragraph ,  o f  the  prev ious quest ion  

was not  what  was  meant ,  and there fore  I  shou ld  have gone 

on to  exp la in  here  as  th is  o ther  quest ion ,  i s  now ask ing  o r  

was ask ing .   

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m Mr  Myburgh .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  jus t  wanted to  make one po in t ,  20 

o f  cou rse  when I  asked you in  these proceed ings ear l y  on  

about  you r  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Gupta ’s ,  you took  us  back 

a l l  the  way to  when you were  the  Pres ident  o f  the  ANC 

Youth  League,  co r rec t ,  tha t  i s  when you s ta r ted  ske tch ing  

i t?  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 66 of 357 
 

MR GIGABA:    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  

tu rn  to  another  f i l e  and tha t  i s  to  Transnet  Bund le  8  and 

cou ld  you p lease go to  page…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Myburgh and I  do  no t  

want  to  in te r rup t  you but  there  is  someth ing  in  my m ind and 

in  a l l  fa i rness,  I  th ink  I  shou ld  pu t  i t  to  you so  tha t  you can  

c la r i f y  i t .   I  may be wrong but  I  th ink  tha t  the  impress ion  I  

had got  f rom maybe some o f  you r  a f f idav i t s  tha t  you have  

de l i vered to  the  Commiss ion ,  as  we l l  as  maybe your  ear l ie r  10 

ev idence.  I  th ink  i t  had g iven me the  impress ion  r igh t ly  o r  

wrong ly  tha t  you  were  -  your  pos i t ion  was tha t  you were  

no t  c lose  to  the  Gupta ’s .   

But  I  do  know now tha t  I  th ink  e i ther  on  Thursday or  

Fr iday,  you d id  say qu i te  express ly,  tha t  Mr  A jay  Gupta ,  

you were  f r iends w i th  Mr  A jay  Gup ta ,  I  do  know tha t  much  

ear l ie r  than tha t  you d id  say tha t  you had v i s i ted  the i r  

res idence severa l  t imes and I  th ink  tha t  i s  the  word  a t  

some s tage tha t  you used and tha t  you sa id  the  v is i t ,  some 

o f  the  v i s i t s  re la ted  to  cu l tu ra l  events  bu t  you a lso  sa id  you  20 

went  there  to  soc ia l i se  as  we l l .   

So  I  am jus t  say ing  I  jus t  want  you to  c la r i f y,  I  may  

have had th is  wrong impress ion  cer ta in ly,  recent ly  I  th ink  

you made i t  c lear  tha t  no  w i th  regard  to  Mr  A jay  Gupta  you  

were  f r iends and you d id  say you had v is i ted  the  res idence  
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a  number  o f  t imes,  severa l  t imes to  a t tend cu l tu ra l  events  

as  we l l  as  soc ia l l y  bu t  somehow I  have th is  impress ion  

then,  I  jus t  want  you to  d i spe l  i t  i f  i t  was a  wrong 

impress ion  tha t  tha t  I  ga thered.  

MR GIGABA:    Cha i rperson,  there  is  no t  an  a f f idav i t  wh ich  

has asked me tha t  quest ion  or  wh ich  has posed tha t  i ssue 

to  me.   I  th ink  in  a l l  the  a f f idav i t s  I  have dea l t  w i th  spec i f i c  

a l legat ions,  wh ich  re la ted  to  a  number  o f  i ssues  fo r  the  

appo in tments ,  the  1064 f lee t  locomot ives  and a  who le  

range o f  o ther  th ings.   I  have not  had to  respond to  the  10 

quest ion  d i rec t l y  as  i t  was posed here  in  the  Commiss ion  

and so  what  I  was do ing  in  the  Commiss ion  was to  respond  

to  the  quest ion  pre t ty  much fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime to  a  d i rec t  

quest ion ,  d id  you  know them? 

What  was the  na ture  o f  you r  re la t i onsh ip  and c la r i f y  

tha t  i t  was  not  dea l ings,  i t  was a  re la t ionsh ip ,  i t  was o f  a  

soc ia l  and cu l tu ra l  na tu re  and i t  was conf ined to  Mr  A jay  

and d id  no t  en ter ta in  a l l  the  a l legat ions wh ich  were  made 

by  some o f  the  prev ious w i tnesses,  two o f  the  prev ious  

w i tnesses and so  I  had to  c la r i f y  tha t ,  bu t  i t  was the  f i rs t  20 

t ime tha t  the  quest ion  was posed to  me in  tha t  fash ion .  

So in  the  a f f idav i t s  I  have not  had  to  respond to  i t ,  

except  in  the  po in t  on  the  Fundudz i  Repor t ,  wh ich  I  say,  I  

p robab ly  shou ld  have answered more  d i rec t l y,  and shou ld  

have read the  two parag raphs tha t  were  ask ing  me about  i t  
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in  -  as  one ques t ion ,  so  tha t  I  can c la r i f y  i t .   Bu t  I  have  

a lso  ind ica ted  tha t  in  regards to  tha t ,  I  have prov ided a  

more  e labora te  response on severa l  days,  ac tua l l y,  tha t  I  

have been appear ing  be fore  the  Cha i rperson.   

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  may be tha t ,  in  par t i cu la r,  I  go t  tha t  

impress ion  and I  say  no th ing  more  than tha t ,  i t  may have 

been an impress ion ,  i t  may be tha t  I  go t  tha t  impress ion  

f rom your  responses to  Ms  Mngoma’s  a f f idav i t s  and maybe  

in  ev idence and I  am not  say ing  i t  was a  d i rec t  ques t ion  or  

anyth ing  because I  th ink  I  go t  the  impress ion  tha t  Ms  10 

Mngoma was say ing  you and the  Gupta ’s  were  very  c lose,  

you had a  ve ry  c lose  re la t ionsh ip  bu t  tha t  f rom your  s ide ,  

you were  crea t ing  a  gap or  some d is tance w i thout  say ing  I  

d id  no t  know them,  I  never  went  to  the i r  res idence,  

acknowledg ing  tha t  you d id  go  the re .   

But  tha t  there  was tha t  tens ion  be tween your  

vers ion  and her  vers ion .   She on  the  one s ide ,  pu t t ing  up  

th ings tha t  suggested tha t  the  two o f  –  I  mean you and the  

Gupta ’s  were  ve ry  c lose ,  bu t  tha t  your  response sor t  to  

c rea te  some d is tance w i thout  say ing  you had noth ing  to  do  20 

w i th  them.   

 Maybe tha t  i s  where  I  go t  tha t  impress ion .   What  do  

you th ink  about  tha t  impress ion  f rom – in  regard  to  the  two  

vers ions,  i s  i t  poss ib le  tha t  maybe  i t  i s  a  quest ion  o f  she i s  

say ing ,  you were  th is  c lose  and you are  say ing ,  no t  tha t  
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c lose ,  bu t  c lose  but  no t  as  c lose  as  you say ing  I  was? 

MR GIGABA:    Cha i rperson,  Ms Mngoma a l leges tha t  a t  a  

cer ta in  per iod  she says I  went  to  the  Gupta ’s  more  

than…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    20  t imes.  

MR GIGABA:    20  t imes,  then goes fu r the r  in  the  same 

breath  to  say I  wou ld  go  there  every  Monday befo re  go ing  

to  Cape Town and re turn  there  every  Thursday,  Fr iday or  

Saturday upon re turn ing  f rom there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.  10 

MR GIGABA :    I  ind ica ted  tha t  i f  there  were  52  weeks in  a  

year  you are  ta lk ing  about  104 t imes,  no  longer  20 .   She 

says tha t  on  severa l  occas ions Mr  A jay  wou ld  ca l l  me and  

we wou ld  d iscuss  th ings.   I  say  tha t  i s  no t  t rue .   She says  

tha t  a t  some po in t  I  was not  p ick ing  up  h is  ca l l s  and I  

asked the  quest i on  i f  my phone r ings and I  do  no t  p ick  i t  

up ,  how do you know who is  ca l l ing .   She says tha t  they 

gave me a  car  wh ich  was in  her  name.   I  say  the re  is  no  

such a  ca r.  

So I  am say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  perhaps i t  i s  the  20 

Cha i rperson ’s  impress ion  tha t  –  o r  le t  me rephrase and say  

the  Cha i rperson ’s  impress ion  tha t  Ms Mngoma –  Ms  

Mngoma’s  vers ion  and mine are  vast ly  d i f fe ren t  i s  cor rec t .   

Le t  me s ta te ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  you  know knowing someone  

even i f  you soc ia l i se  w i th  them does not  make them c lose 
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to  you,  does not  mean tha t  when I  have cus tomary  

funct ions a t  home tha t  I  inv i te  them,  does not  mean tha t  

they a re  invo lved  in  the  n i t t y  g r i t t y  o f  my l i fe .  

There  a re  peop le  in  South  A f r i ca  who are  my c lose  

f r iends and those  are  peop le  I  wou ld  c la im are  c lose  to  me 

and there  a re  peop le  I  know.   There  are  peop le  I  know tha t  

I  wou ld  soc ia l i se  w i th  f rom t ime to  t ime.   Does no t  make 

those peop le  to  be  c lose  to  me.   When I  say  I  know you,  I  

can v is i t  you or  I  v is i t  you.   tha t  does not  cer ta in l y  mean  

tha t  you a re  c lose  to  me.  10 

So yes,  I  knew them and I  go t  inv i ted  to  some o f  

the i r  soc ia l  o r  cu l tu ra l  funct ions,  bu t  tha t  cer ta in ly  does not  

mean tha t  we were  c lose  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  Ms Mngoma 

was a l leg ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  wou ld  what  you have jus t  sa id  

about  c loseness app ly  to  you and  A jay  Gupta  as  we l l?   I  

wou ld  have thought  tha t  you say ing  you were  f r iends meant  

he  was c loser  to  you compared to  the  o thers  tha t  you may  

have been c lose  except  tha t  on  your  vers ion  you  make i t  

c lea r  tha t  the  f r iendsh ip  had noth ing  to  do  w i th  d iscuss ing  20 

bus inesses,  i t  was pe rsona l .  

MR GIGABA :    A c loseness wou ld  app ly  in  tha t  case too ,  

Cha i rperson. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    As  I  say,  there  are  many peop le  I  
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know. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    I t  does not  make them c lose to  me.   There  

are  many peop le  I  can soc ia l i se  w i th  o r  I  do  soc ia l i se  w i th ,  

i t  does not  make them to  be  c lose  to  me.   I  th ink  when you 

unpack the  word  c lose  i t  means tha t  you know the  n i t t y  

g r i t t ies  o f  my l i fe  and I  know the  n i t t y  g r i t t ies  o f  yours ,  we  

can ta lk ,  we a re  comfor tab le  to  share  a  number  o f  th ings in  

our  conversa t ions .   Th is  d id  no t  app ly  in  tha t  case.  

CHAIRPERSON :   Okay.   A l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank  you.   I  want  to  take  you 

then to  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Ms Mzimela .   You f ind  tha t  a f f idav i t  

a t  Bund le  8 ,  s ta r ts  a t  247.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Th i s  bund le  tha t  we were  us ing  jus t  now,  

Mr  Myburgh,  can i t  go  away o r. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  i t  can ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And i f  I  cou ld  take  you then  fo rward  

to  page 252,  p lease?  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  we do ing  qu i te  we l l  in  te rms o f  ou r  20 

case,  Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  do  no t  th ink  we are  do ing  we l l ,  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a t  leas t  tha t  te l l s  me someth ing .   

Okay,  a l r igh t .   Le t  us  cont inue.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   A t  paragraph  12,  Mr  

G igaba,  Ms Mzimela  says:  

“My exper ience  o f  the  approach to  governance  

under  the  then  Min i s te r  G igaba ’s  tenure  was  

d i f fe ren t .   Under  h is  tenure  there  deve loped a  very  

grey  l ine  and what  wou ld  ord ina r i l y  be  the  board  

respons ib i l i t i es  and dut ies ,  management ’s  

respons ib i l i t i es  and dut ies  and de legat ion . ”  

Le t  me dea l  w i th  13(2) .  

“No proper  p ro toco ls  were  fo l lowed fo r  engagement  10 

w i th  the  organ isa t ion  or  ra ther  the  es tab l i shed 

pro toco ls  were  ignored and  ind iv idua ls  who  

ord inar i l y  wou ld  no t  in te rac t  w i th  the  organ isa t ion  

were  now p lay ing  a  lead ro le  on  mat te rs  no rmal l y  

reserved (as  pe r  the  de legat ion)  to  management  o f  

the  organ isa t ion  or  the  board .   Spec i f i ca l l y  the  

invo l vement  o f  the  then Min is te r  G igaba ’s  adv iso r,  

Mr  S iyabonga Mahlangu,  was  s ign i f i can t  and 

unprecedented. ”  

Would  you comment  on  tha t?  20 

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  Ms  Mzimela  shou ld  exp la in  

how many t imes I  engaged w i th  the  board  and how and how 

many t imes I  as  the  Min i s te r  engaged w i th  management  

and how.   Dur ing  her  tenure  wh ich  las ted  I  th ink  un t i l  2012,  

though I  m ight  no t  exact ly  reca l l ,  when I  needed to  meet  
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the  board  ou ts ide  the  f ramework  o f  the  AGM,  a  spec ia l  

meet ing  wou ld  be  convened as  is  the  norm in  SOEs,  

because the  Min is te r  i s  no t  a  board  member  and i f  the 

Min is te r  seeks a  meet ing  w i th  the  Board  to  d iscuss an  

issue,  then a  spec ia l  board  meet ing  is  convened and the  

agenda i tem to  be  d iscussed is  p laced fo r th  so  tha t  the  

board  p repares fo r  the  br ie f ing  to  the  Min i s te r.  

 That  was not  undermined.   I t  was not  compromised.   

I t  was not  reversed.   I  do  no t  reca l l  engag ing  as  the  

Min is te r  w i th  MANCO of  SAA,  no t  in  a  fo rmal  way  except  10 

when I  wou ld  have v i s i ted  the i r  o f f i ces  and they were  

showing me.   Now,  i f  Ms Mzimela  was a l leg ing  tha t  I  shou ld  

no t  have come to  SAA,  I  am the  new Min i s te r  o f  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises ,  I  want  to  v is i t  A i rways Park  to  see  how – 

where  are  they based.   I t  i s  an  SOE in  my por t fo l io .   I t  i s  

one o f  the  impor tan t .   As  I  a r r ived they app l ied  fo r  a  

ba i lou t  and so  I  want  to  come and see where  they opera te .  

 I  remember  Ms Caro lus  had a lso  i nv i ted  me to  come 

to  v iew the i r  s imu la t ion  fo r  a i rc ra f ts  and p i lo ts .   So  when I  

v is i ted  there  tha t  o f  cou rse  is ,  you know,  par t l y  in fo rmal ,  20 

bu t  i t  i s  a  fo rmal  v is i t  by  the  shareho lde r  to  the  head 

o f f i ces  o f  the  en t i t y  over  wh ich  they have overs igh t .   I  have 

a  r igh t  and eve ry  du ty  to  do  so  and I  am sure  my  

predecessors  wou ld  have done the  same and my 

successors  wou ld  have done so .  
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 So  what  Ms Mzimela  seems to  be  suggest ing  is  

conta ined in  pa ragraph 13.   So parag raph 12 is  in  every  

poss ib le  way not  on ly  an  –  no t  jus t  an  exaggera t ion ,  a  

d is to r t ion  because she does not  then p roceed to  say th is  i s  

then how Min is te r  G igaba then b led  the  l ine  inso far  as  

board  respons ib i l i t i es  and dut ies  as  we l l  as  management  

respons ib i l i t i es  and dut ies .  

 She then goes in  parag raph 13 to  exp la in  what  the  

prob lem she is  ta lk ing  about  and  tha t  I  th ink  wha t  she is  

say ing  is  tha t  the  invo lvement  o f  Mr  Mah langu was 10 

s ign i f i can t  and unprecedented.   I  th ink  they shou ld  have 

in fo rmed me because I  do  no t  th ink  except  on  two 

occas ions when Ms Caro lus  who  was the  Cha i r  o f  SAA 

ind ica ted  to  me tha t  I  was not  happy w i th  Mr  Mah langu ’s  

conduct  in  a  par t i cu la r  ins tance  where  she says I  then  

rep r imanded Mr  Mah langu in  he r  p resence.  

I  cannot  reca l l  the  second ins tance where  they  

m ight  have brought  to  my a t ten t ion  the i r  d isconcer t  about  

h im,  wh ich  I  wou ld  have dea l t  w i th ,  bu t  th is  s ign i f i can t  and  

unprecedented invo lvement  was  not  b rought  to  my 20 

a t ten t ion .   I  cou ld  on l y  re ly  on  what  I  knew and what  they  

wou ld  have brought  to  my a t ten t ion ,  no t  what  I  d id  no t  

know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  I  m ight  touch on some o ther  

aspects  o f  what  she says about  Mr  Mah langu a  l i t t le  la te r,  
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bu t  le t  us  go  p lease to  page 262.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Be fore  tha t ,  Mr  Myburgh,  I  no te  Mr  

G igaba tha t  wha t  Ms Mzimela  says in  pa ragraph 13 tha t  

you re fer red  to  jus t  now may we l l  be  seen as  cons is ten t ,  

and I  want  you to  comment  on  tha t ,  as  k ind  o f  cons i s ten t  

w i th  what  Fundudz i  o r  the  Manag ing  D i rec tor  o f  Fundudz i  

sa id  in  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  we dea l t  w i th  ea r l ie r,  sa id  the  – I  

th ink  Ms Mkobo,  i s  i t  Mkobo,  f rom the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  sa id  about  you or  the  pos i t ion  you took about  

the  po l i cy  and po l i c ies  and f ramework  tha t  were  there  in  10 

the  depar tment  fo r  the  appo in tment  o f  board  members .  

In  o ther  words as  I  unders tand what  the  Manag ing  

D i rec tor  o f  Fundudz i  was say ing  is  tha t  they were  to ld  by  

Ms Mkobo  tha t  there  had been ex i s t ing  po l i c ies  or  

f rameworks  fo r  the  appo in tment  o f  board  members ,  bu t  

when you came in  you sought  to  igno re  those and dea l  w i th  

mat te rs  in  an  in fo rmal  way.   Wha t  Ms Mzimela  says here  

seems to  me and  maybe you might  say  tha t  i s  no t  jus t i f ied ,  

seems to  go  a long the  same l ines  when she says:  

“No proper  p ro toco ls  were  fo l lowed fo r  engagement  20 

w i th  the  organ isa t ion  or  ra ther  the  es tab l i shed 

pro toco ls  were  ignored and  ind iv idua ls  who  

ord inar i l y  wou ld  no t  in te rac t  w i th  the  organ isa t ion  

were  now p lay ing  a  lead ro le  on  mat te rs  no rmal l y  

reserved to  management . ”  
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I  jus t  ment ioned tha t  because i t  is  a  thought  tha t  came to  

me when I  was read ing  i t .   Do you want  to  say someth ing  

about  tha t ,  tha t  thought?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes,  thank you,  Cha i rperson.   I  th ink  I  

exp la ined w i th  regard  to  Ms Mkobo .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :    And what  –  tha t  I  d id  no t  unders tand what  

was meant  by  an  in fo rmal  way o f  engagement ,  because I  

exp la ined the  ou t l ine  tha t  one,  I  d id  no t  change  –  she 

cannot  po in t  to  any dec is ion  by  me to  change the  2008 10 

pro toco ls  and second ly  tha t  where  I  persona l ly  engaged 

w i th  the  depar tment  on  board  appo in tments  and asked 

them to  ra ther  p resent  to  me d i rec t l y  wou ld  have been in  

ins tances where  I  wanted to  engage w i th  the  submiss ion  so  

tha t  they can exp la in  as  the  peop le  who wou ld  have  

or ig ina ted .  

 You see,  Cha i rperson,  you cou ld  say somebody  

cou ld  come to  the  Cha i r  and say  the  Cab ine t  p rocess is  

in fo rmal  i f  i t  i s  in  a  meet ing  tha t  a  fo rmal  p rocess fo r  

Cab ine t  i s  to  c i rcu la te  Cab ine t  memos and expect  m in is te rs  20 

to  wr i te  down the i r  responses,  now tha t  i s  fo rmal .   But  a  

meet ing  is  a  fo rmal  p rocess where  records  are  taken  by  the 

peop le  who are  supposed to  take  those records.   That  i s  a  

fo rmal  p rocess.   I t  cannot  be  regarded as  in fo rmal .   

 In  th is  case where  there  is  re fe rence to  es tab l i shed  
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p ro toco ls  igno red  and ind iv idua ls  who ord inar i l y  wou ld  no t  

in te rac t  w i th  the  organ isa t ion  were  now p lay ing  a  l ead ro le  

on  mat te rs  no rmal ly  reserved to  management  o f  the 

organ isa t ion  o r  the  board ,  I  have  responded in  two ways,  

tha t  one,  I  never  changed any p ro toco l  inso far  as  how I  as  

the  shareho lder  representa t i ve  in te rac t  w i th  the  board  and 

Ms Mzimela  cannot  po in t  to  any such ins tance where  the re  

was a  d i rec t i ve  f rom me.   Because I  reserve  the  r igh t  to  

change the  pro toco ls  i f  need be.   I  d id  no t  and cont inued to  

engage w i th  the  board  in  the  manner  wh ich  is  es tab l i shed  10 

wh ich  I  thought  as  I  was br ie fed  is  es tab l i shed norm in  

te rms o f  governance,  tha t  the  Min is te r  cannot  jus t  s imp ly  

ca l l  the  board .   I f  you  want  to  meet  w i th  the  board  the  

depar tment  wou ld  wr i te  a  le t te r  to  the  company secre tary,  a  

spec ia l  board  meet ing  wou ld  be  convened and agenda  

i tems wou ld  be  tab led  and then you engage.  

 Now I  th ink  what  Ms Mzimela  i s  re fe r r ing  to  here  i s  

these ind iv idua ls  who wou ld  no t  o rd ina r i l y  in te rac t  w i th  the  

board  or  management  and whose  invo lvement  she  c la ims 

were  s ign i f i can t  and unprecedented and I  th ink  they shou ld  20 

have brought  those to  my a t ten t ion .   In  par t  tha t  i s  par t  o f  

why when I  spoke  w i th  the  board  I  sa id  to  –  I  mean w i th  the  

Cha i rs  and the  CEOs o f  the  SOEs in  my por t fo l io ,  I  sa id  to  

them guys,  lad ies  and gent lemen,  p lease,  when you hear  

anyth ing  f rom anybody who c la ims  to  have spoken to  me or  
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to  have been d i rec ted  by  me to  meet  w i th  you,  p lease do 

not  jus t  s imp ly  comply.  

I f  you  do not  check w i th  me,  jus t  ensure  tha t  you  

fo l low the  supp ly  cha in ,  pub l i c  p rocu rement  and  o ther  

leg is la t ion  –  leg is la t i ve  p rocesses tha t  per ta in  to  those 

issues so  tha t  you do not  f ind  yourse l ves gu l l ib le  t o  peop le  

who come b rand ish ing  my name wi thout  my knowledge o r  

s imp ly  by  hav ing  spoken to  me and I  sa id  to  them go to 

ta lk  to  the  re levant  peop le .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   Mr  Myburgh?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.   I  want  to  p ick  up  a t  

page 262 and dea l  w i th  the  Mumbai  rou te .   There  were  o f  

course  two meet ings tha t  you were  invo lved in ,  the  one on 

10 t h  o f  January  2011 and the  o ther  on  14 t h  o f  Apr i l  2011.   

Le t  us  s ta r t  by  dea l ing  w i th  the  January  meet ing .  

 Can I  jus t  ask  you before  we get  in to  the  de ta i l  o f  

the  meet ing ,  th is  Je t  A i rways,  what  d id  you know about  Je t  

A i rways?  

MR GIGABA :    Noth ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Who were  Je t  A i rways?  Where  d id  20 

they come f rom? 

MR GIGABA :    They sent  a  request  fo r  a  meet ing .   They 

sa id  what  the  meet ing  was about .   I  d id  no t  want  to  meet  

w i th  them and tha t  i s  why I  inv i ted  SAA to  tha t  meet ing  so  

tha t  the  vers ion  o f  SAA wou ld  be  put  on  the  tab le ,  because  
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I  was new in  the  por t fo l io  and here  is  an  a i r l ine  tha t  makes  

a l l  sor ts  o f  c la ims.   I  d id  no t  know about  th is  and so  I  

thought  le t  SAA come so  tha t  they pu t  ou r  pe rspect ive  as  

the  South  A f r i can  Government  on  the  issue tha t  was be ing  

canvassed by  Je t  A i rways.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We wi l l  come perhaps to  th is  la te r,  

bu t  in  the  t ime o f  Ms Caro lus  and Min is te r  Hogan,  Je t  

A i rways had a l so  sought  to  a r range meet ings wh ich  they 

re fused because  they cons idered  i t  to  be  an  opera t iona l  

i ssue.   Why d id  you become invo lved in  th is?  10 

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  the  f i rs t  reason is  tha t  here  

they were  no t  on l y  ra i s ing  an  opera t iona l  i ssue,  they were  

propos ing  what  they presented as  a  w in-w in  so lu t ion ,  a  

coopera t ion  agreement .   Now in  tha t  regard  I  fe l t  le t  us  

have a  d iscuss ion ,  le t  me hear  what  th is  i s  about  and then  

the  mat te r  w i l l  go  back to  the  re levant  peop le  who are  

supposed to  dea l  w i th  i t .  

 Bu t  second ly,  there  were  a  number  o f  o ther  

ins tances,  Cha i rperson,  where  the  shareho lde r  wou ld  ge t  

invo l ved.   Somebody wou ld  say  the  appo in tmen t  o f  a  20 

s t ra tegy equ i ty  par tne r  fo r  SAA which  was announced las t  

week i s  an  opera t iona l  i ssue.   I t  was not  announced  by  the  

Board  o f  SAA or  by  the  –  i t  was  not  announced by  the  

bus iness rescue  prac t i t ione r.   I t  was announced  by  the  

Min is te r  represen t ing  the  shareho lde r.   Why?  Because the  
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a i r l ine  i s  in  f inanc ia l  d i s t ress .   I t  i s  undergo ing  bus iness  

rescue and SAA has had tha t  p rob lem for  the  longest  o f  

t ime.  

Even as  I  a r r i ved as  the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises  they  had app l ied  fo r  a  ba i lou t  and second ly  

there  were  a l ready pub l i c  deba tes  about  whether  SAA 

shou ld  no t  be  pr iva t i sed.   Min is te r  G igaba,  a re  you go ing  

to  shut  SAA down?  They have  been rece iv ing  a  lo t  o f  

ba i lou t s .   They are  hur t ing  the  na t i ona l  f i scus.  

Now here  is  an  issue invo lv ing  the  a i r l ine  on  a  rou te  10 

wh ich  we  cons idered s t ra teg i c  a t  the  t ime as  Sou th  A f r i ca  

was a  member  o f  the  BRICS b loc .   And so  w i thout  say ing  to  

them th is  i s  the  so lu t ion ,  I  had a  r igh t  to  meet  the  par t ies  

concerned and l i s ten  to  them.   And as  I  responded  in  my – 

I  th ink  i t  must  be  my January  2021 a f f idav i t ,  I  l i s ted  a  

number  o f  ins tances where  I  in te rac ted  w i th  var ious pa r t ies  

or  pa r tne rs  o f  SOEs in  mat te rs  wh ich  someone wou ld  have  

regarded as  opera t iona l  bu t  wh ich  we as  the  shareho lder  

thought  were  impor tan t .  

I  met  w i th  un ions on  the  s t r i ke  in  Medup i .   The 20 

Eskom Board  cou ld  have sa id  to  me th is  i s  opera t iona l ,  

Min is te r,  s tay  away f rom th is ,  bu t  the  pro t rac ted  s t r i ke  was  

hur t ing  the  count ry  and the  cap i ta l  investment  wh ich  was  

be ing  under taken a t  Medup i ,  I  met  w i th  the  g loba l  

equ ipment  manu fac turers  o f  –  tha t  a re  the  pr imary  
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con t rac tors  a t  Medup i  and Kus i le ,  the  Eskom Board  cou ld  

have sa id  to  me no,  Min is te r,  th is  i s  an  opera t iona l  mat te r,  

s tay  away f rom i t ,  bu t  i t  was hur t ing  the  na t iona l  f i scus,  the  

image o f  the  count ry.   I t  was hur t ing  the  cred i t  ra t ing  o f  the  

count ry  and o f  Eskom.   I t  was hur t ing  the  ab i l i t y  o f  Eskom 

to  ra ise  money f rom the  cap i ta l  marke ts .  

I t  was necessary  fo r  me to  ca l l  the  cont rac tors  and  

say to  them I  wan t  th is  mat te r  reso lved and in  meet ing  w i th  

them the  var ious SOEs concerned wou ld  have known tha t  I  

am not  do ing  so  in  favour  o f  the  cont rac tors ,  bu t  I  am 10 

do ing  so  so  tha t  i ssues are  reso lved in  favour  o f  the  SOE 

which  is  an  en t i t y  in  my por t fo l io .   And tha t  i s  why I  

par t i c i pa ted  in  these.   That  i s  why none –  on  no occas ion  

in  these meet ings d id  I  ever  say tha t  reso lve  th is  mat te r  in  

the  fo l low ing way.   I  kep t  say ing  f ind  an  amicab le  so lu t ion ,  

reso lve  th is  way  so  tha t  we rescue the  ba lance sheet  o f  

Eskom and –  I  mean,  o f  SAA and  SAA does not  b leed on  

the  rou te .  

So i f  you  ask ,  Cha i rperson,  why d id  I  fee l  the  need  

to  meet ,  m in is te rs  a re  no t  the  same.   Min is te rs  a re  no t  the  20 

same.   The i r  approach to  i ssues is  no t  the  same,  bu t  what  

b inds a l l  o f  them is  the i r  common commi tment  to  the  

en t i t ies  o f  the  South  A f r i can  S ta te  wh ich  they are  

oversee ing .   And in  th is  case I  had  the  in te res t  o f  SAA,  the 

best  in te res t  o f  SAA a t  hear t  on  a  rou te  wh ich  they were  
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b leed ing  –  on  a  rou te  in  wh ich  they were  b leed ing  

f inanc ia l l y.  

And the  i ssues  tha t  were  be ing  brought  to  my  

a t ten t ion  jus t  as  I  had ar r i ved requ i red  me to  say  le t  us  

meet ,  le t  me unders tand.   I t  wou ld  have been wrong o f  me 

to  have gone to  tha t  meet ing  w i thout  SAA be ing  present ,  

because then I  wou ld  no t  have known what  i s  the  vers ion  

o f  SAA,  nor  wou ld  I  have prov ided  SAA wi th  an  oppor tun i ty  

to  be  there  to  s ta te  the i r  own vers ion  i n  the  same meet ing  

so  tha t  we know how we wi l l  reso l ve  th is  i ssue and we  10 

move fo rward .   And ac tua l l y  there  was no in ten t ion  on  my 

par t  tha t  the re  shou ld  be  any reso lu t ion  in  th is  meet ing ,  

because I  cons idered i t  to  be  an  oppor tun i ty  fo r  me jus t  to  

l i s ten .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So you were  appo in ted  as  Min is te r  

DPE in  November  o f  2010 and th is  meet ing  is  he ld  very  

ear l y  on  on  the  10 t h  o f  January  2011.   What  caused  you to  

p r io r i t i se  th is  as  someth ing  tha t  you a t tended to  ve ry  ear l y  

in  the  new year?  

MR GIGABA :    I  d id  no t  p r io r i t i se  i t .   I  rece ived a  request  20 

and responded to  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  G igaba,  th is  i s  an  issue tha t  

had  been brewing fo r  some t ime  and i f  you look  a t  the  

ev idence o f  Ms Caro lus ,  and we  w i l l  come to  i t  in  t ime,  

there  had been requests  fo r  s im i la r  sor ts  o f  meet ing .  
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MR GIGABA :    That  was what  SAA brought  to  my a t ten t ion  

when we had convened the  meet ing  tha t  they had had th is  

approach pr io r  to  th is  meet ing .   Th is  was the i r  v iew as the  

a i r l ine  and as  you w i l l  rea l i se  the i r  v iews on the  mat te r  

cont inued to  change,  to  evo lve ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   Wel l ,  le t  us  have a  look a t  

parag raph 41.   Ms Mzimela  says:  

“ I  a r r i ved on t ime  w i th  Mr  S i tho le . . . ”  

He was the  Cha i r  o f  the  Board  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee .   

Ms Caro lus  was not  ava i lab le  to  a t tend the  meet ing .   She 10 

says:  

“ I  a r r i ved on t ime w i th  Mr  S i tho le  fo r  the  meet ing  a t  

the  DPE o f f i ces  in  Pre tor ia .   On a r r i va l  we were  met  

by  Mr  Mah langu who was Mr  G igaba ’s  lega l  adv isor.   

We were  then in fo rmed tha t  we were  wa i t ing  fo r  a  

rep resenta t i ve  f rom Jet  A i r l ines  to  a r r i ve  and jo in  

the  meet ing .   We wou ld  la te r  be  adv i sed tha t  Je t  

A i rways ’ representa t i ve  had been  de layed in  Cape 

Town and we overheard  Mr  Mah langu s ta t ing  tha t  

they were  t rave l l ing  by  pr iva te  je t  to  Johannesburg . ”  20 

Were  you present  in  the  meet ing  a t  th is  po in t?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  th is  was on the i r  a r r i va l .   As 

they say,  they were  met  by  Mr  Mah langu,  so  the  meet ing  

had not  s ta r ted .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   A t  42 :  
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“Dur ing  the  per iod  o f  wa i t ing  we had the  oppor tun i t y  

to  meet  w i th  Mr  G igaba who requested to  be  br ie fed  

on  the  SAA/Jet  A i rways re la t ionsh ip .   I  then 

proceeded to  take  Mr  G igaba th rough the  

memorandum,  emphas is ing  reasons fo r  no t  

recommending the  cance l la t ion  o f  the  SAA-Mumba i  

rou te .   Add i t iona l l y  I  exp la ined to  Mr  G igaba tha t  

Je t  A i rways owed  money to  SAA and were  de lay ing  

in  payment  and there fore  cou ld  no t  rea l l y  be  t rus ted  

as  a  par tne r.   I  ind ica ted  tha t  any s t ra teg i c  10 

par tnersh ip  tha t  cou ld  be  fo rged w i th  Je t  A i rways  

wou ld  need to  be  benef ic ia l  fo r  bo th  par t ies  and  

more  so  fo r  SAA.   The memorandum a l luded to  the  

fac t  tha t  the  proposa l  by  Je t  A i rways to  c lose  the  

rou te  wou ld  have  no mains t ream benef i t  to  SAA.   I f  

any th ing  i t  wou ld  increas ing ly  bene f i t  Je t  A i rways. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  whether  o r  no t  tha t  happened? 

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  my read ing  o f  what  Ms  

Mzimela  says he re  is  tha t  the  p roposa l  wh ich  Je t  A i rways  

had a t  tha t  t ime made –  remember,  Cha i r,  the  d iscuss ions  20 

between SAA and Je t  A i rways had taken p lace – the  CEO 

of  SAA in  2004  had met  Je t  A i rways in  London and 

subsequent  to  tha t  there  had been s igned in te r - l ine  

agreements .   So there  were  in te r - l ine  ag reements  a l ready  

ex i s t ing  even a t  th is  t ime.  
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That  i s  why SAA says tha t  there  was money owed to  

them as a  resu l t  o f  inab i l i t y  by  Je t  A i rways to  pay some o f  

the  money tha t  was due to  SAA a r is ing  ou t  o f  th is  in te r - l ine  

agreement .   The  nature  o f  th is  in te r - l ine  agreement  I  do  

no t  know.   The nature  o f  the  in te r - l ine  agreements  be tween 

the  two a i r l ines  I  do  no t  know,  wh ich  resu l ted  in  Je t  

A i r l ines  hav ing  to  pay SAA.  

Now,  what  she i s  then say ing  i s  tha t  because they are  

be ing  owed and the  p roposa l  tha t  Je t  A i r l ines  i s  p resent ing  

to  them is  on ly  benef ic ia l  to  SAA,  they wou ld  have a  10 

prob lem wi th  tha t  p roposa l .   And one o f  the  proposa ls  

wou ld  mean tha t  SAA wou ld  on ly  en ter  in to  po in t - to -po in t  

wi th  Jet  A i rways which means SAA can f ly  passengers f rom 

Johannesburg to  Mumbai  and not  proceed to Delh i  or  o ther  

par ts  of  Ind ia.   So when they ar r ive in  Mumbai  they must  

de l i ver  passengers and Jet  A i rways must  take those 

passengers arr i v ing th rough SAA and take them forward.  

 But  on the cont rast  what  Jet  A i r l ines wanted was to  

be  able  to  del iver  passengers in  Johannesburg and perhaps 

be able to  take them to Durban or  take them to Cape Town 20 

or  take them to o ther  dest inat ions which were – were SAA’s  

routes.  

 Now SAA was saying the agreement  we enter  in to 

must  e i ther  be a point  to  point  agreement  for  both o f  us or  i f  

i t  inc ludes f i f th  f reedom r ights the abi l i t y  to  proceed beyond 
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the – the or ig ina l  major  dest inat ion which for  example in  the 

case SAA would be Mumbai .   I f  Jet  A i r l ines wanted to  not  

on ly to  land in  Johannesburg and drop off  but  p roceed to  

other  routes SAA would need a rec ip rocal  r ight  in  turn in  

regards to  the Mumbai  route.  

 Now they sa id th is  – th is  agreement  – th is  proposal  

wi th  Jet  A i r l ines  is  making to  us is  not  su i tab le.   Not  

su i tab le in  par t icu lar  a lso because SAA offe red an 

addi t ional  advantage for  Ind ian passengers that  upon arr i va l  

in  Johannesburg i t  could then take them to South Amer ica – 10 

to  Sao Paulo and so SAA wanted a d i f fe rent  approach – a 

d i f ferent  engagement  compared to the one that  –  that  Jet  

A i r l ines was present ing and that  is  why Ms Mzimela  sa id to  

us that  no the proposal  which Jet  A i r l ines is  p resent ing to  

us i s  not  su i tab le – i t  is  not  conducive in  our  op in ion i t  

would only benef i t  them and not  us .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Gigaba do you accept  that  Ms 

Mzimela conveyed to you what  she states at  paragraph 42? 

MR GIGABA:   Yes she d id convey i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   R ight .  20 

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Let  us go to  paragraph 44.    

“We wai ted for  over  two hours before the  

meet ing f ina l l y  proceeded wi th  a l l  the  

re levant  s takeholders. ”  
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 Is  that  not  a  long t ime for  a  Min is te r  to  indulge a  

par ty  – two hours?  

MR GIGABA:   I  do not  recal l  how long d id we wai t  

Chai rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So she says two hours Mr Gigaba.  

MR GIGABA:   I  –  i t  would have –  i t  would have conf l ic ted 

wi th  my program so I  do not  th ink i t  was two hours.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l l  r ight  how long was i t?  

MR GIGABA:   I  do not  know.   This  was 2011 Chai rperson I  

do not  have my d iary wi th  me today.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  see.    

CHAIRPERSON:   D id you respond to th is  aff idavi t  maybe 

you – you sa id in  your  response.   Do you recal l  whether  you 

– because one of  the – one of  the features I  had the 

impression was st range was –  was – was that  –  that  you as  

the Min is te r  and the SAA delegat ion could be kept  wai t ing  

for  so long and that  th is  could be to lerated.  

 So i f  you d id respond i t  would be – because they 

cer ta in ly  – she cer ta in ly  sa id her  ev idence was that  i t  was a  

very long t ime and I  th ink she sa id two hours even in  ora l  20 

ev idence.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or  maybe you would have remembered i f  

you responded in  a d i f fe rent  way.   Mr Myburgh do you have 

a cor rect… 
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   There is  the – Mr Gigaba d id respond.   

He deals wi th  th is  – the Mumbai  route and the Jet  A i rways 

meet ings at  page 572 of  the same bundle.  

CHAIRPERSON:   572.   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There is  no reference there to  the.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   To the durat ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To the durat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Wel l  was th is  aff idavi t  a  response to  

Ms Mzimela ’s  aff idavi t  o r  was i t  in  genera l?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The purpose of  the statement  is 

recorded at  562 paragraph 4.  

“The purpose of  th is  s tatement  is  to  

supplement  my pre l iminary statement  

submi t ted in  response to Ms Mzimela. ”  

 So… 

CHAIRPERSON:   So… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There is  a  – there is  another   

CHAIRPERSON:   S tatement .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There is  another  aff idavi t  wh ich you 20 

f ind commencing at  page 538 and there you wi l l  see that  Mr 

Gigaba a lso deals wi th  the Mumbai  route Chai rperson at  

page 547.   And he deals wi th  the meet ing on the  10 t h  o f  

January at  page 550.    

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  looks l ike tha t  there i s  no react ion to  
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the – to  the t ime.   Ja I  may be wrong but  f rom what  I  have 

looked – f rom what  I  have seen i t  does not  look l ike  there is  

a  react ion to  the t ime.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   But  you – you say you… 

MR GIGABA:   We would not  have wai ted two hours 

Chai rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You say you would not  have wai ted two 

hours.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   (Mumbl ing) .  

CHAIRPERSON:   What  is  the – how much long you would  

have a l lowed to wai t?  

MR GIGABA:   I t  –  i t  . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   May have depended on your  p rogram. 

MR GIGABA:   Depended on my program.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  never theless you know.  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You know – do you th ink you would  wai ted 

a whole hour?  20 

MR GIGABA:   I  would not  know Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe you would not  know.  

MR GIGABA:   I  would not  –  I  would  not  remember.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Because I  –  I  thought  Ms Mzimela 

was rather  emphat ic  that  i t  was qui te  a long t ime and maybe 
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two hours.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes and we wi l l  come in  a moment  to 

Ms Caro lus ’ a ff idavi t .   She says that  the delay was repor ted 

to  her.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l l  r ight  wel l  then can we car ry on? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A t  page 264 paragraph 44.    

“We wai ted for  over  two hours before the  

meet ing f ina l l y  proceeded wi th  a l l  the  10 

re levant  s takeholders.   Dur ing the  t ime that  

we were  wai t ing fo r  the Jet  A i rways 

representat i ve I  received a ca l l  f rom 

Advocate Sandra  Coetzee who at  the t ime 

was employed in  the SAA legal  department .   

Advocate Coetzee then in fo rmed me that  

there was a gent leman f rom Jet  A i rways who 

was in  possession of  an agreement  and he 

was demanding that  i t  be s igned because 

SAA had agreed to cancel  the Mumbai  route.   20 

I  advised her  to  s ta l l  because I  had no 

knowledge of  th is  agreement  and we had not  

even commenced wi th  the meet ing wi th  Mr  

Gigaba and the  representat i ve f rom Jet  

A i rways. ”  
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 Do you want  to  comment  on that?  

MR GIGABA:   I  was not  aware of  th is  gent leman at  –  at  SAA 

and th is  would have been improper g iven that  we had had 

no meet ing and the meet ing we were going to  have was – 

was going to  be  for  me to l is ten  to  understand what  the  

issues have been – that  are being brought  to  us  by Jet  

A i rways are.  

 I t  could be I  th ink  as I  sa id ear l ier  that  p r io r  to  2010  

the – the previous Manco of  SAA had agreed to pu l l  out  o f  

the route that  when the new CE of  SAA took off i ce – I  th ink  10 

around February 2010 she – she then ind icated that  they 

had no in tent ion.   So the new CE had – had then decided 

that  no we are not  pu l l ing out  o f  the route instead we are  

going to  – we are prepared to  pursue win/win coopera t ion.  

 So what  these people f rom Jet  A i rways may have 

been doing was to  approach the meet ing on the basis one of  

not  knowing what  i t  enta i l s  to  meet  a Min is ter  in  South  

Af r ica that  I  do not  take  decis ions of  that  nature on behal f  

o f  the a i r l ine.  

 Secondly they may have come on the basis of  20 

understanding of  a  p revious understanding and that  is  why 

they would then have been to ld  tha t  no,  no wai t  the issue of  

pu l l ing out  i s  not  on the tab le.  

 In  actual  fact  you are here – you requested a 

meet ing wi th  our  Min is te r  – you come;  you br ie f  our  Min is te r  
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and when you f in ish br ie f ing our  Min is ter  he wi l l  decide how 

we move fo rward in  that  regard.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So you say they might  have been 

under the impress ion that  i t  was a done deal .  

MR GIGABA:   Based on a decis ion which could have been 

taken before 2010 –  before  I  was even Min is te r  a t  Publ ic  

Enterpr ises.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And they knew they meet ing wi th  you 

on th is  day I  take i t .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  see.   Then at  46.  

“Eventual l y  the Jet  A i rways representat i ve  

led by Mr Goyal  ar r i ved we went  in to the  

meet ing.   Present  in  th is  meet ing was 

mysel f ,  Mr S i tho le and Mr Gigaba,  a Deputy  

Min is te r  Mr Ben Mart ins,  Mr Mahlangu and 

there were other  DPE representat ives.   Mr  

Goyal  commenced the meet ing by running  

through h is  CV etcetera. ”  

 Go to the last  sentence.  20 

“He proceeded to  arrogant ly  s tate that  SAA 

should get  r id  of  the route because they had 

a bet ter  product  that  would be more su i tab le  

for  the market . ”  

 You remember that?  
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MR GIGABA:   Ja.   The man was qu i te  ar rogant .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Gigaba … 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is  your  recol lect ion as wel l .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why d id you not  put  a  stop  to  th is  

meet ing?  I  mean here these people are two hours la te -   

man comes in  he behaves arrogant ly.  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson as I  see I  do not  –  I  do not  th ink 

i t  was the meet ing was two hours la te and when you agree 

to  a meet ing perhaps we may not  be the same.    10 

 You know I  wi l l  l i s ten to  you even when I  do not  

agree wi th  you.   I  do not  have to  just  s tand up and walk out  

s imply because I  do not  agree wi th  you.  

 I  w i l l  l is ten to  you and when you f in ish your  

presentat ion I  wi l l  take my own decis ion.   Ul t imate ly  

Chai rperson the decis ion is  mine.   Your  approach to the 

meet ing,  your  a rrogance in  that  meet ing,  th is  was not  the  

f i rs t  t ime we met  arrogant  people not  on ly in  SAA but  i t  

happened even af ter  th is  I  had – I  had had s imi lar  

exper iences in  my previous – in  my previous exper iences 20 

and not  on any occasion would I  s imply stand up and leave.  

 Even I  have at tended meet ings where people have 

pul led out  guns and p laced them on the tab le – we – we 

cont inued wi th  those meet ings.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l l  r ight .   Then i t  goes on to  say:  
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“He at tacked SAA for  de lay ing the c losure of  

the Mumbai  route speci f i ca l l y  the cur rent  

management  fo r  be ing stubborn whi ls t  

prev ious SAA management  had a l ready 

conf i rmed that  they would  ensure  that  the 

route was c losed.   I  then pushed h im for  the  

name of  the ind iv idual  f rom SAA that  agreed 

to the c losure.   He then re luctant ly  

ment ioned Mr Chr is  Smythe who was the  

act ing CEO before I  took up the posi t ion.  Mr  10 

Smythe was a lso the person whom had 

canvassed the c losure of  the Mumbai  route 

to  the board.   Mr Goyal  cont inued to 

seemingly inst ruc t  everyone present  about  

the how the process should be taken 

forward.   I  exper ienced Mr  Goyal  address at  

the meet ing synonymous to h im addressing  

h is  execut ives.   A t  that  po int  Mr Mart in  

s tepped in  as he seemingly d id  not  take 

k ind ly to  Mr Goyal ’s  inst ruct i ve tone.   He 20 

sa id someth ing to  the effect  that  quote “we 

are here to  assis ts  but  do not  te l l  us how we 

should be doing th ings in  our  count ry. ”  

 You conf i rm that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then at  49:  

“Mr Gigaba was s i lent  throughout  the 

exchange.   Mr Goyal  apologised and the  

meet ing cont inued.   Mr Gigaba’s cont r ibut ion 

to  the meet ing was to  ind icate that  he would  

l ike SAA to set  up an urgent  meet ing wi th  

Jet  A i rways to  d iscuss potent ia l  cooperat ion 

between the a i r l ines.   Mr Gigaba gave no 

reason why the meet ing was urgent .   I  d id  

not  consider  i t  to  be a mat ter  o f  urgency 10 

especia l l y  when the te rms presented were to  

the det r iment  of  SAA.   I  d id  not  understand 

why Mr Goyal  was being affo rded specia l  

a t tent ion by the M in is t ry. ”  

 Do you want  to  comment  on that?  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson I  never  sa id that  they should set  

up  an urgent  meet ing.   I  sa id they need to  set  up a fo l low 

up meet ing to  d iscuss the issues which they were  ra is ing 

because Ms Mzimela ’s  own admission was that  they wanted 

a win/win so lut ion  that  they were b leeding on the rou te they 20 

would want  a win  – they would pre fer  a  win/win so lu t ion but  

they were cer ta in ly  not  go ing to  pul l  out  o f  the route.  

 Chai rperson you – you could by now be d iscussing 

someth ing d i f fe rent  that  the – that  you know you knew the  

route was b leeding -   you knew the  a i r l ine was st ruggl ing on  
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the route – you knew there was a proposal  – you knew that  

the a i r l ine  was wi l l ing to  d iscuss a  win/win so lut ion and you 

sat  back and d id noth ing.  

 Doing noth ing is  not  good governance.   Doing  

noth ing is  not  good governance.   But  saying le t  us  explore  

so lut ions wi thout  prescr ib ing what  so lut ions ought  to  be 

sought  and that  i s  a l l  I  d id .   We need to have – you guys –  

and I  d i rected them to have a fo l low up meet ing.   I  sa id you 

must  cont inue having a fo l low up meet ing.   You need to f ind 

one another  on th is  i ssue.   You need to as she says to 10 

d iscuss potent ia l  cooperat ion because SAA i tse l f  had sa id 

that  they were wi l l ing to  – to  explore a win/win so lut ion on 

the route because they were obviously b leeding.  

 In  routes of  th is  nature there is  a  number of  opt ions 

which could be explored because the problem wi th  – you 

know i f  you take the route i t se l f  SAA must  take passengers 

f rom Johannesburg to  Ind ia and a lso take passengers back 

f rom India to  Johannesburg.   I t  cannot  f ly  an empty  mat te r  

f rom Mumbai  to  Johannesburg.   

 Now you have two a i r l ines both of  which are  20 

aff i l ia tes of  the Star  A l l iance.   They are f ly ing the same 

route.   Now in  those instances you – you would usual l y  say 

that  perhaps on the fo l lowing days we wi l l  cover  the route  

so we f ly  on Monday n ight  and then we return on  Tuesday 

n ight .   You f ly  on  Wednesday n ight  and return on Thursday 
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n ight  but  you – you – among others  you would explore those 

opt ions and you would explore op t ions fo r  00:18:25 t ravel  

upon arr i va l  a t  the point  o f  dest ina t ion.   There is  a  number 

of  opt ions that  could be explored and you agree to  establ i sh  

one por ta l  for  the booking of  t ickets or  –  or  whatever  –  

however – whatever  other  mechanism which ensures that  in  

the end you do not  f ly  empty seats but  you are able at  any 

t ime that  you – you take your  f l ight  on a i r  to  have fu l l y  

occupied seats and to  the poin t  o f  dest inat ion  and on 

return.  10 

 So these were a l l  the opt ions which could be  

explored.   We d id not  as the department  say,  explore the 

fo l lowing opt ions.   We just  sa id to  them,  we hear you – the  

Deputy  Min is ter  has in tervened and cal led you to o rder  now 

le t  us end th is .  

 You go and have fur ther  d iscussions because 

previously you are approaching us on the basis  of  an 

agreement  or  commitment  which  had been made by an 

act ing CE Mr Smythe but  there is  a  new CE now at  SAA and 

that  CE is  saying  f rom thei r  perspect ive they are not  wi l l ing  20 

to  pul l  out  o f  that  route and therefore i t  means the proposal  

you are present ing to  SAA is  not  acceptable.  

 You now need to  d iscuss a  – a – on the  basis  of  a  

proposal  which would take the best  in te rest  o f  SAA and 

p lace them on the tab le and f ind an agreement  which  
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addresses the in terest  o f  both a i r l ines on an amicab le and – 

on a equi tab le basis.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So i f  I  understand the only th ing you 

do not  agree wi th  at  49 is  that  you sa id there should be an 

urgent  fo l low up meet ing  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l l  r ight .   Now Mr Gigaba why – why 

d id you keep quiet  whi l s t  th is  – th is  gent leman Mr  Goyal  

was busy at tacking … 

MR GIGABA:   But  my Deputy spoke.   He is  a  Deputy  10 

Min is te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So that  is  –  I  am not  asking you that .   

I  am asking why d id you not  speak? 

MR GIGABA:   But  I  am responding to  i t .   I f  the  Deputy 

Min is te r  in te rvenes and speaks he is  speaking a lso on my 

behal f .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  see.   A l l  r ight .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  th ink Mr  Myburgh’s quest ion is  

rea l ly  th is .   You were chai r ing the  meet ing based on what  

Mr – Ms Mzimela was saying.  20 

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And th is  man was busy behaving in  a 

complete ly  unacceptable manner and at tack ing the 

management  of  your  SOE.   Why is  i t  that  the Chai rperson of  

the meet ing was not  the one who in tervened?  Why d id i t  
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take – have to  take the Deputy Min is ter  to  in te rvene 

because i t  creates the impression that  the Deputy Min is te r  

may wel l  have been wai t ing fo r  the Chai rperson to put  a  

stop to  th is  but  when he real i sed that  the Chai rperson was 

not  put t ing a stop to  th is  he in tervened.   Why d id you not  

s top these people  qui te  ear ly  and say,  you are not  go ing to  

come here and behave l ike th is .   Th is is  unacceptable.   I f  

you want  to  ta lk  business SAA and we are here but  you are 

not  go ing to  be a l lowed to behave l i ke th is .   Why d id  you 

not  do that?  10 

MR GIGABA:   I  am not  accustomed to in ter ject ing  people 

whi le  they are ta lk ing Chai rperson.   And i t  was not  my 

pract ice – my – my way of  chai r ing meet ings.   So I  would le t  

you speak and then I  would ca l l  you to  order  once you have 

f in ished.    

 The Deputy Min is te r  could not  wai t  and in te r jected  

and when he d id so I  d id  not  s top h im.   And when he 

f in ished in ter ject ing and ca l l ing the person to order  I  then 

supported h im in  that  regard.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You supported h im.  20 

MR GIGABA:   The Deputy Chai r  –  the Deputy Min is te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So what  d id  you say? 

MR GIGABA:   I  supported the Deputy Min is te r  in  what  he  

had said – I  re i terated what  he  had said and ins is ted that  

the meet ing should be conducted in  a professional  way – in  
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a  manner that  i s  respect fu l  o f  a l l  the par t ies involved 

inc lud ing mysel f  in  par t icu lar  as the Min is ter  and 

Chai rperson of  the meet ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe we should take the tea break now 

Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Let  us take the  tea break.   I t  is  about  

twenty n ine minute or  ha l f  past  – we wi l l  resume at  quar te r  

to .   We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 10 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr  G igaba,  we were  jus t  

f in ish ing  o f f  on  the  meet ing  o f  10  January.   I  jus t  want  to ,  

in  fa i rness to  you ,  to  take  you to  your  a f f idav i t  a t  page  551 

a t  paragraph 38.  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  i s  where  you record ,  as  you have 

s ta ted ,  tha t :  

“Actua l l y,  I  had dur ing  the  se t  meet ing  reca l l  20 

ca l led  h im to  order  in  tha t  regard . . . ”  

I s  tha t  then in  the  contex t  o f  what  Mr  Mar t in  sa id ,  and you 

concur red  w i th  h im? 

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then i f  you go ove r  the  page to  
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parag raph 39 a t  page 552,  you record  tha t :  

“ I  was s i len t  dur ing  the  meet ing  because I  was 

l i s ten ing  to  what  was be ing  d i scussed wh ich  is  

cour teous.  

I  d id  no t  want  to  be  perce ived as  tak ing  s ides.  

I t  i s ,  there fore ,  m isch ievous to  suggest  tha t  my  

s i lence meant  anyth ing  more . . . ”  

You d id  no t  want  to  be  perce ived as  tak ing  s ides,  you say? 

MR GIGABA :    I t  i s  my v iew,  as  I  have sa id  Cha i rperson,  

tha t  when I  cha i r  meet ings,  I  wou ld  s i t  and l i s ten  to  the  10 

person ta lk ing  and on ly  respond thereaf te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   I f  we go then back,  p lease,  

to  page 267 and  i f  we can dea l  w i th  the  events  – or,  in  

fac t ,  266 wh ich  dea ls  w i th  the  events  in  the  immedia te  run  

up  to  the  14  Apr i l  meet ing .   Now,  Ms Mzimela  says  tha t ,  a t  

parag raph 50:  

“As per  the i r  request  o f  Mr  G igaba,  SAA,  and 

Je t  A i rways,  then schedu le  a  fo l low-up 

meet ing .  

That  meet ing  took p lace  on the  20 

24 t h  o f  January. . . ”  

A t  parag raph 52:  

“Je t  A i rways pers is ted  tha t  SAA cance l  the  

rou te  and coach share  on  them.  

SAA had ind ica ted  tha t  th is  was not  
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negot iab le . . ”  

And then a t  paragraph 53 a t  the  end:  

“A t  the  end o f  the  meet ing ,  the  two ent i t ies  

were  no t  ab le  to  f ind  consensus. . . ”  

Ms Mzimela  then goes on to  say tha t  on  11  Apr i l  2011,  she 

wr i tes  a  memorandum to  the  DG prov id ing  h im wi th  an  

update  on  the  d iscuss ions “ tha t  we had had” ,  as  she puts  

i t ,  “w i th  Je t  A i rways” .   A few sentences a f te r  tha t :  

“The p roposa ls  pu t  fo rward  by  Je t  A i rways  

were  no t  commerc ia l l y  v iab le  to  SAA. . . ”  10 

And then we get  to  the  meet ing  on  he 14 t h  o f  Apr i l  2011.   

Now,  why d id  you  ca l l  th is  meet ing ,  Mr  G igaba?  

MR GIGABA :    I t  was to  rece ive  a  br ie f ing  f rom SAA on 

what  had t ransp i red  subsequent  to  ou r  p rev ious meet ing  

and on SAA and Je t  A i rways,  on  what  had t ransp i red  s ince  

our  p rev ious mee t ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now,  Ms Mz imela  had wr i t ten  to  your  

DG a  memorandum which  se ts  ou t  the  pos i t ion ,  cor rec t?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes,  s i r.   And i t  i s  a lso  impor tan t ,  

Cha i rperson,  to  re i te ra te  tha t  on  ce r ta in  occas ions a  20 

memorandum does not  se t  ou t  and answer  quest ions you  

might  have to  the  p ieces o f  paper  tha t  a re  s i t t ing  in  f ron t  o f  

you,  tha t  i t  i s  necessary  to  ca l l  peop le ,  s i t  be fore  you,  and  

you engage w i th  them and unders tand what  the  issues tha t  

they have se t  ou t  in  the  memorandum are .    
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 The –  i t  seems f rom th is  accoun t  tha t  the  SAA 

management  wan ted,  no t  on ly  a  hands-o f f  sha reho lde r,  bu t  

they a l so  wanted  a  shareho lde r  tha t  s imp ly  d isappeared,  

tha t  jus t  was not  there .   I t  was my d iscre t ion  to  convene  

meet ings w i th  your  en t i t ies  and I  exerc ised tha t  d i sc re t ion .   

That  does not  mean tha t  we wou ld  fo rce  them to  take  any  

dec is ion  tha t  was  commerc ia l l y  unv iab le  fo r  the  en t i t y.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So,  Ms Mz imela  says a t  pa rag raph 

56 a t  page 268 tha t :  

“A round 14 Apr i l ,  the  cha i rperson  and I  were  10 

requested to  a t t end an u rgent  meet ing  w i th  

Mr  G igaba in  Cape Town wi th  less  than 24-

hours ’ no t ice . . . ”  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    “Ms Caro lus  was unab le  to  a t tend  

g iven the  shor t  no t ice” .   She goes on to  say:  

“The Min is te r ’s  o f f i ce  ca l led  an  a f te rnoon to  

request  ou r  u rgent  a t tendance the  next  day to  

the  meet ing  in  Cape Town.  

They had sa id  tha t  th is  meet ing  was very  20 

urgent  and needed to  take  p lace  

immedia te ly. . . ”  

Now what  was the  urgency?  

MR GIGABA :    Wel l ,  s ince  the  Min is te r  i s  par t  o f  h is  o f f i ce ,  

I  do  no t  know why my o f f i c ia ls  wou ld  have sa id  i t  i s  very  
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u rgent  and why the  meet ing  wou ld  have been convened a t  

such shor t  no t ice .   I  th ink  i t  was jus t  an  admin  issue .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You have –  d id  you accept  what  

Ms Mzimela  says  in  te rms o f  what  she says they were  to ld  

by  your  o f f i ce?   In  o ther  words.   Do you accept  tha t  they  

were  ca l led  a t  a  shor t  no t ice  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    I  cannot  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the  day be fore  and then had to  be  

there  the  fo l low ing day?  But  you say there  must  have been  

an admin  i ssue w i th in  your  o f f i ce ,  o r  do  you say,  no ,  they  10 

were  no t  ca l led  a t  such shor t  no t ice ,  they were  g iven  

enough t ime or,  a re  you say ing ,  I  ac tua l l y  do  no t  know how 

much t ime they were  g i ven?  I f  they  say they were  g iven  

tha t  l i t t le  t ime,  I  do  no t  have a  bas is  to  d ispute ,  bu t  th is  i s  

what  I  know to  –  shou ld  have been done by  my  o f f i ce .   

Whethe r  they d id  or  no t ,  I  do  no t  know.  

MR GIGABA :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i rperson.   Because I  

wou ld  no t  know when the  inv i te  was sent  to  them and  

cer ta in ly,  i f  they  were  unab le  to  a t tend,  they wou ld  have 

ind ica ted  tha t ,  un for tunate ly,  ne i ther  the  CEO nor  the  20 

cha i rperson or  any board  member  fo r  tha t  mat te r  i s  ab le  to  

a t tend.   I  th ink  tha t  i s  why we were  ab le  to  accept  i t  tha t  

the  cha i rperson cannot  a t tend bu t  there  i s  anothe r  board  

member  s tand ing  in  fo r  the  cha i rperson,  bu t  as  to  the  –  as  

to  when exact ly  the  meet ing  was ca l led ,  I  wou ld  no t  rea l l y  
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be  aware ,  as  Cha i rperson cor rec t l y  says.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   And then she goes  

on to  exp la in  a t  paragraph 57 tha t :  

“G iven tha t  Ms  Caro lus  was not  ava i lab le ,  

a r rangements  were  made fo r  her  ( tha t  i s  

Ms Mzimela )  to  a t tend the  meet ing  together  

w i th  a  Mr  Dacha(?) . . . ”  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A t  the  end o f  57  is  recorded:  10 

“The Min is te r ’s  o f f i ce  had not  p rov ided us  w i th  

an  agenda but  mere l y  requested tha t  we f l y  to  

Cape Town fo r  an  urgent  meet ing . . . ”  

Do you have any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    I  wou ld  have expected them to  have been 

prov ided w i th  the  agenda.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then a t  pa ragraph 59,  

Ms Mzimela  exp la ins  tha t  she then a t tends the  meet ing 

together  w i th  Mr  Dacha.   And present  a t  the  meet ing  are ,  

amongst  o thers ,  yourse l f ,  and Mr  Mah langu.   A t  parag raph 20 

60 . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    And Ms R Lephu le (?) ,  P ro fessor  Bus i  

Gumede,  Mr  Matona and o ther  depar tment  personne l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cor rec t .  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.   I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t  to  a lso  ind ica te .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Those are  DPE personne l?  

MR GIGABA :    P ro fessor  Gumede was my economics  

adv isor  a t  the  t ime before  Ms Ngoma(?)  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    In  te rms o f  the  agenda,  d id  –  was there  

an  agenda tha t  you had approved fo r  tha t  meet ing  w i th  

SAA? 

MR GIGABA :    I  wou ld  have sa id ,  Cha i rperson –  I  mean,  i f  

you  cons ider  the  fac ts  tha t  the  DG was in  Cape Town,  the  – 

Ms Lephu le  was the  DDG for  Transpor t  Enterpr ises .   They  10 

wou ld  have been ca l led  and to ld  why they are  be ing  ca l led  

to  Cape Town and I  wou ld  have  expected tha t  the  SAA 

leadersh ip  wou ld  a lso  be  in fo rmed.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  i s  tha t  answer  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  you  

cannot  remember  what  –  whether  there  was,  o r  you had 

approved an agenda but  tha t  i s  what  you expect  shou ld  

have happened?  

MR GIGABA :    The agenda wou ld  have been approved,  

Cha i rperson.   And I  th ink ,  aga in ,  I  do  no t  know what  the  

communica t ion  a r rangement  be tween my o f f i ce  and SAA 20 

wou ld  have been  because I  wou ld  have expected them to  

be  in fo rmed tha t  th is  i s  what  you are  here  to  d iscuss .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja ,  I  jus t  want  to  go  back.   Do you  

accept  tha t  th is  meet ing  was se t  up  a t  less  than 24-hours ’ 
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no t ice?  

MR GIGABA :    I  th ink  I  have responded to  the  Cha i rperson 

jus t  a  few minutes  ea r l ie r.   Cha i rperson . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    And your  answer  i s .   You do not  know? 

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  you . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .expected tha t  the  SAA shou ld  have 

been g iven more  no t ice?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.    10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :    And i f  they  were  no t  ab le  to  a t tend,  they  

wou ld  have ind ica ted  tha t :   No,  sor ry.   We a re  no t  ab le  to  

come.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Wel l ,  d id  you know tha t  

Ms Caro lus  was unab le  to  a t tend th is  meet ing?  

MR GIGABA :    I  th ink  I  was in fo rmed? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When?  

MR GIGABA :    I f  th is  was in  2011  -  Cha i rperson,  I  cannot  20 

reca l l  the  de ta i l s  o f  when exact ly  I  was in fo rmed  o f  her  

unava i lab i l i t y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  can  you remember  whether  i t  

was before  o r  a f te r  the  meet ing  took p lace?   

MR GIGABA :    I  th ink  . . . [ in te rvenes]  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Was i t  be fore  the  meet ing  or  a t  the  

meet ing?  

MR GIGABA :    I  jus t  sa id  to  Cha i rperson,  I  canno t  reca l l  

whethe r  i t  was be fore  the  meet ing  or  a t  the  meet ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A t  paragraph 60”  

“Mr  G igaba ind i ca ted  a t  the  s ta r t  o f  the 

meet ing  tha t  he  had severa l  i tems tha t  he  

wanted to  cover  w i th  us ,  bu t  f i rs t  he  wanted an 

update  on  Je t  A i rways/SAA d iscuss ions.  

Th is  surpr i sed  me because updates  had 10 

regu lar l y  been p rov ided to  the  Transpor t  Team 

at  DPE.  

I  then commenced to  prov ide  the  same update  

a l ready prov ided on severa l  p rev ious 

occas ions tha t  the  Je t  A i rways  re la t ionsh ip  

was not  benef ic ia l  to  SAA.  

I t  s imp ly  d id  no t  make commerc ia l  sense to  

en ter  in to  the  proposed coach shar ing  

ar rangement .  

I  ind ica ted  tha t  the  team had  been open-20 

minded in  f ind ing  a  workab le  so lu t ion  to  the 

par tnersh ip  w i thout  much success as  Je t  

A i rways ’ focus was not  geared  towards a  

commerc ia l  code  share  pa r tnersh ip  bu t  s t i l l  

i n tend on get t ing  SAA meta l  o f f  the  rou te  
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comple te ly.  

Before  I  cou ld  even conc lude my br ie f ing ,  

Mr  Mah langu angr i l y  in te rvened. . . ”  

You want  to  comment  on  tha t  paragraph? 

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  I  cer ta in ly  wou ld  no t  have sa id  

tha t  there  a re  severa l  i ssues to  d iscuss i f  there  was one  

issue on the  tab le .   And i t  wou ld  surpr i se  me why the  CEO 

of  SAA wou ld  no t  want  to  p rov ide  an  ora l  b r ie f ing  to  the  

shareho lder  regard less  o f  the  fac t  tha t  she wou ld  have 

wr i t ten  to  the  shareho lde r  on  severa l  occas ions,  because i t  10 

is  impor tan t  to  keep the  shareho lder  in  m ind,  you know.    

 One o f  the  th ings tha t  a re  impor tan t  about  such  

mat te rs ,  Cha i rpe rson,  i s  tha t ,  you know,  they somet imes 

gets  d i scussed a t  b i la te ra l  leve l s  o f  –  be tween count r i es  

because they impact  on  economic  and t rade re la t ions  

be tween count ies  and i t  i s  impor tan t  a t  any g iven po in t  in  

t ime as  the  m in is te r  who wou ld  a t tend those b i la te ra l  

meet ings,  e i the r  a t  m in is te r ia l  leve l  o r  shou ld  the  head o f  

s ta te  and government  meet ,  i t  i s  impor tan t  fo r  one to  be 

ab le  to  p rov ide  a  de ta i led  br ie f i ng  wh ich  wou ld  even be 20 

ab le  to  exp la in  i f  a  re la t ionsh ip  i s  unab le  to  be  es tab l i shed,  

the  reasons why.    

 Such is  the  case,  because i t  cou ld  very  we l l  be  

tha t  what  was an obstac le  fo r  SAA cou ld  be  brokered by  

another  par t y  somet imes a t  the  leve l  o f  m in is te r  to  
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m in is te r.   I f  I  may use an example .   When the  Depar tment  

o f  Home Affa i rs  agreed on new v isa  regu la t ions in  2014 

and announced them in  May,  the  Government  o f  Ch ina  had 

g iven the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs  f ree  v isa  fac i l i ta t ion  

cent res  in  Ch ina ,  bu t  a f te r  many d iscuss ions be tween the  

depar tments  –  a f te r  I  had v is i ted  Ch ina  and upon my 

meet ing  w i th  my  co l league,  we agreed to  ex ten t  the  v i sa  

fac i l i ta t ion  cent res  in  Ch ina ,  I  th ink ,  to  about  s ix  –  f i ve  or  

s ix .    

 The same had app l ied  in  Ind ia .   I  was ab le  to  10 

broke r  an  agreement .   So,  i t  cou ld  very  we l l  happen tha t  

what  i s  unat ta inab le  fo r  the  NTT in te rac t ing  w i th  i t s  par tner  

o r  po ten t ia l  par tner  cou ld  be  brokered by  another  par tne r,  

maybe by  the  sen ior  po l i t i c ians when they meet  and  

d iscuss to  say:   Le t  us  do  th is  in  the  fo l low ing way and 

then we ins t ruc t  the  jun io r  pa r tners  to  then go and 

imp lement  the  agreement  o r  the  f ramework  tha t  we have  

out l ined.    

 To  me,  there  was  noth ing  un toward  in  ask ing  SAA 

to  prov ide  an  o ra l  b r ie f ing  to  me and exp la in  what  the  20 

cha l lenges they were  conf ron ted w i th  and take .   Now,  the  

angry  in te rvent ion  by  Mr  Mah langu,  I  do  no t  reca l l .   What  I  

do  reca l l  i s  h im say ing  tha t  what  was needed was a  non-

adversar ia l  approach to  d iscuss ing  the  issue tha t  was  

be ing  d iscussed,  bu t  I  do  no t  reca l l  th is  angry  in te rvent ion .    
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    So ,  you say tha t  Mr  Mah langu was 

ca l l ing  fo r  a  non-adversar ia l  approach?  

MR GIGABA :    That  i s  what  I  reca l l  h im say ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :    Bu t  an  angry  in te rvent ion  on  h is  pa r t ,  I  do  

no t  reca l l .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  le t  us  go  to  what  i t  i s  tha t  

Ms Mzimela  says.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry.   Th is  i s  i n  re la t ion  to  the  

br ie f ing  be tween SAA and yourse l f ,  i s  i t  no t?  10 

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  why wou ld  Mr  Mah langu say  to  SAA 

–  why wou ld  he  ca l l  fo r  a  non-adversar ia l  approach to  

SAA?  Because  as  I  unders tand i t ,  SAA had not  been  

adversar ia l  o r  aggress ive  towards  Je t  A i rways.   I t  i s  Je t  

A i rways who had been aggress i ve  and adversar ia l  to  SAA.  

MR GIGABA :    I  was not  ra is ing  i t ,  Cha i rperson,  in  re la t ion  

to  the  meet ing ,  th is  par t i cu la r  meet ing  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  

MR GIGABA :    . . .when we were  s t i l l  ta lk ing  to  SAA. 20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  

MR GIGABA :    I  am say ing .   My reco l lec t ion  is  that  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    . . .he  had ca l led  fo r  a  non-adversar ia l  
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so lu t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GIGABA :    Bu t  I  do  no t  reca l l  h is  angry  in te rvent ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you .   So,  le t  me dea l  w i th  

parag raph 61 and  62 together.    

“He,  Mr  Mah langu,  sa id  Ms Mzimela  paraded 

SAA for  wast ing  t ime and taxpayers ’ money on 

the  Mumbai  rou te  when the re  were  RDP 

houses and to i le t s  to  be  bu i ld .  10 

I  a t tempted to  cont inue w i th  the  SAA was  

app ly ing  in  p ro tec t ing  the  c losure  o f  the  

Mumbai  rou te .  

However,  Mr  Mah langu was hear ing  none o f  i t .  

He cont inued h is  ran t  and then became 

persona l  in  s ta t ing  tha t  he  had a  prob lem wi th  

execut ives  who fa i led  to  do  what  they a re  to ld  

and cont inuous ly  p resent  ana lyses on ly  and do 

not  unders tand  issues o f  in te rna t iona l  

impor tance. . . ”  20 

A t  parag raph 62:  

“Mr  G igaba fa i led  to  repr imand Mr  Mah langu  

on h is  unacceptab le  rude behav iour.  

As  a  resu l t ,  I  los t  my temper  and to ld  

Mr  Mah langu in  no  uncer ta in  te rms tha t  I  w i l l  
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no t  to le ra te  anyone d i s respect ing  me as I  

s t r i ve  to  a lways be respect fu l  o f  o thers .  

I  in fo rmed  h im tha t  he  cou ld  no t  ta lk  to  me in  

tha t  in  tha t  manner  and a t tack  me persona l ly.  

We were  engaged  in  bus iness d i scuss ions.  

Mr  G igaba remained s i len t  th roughout  th is  

inc ident . . . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  i t  i s  –  i t  happens in  the  na ture  

o f  d iscuss ions tha t  peop le  become heated,  they ta lk  in  a  10 

heated manner  towards one anothe r,  and as  I  say,  I  had 

come f rom an exper ience where  there  had been p len ty  o f  

th is .   I  d id  no t  th ink  tha t  anybody needed to  be  babys i t  in  

conversa t ions,  espec ia l l y  g i ven the  fac t  tha t  these were  a l l  

sen ior  and ve ry  exper ienced peop le  tha t  whatever  –  

however  robust  they may have been towards one anothe r,  

tha t  we wou ld  be  ab le  to  f ind  a  so lu t ion .   My duty  i s  to  

l i s ten  to  you and s i f t  th rough the  no ise  and unders tand 

what  a re  the  issues tha t  a re  be ing  sa id  and thereaf te r  be  

ab le  to  p rov ide  a  summary to  the  d iscuss ion .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  the  ro le  tha t  Ms Mzimela  descr ibes 

here  as  hav ing  been d i sp layed by  Mr Mah langu appears  to  

me to  have been  qu i te  unacceptab le  fo r  an  adv iso r  to  the 

Min is te r.   I  know Mr  Mah langu seems to  take  a  d i f fe ren t  

approach in  h is  a f f idav i t s ,  bu t  my expecta t ion  wou ld  be  
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tha t  Mr  Mah langu ’s  ro le  was genera l l y  to  speak  to  you,  

adv ise  you and then what  approach you wou ld  take  based 

on h i s  adv ice  or  no t  based on h is  adv ice  is  a  d i f fe ren t  

mat te r.    

 O therwise ,  he  had no,  as  they say i n  lega l  

language,  he  had no locus s tand i  a t  th is  meet ing  and –  

except  inso fa r  as  he  was g iv ing  tha t  by  you.   He had no 

r igh t  to  be  a t  tha t  tab le  a t  tha t  meet ing  except  inso far  as  

you sa id :   As  my adv isor.   P lease come.    

 But  the  ro le  tha t  he  was p lay ing ,  i t  was as  i f  now 10 

he was there  in  h is  own r i gh t  and he had a  par t i cu la r  

pos i t ion .   That  i s  the  impress ion  I  ge t ,  and i t  jus t  seems to  

me,  no t  what  I  wou ld  expect  o f  an  adv iso r.   I  wou ld  expect  

tha t  even i f  –  I  m igh t  no t  necessar i l y  say  he  shou ld  no t  

have spoken a t  a l l ,  except  to  speak to  you and adv i se  you  

and maybe some peop le  wou ld  say tha t ,  bu t  the  tone and  

the  manner  o f  speak ing  g i ves  me the  impress ion  tha t  th is  

was somebody now who seems to  th ink  tha t  he  was a t  th is  

meet ing  in  h is  own r igh t .    

 Whereas,  as  I  see i t ,  you  were  the  person who had  20 

the  r igh t  to  ca l l  the  meet ing  and to  be  there  and he was  

on ly  there  inso far  as  he  was your  adv i so r,  you  know.   

Otherwise ,  he  cou ld  no t  c la im to  be  ent i t led  to  be  there  

and to  speak.   Ac tua l l y,  i f  you  sa id :   Keep qu ie t .   He wou ld  

have had no bas is  to  cha l lenge tha t  and say:   Wel l ,  I  am 
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en t i t led  to  be  in  th is  meet ing ,  and  I  am ent i t led  to  speak.   

He cou ld  no t  say  tha t .    

 So ,  h is  ro le ,  to  me seems to  be  d i f fe ren t  f rom your  

ro le ,  f rom the  ro le  o f  Ms Mzimela  and peop le  l i ke  tha t  who  

occup ied  cer ta in  pos i t ions ,  bu t  I  have some unders tand ing  

o f  Ms Mzimela ’s  a t t i tude or  pos i t ion  towards Mr  Mah langu ’s  

tone and approach in  tha t  meet ing .   Do you wan t  to  say 

anyth ing  about  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I  have spent  14-years ,  

Cha i rperson,  as  a  member  o f  the  Nat iona l  Execut i ves ,  s ix  10 

o f  wh ich  years  I  was Deputy  M in is te r.   I  had a t tended 

many,  many mee t ings w i th  m in i s te rs  and adv isors  spoke.   

They spoke fo rce fu l l y,  they  spoke persuas ive l y,  you  know,  

in  meet ings o f  th is  na ture  because they a re  v iewed as  

in te rna l  meet ings .   You get t ing  d i f fe ren t  op in ions.   You are  

t ry ing  to  unders tand f rom d i f fe ren t  ange ls .    

 They wou ld  speak.   They wou ld  speak in  meet ings  

o f  the  Min is te r  w i th  top  managers  o f  the  depar tmen t  and in  

some ins tances,  they wou ld  speak  even in  sess ions wh ich  

where  –  m in is te r  to  m in is te r.   You know,  to  b r ing  d i f fe ren t  20 

perspect ives  f rom the i r  exper t i se .   The i r  v iews  are  no t  

regarded as  f ina l .    

 The i r  v iews are  regarded as  a  cont r ibu t ion  to  the  

meet ing  and u l t imate ly  everybody unders tands tha t  the  

u l t imate  dec i s ion  be longs –  i s  tha t  o f  the  pr inc ipa ls  and 
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tha t  i s  what  my exper ience on these wou ld  have been.    

 And tha t  i s  why Mr  Mah langu,  Mr  Ngoma and  

o thers  wou ld  have spoken.   And even dur ing  the  t imes 

when I  was a  Deputy  Min i s te r,  the  adv isors  to  the  m in is te rs  

in  many o f  our  meet ings wou ld  a lso  be  a l lowed to  speak  

f ree ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  may we l l  be  tha t  i t  i s  no t  incor rec t .   I  

am jus t  say ing ,  my expecta t ion  was d i f fe ren t .   Yes.   

Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   I  jus t  want  to  go  to  10 

paragraph 61 about  the  las t  sentence.    

“ I t  i s  recorded tha t  he ,  Mr  Mah langu,  s ta ted  

tha t  he  had a  p rob lem wi th  execut ives  who 

fa i led  to  do  what  they are  to ld  and 

cont inuous ly  p resent  ana lyses on ly  and do not  

unders tand issues o f  na t iona l  impor tance. . . ”  

Now,  sure ly,  Mr  G igaba,  tha t  i s  beyond the  pa le  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    But  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .adv iso r  to  say to  the  CEO o f  SAA.  20 

MR GIGABA :    Bu t ,  Cha i rperson,  an  op in ion  is  on l y  tha t ,  an 

op in ion .   I  am the  pr inc ipa l .   The dec is ion  is  m ine.   When  

you s ta te  your  op in ion ,  and you say you are  no t  do ing  what  

–  you are  fa i l ing  to  do  what  you a re  to ld  to  do .   What  a re  

you to ld  to  do?  Le t  us  go  back  to  the  dec is ion  o f  the  
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meet ing  o f  the  11 t h  o f  January,  wh ich  I  had sa id :   Go 

d iscuss,  f ind  a  w in-w in  so lu t ion  i f  you  can.    

 And SAA comes back to  us  to  say:   We a re  no t  

ab le  to  f ind  a  w in-w in  so lu t ion  because we are  owed  

money,  the  par ty  w i th  whom we are  negot ia t ing  is  a r rogant .   

They want  a  so lu t ion  wh ich  favours  them.   And so ,  we a re  

no t  ab le  to  f ind  a  so lu t ion .    

 So,  Mr  Mah langu ’s  op in ion  as  jus t  s imp le  h is  

op in ion  and d id  no t  represent  the  v iew o f  the  meet ing  or  

the  shareho lde r  because inso far  as  I  was concerned,  SAA 10 

had done what  I  had asked them to  do .   They had come 

back to  say:   We are  no t  ab le  to  f ind  an  agreement .   And in  

my v iew,  as  I  sa id  prev ious ly,  tha t  when the  d isag reements  

and the  negot ia t ions ,  i t  does not  mean tha t  i f  we d isagree  

today then i t  i s  ove r.    

 We cou ld  d i sagree today and then  the  o ther  par ty  

goes to  th ink  about  what  has been d isagreed upon and  

upon re f lec t ion  o r  cons idera t ion  o f  the  fac ts  p resented by  

the  o ther  pa r ty,  they then change the i r  m inds to  come back  

and say,  in  ac tua l  fac t ,  we are  ab le  to  compromise ,  o r  we 20 

want  to  tab le  ano ther  p roposa l .    

 Bu t  th is  was jus t  s imp le  Mr  Mah langu ’s  op in ion ,  

no t  a  representa t i ve  op in ion ,  e i ther  o f  the  Min is te r  o r  the  

DG o r  the  meet ing  i t se l f  as  taken p lace a t  the  t ime.    

CHAIRPERSON :    O f  course ,  the  p ic tu re  tha t  seems to  
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emerge in  te rms  o f  tha t  meet ing  w i th  the  Je t  A i rways 

rep resenta t i ves  and th is  one i s  tha t  –  o r  maybe seem to  be  

tha t ,  a t  the  meet ing  w i th  Je t  A i rways,  Mr  Gopa l ,  I  th ink  was 

h is  surname.    

MR GIGABA :    Goya(? ) .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Goya.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Goya,  yes ,  ja .   Was . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Mr  Cha i rman,  i f  you  are  th ink ing  o f  Gopa l ,  

you may be th ink ing  about  the  one,  I  th ink ,  on  commerc ia l  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]  

MR GIGABA :    [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  have not  been to  the  cent re  o f  

Durban in  a  long t ime,  bu t  maybe.   [ laughs]   The  

impress ion  tha t  may be seen to  be  emerg ing ,  maybe tha t  a t  

the  meet ing  w i th  Je t  A i rways,  Mr  Goya was  put t ing  

pressure  on  SAA to  agree to  the i r  pos i t ion ,  namely,  to  

w i thdraw f rom the  Mumbai  rou te  and you requ i red  when 

cer ta in ly  the  SAA de legat ion  expected you to  say 

someth ing  much ear l ie r  than you may have sa id .    20 

 A t  th is  meet ing ,  on  what  Ms Mzimela  is  say ing ,  i t  

seems tha t  i t  was your  adv isor  who was push ing  them 

towards –  or  pu t t ing  pressure  on  them to  agree  to  Je t  

A i rways ’ pos i t ion ,  because you are  say ing ,  as  I  unders tand  

you,  you unders tood tha t  SAA had  one what  you had asked 
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them to  do ,  to  have a  fo l low-up meet ing  w i th  Je t ,  they  had 

had d iscuss ions,  no  agreement  had been reached .   From 

what  you are  say ing ,  I  aga in  ga in  the  impress ion  tha t  you r  

a t t i tude was there  was no b lame to  be  la id  a t  the  door  o f  

SAA fo r  the  fac t  tha t  no  ag reement  was reached  but  Mr  

Mah langu ’s  a t t i tude seems to  be  d i f fe ren t  o therw ise  one 

wou ld  no t  unders tand why he is  say ing  he  has –  he  had a  

prob lem wi th  execut ives  who fa i led  to  do  what  they  are  to ld  

and cont inuous ly  p resent  ana lys i s  on ly  because tha t  seems 

to  be  d i rec ted  a t  say ing  tha t  i s  what  you SAA execut ives  10 

have been do ing ,  you have been to ld  to  do  someth ing ,  you  

have fa i led  to  do  i t ,  you  keep  on p resent ing  us  w i th  

ana lys is .   So I  am say ing  to  you i t  cou ld  be  seen as  he  was 

put t ing  pressure  on  the  SAA execut ives  to  agree w i th  Je t  

A i rways in  th is  s i tua t ion .   What  wou ld  you say  to  tha t  

unders tand ing  o f  Ms Mzimela ’s  ev idence in  re la t i on  to  Mr 

Mah langu?  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  le t  me f i rs t  re fe r  you to  the  

same bund le  page 551.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR GIGABA :   Wh ich  was my a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :   On paragraph 38.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :   Where  I  say  –  ac tua l l y ,  I  had dur ing  the  sa id  
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meet ing  ca l led  h im to  orde r  in  tha t  regard ,  wh ich  I  have  

spoken about .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  re fer r i ng  to  Mr  Goya l?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :   And then I  p roceed to  say in  the  wrapp ing  

sess ion  w i th  ou r  de legat ion  I  c lear ly  ind ica ted  to  the  team 

tha t  they had to  do  what  was in  the  best  in te res t s  o f  SAA,  

tha t  I  wou ld  take  adv ice  f rom them.   There  wou ld  have 

been no doubt  whatsoever  as  to  what  I  meant  by  tha t .   10 

Then –  so  le t  me f i rs t  th ink ,  Cha i r ,  tha t  in  respec t  to  the  

fo rce fu lness o f  Je t  A i rways tha t  SAA must  pu l l  ou t  o f  the  

rou te ,  my v iew was do what  i s  in  your  best  in te res t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  tak ing  adv i ce  f rom them.  

MR GIGABA :   I  w i l l  be  adv ised by  you,  as  ou r  team,  no t  

the  o thers .   Now cer ta in ly ,  Cha i r ,  the  issue o f  execut ives  

who keep p resen t ing  –  who cont inuous ly  p resent  ana lys is  

d id  no t  –  I  do  no t  want  to  say d id  no t  a r ise  because what  

SAA was now present ing  to  us  was  not  ana lys is  bu t  repor t .   

You know,  i f  they  were  present ing  ana lys is ,  tha t  wou ld  be  20 

one th ing  bu t  they were  present ing  a  repor t .   We have t r ied  

to  ta lk ,  these guys are  s tand ing  to  the i r  in i t ia l  vers ion  and 

there fo re  we are  no t  ab le  to  agree  w i th  them and so  to  me 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    D id  they no t  p rov ide  an  ana lys i s  o f  the  
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d iscuss ions maybe?  

MR GIGABA :   Even i f  they  d id  p rov ide  an  ana lys i s  

Cha i rperson,  bu t  the  fac t  o f  the  mat te r  i s  tha t  they were  

present ing  a  repor t  so  were  no  longer  dea l ing  w i th  an  

ana lys is  pe rhaps pr io r  to  the  meet ing  o f  January  we  wou ld  

have been dea l ing  f rom our  end w i th  a  repor t  cum ana lys i s  

bu t  a t  th is  s tage we were  dea l ing  w i th  a  repor t  and  i f  you  

ana lyse  the  repor t  bu t  what  you are  ana lys ing  you a re  

prov id ing  an  ana lys i s  to  the  repor t  and there  is  no th ing  

e lse  you can do when a  repor t  i s  be ing  presented tha t  says  10 

we are  no t  ab le  to  f ind  an  agreement  because what  we 

seek –  a t  th is  meet ing ,  Cha i rperson,  i f  I  may jus t  e labora te  

a  b ig  fu r ther ,  Mr  Daga had in fo rmed us  tha t  the  prev ious  

Manco o f  SAA had p roposed w i thdrawal  on  the  rou te  bu t  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  Mr  Smythe?  

MR GIGABA :   No ,  no ,  no ,  Mr  Daga.   Th i s  meet ing  o f  Apr i l  

was a t tended by  Mr  Daga on beha l f  o f  the  board .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :   Ins tead o f  Ms Caro lus .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :   So  when he made h i s  –  or  i t  cou ld  be ,  sor ry ,  

Cha i r ,  now I  ge t  what  you are  ask ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  ja ,  ja .  

MR GIGABA :   I t  cou ld  be  tha t  he  was re fer r ing  to  Mr  
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Smythe.   Then he  says the  board  had d i sagreed and  was o f  

the  v iew tha t  SAA shou ld  seek coopera t ion  w i thout  

d isadvantag ing  the  a i r l ine  and he g ives  a  broad ana lys i s  o f  

what  had happened,  o f  the i r  pe rspect ive  as  the  board  

wh ich  was tha t  they need to  look  a t  the  rou te  no t  on ly  f rom 

the  po in t  to  po in t  v iew o f  connec t ing  rou tes  bu t  –  sor ry ,  

they needed to  look  a t  the  rou te  no t  on ly  f rom the  po in t  to  

po in t  pe rspect ive ,  wh ich  I  was  out l ine  ear l ie r  in  the 

Johannesburg  to  Mumbai ,  Mumbai  to  Johannesburg  bu t  he  

sa id  the i r  v iew as  tha t  they needed  to  look  a t  th is  f rom the  10 

po in t  o f  v iew o f  connect ing  onwards,  in  Ind ia  as  in  

Johannesburg  because i f  you t rave l  to  Ind ia  you have an  

advantage o f  be ing  ab le  to  t rave l  to  d i f fe ren t  par ts  o f  As ia .   

I f  you  t rave l  to  Johannesburg  you have the  advantage o f  

be ing  to  connect  to  d i f fe ren t  par t s  o f  SADC and even o ther  

par t s  o f  A f r i ca .    

 Now in  tha t  regard ,  SAA presented a  v iew,  

acco rd ing  to  Mr  Daga,  tha t  in  add i t ion  SAA has an  

advantage o f  tak ing  passengers  f rom Ind ia  to  South 

Amer i ca  so  the  board  was concerned tha t  Je t  A i r l ines  were  20 

not  p repared to  d iscuss w i th  SAA in  good fa i th  and tha t  i s  

why they were  o f  th is  very  same v iew tha t  we are  no t  ab le  

to  f ind  an  agreement  w i th  Je t  A i r l ines  bu t  we w i l l  no t  

concede to  the  proposa l  tha t  we need to  cance l  the  rou te .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.   I f  we re turn  to  

parag raph 62 a t  page 269 do you  accept  tha t  Ms Mzimela  

los t  he r  temper  and to ld  Mr  Mah langu tha t  she had 

cons idered h im to  be  d is respect ing  her?    

MR GIGABA :   Much as  I  do  no t  reca l l  the  inc ident ,  I  th ink  I  

do  no t  reca l l  the  inc ident ,  I  can  ne i the r  accept  nor  deny 

tha t  she los t  her  temper .   I  sa id  ear l ie r ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  

in  my op in ion  in  meet ings peop le  somet imes lose  the i r  

tempers  and speak harsh ly  towards one another  and I  do  

no t  a lways in te r jec t  to  p revent  them f rom be ing  robust  in  10 

engagement  so  I  –  i f  th is  i s  what  Ms Mzimela  pu t  as  her  

vers ion  about  Mr  Mah langu,  i t  i s  her  vers ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  seems tha t  tha t  must  have  

happened because i t  i s  common cause between Mzimela  

and Mahlangu tha t  a  few days a f te r  the  meet ing ,  i f  you  look  

a t  page 270 headed paragraph 62.1  a t  the  top ,  Mr  

Mah langu te lephoned her  to  request  a  few minutes  o f  her  

t ime.   He then takes the  t ra in  to  OR Tambo and they have 

a  meet ing  where  he  apo log ised.  

MR GIGABA :   I  do  no t  know,  Cha i rperson i f  Mr  Mah langu 20 

a lso  ag rees to  th i s  vers ion  bu t  i f  he  d id  apo log i se  then i t  i s  

good fo r  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  obv ious ly  i t  wou ld  a lso  i f  he  accepts  

th is  i t  wou ld  mean tha t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :   The inc ident  …[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON :    …then must  behaved unacceptab le  a t  

the  meet ing .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes bu t  then i t  ra ises  the  quest ion  

why you d id  no t  in te rvene,  Mr  G igaba.  

MR GIGABA :   I  have exp la ined,  Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  on  

more  than th ree  occas ions now why I  a l lowed the  

d iscuss ion  to  cont inue.   The duty  o f  the  Min is te r  in  

Cha i r ing  the  mee t ing  o f  adu l ts  i s  no t  to  keep in te rven ing  

and pro tec t ing  peop le  who are  hav ing  robust  op in ions on  10 

issues.   They ta lk  and cha i r  the  meet ing ,  you then dec ide  

they have spoken,  you s i f t  th rough the  no ise  and  dec ide  

how you reso lve  the  issues.   I f  somebody fee l s  tha t  th is  

po in t  was harsh  on me then they ra ise  i t  w i th  you and you  

ta lk  to  the  re levant  person but  I  took  the  conversa t ion  in  

the  contex t  o f  a  conversa t ion .    

In  the  end what  was go ing  to  reso lve  the  issue tha t  

we were  s i t t ing  and faced w i th ,  we were  s i t t ing  to  d iscuss,  

was not  the  anger ,  the  robus tness and,  you  know,  

in te r jec t ions o f  the  ind iv idua ls  concerned,  i t  was the  fac ts  20 

tha t  we were  be ing  put  o r  tha t  were  pu t  be fore  us  and tha t  

i s  what  the  Cha i rpe rson wou ld  look a t  and not  who was 

angry  and there fo re  t ry  to  in te rvene and s top  peop le .    

I  have sa t  in  many meet ings where  even guns have 

been pu l led  be fo re .   We have not  run  away,  we have not  
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abandoned those  meet ings,  we have cont inue to  d iscuss  

and reso lve  the  issues.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wou ld  you not  accept  tha t  ou t  o f  the 

du ty  o f  anybody  cha i r i ng  a  mee t ing  is  tha t  those who  

par t i c i pa te  in  the  meet ing ,  you know,  speak and ac t  –  do 

no t  speak and ac t  in  a  d is respect fu l  manner  to  o thers?  

MR GIGABA :   Abso lu te l y ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    In  o ther  words,  they can be robust  bu t  

tha t  does not  g ive  them a  l i cence to  d is respect  o ther  

peop le  par t i c ipa t ing  in  the  meet ing .  10 

MR GIGABA :   Abso lu te ly ,  Cha i rperson,  and the  i ssue o f  

d is respect fu lness  there fore  cou ld  a lso  be  a  person op in ion .   

Some peop le  are  much  too  sens i t i ve ,  o thers  are  no t  

sens i t i ve  a t  a l l .   So  you may th ing  tha t  someone has been  

d is respect fu l  towards you in  how they ra i se  the i r  po in t  on ly  

to  f ind  tha t  tha t  i s  on ly  your  op in ion  o f  how events  

happened.   Others  had v iewed these as  a  robust  

engagement  wh ich  was not  d i s respect fu l ,  wh ich  u l t imate ly  

ach ieved resu l ts  because the  one a l leged to  have been  

d is respect fu l  d id  no t  a f te r  a l l  fo rce  the i r  way in to  the  20 

agreement  and reso lu t ion  o f  the  meet ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  le t  us  go  then to  paragraph 63.    

“Mr  Daga,  who was per tu rbed a t  how the  meet ing  

was degenera t ing  addressed Mr  G igaba and to ld  
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h im tha t  he  was concerned a t  the  d i rec t ion  the  

meet ing  was go ing .   Mr  Daga a lso  to ld  Mr  G igaba 

tha t  he  d id  no t  unders tand why Mr  Mah langu took  

the  v iew wh ich  he  had expressed  tha t  he  be l ieved  

SAA,  espec ia l l y  Mz imela ,  were  sabotag ing  the  

po tent ia l  a r rangement  be tween  SAA and Je t  

A i rways.   Mr  Daga ca tegor ica l l y  s ta ted  tha t  the  

execut ive  had done ex tens ive  work  around the  

ana lys is  o f  the  c losure  o f  the  Mumbai  rou te  and the  

board  was sa t is f i ed  w i th  the  qua l i t y  o f  tha t  ana lys is  10 

hence they reso lved to  no t  cance l  the  Mumbai  

rou te .   We f la t l y  re fused to  be  bu l l ied  by  Mr  

Mah langu. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   Three th ings,  Cha i r ,  a r i se  ou t  o f  th is  

parag raph.   The  f i rs t  one i s  tha t ,  tha t  Mr  Daga was 

per tu rbed a t  how the  meet ing  was degenera t ing  is  Ms  

Mzimela ’s  persona l  op in ion .    

When she goes fu r ther  in  the  next  parag raph to  

quote  what  –  o r  to  re fe r ,  to  paraphrase Mr  Daga,  she does  20 

not  say  Mr  Daga  a t  any s tage expressed a  v iew tha t  the  

meet ing  was degenera t ing .   A f te r  a l l ,  the  meet ing  

cont inued unt i l  the  end and a f te r  a l l  o f  these  robust  

engagements ,  the  meet ing  d id  no t  co l lapse in to  chaos.  

 And the  th i rd  po in t  I  w ish  to  s ta te  i s  tha t  the  f ina l  
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parag raph where  Ms Mzimela  says  they f la t l y  re fused to  be  

bu l l ied  by  Mr  Mah langu is  aga in  he r  op in ion  wh ich  b inds Mr  

Daga but  in  how she  paraphrased Mr  Daga in  p rev ious  

sentences,  she does not  say  tha t  Mr  Daga has  sa id  or  

accused Mr  Mah langu o f  bu l l y i ng  them.  

 What  Mr  Daga d id  in  the  meet ing  was to  d i rec t  our  

a t ten t ion  a t  how the  execut ive  had conducted i t se l f  

p ro fess iona l l y  in  conduct ing  ex tens ive  ana lys is  o f  th is  

rou te  and the  proposa l  wh ich  was s i t t ing  be fo re  t hem and  

tha t  he  d i sagreed w i th  Mr  Mah langu when he sa id  tha t  he  10 

be l ieved tha t  SAA was sabotag ing  the  po tent ia l  

a r rangement  be tween SAA and Je t  A i rways.    

In  the  end what  SAA was p resent ing  to  us  was an  

outcome o f  the i r  own ana lys is  o f  the  proposa l  wh ich  had  

been presented to  them by Je t  A i rways and there fo re  they  

were  say ing  herewi th  i s  the  repor t  wh ich  ind i ca tes  f rom our  

perspect ive  tha t  Je t  A i rways is  no t  negot ia t ing  w i th  us  in  

good fa i th .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  there  are  key aspects  o f  th is  

parag raph tha t  you d ispute  in  re la t ion  to  what  Mr  Daga 20 

sa id?  

MR GIGABA :   In  re la t ion  to  –  look ,  I  do  no t  know whether  I  

am d i sput ing  them o r  I  am jus t  s imp ly  say ing  tha t  Ms  

Mzimela  presen ts  –  so  I  am say ing ,  Cha i r,  tha t  

…[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON :    You are  mak ing  cer ta in  observa t ions on  

them.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.   I  am say ing  Mr  Daga expressed h is  

v iews tha t  d rew a t ten t ion  to  what  the  SAA Manco had done 

and the i r  v iew as SAA represent ing  bo th  the  board  and 

Manco but  I  am say ing  tha t  the  o ther  aspects  a re  Ms 

Mzimela ’s  pe rsona l  v iews about  whether  Mr  Daga thought  

the  meet ing  was degenera t ing  o r  tha t  he  had sa id  t hey are  

re fus ing  to  be  bu l l ied  by  Mr  Mah langu.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  I  …[ in te rvenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    O f  course  what  Ms Mzimela  does say a t  

parag raph 63,  Mr  Daga sa id ,  you know – you know,  

because you have made the  po in t  o f  d is t ingu ish ing  

be tween Ms Mzimela ’s  v iew o f  what  Mr  Daga may have 

thought  and what  Mr  Daga may have sa id .   What  she does  

a t t r ibu te  to  Mr  Daga i s  tha t  she says Mr  Daga d id  say tha t  

–  d id  express the  v iew or  d id  say tha t  Mr  Mah langu had 

expressed the  v iew tha t  SAA,  espec ia l l y  Ms Mzimela ,  was  

sabotag ing  the  po tent ia l  a r rangement  be tween SAA and Je t  

A i rways.  20 

 In  o ther  words,  as  I  unders tand th is ,  Ms Mzimela  i s  

say ing  one o f  the  th ings tha t  Mr  Daga sa id  a t  the  meet ing  

is  here  is  Mr  Mah langu who is  accus ing  SAA,  par t i cu la r l y  

Ms Mzimela ,  o f  sabotag ing  a  po tent ia l  agreement  w i th  Je t  

A i rways.   A t  leas t  tha t  po in t  she does make came f rom Mr  
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Daga.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :   And I  a lso  have re fe r red  to  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps I  can jus t  take  you  back to  

62 .1?  

CHAIRPERSON :     O f  course  –  I  am so r ry,  Mr  Myburgh,  o f  10 

course  th is  was qu i te  a  ser ious th ing  fo r  Mr  Mah langu to 

accuse SAA and Ms Mzimela  o f  to  say someth ing  tha t  you,  

as  m in i s te r,  had sa id  SAA must  exp lo re  w i th  Je t  A i rways,  

Mr  Mah langu was say ing ,  in  you r  p resence,  Ms Mzimela  

and SAA were  sabotag ing  because your  –  what  you had 

expressed on your  ev idence a t  the  prev ious meet ing  

be tween Je t  A i rways and SAA,  wh ich  you cha i red ,  was 

have a  fo l low-up  meet ing ,  t ry  and see i f  you can reach 

agreement ,  I  w i l l  take  adv ice  f rom you,  SAA,  bu t  here  now 

your  adv i se r  i s  say ing  a t  th is  mee t ing ,  in  e f fec t ,  accord ing  20 

to  what  th is  paragraph says,  he  says your  adv i ser  accused 

SAA and Ms Mzimela  o f  sabotag ing  an agreement  because  

I  th ink  your  pos i t ion  was i f  you  can reach agreement  w i th  

Je t  A i rways tha t  i s  f ine  bu t  i f  you  do not  reach ag reement ,  I  

w i l l  take  adv ice  f rom you but  t h is  accusat ion  says,  in  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 130 of 357 
 

e f fec t ,  you have  a  CEO who is  t ry ing  to  sabotage an  

agreement  here .   So th is  was qu i te  someth ing  ser ious,  you 

wou ld  agree?  

MR GIGABA :   I t  was someth ing  ser ious,  Cha i rperson.   You 

know,  wh ich  I  d id  no t  take  ser ious  because the  adv ice  tha t  

I  sought  f rom SAA I  had rece ived  and how the  meet ing  is  

then conc luded and what  happens go ing  fo rward  is  then  

based on my unders tand ing  and apprec ia t ion  o f  the  adv ise  

tha t  SAA has brought  to  me as I  had asked them to  do.   

Any o ther  th ing  i s  jus t  –  was jus t  a  pe rsona l  op in ion  o f  the  10 

ind iv idua l  who was ta lk ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  jus t  wanted to  perhaps take  

you to  page 552 where  you dea l  w i th  the  meet ing  on  the  14  

Apr i l  in  paragraphs 41 to  47 .   You w i l l  no t i ce ,  Mr  G igaba,  

tha t  you do not  d ispute  a t  a l l  Ms Mzimela ’s  rend i t ion  o f  

what  Mr  Mah langu sa id  and how he behaved o r  about  what  

Mr  Daga sa id .   Would  you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  when I  responded  to  the 

submiss ions o r  a f f idav i t s  o f  Ms Mzimela  I  responded to 20 

issues wh ich  I  thought  were  mate r ia l ,  impor tan t  fo r  me to 

respond to ,  I  d id  no t  seek to  respond to  sentence by  

sentence.  

 What  I  regarded  as  impor tan t  a re  i ssues wh ich  I  

responded to  in  my a f f idav i t  and I  am g lad  tha t  I  have got  
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the  oppor tun i ty  to ,  th rough the  Cha i rpe rson,  to  then  

respond fu r the r  and c la r i f y  fu r ther  on  sentence – or  

parag raph by  pa ragraph,  sentence  by  sentence asser t ions 

o f  Ms Mzimela  and o ther  w i tnesses .  

 So to  the  ex ten t  tha t  in  my own a f f idav i t  I  wou ld  no t  

have responded sentence by  sentence,  i t  i s  no t  because I  

cons idered those  to  be  t rue ,  i t  i s  because I  l i f ted  up  f rom 

the  a f f idav i t s  wh ich  th ings wh ich  I  thought  were  s ign i f i can t  

fo r  me to  respond  to .  

 Wel l ,  what  you were  inv i ted  you to  respond to  was  10 

f rom paragraphs  56 a l l  the  way  to  68  dea l ing  w i th  the  

events  o f  the  meet ing ,  tha t  in  te rms o f  a  3 .3  no t ice .  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  I  responded to  i ssues wh ich  

imp l ica ted  me wi th  the  expecta t ion  tha t  Mr  Mah langu wou ld  

be  ab le  to  respond to  i ssues wh ich  imp l ica ted  h im.   I  d id  

no t  expect  o r  th ink  tha t  I  was be ing  inv i ted  to  respond to  

mat te rs  wh ich  imp l ica ted  me,  Mr  Mah langu and any o the r  

person.   So inso far  as  the  mat te rs  wh ich  imp l ica ted  me,  I  

responded to  those issues.    

Inso fa r  as  to  whe ther  I  kept  qu ie t  in  the  meet ing  or  20 

no t ,  I  responded to  tha t  and,  as  I  say,  I  l i f ted  i ssues tha t  I  

thought  were  impor tan t  fo r  me to  respond to .   I  d id  no t  

expect  tha t  there  was a  prescr ip t ion  as  to  who I  shou ld  

respond to  the  a f f idav i t s  wh ich  were  presented before  me.  

I  a lso  had an expecta t ion  tha t  I  wou ld  be  inv i ted  to  
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th is  sess ion  where  I  wou ld  have oppor tun i ty  o ra l l y  fu r ther  

to  respond to  any  quest ions in  te rms o f  wh ich  I  m ight  have 

omi t ted  ce r ta in  i ssues in  my wr i t ten  a f f idav i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now perhaps I  can take  you  back to  

62 .1  a t  page 270.   I  omi t ted  to  read to  you the  las t  

sentence o f  tha t  parag raph.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  270?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bund le  8 ,  page 270,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  parag raph,  i t  i s  numbered 6 .1 .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  i s  wha t  Ms Mzimela  had to  say  

about  the  apo logy.   She says:  

“Persona l ly  apo log ised to  me fo r  h is  bad behav iour  

and in fo rmed me to  the  e f fec t  tha t  a t  the  end o f  the  

day he  was jus t  do ing  h is  job  and ac t ing  on  

ins t ruc t ion . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   There  was no ins t ruc t ion ,  Cha i r,  and I  th ink  I  

have responded to  th is ,  aga in .   I  have responded to  th is .   20 

There  was no ins t ruc t ion .   I f  there  was an ins t ruc t ion  i t  

wou ld  emanate  f rom Ms Mzimela  tha t  there  was th is  

ins t ruc t ion  or  I  myse l f  wou ld  have sa id  so  or  th is  

ins t ruc t ion  wou ld  have emerged anyway.   My ins t ruc t ion  

was s imp le .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and …[ in tervenes]  

MR GIGABA :   Go and ta lk  to  these peop le ,  f ind  ou t  i f  you  

can reach an agreement  and come back,  repor t  to  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do I  unders tand tha t  sentence tha t  Mr  

Myburgh has re fe r red  to  mean –  to  re fer  to  an  ins t ruc t ions 

to  Mr  Mah langu?   So in  o ther  words when he says  he  was 

ac t ing  on  ins t ruc t ion ,  I  unders tand i t  to  re fe r  to  an  

ins t ruc t ion  to  h im  ra ther  than ins t ruc t ion  to  SAA.   I  do  no t  

know whethe r  he  unders tand i t  d i f fe ren t ly .  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  I  unders tand i t  to  mean  exact ly  10 

tha t  bu t  then I  wou ld  on ly  be  sch izophren ic  to  g ive  one  

op in ion  to  SAA and g ive  another  to  Mr  Mah langu because 

by  so  do ing ,  I  wou ld  be  ensur ing  tha t  there  no  – I  myse l f  

now wou ld  be  ensur ing  tha t  there  is  no  way fo rward .    

The impor tan t  ins t ruc t ion  here  to  unders tand is  the  

one tha t  says exp lo re  the  poss ib i l i t y  to  coopera te  and 

come and repor t  to  me and the re  is  no  o ther  ins t ruc t ion  

wh ich  I  gave a f te r  tha t  because had I  g iven any ins t ruc t ion ,  

a f te r  th is  meet ing  o f  Apr i l ,  I  wou ld  then have gone a l l  ou t  

to  ensure  tha t  my  ins t ruc t ion  is  ac tua l l y  car r i ed  ou t .    20 

By Ms Mzimela ’ s  own admiss ion ,  the  las t  t ime she  

met  w i th  me on th is  i ssue or  heard  f rom me about  i t  was a t  

th is  meet ing  o f  Apr i l  2011.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  he  no t  say ing  tha t  –  he  is  

apo log i s ing  to  he r  -  we know,  a t  leas t  on  he r  vers ion ,  what  
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o f fended he r .   I s  he  no t  say ing  tha t  I  was ins t ruc ted  to  say 

what  I  sa id?  

MR GIGABA :   By  who?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    By  you o r  who e l se  wou ld  have  

ins t ruc ted?  

MR GIGABA :   [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  what  I  want  a lso  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GIGABA :   I t  does not  say  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  who e l se  wou ld  have ins t ruc ted  

h im?  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  what  I  was a lso  say ing  to  say 

when I  read tha t  sentence my unders tand ing  is  tha t  he  is  

ta lk ing  about  an  i ns t ruc t ion  to  h im and I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  

the  on ly  person who cou ld  g ive  h im an ins t ruc t ion  tha t  he  

wou ld  –  in  accordance w i th  wh ich  he  wou ld  ac t  o r  speak a t  

such a  meet ing  cou ld  on ly  be  h is  Min is te r .  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rpe rson,  w i th  a l l  due respect ,  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :   I  wou ld  no t  g ive  anybody words,  I  wou ld  no t  20 

pu t  words in to  anybody ’s  mouth  and ask  them to  go  and 

say them in  a  meet ing  aga ins t  any ind iv idua l .   I f  I  wanted 

to  ta lk  Ms Mzimela  I  wou ld  have spoken to  her .   I f  I  wanted 

to  ta lk  to  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  board  o f  SAA,  I  wou ld  

have spoken to  her ,  I  wou ld  no t  have g iven an ins t ruc t ion  
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to  anybody to  go  be  rude to  anybody,  tha t  i s  no t  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t ,  Mr  G igaba,  I  mean what  wou ld  

you say to  the  propos i t ion  tha t  Mr  Mah langu was do ing  

your  b idd ing  wh i l e  you kept  qu ie t?  

MR GIGABA :   That  wou ld  be  an incor rec t  p ropos i t ion ,  

Cha i rperson,  because aga in  then  I  wou ld  be  prov id ing ,  

conf l i c t ing ,  s igna ls  on  the  one hand to  say to  SAA do what  

you must  do ,  adv ise  me,  I  w i l l  take  adv ice  f rom you and on  

the  o the r  hand say to  Mr  Mah langu  and Mr  Mah langu a lone  

tha t  go  be  rude towards th is  CEO of  SAA,  t ry  to  fo rce  her  10 

to  concede to  th is .   But ,  in  the  end,  you know,  i t  i s  no t  on ly  

the  CEO of  SAA who takes a  dec i s ion  or  who wou ld  take  a  

dec is ion  on  these  issues,  i t  i s  the  Manco,  i t  i s  the  board .   

 Remember  tha t  a t  SAA there  are  var ious execut ives  

who dea l  w i th  rou tes ,  there  is  a  commerc ia l  execut ive ,  a  

commerc ia l  d i rec tor  a t  SAA and o thers  who dea l  w i th  

i ssues o f  th is  na ture  and then the  board  i t se l f  wou ld  be  the  

f ina l  a rb i te rs  on  issues o f  th is  na ture  be fore  a  

recommendat ion  is  made to  the  m in is te r .   

 So you can bu l l y  the  CEO a l l  you  want  bu t  un less  20 

you are  ab le  to  bu l l y  the  en t i re  board ,  you are  no t  go ing  to  

ge t  any resu l t  and i f  I  had I  wanted any par t i cu la r  ou tcome 

I  wou ld  have had to  adopt  a  d i f fe ren t  approach wh ich  

engaged the  Board  in  th is  regard ,  so  tha t  i t  de l i vers  the  

ou tcome wh ich  I  wou ld  have wanted and I  wou ld  no t  have 
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taken a  seeming ly  hands-o f f  approach tha t  sa id  to  SAA 

ar r i ve  a t  a  dec is ion  tha t  i s  in  your  best  in te res ts  and  

adv ise  me so  tha t  I  know how to  dea l  w i th  th is  i ssue go ing  

fo rward ,  and then a f te  the  meet ing  you see the  m is take o f  

read ing  sentence by  sentence and d isconnect ing  each  

sentence f rom the  ent i re  p rocess  tha t  a r r i ved a t  t he  fac t  

tha t  Ms Mzimela  says she doesn ’ t  reca l l  beyond Apr i l  2011 

her  d i scuss ing  th is  i ssue w i th  me or  hav ing  a  meet ing  w i th  

me to  d iscuss th is  i ssue,  i s  tha t  i t  then leads you c lu tch ing  

a t  s t raws unab le  to  ge t  the  fu l l  p ic tu re  because in  the  end 10 

the  dec is ion  to  move out  o f  the  Mumbai  rou te  was taken 

not  dur ing  my tenure ,  i t  was taken in  2016 when I  had le f t  

the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  le t ’s  see i f  we can f in ish  th is  

o f f  be fore  lunch,  a t  64 ,  Mr  G igaba responded and  s ta ted  

tha t  he  wou ld  s t i l l  l i ke  SAA and Je t  A i rways to  t r y  and f ind  

each o the r.    He  then asked Je t  A i rways personne l  to  be  

inv i ted  in to  the  meet ing .   Je t  A i rways ind i v idua ls  had  

ev ident ly  been wa i t ing  to  be  inv i ted  in to  the  meet ing .    No 

fu r ther  d iscuss ions took p lace a t  th is  po in t ,  except  fo r  20 

in t roduct ions.     

 I t  i s  my assumpt ion  tha t  the  ear l ie r  meet ing  –  sor ry,  

i t  i s  my assumpt ion  tha t  the  ea r l ie r  meet ing  i t  says  and  

how I  p resume i t  shou ld  no t  had not ,  p layed out ,  o r  how i t  

p layed out  d id  no t  go  accord ing  to  p lan .   The meet ing  was  
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c losed w i thout  fu r ther  d iscuss ions  tak ing  p lace,  except  Mr  

G igaba ’s  d i rec t i ve  tha t  DPE DG,  and Mr  Matano  wou ld  

coord ina te  fu r the r  d iscuss ions be tween the  par t ies .  

 Any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:    The meet ing  Cha i rperson had been  br ie fed  

inc lud ing  by  the  Board  member,  Mr  Taka,  tha t  the  SAA 

Board  was s t i l  i n te res ted  in  a  number  o f  so lu t ions  on  th is  

rou te .   As  I  have sa id  one o f  those so lu t ions was 

connect ing  rou tes ,  they were  in te res ted  in  SAA op t im is ing 

passengers  f rom As ia  fo r  the  rou te  to  South  Amer i ca  and  10 

they were  conf i rmed tha t  Je t  was  not  p repared to  d iscuss  

w i th  them in  good fa i th ,  and tha t  i s  why I  then sa id  to  the 

DG,  DG – because as  I  say  Cha i rperson we must  no t  m iss  

th is  po in t ,  the  fac t  tha t  we may be – when we are  

negot ia t ing  the  fac t  tha t  we may be d isagree ing  now 

doesn ’ t  mean tha t  the  d isagreement  i s  permanent .   Both  

a i r l ines  were  b leed ing  on the  rou te ,  i t  was not  on ly  SAA,  

perhaps tha t  i s  the  po in t  tha t  we  fa i l  to  make,  i t  was not  

on ly  SAA tha t  was b leed ing  on the  rou te ,  Je t  was b leed ing  

on the  rou te  and  tha t ’s  why Je t  was so  anx ious to  benef i t  20 

f rom the  rou te  a t  the  expense o f  SAA.   We d idn ’ t  want  tha t  

to  happen,  bu t  we were  consc ious  o f  the  fac t  tha t  SAA was  

a lso  b leed ing  on the  rou te  and SAA d id  no t  want  to  ge t  ou t  

o f  the  rou te ,  i t  was impor tan t  tha t  South  A f r i ca  shou ld  be  

ab le  to  f l y  to  Mumbai ,  Ind ia ,  to  Be i j ing ,  Ch ina ,  to  San Pa lo ,  
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B raz i l  and to  Moscow in  Russ ia .   These were  BRICS 

count r ies ,  so  i t  was in  our  in te res t  tha t  we shou ld  be  ab le  

to  passengers  to  those count r ies  and tha t  we shou ld  be  

ab le  to  op t im ise  on  those rou tes ,  and tha t  i s  why whereas 

we d id  no t  want  to  jus t  ag ree w i th  Je ts  tha t  we w i l l  pack 

our  bags and leave the  Mumbai  rou te ,  you are  the  ones 

who are  go ing  to  b r ing  peop le  f rom Ind ia  to  South  A f r i ca  

and take  peop le  f rom South  A f r i ca  to  Ind ia .   We thought  i t  

wou ld  be  bet te r  to  f ind  a  so lu t ion .  

 So tha t  i s  why in  the  end I  sa id  DG can you ta l k  10 

fu r ther  w i th  these  peop le  so  tha t  the  issues tha t  SAA have 

ra ised tha t  they be l ieve  Je t  A i rways is  unwi l l ing  to  concede  

or  unders tand a t  your  leve l  as  the  DG can you  t ry  to  

fac i l i ta te  an  engagement  fu r ther  so  tha t  we can get  an  

agreement  in  tha t  regard ,  so  the  v iew tha t  th is  meet ing  or  

the  assumpt ion  tha t  Ms Mzimela  tha t  the  ear l ie r  meet ing 

had not  gone accord ing  to  p lan ,  i s  ac tua l l y  incor rec t ,  the 

meet ing  had gone accord ing  to  p lan ,  we had rece ived the  

repor ts  tha t  we wanted,  and we had unders tood even f rom 

the  po in t  o f  SAA th rough the  mouth  o f  a  board  member  tha t  20 

they were  s t i l l  keen on f ind ing  a  so lu t ion  on  the  rou te  and  

there fo re  i f  the  DG cou ld  ass is t  to  fac i l i ta te  tha t  so lu t ion 

and dea l  w i th  the  obst inacy o f  Je t  A i rways w i th  regard  to  

what  SAA wanted,  tha t  wou ld  have been benef ic ia l  to  us  

because what  wou ld  no t  benef i t  South  A f r i ca  o r  SAA was to  
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f l y  empty  seats  e i ther  f rom Johannesburg  to  Mumbai  o r  

f rom Mumbai  to  Johannesburg  because you had two 

a i r l ines  f rom these two count r i es  tha t  a re  t r y ing  to  

cann iba l i se  one another  on  the  rou te  and dup l i ca t ing  the  

rou te  tak ing  passengers  f rom one another  and there fore  

bo th  o f  them end ing  up as  losers  because in  tha t  case SAA 

wou ld  eventua l l y  g iven i t s  weak ba lance sheet  wou ld  

eventua l l y  have to  ge t  o f f  the  rou te  because they wou ld  

ar r i ve  a t  the  conc lus ion  tha t  we are  f l y ing  empty  seats  and  

so  th is  rou te  i s  o f  no  benef i t  to  us .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  cou ld  ask  you then,  I  am go ing  to  

sk ip  fo rward ,  the re  seems to  be  some deta i l  he re  tha t  i s  

no t  in  d ispute ,  so  le t  me take you to  paragraph 77.   One o f  

the  th ings tha t  s t ruck me the  most ,  says  Ms Mzimela ,  about  

the  Mumbai  rou te  d iscuss ions was tha t  when Mr  G igaba 

took ove r  DPE became very  invo l ved in  the  de ta i l  o f  the 

Mumbai  rou te  and in  ensur ing  tha t  the  SAA and Je t  A i rways 

dea l  mate r ia l i se .   We were  never  ca l led  to  the  DPE to  

d iscuss any o ther  co-share  ar rangement  desp i te  many  

o ther  cha l leng ing  rou tes .   Co-share  d i scuss ions w i th  a l l  20 

o ther  a i r l ines  were  pu rsued and managed by  the  

Commerc ia l  Depar tment .  

 Your  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:    That  i s  because  no o the r  a i r l ine  sent  a  

d i rec t  request  to  us .    Had they we wou ld  have a lso  done 



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 140 of 357 
 

the  same and met  w i th  SAA and  I  th ink  Cha i rperson the  

contex t  i s  a lso  qu i te  impor tan t ,  beg inn ing  o f  2011  we had 

jus t  a r r i ved and so  we found  ourse lves hav ing  th is  

meet ing ,  these two meet ings and  a f te r  tha t  we never  had 

o ther  meet ings.    I  th ink  i t  is  impor tan t  to  comple te  

Mzimela ’s  parag raph 27 to  say no  fu r ther  engagement  was 

a lso  he ld  on  Je t  A i rways w i th  Min is te r  G igaba as  she had  

sa id  i n  her  p rev ious paragraph because we then bes ides 

the  fac t  tha t  no  o ther  a i r l ines  had approached us  w i th  

regards to  fac i l i ta t ing  d iscuss ions on  these rou tes ,  we a lso  10 

then never  pursued these d i scuss ions.     

 Bu t  i t  i s  impor tan t  Ms Mzimela  le f t  SAA in  2012,  i t  i s  

impor tan t  to  say there  were  d iscuss ions in  a round 2016 or  

so ,  be tween Kathar  A i r l ines  and  Duba i  A i r l ines  w i th  the 

Min is te r  o f  F inance on a  Code-Share  ag reement  be tween  

SAA and these a i r l ines ,  I  th ink  on  the  South  A f r i ca  Duba i  

rou te  or  on  some o ther  rou te ,  so  what  Ms Mzimela  says 

here  on ly  su f f i ces  to  exp la in  her  own exper ience ear l y  in  

2017 but  subsequent  to  tha t  there  were  ins tances 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    In  2012.  

MR GIGABA:    In  2012,  thank you Cha i r,  thank you.    I t  

su f f i ces  as  i t  re la tes  to  he r  tenure  wh ich  ended in  2012,  

subsequent  to  tha t  when SAA had  now been t ransfer red  as  

an  ent i t y  under  Nat iona l  Treasury  there  were  d iscuss ions  
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wh ich  invo lved the  shareho lde r  w i th  o ther  a i r l ines  to  the 

same e f fec t  and those d i scuss ions a l so  d id  no t  y ie ld  any  

conc lus ions because i t  was fe l t  I  mean I  don ’ t  what  was the  

exact  na ture  o f  those engagements  bu t  they d id  no t  y ie ld  

any conc lus ions i n  the  manner  tha t  those a i r l ines  may have  

been propos ing   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and then a t  parag raph  78:  

“F rom documents  I  have been  shown by the  

Commiss ion ’s  invest iga tors  i t  appears  DPE and Je t  

A i rways were  in  d i rec t  communica t ion  d iscuss ing  10 

issues re la t ing  to  the  Mumbai  rou te  wh ich  wou ld  

ord inar i l y  have been dea l t  w i th  opera t iona l l y  by  the  

Commerc ia l  D iv i s ion  o f  SAA. ”  

And then she re fers  to  ce r ta in  le t te rs  in  tha t  regard  a t  

parag raph 79,  and then perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  read to  you a t  

parag raph 80:  

“Th is  k ind  o f  in te rac t ion  was very  odd,  the  DG’s  

o f f i ce  had no bus iness d i scuss ing  opera t iona l  

i ssues w i th  po ten t ia l  opera t iona l  par tne rs .  The ro le  

o f  the  shareho lder  i s  to  p rov ide  s t ra teg ic  ove rv iew 20 

and not  invo lve  themse lves in  opera t iona l  i ssues .   

The d iscuss ions Je t  A i rways were  hav ing  w i th  DG 

shou ld  have been  he ld  w i th  the  SAA Execut ives . ”  

Your  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:    Jus t  two th ings,  one I  th ink  the  DG may 
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have been ta lk ing  to  them to  t ry  and get  more  in fo rmat ion  

pursuant  to  what  I  had asked h im to  do  to  see i f  he  can 

ass is t  in  b roke r ing  an  agreement .   What  SAA Cha i rperson 

does not  d ispute  i s  the  fac t  tha t  they wanted an agreement  

on  tha t  rou te ,  no t  tha t  they –  they don ’ t  say  we  d id  no t  

want  to  pu l l  ou t  and i t  end there ,  they do  admi t  tha t  we  

wanted an agreement  and what  s topped us  f rom reach ing  

an ag reement  w i th  Je t  A i rways  was the  fac t  tha t  Je t  

A i rways was not  negot ia t ing  w i th  us  in  bad fa i th ,  and tha t  

i s  why I  asked the  DG to  ass i s t  them.  10 

 The second  po in t  Cha i r  tha t  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  make is  

tha t  inasmuch tha t  th is  was an opera t iona l  mat te r  fo r  SAA 

the  –  u l t imate ly  the  dec i s ion  on  rou tes  is  a  shareho lder  

dec is ion  or  was a  shareho lder  dec is ion  and tha t  i s  why the  

long- te rm tu rnaround s t ra tegy tha t  was dra f ted  in  2012,  I  

th ink  adopted in  2013 or  –  in  2013,  tha t ’s  why i t  i s  

suggested tha t  the  shareho lde r  needs to  ge t  ou t  o f  hav ing  

to  be  the  f ina l  dec i s ion  maker  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  because yes 

bes ides tha t  i t  i s  an  opera t iona l  mat te r  and the  –  i t  de lays  

dec is ion  mak ing  fo r  the  a i r l ine  to  dec ide  whether  to  pu l l  20 

ou t  o f  rou tes  o r  no t  i f  i t  s t i l l  has  to  do  an  ent i re  

assessment  tha t  w i l l  be  sent  to  the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  and then the  t ranspor t  en terp r ises  p lus  the  

teams tha t  dea l  w i th  f inance even have to  do  the i r  own 

eva lua t ion  o f  i ssues wh ich  had  a l ready,  wh ich  a l ready 
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wou ld  have been  eva lua ted and assessed by  the  a i r l ine  so  

tha t  was to  so l ve  the  prob lem but  the  impor tan t  po in t  wh ich  

I  am mak ing  Cha i r  i s  tha t  the  DG wou ld  have been pursu ing  

the  mandate  I  had g iven h im,  g iven the  fac t  tha t  the  SAA 

had a l so  ind ica ted  tha t  they don ’ t  jus t  s imp ly  want  to  s tay  

on  the  rou te  they  are  in te res ted   in  a  so lu t ion  wh ich  wou ld  

be  a  w in /w in  so lu t ion  be tween them and Je t  A i r l ines  so  tha t  

they a l so  cou ld  p ick  up  some benef i t  f rom the  rou te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rperson I  see tha t  i t  i s  lunch  

t ime.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  sensed ea r l ie r  on  tha t  you wou ld  pre fer  

to  f in ish  th is  af f idav i t  be fore  we take lunch,  maybe  

depend ing  how long tha t  m ight  take ,  maybe we shou ld  t ry  

and do tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes I  shou ld  have jus t  one or  two 

quest ions,  so  i f  I  m igh t  jus t  qu i ck l y  f in ish  th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  le t ’s  do  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ms Mzime la  then goes on to  dea l  

w i th  Mr  Mhlangu and she says tha t  a t  82 :  

“Mr  Mhlangu he  was a t  SAA regu la r ly  wh ich  was 20 

very  unusua l  fo r  a  m in is te r ia l  adv i so r.   Mr  Mhlangu  

had a  par t i cu la r l y  keen in te res t  in  SAA procurement  

. . . . ”  

And she re fers  to  a  IT tender  and then a t  paragraph  84 she  

re fers  to  anothe r  meet ing  tha t  Mr  Mhlangu convened in  
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re la t ion  to  p rocu rement  o f  lega l  f i rms and a t  85  she says 

tha t  Mr  Mhlangu regu lar ly  accused her  o f  no t  be ing  a  c lean  

p layer  because she ins is ted  on  every th ing  be ing  in  wr i t ing .   

Do you want  to  comment  on  any o f  tha t?  

MR GIGABA:    Cha i rperson w i th  regard  to  82  I  was not  

aware  o f  th is  and  cer ta in l y  as  I  had sa id  my v iew was I  am 

not  ge t t ing  myse l f  invo l ved in  any  procurement  p rocesses 

o f  SOE’s ,  I  was not  in  bus iness,  I  s t i l l  am not  in  bus iness 

even as  we speak,  so  I  was not  aware  o f  th is  and so  th is  

w i l l  go  to  the  IT tender,  I  d idn ’ t  know anyth ing  abou t  th is  IT 10 

tender,  the  a i r l ine  av ia t ion  sys tem,  I  d idn ’ t  know anyth ing  

about  i t ,  yes  then the  issue w i th  regard  to  lega l  f i rms I  

th ink  what  Mr  Mhlangu d id  he  p i cked i t  up  I  th ink  f rom 

d i f fe ren t  peop le  who wou ld  have been ta lk ing  to  h im and 

subsequent ly  p roposed a  meet ing  be tween the  two b lack  

lawyers  o rgan isa t ions and BLA and  Nade l  wh ich  took p lace  

a t  my o f f i ces  in  P re tor ia  and we had a  d iscuss ion  w i th  them 

on the  bas is  o f  wh ich  we then engaged w i th  the  

Cha i rperson ’s  fo rum which  was a  fo rum o f  Cha i rpersons,  

and CEO’S o f  SOE’s  where  we had a  d i scuss ion  about  20 

lega l  and o ther  p ro fess iona l  serv i ces  because i t  was no t  

on ly  lega l  serv i ces  tha t  were  compla in ing  tha t  b lack  f i rms 

are  no t  ge t t ing  –  one tha t  they were  no t  ge t t ing  su f f i c ien t  

work  f rom SOE’s ,  two tha t  the  amount  o f  work  they wou ld  

ge t  wou ld  be  t r i v ia l  compared to  the  amount  o f  work  tha t  
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wou ld  go  to  b ig  wh i te  owned lega l  f i rms.  

 Now we then d iscussed not  on ly  in  re la t ion  to  the  

lega l  p ro fess ion ,  i t  was account ing  i t  was a l so  adver t i s ing  

and market ing  agenc ies  and took a  compos i te  v iew tha t  i s  

w i th  regard  to  lega l  i ssues,  I  mean to  lega l  f i rms and then 

Mr  Mhlangu not  be ing  a  team p layer  I  th ink  tha t  i s  Ms 

Mzimela ’s  op in ion  w i th  wh ich  I  cannot  engage because she 

is  express ing  he r  own op in ion ,  whether  she is  r igh t  o r  no t  I  

th ink  i t  cou ld  be  i n  re la t ion  to  how they in te rac ted  w i th  h im 

and so  she i s  express ing  he r  own  op in ion  bu t  I  th ink  the  10 

area o f  tha t  I  wanted to  speak s t rong ly  a t  was the  one o f  

the  lega l  f i rms and even then he wou ld  no t  have been  

expected to  d i rec t l y  invo lve  h imse l f  in  p rocurement  i ssues,  

no t  on l y  o f  SAA but  o f  SOE’s  broad ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay le t  us  take  the  lunch ad jou rnment ,  

i t  i s  f i ve  past  one ,  so  we w i l l  resume a t  f i ve  past  two.  

 We ad journ .  

REGITRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 20 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay le t  us cont inue.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Chai rperson.   Good 

af ternoon Mr Gigaba.  

MR GIGABA:   Good af ternoon.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  ask you p lease having  

f in ished Ms Mzimela ’s  aff idavi t  cou ld we go to  Ms Coetzee’s  

aff idavi t .   That  you f ind in  Bundle  8 and le t  me ask you to  

go to  page 8.   So th is  wi l l  be in  tab 1.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh for  what  i t  is  worth I  just  want  

to  ment ion to  you that  the wi tness who was supposed to  

sta r t  test i fy ing at  3  other  ar rangements have been made.   

He is  not  go ing to  test i fy  today.   But  the – there are others 

who wi l l  test i fy  la te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  understand there is  wi tnesses 10 

star t ing at  4 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes i f  we can star t  a t  four  that  would be 

good but  I  th ink the pr io r i ty  is  to  f in ish wi th  Mr Gigaba.   So 

… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We wi l l  cer ta in ly  get  as far  as we can.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja what  i s  your  sense at  the moment?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We have st i l l  got  a  long way to  go.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is  that  so? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So – as you know.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Solomon is  avai lab le unt i l  f ive.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So whatever  happens I  do not  
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suppose we can go past  that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  No,  no we cannot  go past  that .   We 

cannot  go past  that .   I f  we cannot  s tar t  –  i f  we have not  

f in ished wi th  Mr Gigaba by four  we probably could cont inue 

maybe up to  hal f  past  four  –  maybe up to  f i ve but  le t  us  

see.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Gigaba could I  ask you to  go to  

page 12.   There is  rea l ly  on ly two paragraphs that  I  want  to  10 

ra ise wi th  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry you sa id Bundle 8? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bundle 8 page 12 Chai rperson.    

CHAIRPERSON:   I  do not  have i t  here  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  is  the – i t  is  the same bundle that  

we were in  before lunch that  conta ined Ms Mzimela ’s  

aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh I  am sor ry –  I  am sorry.   What  is  the 

page number?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Page 12.   Mr Gigaba in  paragraph 17 20 

and 18 you would have seen th is .   Ms Coetzee deals wi th  

th is  te lephone cal l  that  she rece ived f rom someone who 

said that  they were coming to  s ign  an agreement .   This is  

on the 10 t h  o f  January 2011.   When I  was leading your 

ev idence in  respect  o f  Ms Mzimela  we deal t  wi th  th is  ca l l  –  
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she – she gave evidence about  what  was repor ted to  her.   I  

do not  suppose you have got  anyth ing that  you wish to  add 

to th is  – th is  vers ion of  Ms Coetzee which I  have a l ready 

put  to  you a lbe i t  ind i rect ly.  

MR GIGABA:   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There is  then one th ing I  would l ike to  

deal  wi th  in  your  Rule 3.4 appl i cat ion  in  re la t ion  to  Ms 

Coetzee.   Could I  ask you to  p lease to  turn to  page 35.     

CHAIRPERSON:   Is  that  35? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   35.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And could I  ask you to  have a look at  

paragraph 21.   You say in  the second sentence deal ing wi th  

these two meet ings.  

“Af ter  a l l  dur ing that  t ime and I  am not  sure  

i f  i t  has changed in  the MOI a l l  decis ions on  

routes and co-share agreements had to be  

presented to  the shareholder  fo r  approval . ”  

Is  that  correct?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So were you refer r ing to  a MOI that  

was in  p lace at  the t ime in  2011? 

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Do you have a copy of  that?  

MR GIGABA:   I  asked fo r  i t  I  d id  not  get  i t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   R ight .   And as you understand i t  i t  

prov ided that  dec is ions on  routes and co-share  agreements 

had to be presented to  the shareho lder  for  approval .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Is  that  r ight?   Is  that  cor rect?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes S i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So as I  understand that  would i t  then 

be for  management  to  decide the issues and then for  the 

shareholder  to  approve.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes S i r.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   R ight .   Could I  then ask you – there  

are three of  these aff idavi t s  tha t  go together  Mzimela,  

Coetzee and then Caro lus.   Can we go to  Caro lus?   Ms 

Caro lus ’ a ff idavi t  Mr Gigaba you f ind in  another  f i le .   In  

Transnet  Bundle 11.   Ms Caro lus ’ a ff idavi t  you wi l l  f ind at  

tab 13.   The aff idavi t  i tse l f  or  s tatement  i tse l f  commences at  

page 809.   I f  I  could take you p lease to  page 820.   

Paragraph 31 Ms Caro lus says:  

“ In  SAA’s deal ings wi th  the Department  

subsequent ly  Mr  Mahlangu cont inued to  20 

appear in  meet ings of ten complete ly  

unre lated to  legal  mat ters wi thout  the  

Min is te r.   He was of ten the most  vocal  

person whi ls t  departmenta l  o ff ic ia ls  were  

s i lent .   For  example Mr Mahlangu p layed a  
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par t icu lar ly  prominent  ro le  in  the effor ts  to  

get  SAA to redi rect  spending on an 

emergency newspaper the New Age as wel l  

as our  in teract ions wi th  the Min is te r  and 

wi th  the department  re la t ing to  the Mumbai  –  

Johannesburg rou te. ”  

 Do you have any comment  on that?  

MR GIGABA:   As  I  have responded ear l ier  Chai rperson that  

insofar  as the issues that  d id  not  re la te to  the d iscussions 

that  we were hav ing I  was not  aware of  th is  and they were 10 

not  b rought  to  my at tent ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l l  r ight  and then i f  we can go to  

paragraph 41 at  page 822.   Here Ms Caro lus is  deal ing wi th  

the Mumbai  route  but  under the tenure  of  Min is te r  Hogan –  

your  predecessor.   She says at  paragraph 41:  

“Dur ing the i r  e ffo r ts  to  get  SAA to abandon 

the route my off i ce at  SAA received severa l  

ca l l s  request ing  that  I  meet  wi th  the 

President  of  Je t  A i rways.   As  wi th  a l l  

requests fo r  meet ings I  asked the  off ice to  20 

enqui re what  i t  was in  connect ion wi th .   I  

was to ld  over  the page that  i t  was to  d iscuss 

the Mumbai  route.   I  asked the  off ice to  

ind icate that  such d iscussion  is  best  

broached through our  usual  channels in  
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management .   This was the appropr ia te  

procedure s ince the board only considered 

routes when management  presents  

proposals  for  considerat ion and then only i f  

i t  is  a  deviat ion  f rom those agreed at  the  

annual  s t ra tegic p lanning session.   I  asked 

the off i ce to  refer  Jet  A i rways to  the CEO 

and to in fo rm them that  the board would be 

happy to  d iscuss route proposals  f rom the  

CEO in our  normal  course of  business. ”  10 

 You want  to  comment  on that?   Of  course Ms 

Caro lus was at  the t ime the Chai rperson of  SAA.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes Chai rperson I  th ink she is  re fer r ing to  

board procedures.   I  was not  a  member of  the board  of  SAA 

and then I  was Min is te r  in  which case my approach to 

meet ings and which meet ings I  accepted d id not  depend on 

how SAA had establ i shed wi th in  i tse l f  as a corporate – how 

i t  should deal  wi th  issues.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then perhaps more  d i rect  

re levance to you at  paragraph 42.  20 

“ I t  was then brought  to  my at tent ion that  the  

President  of  Jet  A i rways would  seek to  

quote “escalate the mat ter  to  the Min is te r : ”   

I  cannot  recal l  who brought  th is  to  my 

at tent ion.   I t  is  h igh ly unusual  for  one 
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compet i to r  in  the  market  to  make such an 

approach to SAA le t  a lone a Min is te r.   As a  

cour tesy I  immediate ly  in formed Min is te r  

Hogan.   She fe l t  that  i t  was out  o f  her  remi t  

as the shareholder  representat i ve to  d iscuss 

deviat ions f rom routes wi th  th i rd  par t ies  

before proposals would process th rough SAA 

st ructures. ”  

 Do you want  to  comment  on that?  

MR GIGABA:   Wel l  I  –  wel l  I  guess by the t ime of  Min is te r  10 

Hogan one of  the th ings which they were ra is ing i f  one goes 

by th is  submission by Ms Caro lus was a deviat ion f rom the 

route.   A t  my t ime or  dur ing my t ime i t  was not  a  deviat ion  

f rom the route.   There were proposing a par tnership wi th  

SAA par t  o f  which  would – which could involve accord ing to  

the i r  p roposal  a  SAA complete ly  w i thdrawing f rom the  route 

which they were to ld  was not  go ing  to  happen.   

 Now secondly Ms Hogan was Min is ter  o f  Publ ic  

Enterpr ises for  a  per iod of  just  over  a year.   In  the  

exper ience af te r  she had le f t  when SAA was in  the Nat ional  20 

Treasury two a i r l ines escalated  proposals on co-share  

agreements to  the shareholder  and they were met  – they 

were met  wi th  and d iscussed wi th .    

 So a l l  I  am saying is  what  happened Ms Hogan’s 

exper ience was wi th in  a t ime per iod what  happened 
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thereaf ter  was not  conf ined to  my exper ience but  i t  a lso  

happened when SAA was in  the Nat ional  Treasury  and the  

Min is te r  o f  F inance then which was not  me met  wi th  those –  

i f  not  –  i f  not  both  of  them but  one of  them.   But  the issue of  

co-share between SAA and Car ter  A i rways and Dubai  

A i r l ines was considered dur ing that  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Gigaba perhaps I  can just  ask you 

a s l ight ly  broader  quest ion.   In  your  t ime how d id you draw 

the l ine between the board ’s  author i t y  and your  au thor i ty?   

How and where d id you draw i t?  10 

MR GIGABA:   That  was governed by the k ing code,  i t  was 

governed by the  PFMA, i t  was governed by – by the  

memoranda of  incorporat ion which  would c lear ly  spel l  out  

what  a re the responsib i l i t ies of  the Min is te r.  

 Now I  do not  know wi th  regard to  what  i ssue is  th is  

quest ion because i t  is  qu i te  b road – so broad in  actual  fact  

that  i t  would requi re me to  get  a l l  the re levant  

documentat ion f rom the t ime so that  I  am able to  provide a  

substant ive response to th is .   But  i f  the quest ion in tends or  

in fers or  in tends to  ask about  co-share agreements or  –  or  20 

routes I  th ink I  have expla ined th is  qu i te  adequate ly  and 

very repeatedly Chai rperson that  these issues at  the t ime 

requi red the Min is ter  to  approve them. 

 That  i t  was the long term turnaround st rategy which 

proposed that  they should actual l y  fa l l  w i th in  the remi t  o f  
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the board so that  speedy decis ions are taken which could 

save the a i r l ine  loss of  funds on the routes which are – 

which are considered f inancia l ly  unviable.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  as I  understand i t  you have 

accepted that  i t  was for  management  to  determine a change 

and fo r  you to  approve i t .  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson i f  –  the  word approve means the 

Min is te r  is  the f ina l  author i t y  on the mat ter.   So the board is  

in  actual  fact  making a recommendat ion to  the Min is te r.   

The Min is te r  reserves every r ight  to  say I  do not  approve 10 

and that  is  why I  sa id last  week that  cabinet  in  d iscussing  

the long te rm turnaround st rategy and the cha l lenges 

exper ienced on the Ind ia and par t icu la r ly  on the  Bei j ing 

route was of  the v iew that  perhaps and I  th ink the issue was 

ra ised then by the Min is te r  o f  Tour ism was of  the v iew that  

government  could  perhaps have to  consider  the possib i l i t y  

o f  subsid is ing the  routes which f rom the point  o f  v iew of  the 

a i r l ine were f inancia l l y  unviable bu t  f rom the st rateg ic v iew 

of  the count ry were considered st rategy.  

 Now I  have ind ica ted that  one of  the chal lenges wi th  20 

the route to  Ind ia was the landing s lo t  in  Ind ia and the same 

appl ied to  the Be i j ing route and the reason why SAA soon 

af ter  launching the route I  th ink to  Bei j ing in  2013 wanted to  

immediate ly  get  out  o f  i t  was because the route was 

f inancia l l y  unviab le because the landing t ime in  Bei j ing was 
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qu i te  awkward fo r  t ravel lers who could wish to  t ravel  on 

what  e i ther  wi th in  South East  Asia or  wi th in  China i t se l f .  

 And that  is  why cabinet  sa id besides negot ia t ing I  

remember that  the issue of  negot ia t ing the landing  s lo ts in  

Bei j ing was ra ised not  on ly at  –  at  the level  o f  the of f ic ia ls  i t  

was a lso ra ised at  the level  o f  Min is ters – i t  was ra ised at  

the level  o f  President  – the Heads of  States o f  both 

count r ies.  

 And – and the –  the issue was how do we ensure 

that  th is  route becomes f inancia l ly  v iab le because i t  was of  10 

st rategic importance to  South Af r i ca .  

 I f  you want  to  benef i t  f rom the hundreds of  mi l l ions I  

mean i f  I  am not  mistaken by 2018 China was repor ted to  be 

sending about  800 mi l l ion tour is ts  abroad and the  

d iscussion in  South Af r i ca was,  how do you benef i t  f rom 

these hundreds o f  tour is ts  even i f  you d id not  get  a l l  800 

mi l l ion but  i f  you got  100 mi l l ion of  those the tour ism sector 

in  South Af r i ca would do wel l .  

 So a l l  o f  these decis ions – a l l  o f  these d iscussions 

are not  mere  technica l  bureaucrat ic  mat te rs which must  be  20 

handled at  the level  o f  the operators of  the a i r l ine .   They 

a lso belong wi th in  the remi ts  of  the pol i t i ca l  decis ions 

makers and that  is  why at  the t ime the v iew was,  i f  the 

a i r l ine – i f  the management  of  the  a i r l ine recommends that  

the a i r l ine pul l s  out  o f  the route i t  must  make a 
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recommendat ion to  cabinet  – to  the  Min is te r.  

 But  the d i lemma the department  took long to  decide  

on these issues and therefore the LTTS recommended that ,  

no these decis ions must  be taken by the – by the board of  

the a i r l ine.   But  cabinet  was saying,  wai t  a  minute i f  the 

route is  s t ra tegic  for  us and the a i r l ine based merely on 

f inancia l  considerat ions decides to  pul l  out  o f  a  rou te is  i t  

not  necessary  that  the a i r l ine should make a 

recommendat ion to  cabinet  through the re levant  Min is te r  

that  cabinet  should subsid ise that  – the a i r l ine  for  i ts  10 

operat ions on tha t  route?   And the  quest ion was,  how much 

would such subsid ies be? 

 So there was a whole range of  d iscussions tak ing  

p lace so I  th ink i t  should be very,  very nar row to argue that  

the decis ion was a decis ion of  the  a i r l ine because then we 

need to debate what  does approval  by the Min is ter  mean? 

 Because i f  you say the Min is te r  must  approve a 

decis ion i t  means that  the Min is te r  is  not  a  rubber s tamp on 

the mat te r.   I t  means that  the Min is te r  reserves the r ight  to  

say,  I  do not  agree wi th  the  recommendat ion of  the  20 

management  I  suggest  that  the a i r l ine cont inues operat ing 

rather  I  am going  to  seek f inancia l  ass is tance fo r  the  a i r l ine  

to  cont inue opera t ing on that  route.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  I  could take you p lease to  page … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  take i t  you accept  that  in  tha t  event  
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where the Min is ter  o r  cabinet  for  s t ra tegic reasons take a 

d i f ferent  v iew and say,  the a i r l ine  should cont inue wi th  the 

route – I  take i t  that  the  subsidy that  you are  ta lk ing about  

that  would have to  be put  in  by government  would have to  

be of  such an amount  that  the cont inuat ion of  the route by 

the a i r l ine must  be economical ly  v iab le.  

MR GIGABA:   Indeed Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Because you cannot  expect  the a i r l ine to  

cont inue on a rou te that  is  economical l y  not  v iab le.  

MR GIGABA:   Indeed.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  because i t  is  s t ra tegica l l y  good for  

cabinet .  

MR GIGABA:   Indeed Chai rperson and that  is  the context  in  

which the issue of  subsidy arose.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR GIGABA:   But  i t  was not .   Let  me hasten to  say that  

decis ion was not  taken.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  ja .  

MR GIGABA:   I t  was not  taken but  i t  was an issue that  was 

being … 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   D iscussed.  

MR GIGABA:   A t  great  length d iscussed.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja.  

MR GIGABA:   The point  that  I  was emphasis ing was the 

point  o f  the approval .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GIGABA:   Because the approval  means the Min is te r  is  

not  a  rubber s tamp.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   Can we then go to  

page 824.   So here Ms Caro lus then deals wi th  the  Mumbai  

route dur ing your  tenure and she deals wi th  the January and 

Apr i l  meet ings but  we need not  go through a l l  o f  th is  

because we know that  she is  re ly ing on repor ts  pr inc ipa l ly  

f rom Ms Mzimela  and we have a l ready gone through her  10 

evidence.   There is  just  one or  two th ings I  would l ike your  

comment  on.    

 You wi l l  see at  paragraph 45 she says:  

“They repor ted to  me – those were S i tho le 

and Mzimela i t  is  deal ing wi th  the January 

meet ing that  upon arr i va l  they were  in formed 

that  they had to awai t  the arr i va l  o f  another  

par ty.   A l l  o f  them inc lud ing Min is ter  Gigaba 

wai ted for  th ree hours. ”  

 Ms Mzimela you know said i t  was two hours but  –  20 

you want  to  comment  on that  so far  as you can? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  do not  know whether  Mr – I  am not  

sure Mr Myburgh whether  you need to rea l ly  put  that  to  h im 

because in  the context  o f  Ms Mzimela he has responded.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He cannot  recal l .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   The only d i f fe rence might  be three hours  

or  two hours.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Fa i r  enough thank you Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So in  the l ight  o f  the t ime const ra in ts.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is  un l i ke ly  h is  answer wi l l  be  of  

anyth ing other  than what  he has sa id.   Am I  r ight  Mr 

Gigaba? 

MR GIGABA:   Yes indeed Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja thank you.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then perhaps in  a s imi lar  ve in at  

paragraph 47 I  just  wanted to  point  out  that  Ms Caro lus i t  i s  

p la in  f rom that  that  she had not  received an agenda for  the 

Apr i l  meet ing but  as I  understand i t  Mr Gigaba you have –  

your  ev idence is  you would have assumed that  tha t  would  

have been sor ted out  by the DPE.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can I  take you p lease to  paragraph 

51.   There is  someth ing I  would l ike you to  comment  on 

here.   She says a t  page 827.  20 

“We found i t  pecul ia r  that  the Min is ter  was 

so determined to assis t  Jet  A i rways and f ind 

one another  wi th  the Mumbai  route when in  

fact  there was an unnecessary dragging of  

feet  on deal ing wi th  other  route proposals  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 160 of 357 
 

that  were cent ra l  to  SAA st rategy too.   For  

example the DPE took unnecessar i ly  long to  

g ive SAA permiss ion to  c lose the Botswana 

route that  was making excessive losses.   I t  

d id  not  make sense that  we were not  be ing  

supported to  c lose a route that  was making  

even b igger  losses than the Mumbai  route. ”  

 You want  to  comment  on that .  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson the issue of  the – le t  me star t  

wi th  the – le t  me star t  f rom  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   51.  

 MR GIGABA:   No,  no f rom the – f rom the end.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh 

MR GIGABA:   And move to the beginning.   The issue of  the 

Botswana route I  do not  know how long i t  took to  resolve i t  

–  I  do not  even know when i t  was submi t ted to  DPE and Ms 

Caro lus does not  a lso ind icate when i t  was submi t ted to  

DPE for  a  decis ion.  

 I  have responded to say that  the issue of  routes  

Chai rperson I  –  I  keep repeat ing  mysel f  in  these issues 20 

which is  very important .   The issue of  routes and the 

decis ion i t  took – you see that  is  why i t  would be wrong 

Chai rperson to read the submission by I  th ink Ms Mzimela 

that  the decis ion  on routes  was a decis ion –  was a decis ion 

of  the management  and board.  
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 Because i f  you read then what  Ms Caro lus says in  

51 i t  actual ly  a ff i rms the point  I  have made.   I t  was the  

decis ion of  the shareholder  and the reason why the long-

term turnaround st rategy was proposing that  the issue of  

routes must  be taken away f rom the shareholder  to  the – to  

the board and the management  was because of  the t ime i t  

was tak ing.  

 I  th ink i t  i s  an issue which needs to  be resolved 

because on the one hand i t  could take long to  reso lve.   I t  

could be quick fo r  a  board to  take  a decis ion on the route 10 

but  the board is  looking af ter  the commercia l  in teres t  o f  the 

a i r l ine.   

 The shareholder  on the other  hand is  looking af te r  

not  on ly the commercia l  but  a lso the non-commercia l  –  the  

non-commercia l  mandates.   Sor ry le t  me – ja  – the  

shareholder  i s  looking at  the commercia l  and the non-

commercia l  mandates of  –  of  an  ent i ty.   In  which case the  

shareholder  might  fee l  that  even though commercia l ly  the  

decis ion has to  fa l l  w i th in  the a i r l ine but  on a route but  how 

do we then ensure that  the shareholder  i s  ab le to  in f luence 20 

a par t i cu la r  decis ion especia l ly  where the shareholder  fee ls  

that  there are non-commercia l  in te rests – I  am not  ta lk ing  

about  the shareholder  representat ive now I  am ta lk ing about  

the shareholder  as government  –  where government  fee ls  

that  there i s  an – a par t i cu la r  in terest  in  us being able to  f l y  
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South Af r i ca  – to  f ly  d i rect l y  to  Bei j ing not  through Hong 

Kong,  not  through Malasia cer ta in ly  not  through Dubai  but  

to  take our  own meta l  put  our  f lag in  the a i r  and f ly  i t  to 

Bei j ing because Bei j ing is  the st rategic par tner  fo r  South 

Af r ica as a fe l low member of  the Br ix  b lock.  

 So that  needs to  be resolved because i f  fa i lure to  

resolve that  wou ld resul t  in  e i ther  commercia l l y  in te rests 

predominat ing or  i t  might  resul t  in  the pursui t  o f  non-

commercia l  in te rest  which would undermine the commercia l  

in terest  o f  the a i r l ine.  10 

 Now coming fu r ther  back to  –  to  then the  issue that  

Ms Caro lus ra ises  of  what  was pecul iar  about  be ing so 

determined to ass is t  Jet  A i rways and SAA f ind one another.  

 I  th ink I  have a l ready ind icated that  ne i ther  Ms 

Mzimela or  i f  I  may rephrase both Ms Mzimela and Mr Doug 

have a l ready ind icated that  they were in te rested in  a 

par tnership agreement  wi th  Jet  A i rways but  which would not  

be d isadvantageous to  SAA and wh ich would not  benef i t  Jet  

A i rways at  the expense of  SAA.  

 So the issue of  why are you being involved?  I  th ink  20 

becomes unnecessary and pedant ic  because at  the  end of  

the day they both  are in te rested in  a par tnership.  They both 

are los ing on the – on the route and i t  does not  he lp  them to 

say that  we are los ing on the route there is  a  possib i l i ty  for  

a  par tnership – we cannot  f ind agreement  wi th  one another  
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but  le t  us cont inue making losses on the route.  

 The issue that  we were t ry ing  to  do wi th  our  

in tervent ion was based on a request  which had been 

brought  to  us to  fac i l i ta te the meet ing to  ensure that  there  

is  a  meet ing of  the par t ies.    

 I  was asked a quest ion  ear l ier  –  why d id you not  do  

i t  w i th  regard to  other  mat ters that  was in  Ms Mzimela ’s  

aff idavi t?   I  sa id because the par t ies involved there  had not  

come to us to  ask  us to  in te rvene.   And then I  ind icated that  

when the par t ies that  were – that  sought  a co-share  10 

agreement  between SAA and Duba i  came to the shareholder  

to  request  a  meet ing to  d iscuss the issues inc lud ing tak ing  

a stake at  SAA.  

 Those issues were d iscussed by  the shareholder.   

Nobody sa id there i s  someth ing pecul ia r  about  that .   In  

actual  fact  i t  was necessary for  the shareholder  to  do that  

and I  have a lso ind icated in  regard to  broader issues which 

a lso involved other  ent i t ies inc lud ing Eskom that  the  

shareholder  would have and d id in tervene to t ry  and resolve  

issues that  were prevalent  in  those SOE’s at  that  t ime.   And 20 

there was noth ing pecul ia r  about  that .   I t  was the  

responsib i l i t y  o f  the shareholder  to  do that  wi thout  

prescr ib ing what  form of  an agreement  needs to  be  arr i ved 

at .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  what  would be wrong wi th  the 
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shareholder  adopt ing the posi t ion  that  says,  management  

we have employed you to  run th is  a i r l ine and run i t  

prof i tab ly  or  in  accordance wi th  the compacts  – the 

agreement  between the shareholder  and yourselves and the 

board.   You run wi th  i t  i f  you – i f  you fa i l  you wi l l  have to  

account  i f  you do not  run a proper  you know – do not  run i t  

proper ly  you wi l l  have to  account  and we do not  want  you to  

compla in that  some decis ions take long because they have 

got  to  go to  cabinet  and a l l  o f  those th ings.   The only – the 

only a reas where we wi l l  get  –  where you need our  decis ion 10 

are real l y  on the  ABCD.  What  route you run that  is  up to  

you and must  be  prof i tab le.   You know what  the compact  

agreement  says,  you know what  the targets are  and i f  

anybody t r ies to  come to  the Min is te r  and says,  the 

management  is  re fus ing to  agree to  th is .   You say those 

peop le  wou ld  pay  them a  lo t  o f  money fo r  them to  run  tha t  

a i r l ine .   I f  you  cannot  reach an agreement  w i th  them tha t  i s  

a  p rob lem.   The i r  bus iness is  to  run  tha t  a i r l ine .   We are  

no t  runn ing  the  a i r l ine .   So,  you go to  them.   Do not  come 

to  us .   I s  tha t  too  ar t i f i c ia l  an  approach?  [ laughs]    20 

 And I  ask  i t  because one does get  the  impress ion  

somet imes,  maybe jus t  f rom the  med ia ,  tha t  some o f  these  

SOE’s  do  not  be  g iven enough f reedom to  le t  the  boards  

and the  CFO’s  to  run  the  bus iness .   There  is  a  lo t  o f  –  id  o 

no t  want  to  ca l l  i t  in te r fe rence but  cer ta in ly  mat te rs  where  
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the  po l i t i c ians,  the  government  ge ts  invo lved qu i te  a  lo t .   

That  m ight  be  an  impress ion  tha t  is  no t  jus t i f ied  bu t  tha t  i s  

cer ta in ly  i s  par t  o f  what  one gets .    

 So,  one wonders  whether  maybe i t  i s  no t  to  say:   

Look,  we must  employ  peop le  who have the  exper t i se ,  the  

exper ience,  and  who unders tand what  th is  government  

wants ,  bu t  once  we know tha t  those are  the  peop le  we 

have appo in ted ,  we le t  them run w i th  i t  because we know 

they unders tand the  mandate  and  then we w i l l  on ly  l im i t  

our  invo l vement  to  A ,  B ,  C,  D.   Fu l l  s top .    10 

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  thank you fo r  the  quest ion .   

And i t  i s  a  quest ion  we need to  f ind  an  answer  to .   SOE’s  

are  no t  o rd inary  commerc ia l  en terp r ises .  

CHAIRPERSON :    O f  course .  

MR GIGABA :    They are  –  by  the i r  na tu re ,  they have got  a  

mandate  wh ich  ex tends beyond . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mak ing  pro f i t s .  

MR GIGABA :    . . .mak ing  p ro f i t s .   And because the  

shareho lder  i s  a  po l i t i ca l  en t i t y,  ca l led  the  s ta te ,  they have 

deve lopmenta l  mandates  and they –  th is  mandate  can be  20 

expressed in  a  who le  range o f  ways.   You can ask  them to  

dec la re  d iv idend to  the  s ta te .    

 I  th ink  Te lkom does tha t  and a t  some s tage  

Transnet  used to  do  tha t  and some o ther  SOE’s ,  o r  you  

cou ld  de f ine  a  deve lopmenta l  mandate ,  so  tha t  –  what  they 
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do ,  even though in  te rms o f  the i r  deve lopmenta l  mandate ,  

even though i t  does not  emanate  f rom the  nat iona l  f i scus  

bu t  cont r ibu tes  towards the  app l i cab le  government  spend 

on deve lopment  in  the  count ry.   Now,  d i f fe ren t  count r ies  

take  d i f fe ren t  approaches.    

 I  th ink  the  prob lem in  South  A f r i ca  i s  tha t  we have  

had an ad-hoc approach in  th is  regard .   As  I  th ink  –  as  I  

have ind ica ted on severa l  occas ions.   There  is  no  over (? )  

ac t ing (? )  po l i cy  f ramework  in  Sou th  A f r i ca  wh ich  spans(?)  

ou t  the  ownersh ip  respons ib i l i t y,  the  shareho lder  10 

respons ib i l i t y,  the  –  and spans out  the  commerc ia l  and 

non-commerc ia l  mandate  and  the  fund ing  o f  non-

commerc ia l  mandates  because the  b iggest  p rob lem tha t  

SOE’s  face  w i th  non-commerc ia l  mandates  is  tha t  they are  

no t  funded and  you expect  SAA to  f l y  rou tes  to  the  

commerc ia l  to  genera te  revenue and you expect  i t ,  a t  the  

same t ime,  to  imp lement  t ransfo rmat ion  to  t ra in  b lack  p i lo ts  

and do a  number  o f  o ther  th ings w i th  the  fund ing  o f  wh ich  

is  no t  immedia te l y  ava i lab le  on  the i r  ba lance sheet  and you  

a lso  expect  them to  f l y  cer ta in  rou tes .    20 

 One o f  the  b iggest  advantages up  unt i l  a  few years  

ago  fo r  SAA was  i t  i s  dominance o f  the  A f r i can sk ies .   I t s  

ab i l i t y  to  f l y  to  d i f fe ren t  rou tes  in  A f r i ca .   And the  

compet i t ion  fo r  SAA in  tha t  regard  was to  buy a i rways and 

be –  ro le  be ing  p layed by  Kenya  A i rways and E th iop ian  
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A i rways,  bu t  SAA remained dominant ,  par t i cu la r l y,  on  –  or  

inc lud ing  on  or ig ina l  rou tes  in  SADEC(?) .    

 So,  i f  you  say to  managers  tha t  run  the  a i r l ine  or  

run  the  SOE commerc ia l l y.   Yes ,  they w i l l  run ,  bu t  the  

deve lopmenta l  mandate  w i l l  su f fe r.   What  I  th ink  count r ies ,  

l i ke ,  OECD count r ies  are  do ing  is  to  beg in  to  –  i s  to  ins is t ,  

one,  on  the  deve lopmenta l  mandate  be ing  c lear l y  –  one,  

they ins is t  on  a  po l i cy  f ramework  wh ich  c lear l y  spe l l s  ou t  

the  deve lopmenta l  mandates  and  the  fund ing  mechan ism 

for  such deve lopmenta l  mandates .    10 

 So,  tha t  the  a i r l ine  does not  –  o r  the  SOE does not  

f ind  i t se l f  conf l i c ted  as  to  whether  to  jus t  opera te  

commerc ia l l y  because you expect  a  d iv idend f rom i t  o r  to  

a lso  dabb le  in to  non-commerc ia l  deve lopmenta l  mandates  

and then accuse them o f  no t  be ing  f inanc ia l l y  v iab le  

because they have to  bor row money f rom the  le f t -hand in  

o rder  to  p rov ide  fund ing  to  the  r igh t -hand.    

 And tha t  becomes the  way tha t  o ther  count r ies  

have so ld  th is ,  and I  th ink  count r ies ,  l i ke ,  Ch ina  and o ther  

count r ies  wh ich  are  member  count r ies  o f  OECD count r ies  20 

have done tha t .   I  th ink  Namib ia  has a lso  done tha t  in  i t s  

leg is la t ion ,  in  i t s  SOE leg is la t ion .    

 What  South  A f r i can has to  do  is  to  a lso  beg in  to  

move towards tha t  d i rec t ion  because i t  i s  un fa i r  o f  us  to  

expect  tha t  SOE’s  w i l l  be  run  on ly  commerc ia l l y  when there  
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a re  s ta te-owned enterpr i ses .   But  then the  o ther  p rob lem,  

as  I  conc lude  Cha i rpe rson,  i s  tha t  the  shareho lde r  

government ’s  mode l  fo r  our  s ta te-owned enterp r ises  is  no t  

–  does not  ex is t .    

 The Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr ises  has t r ied  to  

deve lop  the  shareho lde r  government ’s  mode l ,  bu t  they 

have not  been  in  conc lud ing  and then tak ing  i t  to  

par l iament  so  tha t  pass because in  tha t  way you w i l l  

add ress,  no t  on ly  these i ssues  o f  mandates  and how 

dec is ions are  made.    10 

 You w i l l  add ress  no t  on ly  i ssues  o f  governments  

and reso lve  the  d i lemma faced by  the  fac t  tha t  there  i s  a  

mul t ip l i c i t y  o f  leg is la t ion  wh ich  end up dup l i ca t i ng  one 

another  bu t  you w i l l  a lso  dea l  w i th  the  i ssue o f  

cent ra l i sa t ion  o f  the  shareho lder  government ’s  f ramework  

and the  c rea t ion  o f  a  s ing le  shareho lde r  governance fo r  

our  SOE’s  wh ich  w i l l  he lp  them to  opera te  fa r  much bet te r  

than they are  do ing  or  have been do ing  up unt i l  now.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   I f  I  cou ld  move to  a  20 

d i f fe ren t  top ic  addressed by  Ms Caro lus  in  her  a f f idav i t?   

That  i s  the  New Age a t  page 828.   She says a t  pa rag raph 

55:  

“Wi th  regard  to  the  New Age Newspaper,  an  

in i t ia l  approach  was made to  the  SAA 
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Marke t ing  Depar tment  and processed th rough 

the  normal  p rocurement  channe ls .  

I t  was f ina l l y  tu rned down by the  B id  

Ad jud ica t ion  Commi t tee ,  the  BAC,  because i t  

d id  no t  meet  the  bus iness cr i te r i a . . . ”  

MR GIGABA :    Excuse me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    828.   Th i s  i s  o f  Bund le  11 .  

MR GIGABA :    Bund le . . .   Page 828?  

[Par t ies  in te rven ing  each o the r  –  unc lear ]  

MR GIGABA :    Oh.   Okay,  I  am there .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  th ink  i t  i s  the  page a f te r  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . . the  Botswana rou te .   You  want  me 

to  read tha t  aga in?  

MR GIGABA :    You . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wi th  regard  to  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    . . .55 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You are  r igh t .  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    56 :  

“ I  was ca l led  by  the  then D i rec tor  Genera l ,  

Mr  Matona,  request ing  an  urgent  meet ing  w i th  

me to  d iscuss the  mat te r.  

A t  tha t  s tage,  I  had no knowledge about  the  
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mat te r  because th is  i s  a  management  mat te r  

and outs ide  o f  the  board  remi t .  

I  ind ica ted  tha t  i t  shou ld  be  d iscussed w i th  

management  and not  the  board .  

He in fo rmed me tha t  there  had been p rob lems 

wi th  management  in  th is  regard .  

I  eventua l l y  agreed to  meet  w i th  them.  

I  go t  a  b r ie f ing  f rom Ms Mzimela  on  the  mat te r  

and took her  a long w i th  me to  the  meet ing  

because I  cons idered i t  inappropr ia te  and 10 

unnecessary  fo r  me to  ge t  invo lved in  what  

was c lear l y  a  management  dec is ion . . . ”  

A t  parag raph 57:  

“ I  was su rpr i sed  to  f ind  Mr  Mah langu a t  the 

meet ing  because  we were  no t  d iscuss ing  any 

lega l  ag reements ,  nor  was the  Min is te r  

p resented.  

I  assured the  meet ing ,  tha t  w i th in  our  l ega l  

and po l i cy  p rescr ip ts ,  SAA wou ld  be  prepared  

to  suppor t  a  new ent ran t  in  the  med ia  space to  20 

encourage media  d ive rs i t y,  bu t  I  asser ted  

f i rm ly  tha t ,  espec ia l l y  as  a  pub l i c  en t i t y,  we 

had to  adhere  to  our  p rocu rement  f rameworks .  

We needed to  be  ab le  to  demonst ra te  the  

bus iness case fo r  our  expend i tu re .  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 171 of 357 
 

I  fu r ther  asser ted  tha t  th is  was a  mat te r  fo r  

management  to  p rocess and not  the  board . . . ”  

Do you have any knowledge or  comment  about  th is?  

MR GIGABA :    I  have no knowledge o f  th is  meet ing ,  bu t  I  

th ink  i t  was impor tan t  fo r  to  b r ing  the  CEO of  the  a i r l ine  

and i t  was impor tan t  tha t ,  espec ia l l y  when they were  

meet ing  w i th  the  DG o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  and i t  was 

impor tan t  tha t  she out l ined tha t  whatever  dec i s ion  they 

wou ld  need to  take ,  wou ld  have to  be  taken by  

management  and adhere  to  the  procurement  f rameworks .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So ,  what  i s  Mr  Mah langu now do ing  

a t  th is  meet ing?  

MR GIGABA :    I  do  no t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see .   And  then you see a t  the  foo t  

o f  page 829,  the  las t  two l ines :  

“We used the  med ia  tha t  had proven records o f  

consumpt ion  by  the  ta rge ted segments .  

I t  was not  in  ou r  company ’s  remi t  to  fund the 

growth  o f  a  med ia  en t i t y  th rough the  SAA 

budget .  20 

The board  d id  no t  see the  need to  d iscuss th is  

fu r the r. . . ”  

Any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Ja ,  on  paragraph 58? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    58 ,  r igh t  a t  the  bo t tom o f  page 829.  
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MR GIGABA :    Oh,  yes .   No ,  she is  s ta t ing  the i r  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The i r  pos i t ion .  

MR GIGABA :    . . . the i r  pos i t ion ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   A l r igh t .   And then jus t  one 

o ther  th ing  on  th i s  a f f idav i t .   A t  parag raph 72,  i t  says :  

“E igh t  o f  twe lve  board  d i rec tors  res igned f rom 

the  board  on  27 September  2012 a f te r  a  major  

de ter io ra t ion  in  our  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Min is te r  

Ma lus i  G igaba.  10 

By then,  var ious members  o f  the  board  had a t  

d i f fe ren t  t imes approach in  ind ica t ing  the i r  

des i re  to  res ign  due to  the  de te r io ra t ion  o f  the  

re la t ionsh ip . . . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?    

MR GIGABA :    I t  was the i r  op in ion  tha t  the  re la t ionsh ip  had 

deter io ra ted ,  and  I  th ink  i t  became –  they j us t i f ied  i t  by  

argu ing  tha t  I  had on severa l  occas ions ca l led  them 

unpat r io t i c  wh ich  cannot  be  t rue .   I  had u tmost  respect  fo r  

boards and wou ld  no t  have gone to  ca l l  then unpat r io t i c .   I f  20 

I  was repor ted  as  such,  I  th ink  she does ind i ca te  tha t  I  

assu red her  tha t  I  had been misrep resented.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And in  a  s im i la r  va in .   In  pa rag raph 

74 a t  page 534 in  the  th i rd  l ine  on  the  r igh t -hand s ide :  

“E igh t  o f  twe lve  members  dec ided  to  res ign  in  
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p ro tes t  to  the  host i l i t y  f rom the  Min is te r  and 

h is  team. . . ”  

You want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    I t  i s  the i r  op in ion ,  aga in ,  Cha i rpe rson.   

There  was no host i l i t y  on  my  par t .   As  Mr  Caro lus  

cont inues to  ind i ca te ,  I  cont inued  to  ta lk  to  engage he r  on  

var ious aspects  t ha t  re la ted  to  the  boards.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So ,  what  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    There  was no host i l i t y  on  my par t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So ,  what  caused two th i rds  o f  the 10 

board  to  res ign ,  on  your  unders tand ing?  

MR GIGABA :    I  had  gone  to  Cab ine t  to  request  ro ta t ion  fo r  

the  board .   There  were  two fo r  the  ATM.   There  were  two  

fo r  an  ATM and  they had not  met  the  dead l ine  fo r  the 

submiss ion  o f  f inanc ia l  s ta tements .   We were  in  d iscuss ion  

on  recap i ta l i sa t ion  f ramework  w i th  Nat iona l  Treasury  wh ich  

recap i ta l i sa t ion  f ramework  was f ina l i sed jus t  a  few days  

dur ing  the  t ime.    

 Unfo r tunate ly,  a  day a f te r  they –  I  th ink  a  day or  

two a f te r  they had res igned.   Now,  when I  had gone to  20 

request  the i r  res ignat ion ,  I  then – un for tunate ly,  we were  

conf ron ted w i th  a  leak.   I  th ink  there  were  two leakages 

dur ing  the  t ime wh ich  compel led  me to  f l y  back f rom Cape  

Town to  Johannesburg  to  come and dea l  w i th  those issues.    

 And tha t  was the  –  and the  SAA Board  was one o f  
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the  boards wh ich  had exper ienced such leakages.   I  cannot  

reca l l  now who,  in  te rms o f  the  ro ta t ion  o f  the  board ,  was  

be ing  recommended fo r  re ten t ion  or  fo r  re t i rement  bu t  we 

were  sudden ly  conf ron ted in  the  ear l y  morn ing  w i th  the  

res ignat ion  o f  twe lve  board  members  subsequent  to  the 

leak and we had  to  ac t  immedia te ly  to  t r y  and announce 

the  appo in tment  o f  the  new board .    

 I  th ink  we had  to  do  tha t  p r io r  the  ATM,  the  

schedu led  ATM,  because o f  the  unexpected,  sudden  

res ignat ion  o f  an  ex is t ing  board .   In  my op in ion ,  I  th ink  10 

they res igned because o f  the  announcement  –  o f  the  leak 

tha t  happened.   I t  cou ld  ve ry  we l l  be  tha t  they conf i rmed(?)  

tha t  the  leak as  par t  o f  what  they  v iewed as  host i l i t y,  bu t  I  

want  to  assure  the  Cha i rperson,  there  was no host i l i t y  

towards tha t  board  on  my par t .    

 And the  reason why I  came down to  t ry  and ta lk  to  

them was to  apo log ise  fo r  the  leak  and to  in fo rm them tha t  

we wou ld  t ry  to  invest iga te  where  i t  had emanated f rom.   

But  as  we a l l  know,  leaks happen,  and i t  i s  ve ry  d i f f i cu l t  to  

invest iga te  where  they emanate  f rom because the  person  20 

who leaks in fo rmat ion  cou ld  have come f rom any ang le .    

 And unfor tunate ly,  a t  the  t ime we were  dea l ing  w i th  

a  number  o f  o ther  leaks bu t  no t  on ly  re levant  –  no t  on ly  

per ta in ing  to  my por t fo l io  bu t  to  o ther  por t fo l ios  as  we l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   We l l ,  Ms Caro lus  dea ls  w i th  
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tha t  in  her  a f f idav i t ,  a  Bus iness Day ar t i c le  a t  page 73,  e t  

ce te ra ,  bu t  le t  me then take  you to  her  conc lus ion ,  i f  I  

may?  That  you w i l l  f ind  a t  parag raph 79 a t  page 827.   She 

says:  

“ In  h inds igh t  and  g iven the  ev idence tha t  has 

emerged in  the  Commiss ion ,  i t  i s  c lear  tha t  the 

board  and my cha i rpersonsh ip  was p laced 

under  p ressure  to  see to  the  demand to  

abandon the  Mumbai  rou te  in  o rder  to  favour  

Je t  A i rways.  10 

I t  i s  a lso  c lear  now tha t  there  was an a t tempt  

to  favour  the  New Age w i th  SAA’s  bus iness.  

Both  Min is te r  G igaba and Mr  Mah langu exer ted  

pressure  on  the  board  and management  in  th is  

regard .  

I  have no doubt  tha t  the  board  a t  tha t  t ime was 

seen as  an  obstac le  to  these  a t tempts  to  

in f luence i t s  dec i s ions.  

Indeed,  the  mass res ignat ion  on  

27 September  2012 fee l s  more  l i ke  a  20 

const ruc t i ve  d i sm issa l  in  o rder  to  pave the  way 

fo r  a  more  compl ian t  board . . . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t  in  conc lus ion?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes,  thank you very  much.   Yes,  i t  is  qu i te  

an  un for tunate  conc lus ion  by  Ms  Caro lus  tha t  she draws  
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here  because th roughout  her  a f f idav i t  she po in ts  to  

p ressure  be ing  app l ied  by  me to  any e f fec t .   She does not  

say  tha t  I  have app l ied  pressure  in  favour  o f  New Age.   

She does not  say  I  app l ied  pressure  in  favour  o f  

abandon ing  the  Mumbai  rou te ,  bu t  she ar r i ves  a t  th is  

conc lus ion  pure ly  based on hearsay innuendo and her  own  

assumpt ions a t  the  t ime.    

 She says in  her  submiss ion  tha t  when she had  

ra ised issues w i th  me,  I  had a t tended to  those  issues  

prompt ly.   She does not  say  tha t  I  had fa i led  to  meet  w i th  10 

her  when she requested to  meet  w i th  me and so  I  do  no t  

unders tand how and where  she then ar r i ves  a t  th is  

conc lus ion  tha t  we had t r ied  to  exe r t  p ressure  on  the  board  

and  management  in  favour  o f  the  New Age and abandon ing  

the  Mumbai  rou te .   

 I t  i s  impor tan t  to  no te  tha t  the  Mumbai  rou te  was 

eventua l l y  abandoned in  2015,  tha t  by  Ms Mzimela ’s  

submiss ion ,  I  had not  d iscussed th is  a t  a l l  w i th  them s ince 

the  meet ing  o f  Apr i l   2011.    

 That  I  had not  d iscussed w i th  them the  issue o f  the  20 

New Age and the  issue tha t  they –  tha t  she presents  in  her  

submiss ion  w i th  regard  to  the  Board  AGM which  cou ld  no t  

take  p lace because they had fa i led  to  comply  w i th  the  

submiss ion  da te  o f  the  f inanc ia l s  because the  aud i to rs  

were  concerned about  the  –  growing concern  s ta tus  o f  SAA 
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i s  an  issue wh ich  is  in  the  regu la t ions and there  was 

noth ing  tha t  cou ld  be  done about  tha t .    

 The mere  fac t  tha t  the  recap i ta l i sa t ion  was  

prov ided to  them,  was prov ided to  the  a i r l ine  a f te r  t hey had 

res igned,  i t  was a  mere  co inc idence.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sure .  

MR GIGABA :    Because tha t  wou ld  have happened 

regard less  o f  the  fac t  tha t  they had res igned or  no t .   That  

recap i ta l i sa t ion  wou ld  have been prov ided wh ich  wou ld  

have paved the  way fo r  the  grow ing concern  s ta tus  to  be  10 

addressed and the  AGM to  beg in  to  be  organ ised as  

schedu led .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  want  to  jus t  take  you to  pa rag raph 

68,  p lease.   Jus t  to  go  back.   In  the  m idd le  o f  68 ,  i t  says  

tha t :  

“The AGM was postponed on a  number  o f  

t imes a t  the  Min is te r ’s  behest . . . ”  

Do you accept  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    No,  i t  i s  a  l ie .   I t  is  no t  t rue .   The Min is te r  

does not  ins t ruc t  the  postponement  o f  the  ATM.   The ATM 20 

is  o rgan ised as  schedu led .   I t  never  ge ts  postponed a t  the  

behest  o f  the  M in is te r  bu t  the  depar tment  wh ich  shou ld  

have been engag ing  w i th  Nat iona l  –  w i th  SAA wou ld  have 

cons idered a l l  the  issues p laced before  them,  inc lud ing  the  

fac t  tha t  SAA had not  compl ied  w i th  the  submiss ion  
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schedu le  fo r  the  annua l  f inanc ia l  s ta tements  because the  

aud i to rs  were  concerned about  the  growing concern  s ta tus .    

 Safe  to  say,  they were  s t i l l  awa i t ing  

recap i ta l i sa t ion  as  requested f rom Nat iona l  Treasury.   So,  

i t  was not  me tha t  dec ided tha t  no ,  no ,  no  postponed the  

ATM,  postpone the  ATM.   We cou ld  no t  ho ld  an  AGM when  

the  growing concern  s ta tus  was no t  f ina l i sed.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  as  you say tha t  you wou ld  no t  

ins t ruc t  an  AGM to  be  postponed.   I t  occurs  to  my mind  

tha t  I  have heard  ev idence in  the  contex t  o f  the  Eskom 10 

Work  s t ream by  Mr  Tsots i  who was Cha i rpe rson  o f  the 

Eskom Board  a t  a  cer ta in  s tage ,  as  we l l  as ,  by  I  th ink  

somebody who was Deputy  DG o f  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises  in  ea r ly  2015 o r  was ac t ing  DG a t  the  t ime.    

 I  do  no t  know i f  i t  was Ms Makoko(? )  who –  a l so  

whom sa id  they  rece ived ca l l s  f rom the  then P res ident  

Zuma,  g iv ing  ins t ruc t ions tha t  a  meet ing  o f  the  Board  o f  

Eskom tha t  was schedu les  fo r  the  26 t h  o f  February  2015  

shou ld  be  postponed.   So,  I  am jus t  say ing .   As  you say,  

you wou ld  no t  g i ve  tha t  ins t ruc t ion .   I  jus t  remember  tha t  20 

there  is  th i s  ev idence tha t  has been heard  in  a  d i f fe ren t  

contex t .   You might  –  you do not  have to  say any th ing .   I  

jus t  ment ion  i t .    

 I t  c rossed my mind tha t  there  was ev idence tha t  

ind ica ted  tha t  the  Pres ident  ca l led  to  say tha t  board  
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meet ing  must  be  postponed.   Of  course ,  he  has no t  sa id  

anyth ing  whether  tha t  i s  t rue  or  no t ,  bu t  there  are  two  

w i tnesses who have sa id  he  phoned.    

 So.   Ja .   I  am not  say ing  tha t  I  am doubt ing  your  

ev idence.   I  am jus t  say ing  there  is  tha t  ev idence  tha t  I  

have heard .  

MR GIGABA :    And in  th i s  ins tance,  Cha i rperson,  I  wou ld  

no t  know whethe r  i t  was a  board  ATM,  or  i t  was a  board  

meet ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  10 

MR GIGABA :    Board  meet ing ,  you can postpone.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    And,  you know,  my unders tand ing  up unt i l  

now and I  w i l l  remain  w i th  what  I  unders tand,  was tha t  

even a  board  AGM,  I  wou ld  no t  ca l l  fo r  i t s  postponement .   

There  wou ld  be  ins tances where  a  board  requests  me to 

a t tend a  meet ing  because there  are  i ssues they want  to  

ra ise  w i th  me.   There  are  ins tances when I  wou ld  request  

to  a t tend a  schedu les  board  meet ing  or  convene a  spec ia l  

board  meet ing ,  in  wh ich  case,  as  I  have exp la ined  ear l ie r,  20 

a  spec ia l  board  meet ing  wou ld  be  convened,  an  agenda 

c i rcu la ted ,  bu t  an  AGM does not  ge t  postponed o r  

reschedu les  by  the  Min is te r  because i t  i s  – there  are  lega l  

requ i rements  fo r  an  AGM to  t ake  p lace du r ing  the  t ime  

when i t  i s  schedu les .    
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 The on ly  t ime i t  does not  take  p lace by  tha t  t ime is  

when there  are  f inanc ia l  i ssues concerned or  o ther  mat te rs  

o f  such a  na tu re  tha t  the  depar tment  wou ld  say  on  the  

bas is  –  on  th is  bas is ,  we suggest  tha t  the  AGM be  

postponed.   I  th ink  I  have made an example  o f  SAA tha t  

th is  was not  the  f i rs t  o r  the  las t  t ime tha t  SAA’s  AGM was  

reschedu led .   There  was anothe r  ins tance,  I  th ink  be tween  

2014 and 2015 –  I  cannot  remember  –  when AGM too c lose  

to  two years  to  ac tua l l y  take  p lace  because o f  the  f i nanc ia l  

pos i t ion  o f  the  a i r l ine .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you  sa id  a  board  meet ing  you can  

postpone.   Do you mean a  m in is te r  can postpone a  board  

meet ing?  

MR GIGABA :    No,  no .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.    

MR GIGABA :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You d id  no t  mean to  say tha t  because 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    No,  I  d id  no t  mean to  say the  Min is te r  can.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  20 

MR GIGABA :    As  I  sa id ,  Cha i rperson . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    That  i s  why I  immed ia te ly  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    . . . ind ica ted  tha t  you can be  inv i ted  
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. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    . . . to  a  board  meet ing .   You can  ca l l  a  

spec ia l  board  meet ing ,  o r  you can request  to  a t tend a  

schedu led  board  meet ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  yes .  

MR GIGABA :    Bu t  you yourse l f  cannot  postpone 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  you can make a  request  i f  i t  was a  

meet ing  you were  go ing  to  a t tend,  I  guess.  10 

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  say:   Can we postpone i t  because o f  

A ,  B ,  C,  D.   I f  you  were  go ing  to  a t tend.  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  you canno t  jus t  phone and  say a  

board  meet ing  tha t  you were  no t  go ing  to  a t tend to  say i t  

must  be  postponed.  

MR GIGABA :    No . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    As  fa r  as  you know.  

MR GIGABA :    As  fa r  as  I  know,  Cha i rperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   Jus t  to  expand upon 

tha t  a  l i t t le .   A t  paragraph 69 a t  page 832.   I t  says :    
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“By  then there  were  growing concerns by  a  

number  o f  members  o f  the  board  about  what  

they fe l t  was  out r igh t  host i l i t y  and/or  

care lessness f rom our  shareho lder  because  

they fe l t  he  was  dragg ing  h i s  fee t  w i th  the  

processes to  secure  the  g row ing concern  

s ta tus  fo r  SAA. . . ”  

You want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  the  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  does not  s i t  w i th  a s tash o f  funds tha t  they can  10 

ava i l  to  any SOE on the  bas is  o f  i t  e i ther  fa i l ing  to  comply  

w i th  g rowing concern  s ta tus  o r  requ i r ing  recap i ta l i sa t ion .   

The dec is ion  on  recap i ta l i sa t ion  and ba i l ing  ou t  an  en t i t y  

res t s  so le l y  w i th  Nat iona l  Treasury  wh ich  shou ld  look a t  

how and when i t  wou ld  have to  f ind  funds to  address such 

issues.    

 The Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  Ente rpr i ses  does not  s i t  in  

the i r  o f f i ce  w i th  such funds and so  the  s ta tement  tha t  the  

Min is te r  was d ragg ing ,  o r  the  shareho lder  was d ragg ing  

the i r  fee t  w i th  regard  to  address ing  the  growing concern  20 

s ta tus  o f  SAA is  d is ingenuous and  the  fo rmer  Cha i rperson  

o f  SAA knows i t  very  we l l  as  someone who is  a lso  qu i te  

exper ienced in  se rv ing  on  boards.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  cou ld  I  ask  you then to  have a 

look a t  paragraph  71 a t  page 833? 
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MR GIGABA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“Upon requ i r ing  f rom myse l f  on  25  September,  

the  Min i s te r  exp ressed h is  u t te r  d ismay tha t  

h is  depar tment  o f f i c ia ls  has no t  despatched  

the  guarantee le t te r  to  SAA yet .  

He assured me tha t  i t  was approved by  

Nat iona l  Treasury  and tha t  he  wou ld  ensure  i t  

reached us  by  the  next  day.  

I t  d id  no t  a r r i ve  on  26 September  2012. . . ”  10 

Would  you l i ke  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  my assurance tha t  the  le t te r  

wou ld  reach them by the  next  day was depended on a  

number  o f  fac tors .   One o f  those is  the  despatch .   The 

Min is te r  –  Cha i rperson,  we must  no t  c rea te  th i s  sense tha t  

m in is te rs  a re  peop le  who wr i te  le t te rs ,  convene meet ings,  

despatch  le t te rs ,  s i t  w i th  s tashes  o f  money tha t  they can 

despatch  to  SOE ’s .   You have o f f i c ia ls  tha t  you ta lk  to .   

And the  le t te r  to  SAA wou ld  have to  be  despatched  by  the  

depar tment ,  no t  by  the  m in is te r  o r  the  m in is te r ’ s  o f f ice .   Ms 20 

Caro lus  knows th i s ,  she knows i t  very  we l l  bu t  she chooses  

to  appor t ion  the  b lame to  the  m in is te r  because i t  i s  

conven ien t  and su i tab le  fo r  he r  to  do  so  in  th i s  regard  bu t  

in  rea l i t y ,  the  procedure  tha t  i s  fo l lowed –  I  w i l l  ta lk  to  the 

DG and say DG,  the  le t te r  to  SAA,  why is  i t  de layed?  Can 



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 184 of 357 
 

you  d ispatch  i t  because I  wou ld  have rece ived the  le t te r  

f rom Nat iona l  Treasury  assur ing  us  tha t  the  recap 

f ramework ,  recap i ta l i za t ion  f ramework  is  approved and the  

f igure  a t tendant  thereof  and so  the  DG wou ld  have to  

in i t ia te  the  processes f rom the  depar tment  to  ensure  tha t  

the  le t te r  a r r i ved a t  them.    

Th is  le t te r  wou ld  have been rece ived by  the  board  

o f  SAA even i f  they  had not  res igned.   The fac t  t ha t  they 

chose to  res ign  pr io r  to  them rece iv ing  the  le t te r  i s  the i r  

own fau l t ,  i s  the i r  own mis take,  i t  has  no th ing  to  do  w i th  10 

the  fac t  tha t  the  le t te r  in  ac tua l  fac t  was u l t imate l y  

rece ived and tha t  i s  why the  AGM of  SAA eventua l l y  took  

p lace on the  da te  tha t  i t  d id  even  though i t  was now a f te r  

the  da te  tha t  had been schedu led  fo r  i t  to  take  p lace .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  G igaba ,  perhaps I  can jus t  ge t  

your  c r i sp  answer .   71 :  

“Upon enqu i ry  f rom myse l f  on  25  September  the  

m in is te r  expressed h is  u t te r  d ismay tha t  h is  

depar tment  o f f ic ia ls  had not  d ispatched the  

guarantee le t te r  to  SAA yet .   D id  you express such  20 

d ismay?”  

MR GIGABA :   P robab ly  I  wou ld  have.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   

“He assured me tha t  i t  was approved by  Nat iona l  

Treasury  and tha t  he  wou ld  ensure  i t  reached us  by  
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the  next  day. ”  

D id  you g i ve  those assurances?  

MR GIGABA :   The assurance was dependent  upon the  

depar tment  ac t ing  on  the  d i spatch  o f  the  le t te r .   

Cha i rperson,  I  w ish  to  repeat .   The min is te rs  do  no t  

d ispatch  le t te rs ,  they are  no t  –  they are  on  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  bu t  remember  Mr  Myburgh is  s imp ly 

ask ing  you whether  you gave tha t  assu rance.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Whether  i t  was compl ied  w i th  o r  10 

imp lemented may  be another  mat te r .  

MR GIGABA :   The cr i sp  answer  i s  tha t  yes ,  the  assurance 

probab ly  was g i ven,  the  events  are  o f  2011 and I  d id  no t  

keep reco rds o f  them and however ,  i t  was dependent  upon  

cer ta in  th ings happen ing  because ,  as  the  m in is te r ,  I  was 

not  my own d i spa tch  fac i l i ta to r .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then the  las t  sentence,  I  take  i t  

you  agree w i th :  

“ I t  d id  no t  a r r i ve  on  26 September  2012. ”  

MR GIGABA :   I t  p robab ly  d id  no t  –  I  wou ld  no t  be  sure  o f  20 

tha t ,  I  am sure  we wou ld  have to  l ook  a t  the  records  wh ich  

are  ava i lab le  bo th  a t  DPE and a t  SAA.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then i f  we go to  page 834 and 

paragraph 74,  the  four th  l ine ,  I  have a l ready read to  you:  

“E igh t  o f  twe lve  members  dec ided to  res ign  i n  
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p ro tes t  to  the  host i l i t y  f rom the  min is te r  and h i s  

team.   D id  no t  want  to  face  the  p rospect  o f  be ing  

de l inquent  d i rec tors . ”  

Th is ,  says Ms Caro lus ,  was re in fo rced when the  l e t te r  o f  

guarantee was subsequent ly  sent  to  SAA by the  c lose  o f  

bus iness the  next  day.  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  th is  was s imp ly  co inc identa l .   

Even i f  they  had not  res igned on the  25 t h  the  le t te r  wou ld  

have ar r i ved on  the  26 t h .   The  fac t  tha t  they chose to 

res ign  on  the  26 t h  wou ld  no t  have prevented the  le t te r  10 

ar r i v i ng  on  the  26 t h  and so  the  fac t   -  i t s  a r r i va l  on  the  26 t h  

had noth ing  to  do  w i th  the i r  res ignat ion ,  i t  means tha t  the 

d ispatch  bus iness was such tha t  i t  wou ld  ar r i ve  on  the  26 t h  

because Ms Caro lus  herse l f  says  tha t  they res igned  on the  

27 t h  and the  le t te r  a r r i ved on the  28 t h ,  the  fo l low ing day,  

wh ich  –  and she had spoken to  me on the  26 t h .   Now,  you  

know,  I  wou ld  rea l l y  unders tand i f  you are  ta lk ing  about  

weeks tha t  passed or  months  bu t  you are  ta lk ing  about  a  

gap o f  th ree  days,  jus t  th ree  days.   You ta lk  on  the  25 t h  

and you say the  le t te r  wou ld  ar r i ve  the  fo l low ing day.   The  20 

board  res igns on  the  27 t h ,  the  le t te r  a r r i ves  on  the  28 t h .   

Jus t  th ree  days,  on ly  th ree .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and then jus t  be fore  we f in ish  

o f f  comple te l y  on  the  quest ion  o f  the  Mumbai  rou te  cou ld  I  

ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  bund le  8 ,  back to  bund le  8  and to  
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go  to  page 58.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And p lease wou ld  you have a  look a t  

parag raph 24:  

“ I  had a lso  ind ica ted  tha t  there  was no anomaly  in  

me meet ing  w i th  Je t  A i rways.   In  th is  regard  the  

Ar t i c les  o f  Assoc ia t ion  app l ied  dur ing  my tenure . ”  

Paragraph  22.4 .7 ,  th is  o f  the  Ar t i c les  o f  Assoc ia t ion  s ta tes  

tha t :  

“SAA wou ld  no t  w i thout  the  consent  o f  the  m in is te r  10 

ex i t  f rom routes  and a i rpor ts  save fo r  ins tances 

where  the  use o f  d ive rs ion  a i rpo r ts  i s  requ i red .   In  

o rder  fo r  me to  g ive  consent  to  the  te rm inat ion  o f  

the  Mumbai  rou te ,  I  needed to  sa t is fy  myse l f  tha t  

such wou ld  be  in  the  in te res t  o f  SAA. ”  

Do you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then i f  you go to  page 72,  you  

w i l l  f ind  the  Ar t i c les  o f  Assoc ia t ion  and tha t  par t i cu la r  

parag raph.   Sor ry ,  i t  i s  page 93.   You w i l l  see  the re  a t  93 ,  20 

22 .4 :  

“Sub jec t  to  the  s ign i f i cance  and mate r ia l i t y  

f ramework  app l i cab le  f rom t ime to  t ime the  company  

sha l l  no t  w i thout  p r io r  approva l  o f  the  Min is te r . . ”  

And then sub 2 :  
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“…commence or  ex i t  f rom routes . ”  

Do you see tha t ,  Mr  G igaba?  

MR GIGABA :   I  can  see 22.4  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    22 .4 :  

“…commence or  ex i t  f rom routes  and a i rpor t s  save 

fo r  ins tances where  the  use o f  d ivers ion  a i rpor ts  i s  

requ i red . ”  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  course  SAA d id  no t  want  to  ex i t  

the  Mumbai  rou te ,  Je t  A i rways wanted to  ex i t  the  Mumbai  10 

rou te .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  cou ld  I  then take  you  p lease  

back?  

MR GIGABA :   No,  bu t  i t  i s  impor tan t ,  Cha i rperson,  

remember  SAA is  no t  an  en t i t y  wh ich  ex is ted  on ly  in  2010 

or  2011.   Remember  tha t  the  Act ing  CE,  Mr  Smythe,  i s  

a l leged to  have  agreed to  the  ex i t  on  the  rou te  wh ich  

app l i ca t ion  had not  been submi t ted  to  m in is te rs  and Mr  

Daga says tha t  the  board  had not  agreed w i th  tha t  and so  20 

the  new CEO of  SAA came in  and  s ta ted  c lear l y  tha t  they 

were  no t  go ing  to  ex i t  the  rou te  and there fore ,  s i t t ing  

be fore  me or  serv ing  be fo re  me was no app l i ca t ion  fo r  SAA 

to  ex i t  the  rou te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r i gh t ,  cou ld  I  ask  you then p lease 
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to  go  back to  f i le  11  and le t  us  dea l  fu r ther  w i th  th is  New 

Age issue.   Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  tab  number  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  tha t  a  d i f fe ren t  a  bund le ,  the  prev ious  

one?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  you s t i l l  have 8  and 11 but  i t  

i s  d i f fe ren t ,  i t  i s  go ing  to  11 ,  tha t  i s  bund le  8  you have in  

f ron t  o f  you,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  tha t  i s  where  you are  go ing  

to .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  am go ing  to  11 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Go ing  to  11 .   Okay,  I  had sent  i t  away.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  you can –  I  am sor ry .   So tab 

12  p lease?  And i f  you cou ld  tu rn  to  page 781?  The 

s ta tement  by  Mr  Maf ika  Mkwanaz i .  

MR GIGABA :   So  on page what?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    781.  

MR GIGABA :   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Tab 12.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He says:  

“Meet ing  the  Guptas .   A f te r  I  was appo in ted  as  

Cha i rman…”  

Now tha t  wou ld  have been Cha i rman o f  Transnet .  
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“…in  December  2012,  I  rece ived  a  ca l l  in  January  

2011 …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    D id  you say 781? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    781.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bund le  11  under  the  head ing ,  

Cha i rperson,  Mee t ing  the  Guptas .  

“A f te r  I  was appo in ted  as  Cha i rman  n  December . . ”  

A re  you there ,  Mr  G igaba?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  yes ,  I  am there ,  I  am there .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:     

“…in  December  2010.   I  rece ived a  ca l l  in  January  

2011 f rom Mr  Tony Gupta  and he  in fo rmed me tha t  

he  go t  my contac t  de ta i l s  f rom Min is te r  G igaba and 

requested me to  meet . ”  

What  do  you have to  say to  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   I  th ink  I  responded  to  th is  in  my a f f idav i t  and 

sa id  I  d id  no  such .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then –  sor ry ,  you sa id  t ha t  you 

d id  no t  p rov ide  h im? 20 

MR GIGABA :   No,  I  d id  no t  p rov ide  Mr  Tony Gup ta  w i th  

de ta i l s  o f  Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  bu t  you knew Mr  Mkwanaz i ’ s  

cont rac t  de ta i l s  p resumably?  

MR GIGABA :   Ja ,  bu t  tha t  does not  mean tha t  I  p rov ided to  
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everyone.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   A l r igh t  and have you any idea  

then where  Mr  Tony Gupta  go t  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’ s  contac t  

de ta i l s  f rom? 

MR GIGABA :   They had ex tens ive  contac ts  and  

connect ions,  Mr  Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  know where  he  wou ld 

have got  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’ s  contac t  de ta i l s  and cer ta in ly  one 

o f  the  th ings tha t ,  you know,  I  had sa id  repeated ly  

concerned me was about  th is  name dropp ing .   I  was not  

aware  tha t  th is  meet ing  had taken p lace and  had Mr  10 

Mkwanaz i  –  I  sa id  th is  in  my a f f idav i t  tha t  had Mr  Mkwanaz i  

ca l led  me immedia te ly  to  say tha t  th is  has happened,  I  go t  

th is  ca l l ,  th is  person says they go t  my number  f rom you,  I  

honest ly  wou ld  have sa id  to  h im p lease do not  go  to  such a  

meet ing  and I  wou ld  have c la r i f ied  i t  to  h im tha t  I  had not  

g iven Mr  Gupta  h i s  number .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh,  remind me,  i s  the  pos i t ion  

tha t  Mr  Kona made a  s im i la r  a l legat ion  namely  tha t  he  was 

phoned by Tony Gupta  fo r  a  mee t ing  and Mr  Tony Gupta  

sa id  he  got  h i s  number  f rom Mr  G igaba? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  am not  su re  o f fhand,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No.   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Maybe I  am 

confus ing  –  maybe i t  i s  on ly  one ins tance,  th is  one.  

MR GIGABA :   To  my knowledge i t  is  on l y  Mr  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    On ly  th is  one.   Oh,  okay,  a l r i gh t .   Yes,  
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con t inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rperson,  I  unders tand tha t  Mr  

So lomon has been exper ienc ing  d i f f i cu l t ies  w i th  the  

in te rnet  connect ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We have rece ived,  i f  I  unders tand i t  

cor rec t l y ,  my co l leagues phoned now,  goes in to  a  b lank  

sc reen.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  w i l l  read to  you what  the  message 10 

says.   So Mr  So lomon’s  jun io r  has sent  a  message wh ich  

says:  

“The Cha i r  shou ld  p lease be in fo rmed…” 

Says:  

“…i f  the  connect ion  is  no t  work ing .   Our  c l ien t  i s  

unrep resented when we are  ab le  to  hear  and  

in te rac t  w i th  the  Commiss ion . ”  

I  do  no t  know i f  Mr  So lomon… 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  So lomon,  a re  you the re?  The screen 

shows IT,  so  I  guess there  must  be  some prob lem.  20 

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  can you hear  me? 

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Yes,  Cha i r ,  and there  have been  

in te rmi t ten t  in te r rup t ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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ADV SOLOMON SC :    A l l  we are  request ing  is  when tha t  

happens tha t  the  Cha i r  i s  adv i sed o f  those in te r rup t ions so  

tha t  i f  needs be  we jus t  ad journ  t i l l  the  connect ion  is  

res tored but  a t  the  moment  we can hear ,  so  i t  i s  jus t  

ra is ing  someth ing  tha t  had occur red  a  few t imes in  the 

past .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  tha t  i f  f ine ,  o f  course ,  you 

know,  th is  techno logy i s  good  most  o f  the  t ime but  

somet imes i t  le ts  us  down.  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    So  w i th  the  in te r rup t ions I  th ink  tha t  

when we next  meet  you shou ld  t ry  your  best  to  be  here  in  

person so  tha t  i t  does not  in te r fe re  too  much.   When 

every th ing  goes smooth ly ,  i t  i s  f ine ,  there  is  no  prob lem,  i t  

i s  jus t  tha t  somet imes these in te r rup t ions can end up  

caus ing  qu i te  some de lays .   So le t  us  cont inue today but  I  

know tha t  you s t i l l  need to  c ross-examine,  I  th ink ,  Ms  

Mngoma,  and I  do  no t  know whether  w i th  regard  to  Ms 

Mzimela .   I  th ink  your  las t  pos i t ion  was tha t  p robab ly  you  

wou ld  want  to  cross-examine her .   I  th ink  tha t  i f  a t  a l l  20 

poss ib le  maybe you cou ld  make an e f fo r t  to  be  here  in  

person so  tha t  we  avo id  the  r i sk .  

ADV SOLOMON SC :     Cer ta in l y ,  Cha i r ,  we w i l l  bear  tha t  in  

m ind but  we are  prepared to  l i ve  w i th  the  modera te  

in te r rup t ions.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes ,  i t  i s  jus t  tha t  when they  lead to  

de lays  tha t  i s  the  on ly  p rob lem.  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Sure .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t ,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you,  thank you.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  what  you are  

suggest ing  is  tha t  Mr  Tony Gupta  was e f fec t i ve ly  

namedropp ing  he re ,  i s  tha t  what  you are  say ing?  

MR GIGABA :   I  th ink  he re  he  was namedropp ing ,  Cha i r ,  10 

because I  had not  p rov ided h im Mr  Mkwanaz i ’ s  cont rac t  

de ta i l s ,  ne i ther  d id  I  know about  th is  meet ing .    

CHAIRPERSON :    And I  know we have touched on th is  

po in t  and I  seek  to  do  no th ing  more  than jus t  d raw some 

connect ion  w i th  i t .   To  the  ex ten t  tha t  he  may have been 

namedropp ing  he re ,  tha t  m ight  suppor t  the  propos i t ion  tha t  

fo r  h im the  presence o f  you r  adv iser  in  the  meet ings tha t  

he  was hav ing  w i th  the  CEOs might  have served a  s im i la r  

purpose.   When he name drops,  when he d rops your  name,  

I  go t  the  number  f rom the  Min is te r ,  your  number  f rom the  20 

Min is te r ,  i t  i s  l i ke  send ing  the  message tha t  one,  the  

Min is te r  and I  a re  c lose  or  two,  the  Min i s te r  ac tua l l y  

wanted us  to  ta l k ,  wanted us  to  meet ,  wanted me to  ta lk  to  

you,  you know?  Now when he b r ings the  Min is te r ’ s  adv i ser  

to  a  meet ing ,  i t  may be another  way o f  say ing ,  you know,  
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th is  meet ing  has go t  the  b less ing  o f  the  Min i s te r  and i f  he  

says cer ta in  th ings there ,  you  know,  and maybe the  

Min is te r ’ s  adv i se r  does not  ob jec t ,  i t  m igh t  c rea te  the  

impress ion  tha t ,  you know,  th is  person or  the  Min i s te r  has 

no  ob jec t ion .   But  we have ta lked  about  i t ,  I  am jus t ,  you 

know,  say ing  there  may be some connect ion  w i th  th is  

namedropp ing ,  the  a t t i tude and  want ing  the  M in is te r ’s  

adv iser  to  be  present  a t  meet ing  where  on  the  face  o f  i t ,  

the  Min is te r ’s  adv iser  shou ld  no t  be  there .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes and the  …[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    You might  no t  be  ab le  to  say any th ing ,  I  

am jus t  shar ing  w i th  you what  i s  go ing  on  in  my mind when 

you say th is  was namedropp ing .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank  you.   I  jus t  want  to  take  

you th rough th i s  page,  i t  i s  no t  very  long.    

“ I  ob l iged…”  

Says Mr  Mah langu.  

“…and on ar r i va l  I  handed my keys  over  to  the  va le t  20 

who proceeded to  pa rk  my veh ic le .   There  is  a  

par t i cu la r  manner  in  wh ich  they we lcome you in  the  

house.   You take  o f f  your  shoes,  tu rn  le f t ,  wa lk  a  

long co r r idor  whereupon I  was met  by  Duduzane  

Zuma and gent leman who in t roduced h imse l f  as  
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Tony Gupta .   A t  the  s ta r t  o f  the  meet ing  we 

d iscussed what  each o f  us  were  do ing  in  the  

economy.   Tony  Gupta  proceeded to  in t roduce 

h imse l f  as  a  f r iend o f  the  Zumas,  tha t  they owned  

Sahara  Computers ,  they employ  over  10  000  peop le  

in  the i r  opera t ions.   They shared tha t  I  was look ing  

in to  a  po tent ia l  p roper ty  deve lopment  in  Kwazu lu -

Nata l  tha t  wou ld  cost  above  a  b i l l i on  rand.   

Refe rence is  made to  Mai l  and Guard ian  

newspapers  re la te  to  th is  conversa t ion . ”  10 

And then he says :  

“He then exp la ined tha t  he  is  aware…” 

Now tha t  i s  Mr  Tony Gupta .  

“…that  he  is  aware  tha t  Transne t  has a  market ing 

budget  o f  1  b i l l i on  and tha t  they want  30% to  50% 

of  the  b i l l i on  rand budget  a l loca ted  to  the  New Age  

newspaper.   I  to ld  h im tha t  he  was ta lk ing  to  the  

wrong person as  the  Cha i r  o f  the  board  i s  no t  

invo l ved in  p rocurement  p rocesses.   The 

prac t ica l i t ies  o f  how th is  wou ld  be  ach ieved were  20 

not  exp la ined to  me nor  d id  I  bo ther  to  enqu i re .   I  

adv ised h im to  fo l low the  es tab l i shed Transnet  

p rocu rement  p rocedures.   Duduzane sa id  no th ing  

the  en t i re  t ime. ”  

So th is  i s  someth ing  tha t  Ms Caro lus  has a lso  g iven  
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ev idence about  the  market ing  budget ,  New Age budget .   Do 

you have any comment  on  th is?  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  aga in ,  I  was not  aware  o f  th is  

meet ing  and I  th ink  cons is ten t  w i th  the  response I  have  

prov ided befo re  t ha t  had I  been a le r ted  to  t h is  I  wou ld  have 

ind ica ted  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i  tha t  I  d id  no t  p rov ide  the  de ta i l s ,  

p lease do not  go  to  the  meet ing  and I  d id  no t  even know 

tha t  Transnet  had a  market ing  budget  o f  a  b i l l i on  rand,  so  

th is  was improper  and I  th ink  Mr  Mkwanaz i  was co r rec t  to  

say tha t  they need to  fo l low the  procurement  p rocesses o f  10 

the  depar tment  –  I  mean,  o f  Transnet .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  there  is  someth ing  tha t  –  when one 

reads what  Mr  Mkwanaz i  says Mr  Tony Gupta  sa id  here  on  

the  th i rd  paragraph on page 781,  one is  reminded o f  Mr  

Themba Masugu ’s  ev idence about  h is  meet ing  w i th  Mr  A jay  

Gupta  in  2010,  I  th ink  October  o r  thereabout ,  where  he  

sa id  Mr  A jay  Gup ta  sa id  to  h im I  know tha t  GCIS has got  I  

th ink  600 mi l l ion  budget ,  we wan t  a l l  o f  i t ,  o r  someth ing  

l i ke  tha t .    

So here  i t  i s  no t  a l l  o f  i t  bu t  we want  30% to  50% o f  20 

i t .   That  i s  someth ing  you cannot  say  anyth ing  about  bu t  I  

am jus t  say ing  the  ev idence o f  two  d i f fe ren t  w i tnesses here  

ta lk ing  about  d i f fe ren t  members  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly  mak ing  

s im i la r  demands to  d i f fe ren t  peop le  a t  d i f fe ren t  t imes.   Mr  

Myburgh?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.   And then he  says i n  

the  second las t  paragraph:  

“ I  was contac ted  fo r  a  second meet ing  and I  then  

requested Adv S iyabonga Mahlangu who was the  

spec ia l  adv iser  t o  Min is te r  G igaba to  accompany  

me.   My reason ing  was tha t  I  needed a  w i tness and 

i f  there  was any substance in  the i r  a l legat ions w i th  

regard  to  re la t ions  w i th  member  o f  par l iament  Adv  

Mah langu wou ld  be  in  a  pos i t ion  to  re lay  my  

pos i t ion  on  th i s  s t range a r rangement  w i th  the  10 

min is te r .   Tony re i te ra ted  the  propos i t ion  he  had  

made in  the  i n i t ia l  meet ing  in  the  presence o f  

Duduzane and Adv Mah langu.   I  gave h im the  same 

feedback,  tha t  as  Cha i rman I  was not  invo l ved in  

day- to -day p rocu rement  i ssues a t  Transnet .   I  then  

made i t  c lear  tha t  I  d id  no t  have any in te res t  in  

see ing  them aga in . ”  

Have you got  any  fu r ther  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   Ja , .  Cha i rperson,  as  I  sa id  in  my response  

on pa ragraph 7 .6 ,  page 788 I  was  a lso  no t  aware  tha t  Mr  20 

Mah langu had been inv i ted  to  th is  meet ing  as  a  w i tness 

and i t  i s  my v iew tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  was cor rec t  to  ins is t  

tha t  day- to -day procu rement  p rocesses must  be  fo l lowed 

and i t  was cor rec t  o f  h im to  say he  had no fu r ther  in te res t  

in  see ing  them aga in  because  I  th ink  th is  was jus t  
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improper .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  can you  th ink  o f  any reason why  

Mr  Mah langu wou ld  no t  have in fo rmed you o f  th is  meet ing?  

MR GIGABA :   I  do  no t  exact ly  know,  I  do  no t  exact ly  

remember  why he  wou ld  no t  have in fo rmed me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wou ld  you have expected h im to?  

MR GIGABA :   O f  course  both  o f  them shou ld  have in fo rmed  

me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you know anyth ing  about  the  

Gupta ’s  a t tempt  to  t ry  and secure  the  p lacement  o f  10 

bus iness w i th  the  New Age newspaper?  

MR GIGABA :   I  heard  about  i t ,  I  do  no t  exact ly  reca l l  when 

but  I  heard  tha t  they were  t r y ing  to  ta lk  to  var ious en t i t ies ,  

var ious peop le ,  var ious depar tments  to  subscr ibe  to  the  

New Age b reakfas t ,  so  –  bu t  i t  i s  no t  someth ing  wh ich  was  

brought  to  my a t ten t ion  o r  b rought  to  me to  dea l  w i th .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now th i s  re la tes  to  Transnet ,  I  th ink  

what  I  perhaps omi t ted  to  ask  you .  

MR GIGABA :   No ,  re la ted  to  Transnet ,  Cha i rpe rson,  no .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  bu t  Mr  Mah langu ’s  ev idence,  20 

what  I  was mean ing ,  re la tes  to  Transnet .   I  th ink  I  perhaps 

omi t ted  to  ask  you,  in  re la t ion  to  what  Ms Caro lus  had to  

say about  SAA,  d id  you ever  come to  learn  about  tha t  

meet ing  be tween Caro lus ,  Mz imela ,  the  DG and Mr  

Mah langu?  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 200 of 357 
 

MR GIGABA :   No .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  I  then take  you p lease to  

another  a f f idav i t  and a  re la ted  issue and tha t  i s  a t  d iv ider  

11 ,  Mr  Pre tor ius .  

MR GIGABA :   Wh ich  one is  i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The same f i le .  

MR GIGABA :   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    F i le  11 ,  d iv ider  11 .  

MR GIGABA :   Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  tab  11  r igh t  in  the  f ron t ,  Mr 10 

G igaba and the  a f f idav i t  i t se l f  commences a t  page 7 .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  I  am on i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now,  pe rhaps I  cou ld  –  th is  i s  an  

a f f idav i t  o f   Mr  Pre tor ius .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And he was employed by  Eskom as 

Act ing  Genera l  Manager  o f  S t ra teg ic  Market ing  and  

Brand ing .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  cou ld  take  you perhaps d i rec t l y  20 

to  paragraph 35?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  I  am on i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you say page  or  paragraph 35? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page 16,  paragraph 35.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.   Cont inue?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  says  a t  paragraph 35:  

“ I  cou ld  see no rea l  benef i t  to  Eskom in  the 

bus iness breakfas ts .   I  to ld  Mr  Choeu tha t  in  my  

v iew the  TNA proposa l  was not  cos t -e f fec t i ve  

compared to  o the r  op t ions in  the  market ing  m ix  and  

tha t  we had in  any event  no t  rece ived a  fo rma l  

p roposa l .   Our  v iew was tha t  i t  made no market ing  

sense e i ther  t o  sponsor  the  TNA bus iness 

breakfas ts  o r  to  adver t i se  in  the  TNA newspapers  

par t i cu la r l y  because the  newspaper  d id  no t  have 10 

aud i ted  c i r cu la t i on  f igures ,  the  issue wh ich  I  

address be low.   I  was a lso  o f  the  v iew tha t  the  cost  

was too  much in  compar ison w i th  s im i la r  o f fe r ings. ”  

I f  I  can  then take  you p lease to  paragraph 36.  

“When I  ra ised th is  concerns w i th  Mr  Choeu …”  

Now he was the  D iv i s iona l  Execut ive  Corpora te  A f fa i rs .  

“…he to ld  me tha t  the  ins t ruc t ion  to  conc lude the  cont rac t  

w i th  TNA had come to  h im d i rec t l y  f rom Br ian  Dames,  the  

then Eskom’s ,  and the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  Enterpr ises ,  Mr  

Malus i  G igaba.   Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  20 

MR GIGABA :    I  th ink  Mr  Choeu  a l ready has commented 

and both  Mr  Dames and Mr  Choeu have a l ready commented 

on these.   I t  i s  nonsense.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   Wel l ,  what  i s  your  comment?  

MR GIGABA :    My comment  i s  s im i la r  to  the i rs  tha t  th is  i s  
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no t  t rue .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  37 :  

“ I  a lso  to ld  Mr  Choeu tha t  i t  wou ld  be  necessary  fo r  

the  proposa l  because i t  was a  sponsorsh ip  to  be  

taken to  the  Sponsorsh ip  Commi t tee  fo r  approva l .   

However,  Mr  Choeu to ld  me tha t  the  cont rac t  

needed to  be  conc luded qu ick l y  because Mr  G igaba  

had a l ready been secured fo r  the  f i rs t  bus iness  

breakfas t  on  12  Apr i l .   I t  was there fore  dec ided tha t  

we shou ld  ask  the  Med ia  Shop to  do  the  negot ia t ion  10 

and procu rement  o f  the  med ia . ”  

Got  any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   I  do  no t  know about  the  sponsorsh ip  

processes o f  Eskom.   Mr  Choeu had a l ready sa id  I  th ink  in  

an  a f f idav i t  submi t ted  be fore  th is  Commiss ion ,  tha t  Mr  

Pre tor ius  was not  te l l ing  the  t ru th  in  th is  regard .   I  gave no  

such ins t ruc t ion  and in  the  event  tha t  they sponsored a  

bus iness breakfas t  p rogramme because I  was go ing  to  be  

speak ing  on i t ,  i t  i s  someth ing  tha t  they wou ld  have done  

in te rna l l y  w i thout  in fo rming me.  20 

 I t  i s  impor tan t  to  s ta te  tha t ,  you know,  the  bus iness  

breakfas t  p rogrammes were  b roadcast  l i ve  on  SABC which  

had a  very  la rge  v iewersh ip  and tha t  they were  a t tended by  

bus iness peop le  f rom d i f fe ren t  ang les  and they addressed 

a  number  o f  i ssues,  no t  on ly  pe r ta in ing  to  
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Eskom. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry,  I  beg your  pardon.   DCJ,  I  

have jus t  been g i ven a  message f rom the  techn ica l  peop le  

to  say tha t  the  s igna l  has dropped  and i f  we cou ld  p lease  

have a  f i ve  m inute  break in  o rder  to  see i f  i t  can  be 

res tored.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  i t  i s  rea l l y  g iv ing  us  prob lems.   Then  

we w i l l  ad journ  fo r  seven minutes .   We come back ,  i f  i t  i s  

work ing  and then  in  10  m inutes  i f  i t  i s  no t  work ing  we –  i s  

i t  f ine  now?  Okay,  le t  us  cont inue .   I  th ink  I  must  compla in  10 

more .   I t  comes back i f  I  compla in .   A l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry,  Mr  G igaba,  I  do  no t  know,  I  

have in te r rup ted  your  t ra in  o f  thought .   P lease fee l  f ree  to  

recommence your  answer  i f  you  wou ld  l i ke .  

MR GIGABA :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I  was say ing  tha t  inso far  

as  secur ing  sponsorsh ips  on  the  bas is  tha t  I  was go ing  to  

be  address ing ,  I  was not  aware  o f  in te rna l  p rocesses tha t  

took p lace in  tha t  regard .   Mr  [ ind is t inc t ]  had ind i ca ted  in  

an  a f f idav i t  submi t ted  be fore  the  Commiss ion  tha t  I  had 

g iven no such ins t ruc t ion  and I  want  to  re i te ra te  tha t .  20 

And th i rd ly  t ha t  these bus iness breakfas t  

p rogrammes inso far  as  they were  covered,  because the  

coverage on the  New Age Newspaper  wou ld  on l y  fo l low the  

l i ve  coverage on  SABC which  had and p robab ly  s t i l l  has  

the  w idest  coverage in  te rms o f  v iewersh ip  and were  
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a t tended by  bus iness peop le  f rom d i f fe ren t  ang les .   And so  

they wou ld  go  to  reach –  they wou ld  reach out  to  a  la rge  

spect rum o f  peop le ,  bu t  tha t  tha t  i s  as  fa r  as  I  go t  i nvo lved 

in  pa r t i c ipa t ing  in  some o f  the  programmes,  because then  

the  sponsorsh ip  i ssues had noth ing  to  do  w i th  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   Cou ld  I  then p lease  ask  you 

to  tu rn  to  Bund le  8 .   You can put  away tha t  f i l e ,  

Cha i rperson.   And Bund le  8 ,  can I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  

the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Tsots i  age page  760,  tha t  i s  under  tab  3 .   

A re  you there?  10 

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  s i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  paragraph 4 .1  a t  page 761 he  

says tha t :  

“ I  was appo in ted  to  the  Board  o f  D i rec to rs  o f  Eskom 

Hold ings (P ty)  L td  in  Ju ly  2011.   A t  the  t ime o f  the  

sa id  appo in tment  Mr  Malus i  G igaba  was the  Min i s te r  

o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses . ”  

I  take  i t  you  agree w i th  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  want  to  then take  you p lease to  20 

paragraph 6 .1 .   I t  says  tha t :  

“The ANC had i t s  usua l  fundra is ing  ga la  d inner  on  

the  eve o f  8  January  –  the  eve o f  8  January  a t  ra l l y  

in  Ne lspru i t  in  2014.   Eskom and the  SABC were  

two o f  the  main  sponsors  and so  the  Cha i rpersons  
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o f  these SOEs were  a f fo rded  not  on ly  the  

oppor tun i ty  to  address the  ga ther ing ,  bu t  a l so  

o f fe red  seats  a t  the  h igh  tab le  wh ich  cons is ted  o f  

the  ANC top  s i x  and two o f  the  o lder  Gupta  

bro thers .   The tab le  had nametags so  tha t  those  

who d id  no t  know one another  were  ab le  to  

in t roduce themse lves.   Th is  was the  f i rs t  and on ly  

encounter  I  had w i th  these Gupta  bro the rs .   I  have 

got  to  see o r  ta lk  to  them thereaf te r. ”  

D id  you a t tend th is  ga la  d inner?  10 

MR GIGABA :    Yes,  I  have a t tended a l l  ga la  d inners  o f  the  

ANC s ince January  8 t h ,  except  the  one in  2019.   Oh no,  I  

th ink  i t  i s  2020.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then he says a t  6 .2 :  

“ I  was requested by  Tony Gupta  to  meet  h im a t  the i r  

Saxonwold  res idence on some th ree occas ions and  

once a t  the i r  Sahara  Compute rs  o f f i ces  in  Midrand. ”  

I t  goes on to  say tha t :  

“Tony Gupta  genera l l y  asked me fo r  ass i s tance on 

mat te rs  they were  exper ienc ing  some p rob lem wi th  20 

Eskom on,  as  we l l  in  s i tua t ions where  they cou ld  

advance the i r  bus iness in te res t . ”  

Do you have any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now what  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  lead  you on  
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i f  I  may is  –  can perhaps most  conven ien t ly  be  done  by  me 

tak ing  you to  the  re levant  ex t rac t  o f  Mr  Tsots i ’s  ev idence 

wh ich  you f ind  a t  page 808.   Now jus t  to  re f resh your  

memory,  Mr  G igaba,  th is  re la tes  or  a  key par t  o f  h is  

ev idence inso far  as  i t  re la tes  t  you was or  concerns the  

appo in tment  o f  Co l in  Mat j i la  over  a  Mr  S teven Lennon as  

the  ac t ing  CEO.   And i f  I  cou ld  ask  you to  have a  look a t  

page 808,  he  says in  the  quote  re fer r i ng  now to  h is  

a f f idav i t :  

“For  the  most  par t  my tenure  in  the  board  was very  10 

smooth  un t i l  towards the  end o f  the  f i rs t  board  te rm 

when Co l in  Mat j i la  was appo in ted  as  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  f rom about  Apr i l  2014. ”  

And then i t  goes  on to  say,  quot ing  anothe r  pa rag raph o f  

h is  a f f idav i t ,  2 .3 :  

“The ins tab i l i t y  se t  in  when a  wh is t le  b lower  a l leged  

to  the  Eskom Board  th rough the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  tha t  Mr  Mat j i la  had not  fo l lowed co r rec t  

p rocedures as  prescr ibed by  the  de legat ion  

au thor i t y  in  award ing  the  renewal  o f  the  TNA Media  20 

cont rac t . ”  

So he was appo in ted  i t  seems as the  ac t ing  CEO and then 

there  was th is  cont roversy  around the  TNA Media  cont rac t .   

But  he  is  then asked can you te l l  us  a  b i t  about  Mr  Mat j i la ’s  

appo in tment ,  how tha t  had occur,  in  l ine  22  he says:  
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“What  happened was tha t  when B r ian  Dames who  

was the  substant i ve  Ch ie f  Execut ive  a t  the  t ime was 

go ing  to  leave the  company,  the  board  then dec ided 

on two issues o r  ra ther  took a  v iew on two issues 

le t  me say and the  v iew the  board  took was tha t  

f i rs t  o f  a l l  we shou ld  no t  have any o f  the  board  

members  ac t ing  as  Ch ie f  Execut ive . ”  

Then i f  you can  drop down f i ve  l ines  on  the  r igh t  hand 

s ide .  

“The o the r  mat te r  tha t  the  board  took a  v iew on,  in  10 

fac t  on  th is  one  i t  was rea l l y  a  dec is ion ,  and the  

dec is ion  was tha t  the  board  wou ld  ask  one o f  the  

execut ives to  ava i l  themse lves to  ac t  in  tha t  per iod .   

The ind i v idua l  tha t  we asked was a  gent leman 

named S teve Lennon. ”  

I f  I  cou ld  ask  you  p lease to  go  to  page 810.   I t  i s  over  the  

page,  the  second  l ine  on  the  r igh t  hand s ide .  

“The board  then ins t ruc ted  me to  ge t  the  Min i s te r ’s  

consensus on th i s  mat te r  as  wou ld  be  the  case  and  

I  met  w i th  the  M in is te r  and the  Min is te r  was qu i t e  20 

content  and happy tha t  S teve Lennon shou ld  ac t . ”  

And he is  asked who was the  Min is te r  a t  the  t ime and  he  

says i t  was Min i s te r  G igaba.   Cha i rperson says okay and 

then he cont inues  a t  10 :  

“Yes,  th is  was I  th ink  a round December  2013. ”  
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Then i f  you go to  page 811,  the  th i rd  l ine :  

“Dr  Lennon d id  agree.   Cha i rperson,  okay.   Tsots i ,  

and I  to ld  h im o f  cou rse  tha t  the  Min i s te r  had  

consented to  th is . ”  

And i f  you drop down p lease to  l ine  19 :  

“Jus t  be fo re  Mr  Dames le f t . . . ”  

Now we know tha t  i s  in  March 2014.  

“ . . . I  go t  a  ca l l ,  a  ca l l  f rom Min is te r  G igaba and he 

was qu i te  i ra te  and th is  was an  exper ience I  had 

never  had w i th  h im before  and I  was ex t remely  10 

taken aback and  h is  manner  was  very  surpr is ing .   

But  I ,  I  managed  to  ca lm h im down and to  have a  

proper  conversa t ion  w i th  h im and th is  was the  t ime 

when were  abou t  to  go  to  the  loca l  government  

e lec t ions i n  2014.   He was lambast ing  me fo r  o r  

ra the r  fo r  the  board  to  have requested a  wh i te  man  

to  ac t  when in  fac t  we were  fac ing  and the  ANC was  

fac ing  an  e lec t ion ,  a  loca l  government  e lec t ion  and 

th is  wou ld  pre jud ice . . . ”  

And then a t  l ine  10  the  Cha i rperson says:  20 

“2014.   I  th ink  i t  was a  genera l  e lec t ion . ”  

To  wh ich  he  ag rees.   And then a t  l ine  22 :  

“Cer ta in l y  over  the  phone and I  made i t  c lea r  to  h im  

tha t  I  thought  tha t  th is  was not  h im speak ing ,  tha t  

someone had put  h im up to  th is  and then he sa id . . . ”  
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I f  I  cou ld  take  you p lease to  page 813 a t  l ine  6 ,  w i tness  

cont inues:  

“And I  sa id  th is  i s  no t  you,  you,  you.   Th is  i s  

cer ta in ly  no t  you  as  fa r  as  I  know you.   Someone 

has put  you up to  th is ,  so  le t  us  jus t  no t  ge t  in to  

th is .   I f  you  w ish  to  have a  conversa t ion ,  le t  us  

have a  conversa t ion . ”  

And then the  th i rd  las t  l ine  f rom the  foo t  o f  the  page :  

“He then asked  me to  in fo rm the  board  tha t  he 

wou ld  l i ke  Co l in  Mat j i la  to  ac t ,  so  I  went  back to  the  10 

board . ”  

And then over  the  page a t  814,  the  th i rd  l ine :  

“No,  tha t  was a  subsequent  conversa t ion . ”  

And then a t  l ine  7 :  

“And so  I  went  back to  the  board  and I  in fo rmed the  

board  I  was unhappy because i t  f lew in  the  face  o f  a  

dec is ion  tha t  we had made and none o f  us  as  board  

members  wou ld  be  –  shou ld  be  e l ig ib le  to  ac t  in  a  

pos i t ion  o f  Ch ie f  Execut ive  and o f  course  Mr  Mat j i la  

was a  board  member  a t  the  t ime. ”  20 

And then a t  l ine  19  –  sor ry,  second las t  l ine  f rom the  foo t  

o f  tha t  page:  

“D id  you ever  say  to  h im tha t  I  consu l ted  you on the  

board ’s  contempla t ion  to  approach  Mr  Lennon to  be  

the  ac t ing  Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i ce r  and you gave me 
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your  b less ing?  What  has changed now?  What  i s  

wrong?  And he answers ,  I  cer ta in ly  d id .   I  do  no t  

reca l l  whether  i t  was dur ing  the  conversa t ion  or  

a f te rwards,  bu t  I  cer ta in l y  made the  po in t  to  h im  

jus t  to  remind h im tha t  we had the  conversa t ion  and  

he,  he  gave h is  consent  to  Dr  Lennon ac t ing  and I  

obv ious ly  was pe rp lexed as  to  why th is  change o f  

m ind.   Cha i rperson asks,  d id  he  g ive  you an  

exp lanat ion  what  has changed,  what  had caused  

h im to  change h is  m ind.   Wi tness  says,  no  he  d id  10 

no t  g ive  me an exp lanat ion . ”  

And then jus t  a  few o the r  l ines .   Aga in  the  second las t  l ine .   

He says:  

“ I t  was ve ry  embar rass ing  and I  fe l t  in  a  way I  

thought  there  was a  sense o f  gu i l t  o r  whatever,  bu t  I  

d id  go  back to  S teve and cou ld  no t  in  a l l  good  

consc ience say to  h im what  G igaba to ld  me. ”  

A t  parag raph 11:  

“A l ready in  the  indust ry  the  word  was out  tha t  he  

was go ing  to  be  ac t ing . ”  20 

And a t  l ine  19 :  

“To  tha t  ex ten t ,  Cha i r,  S teve dec ided tha t  as  a 

resu l t  o f  tha t  he  cou ld  no  longer  serve  a t  Eskom.   

He fe l t  tha t ,  you  know,  h is  in tegr i t y  was somehow 

a f f ron ted  by  a l l  o f  th is  and then requested to  re t i re  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 211 of 357 
 

a t  the  t ime.   So i t  was a  very  unhappy end ing  fo r  

h im. ”  

So tha t  i s  the  fu l l  vers ion  o f  Mr  Tsots i .   Do you want  to  

comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   In  the  f i rs t  

ins tance the  appo in tment  o f  CEO and ac t ing  CEO was the  

d iscre t ion  o f  the  Min is te r.   The board  had no bus iness 

in te r fe r ing  in  tha t ,  you know,  because even in  te rms o f  

espec ia l l y  mak ing  a  recommenda t ion  on  an ac t ing  CE,  I  

had g iven them three months  w i th in  wh ich  to  appo in t  a  new 10 

CE and I  was go ing  to  appo in t  an  ac t ing  CE and I  had sa id  

to  them wi th in  th ree  months  they needed to  have  

comple ted  the  process o f  appo in t i ng  the  new CE.  

 And th ree  months  does not  mean  or  d id  no t  mean  

the  new CE must  be  appo in ted  and be in  o f f i ce .   I t  meant  

the  process.   Wi th in  th ree  months  you need to  submi t  a  

recommendat ion  as  to  who w i l l  become the  next  CE and  

then I  take  tha t  name to  Cab ine t .  

Now i t  i s  qu i te  c ruc ia l  to  no te  tha t  Mr  Tsots i ,  and he 

says I  had a  good work ing  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them and I  d id ,  20 

i t  i s  qu i te  c ruc ia l  to  no te  tha t  he  fo rgo t  someth ing  qu i te  

impor tan t ,  as  s ign i f i can t  as  a  genera l  e lec t i on ,  and 

confuses a  genera l  e lec t ion  w i th  a  loca l  government  

e lec t ion .   I t  i s  no t  t r i v ia l ,  because i t  speaks to  g rasp o f  

i ssues tha t  a re  s i t t ing  in  f ron t  o f  you.   I  mean,  a  genera l  
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e lec t ion  is  a  genera l  e lec t ion .   There  is  a  new Pres ident ,  

no t  a  mayor.   There  w i l l  be  a  new admin i s t ra t ion ,  no t  

cont inuat ion  and so  on .   So i t  must  be  borne in  m ind .  

When he br ie fed  me,  i t  i s  no t  t rue  tha t  I  consented .   

I  sa id  I  need to  app ly  my mind.   I  need to  app ly  my mind  

and see i f  I  agree w i th  what  you a re  suggest ing .   And a f te r  

app ly ing  my mind I  had a  v iew tha t  no ,  appo in t  Co l in  

because,  you know,  i t  cou ld  very  we l l  happen tha t  someone  

who says I  am not  in te res ted  in  be ing  the  CE might  upon  

tas t ing  the  pos i t ion  take  a  v iew tha t  I  now want  to  app ly.   10 

They have a l ready ac ted .   You have crea ted an  

expecta t ion .   What  do  you do,  how do you remove the  

expecta t ion?  

There  was no angry  ou tburs t  on  my par t .   I  am not  

d isposed towards  angry  ou tburs ts ,  espec ia l l y  w i th  e lde rs .   

Mr  Tsots i  i s  a  sen io r  to  me  by fa r.   I  have the  upmost  

respect  fo r  tha t  and  I  wou ld  no t  j us t  burs t  ou t  a t  h im,  no t  

under  any c i r cumstances,  no  mat te r  how angry  I  am and he 

had not  upset  me  in  any poss ib le  way.  

And I  have a lways taken a  v iew tha t  be ing  a  20 

Min is te r  does not  mean tha t  I  have  a  r igh t  to  jus t  bu rs t  ou t  

a t  peop le  and ta lk  to  them anyhow.   So I  d id  no t  speak to  

h im in  the  manner  tha t  he  suggests  and he suggests  

e labora te ly  th is  angry  ou tburs t  to  a  po in t  where  he  sa id  to  

me th is  i s  no t  you .   Cha i rpe rson,  I  do  no t  d r ink  a l coho l .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  wanted  to  say tha t  i s  p rec i se l y  

was h is  po in t ,  bu t  he  d id  no t  re fe r  to  a lcoho l .   He sa id  

when he was g iv ing  ev idence,  i f  I  reca l l  cor rec t l y,  he  sa id  I  

had known Min i s te r  G igaba fo r  a  long t ime,  f rom the  t ime  

when he was leader  o f  the  ANC Youth  League.   I  had a  

good re la t ionsh ip  w i th  h im.   We were  work ing  very  we l l .   

Bu t  on  th is  par t i cu la r  day the  way he spoke  i t  was 

uncharacter i s t i c  o f  h im,  p rec ise ly  what  you are  say ing  in  a  

way because you  are  a lso  say ing  I  wou ld  no t  ta lk  to  h im 

l i ke  tha t .   And I  th ink  you may be say ing  I  wou ld  no t  ta lk  to  10 

anybody l i ke  tha t  maybe,  you wou ld  no t . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  no t  g i ven to  burs t ing  ou t .   So he  

sa id  I  have known h im fo r  a  long t ime.   We had  a  good  

re la t ionsh ip .   And I  th ink  he  sa id  a lso  as  Cha i rpe rson o f  

the  board  and you be ing  the  Min is te r,  you had worked very  

we l l ,  bu t  th is  was jus t  someth ing  tha t  happened tha t  he  

cou ld  no t  unders tand h imse l f ,  you know,  wh ich  is  I  th ink 

why he says –  he  sa id  th is  i s  no t  you.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  Cha i rperson.   And as  I  was  say ing ,  20 

Cha i rperson,  I  do  no t  d r ink  a lcoho l ,  I  do  no t  smoke drugs,  I  

do  no t  have mood  swings.   I  ma in ta in  the  same postu re  and  

demeanour  in  my  engagements ,  no  mat te r  how robust  they 

may be and so  there  was no poss ib le  way,  there  i s  no t ,  tha t  

I  wou ld  have bu rs t  ou t  and spoken to  h im in  a  manner  
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wh ich  wou ld  make h im to  say to  me no,  wa i t  a  m inu te ,  th is  

i s  no t  you tha t  I  am ta lk ing  to .   I t  i s  no t  poss ib le .   I t  never  

happened.  

 When I  ca l led  h im and had a  d iscuss ion  w i th  h im  I  

sa id  look ,  I  am o f  a  d i f fe ren t  v iew.   I  have app l ied  my mind.   

I  am o f  a  d i f fe ren t  v iew.   I  be l ieve  on  the  one hand tha t  we  

need to  speak to  the  pa r t  o f  t ransformat ion  and here  we  

are  ta l k ing  about  someone who i s  go ing  to  ac t  fo r  th ree  

months ,  i t  cou ld  be  four,  i t  cou ld  be  f i ve ,  un t i l  the  new CE 

is  ready to  assume o f f i ce .   Le t  us  speak to  the  par t  o f  10 

t ransformat ion .   Le t  us  appo in t  Mr  Mat j i la .   He possesses  

the  requ is i te  sk i l l s  to  ac t  in  th is  pos i t ion .  

 But  cer ta in l y  tha t  the  board  th inks  somebody in  

management  m ight  no t  upon tas t ing  the  pos i t ion  want  to  

occupy i t  pe rmanent ly.   My v iew i s  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  they 

may.   Hav ing  tas ted  the  pos i t ion  they may then app ly  and  

cons ider  themse lves to  be  f ron t  runners  by  ac t ing  and 

expect  tha t  to  have crea ted reasonab le  expecta t i on  tha t  

they shou ld  occupy the  pos i t ion .   And so  my suggest ion  is  

tha t  a l low Mr  Mat j i la  to  ac t ,  p reva i l  on  the  board  to  20 

unders tand th is  and appo in t  the  new CE t imeous ly  w i th in  

the  t ime l im i t  I  have g i ven you.  

 And th is  t ime l im i t ,  Cha i rpe rson,  was a lso  no t  

random on my par t .   I t  i s  a  t ime l im i t  I  had g i ven SOEs 

back I  th ink  in  2011.   I  th ink  in  one o f  my prev ious 
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submiss ions here  I  ind ica ted  tha t  I  to ld  SOEs tha t  i f  there  

i s  a  vacancy ar i s ing  t ry  to  f i l l  i t  up  w i th in  th ree  months  so  

tha t  we do not  s i t  w i th  vacanc ies  fo r  too  long.   And tha t  i s  

what  we d i scussed.  

I  d id  no t  have an  outburs t  w i th  h im and I  ce r ta in ly  I  

d id  no t  know tha t  I  wou ld  be  leav ing  a f te r  May 2014,  bu t  I  

expected tha t  regard less  o f  what  wou ld  happen they  wou ld  

comply  w i th  the  t ime l im i t  I  had g iven them and there  wou ld  

be  a  new CE in  o f f i ce  in  fou r  to  f i ve  months .   They wou ld  

be  ab le  to  move on in  tha t  regard .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    So  is  the  pos i t ion  tha t  you agree  tha t  he  

d id  suggest  the  name o f  Dr  Lennon o r  Mr  Lennon  – I  am 

not  sure  wh ich  is  the  r igh t  t i t le  fo r  h im – or  tha t  he  d id  say  

the  board  was  cons ider ing  appo in t ing  –  hav ing  h im 

appo in ted  as  an  ac t ing  group CEO,  bu t  what  you d isagree  

w i th  i s  tha t  one,  you sa id  tha t  i s  f ine  and you d isagree tha t  

you came back  to  h im and you were  angry  and you 

changed.  

What  you are  say ing  i s ,  yes ,  they d id  suggest  o r  

say  o r  g ive  Mr  Lennon ’s  name.   I  sa id  I  wanted to  app ly  my  20 

mind.   I  went  away,  app l ied  my mind.   I  came back  to  h im.   

I  spoke to  h im in  a  normal  way.   I  sa id  we shou ld  cont inue 

w i th  t ransformat ion  and tha t  Mr  Mat j i la  shou ld  be  

appo in ted .   I s  tha t  a  cor rec t  summary o f  what  you say?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Have you got  any sense then where  

Mr  Tsots i  ge ts  th i s  s to ry  f rom? 

MR GIGABA :    I  do  no t  know where  he  gets  th is  s to ry  f rom,  

because even a f te r  I  had le f t  Pub l i c  Enterpr ises  I  

cont inued hav ing  good re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them.   Whenever  

we wou ld  meet  we wou ld  have co rd ia l  conversa t ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  about  the  fac t  tha t  the  

board  had dec ided tha t  none o f  i t s  members  shou ld  ac t  as 

the  CEO in  the  in te rven ing  pe r iod?  10 

MR GIGABA :    The d iscre t ion  lay  w i th  the  Min is te r,  

Cha i rperson.   The d iscre t ion  was the  Min is te r ’s  d iscre t ion  

and what  the  board  sought  to  avo id  in  appo in t ing  an  

Execut ive  Manager,  D i rec tor  a t  Eskom who in  the i r  op in ion  

m ight  have wanted –  m ight  have  not  wanted to  app ly  fo r  

the  pos i t ion .   Everybody knows –  everybody knew tha t  Dr  

Lennon had ambi t ion  to  be  CE o f  Eskom.   Everybody knew 

tha t  a t  the  t ime.   Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON :   Wel l  I  wanted you to  f in ish  be fo re  I  ask  

you.  20 

MR GIGABA :    Okay,  thanks.   Everybody knew he had 

ambi t ion  to  be  CE o f  Eskom.   I  d id  no t  want  to  p re jud i ce  

h im by p lac ing  h im in  a  pos i t ion  where  he  w i l l  now be sa id  

to  be  unava i lab le .   He was cer ta in ly  one o f  the  most  

exper ienced Execut ives  D i rec tors  a t  Eskom at  the  t ime and 
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I  was o f  the  v iew tha t  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  you might  ac t  in  a  

pos i t ion  and upon ac t ing  you then tas te  the  pos i t ion  and  

you now want  to  app ly  and then you are  to ld  tha t  no ,  you 

cannot  app ly  because the  cond i t ion  fo r  you r  appo in tment  

as  an  ac t ing  CE was tha t  you are  no t  go ing  to  be  ava i lab le .  

And then you cou ld  have long  pro t rac ted  lega l  

[ ind is t inc t ]  w i th  somebody cha l leng ing  the  fac t  tha t  there  i s  

no  lega l  p rescr ip t  p revent ing  them f rom hav ing  to  ac t  and 

s t i l l  app ly  to  occupy the  pos i t ion  permanent ly,  tha t  the  

board  had no r igh t  to  p revent  anybody f rom app ly ing  fo r  10 

the  pos i t ion .   And so  i t  rea l l y  was my d iscre t ion  and i t  i s  

how I  app l ied  my mind and thought  about  the  mat te r.  

CHAIRPERSON :   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  jus t  wan t  to  ask  you one o ther  

th ing  and tha t  i s  i sn ’ t  Mr  Tsots i ’s  vers ion  borne out  by  the  

fac t  tha t  he  seems to  have to ld  Mr  Lennon tha t  he  was 

go ing  to  ac t  and tha t  when he then had to  go  back and te l l  

h im tha t  you had changed your  m ind Mr  Lennon then  

res igned,  doesn ’ t  tha t  sequence  o f  events  bear  ou t  Mr  

Tsots i ’s  vers ion  tha t  you must  have changed your  m ind.  20 

MR GIGABA:    No what  i t  bears  ou t  i s  tha t  he  had d i f f i cu l t y  

go ing  back to  Mr  Lennon because he had on r igh t  to  

assume my powers  and go ta lk  to  Mr  Lennon and say to  

h im the  Min is te r  has agreed when the  Min is te r  had sa id  

they are  app ly ing  the i r  m ind on the  issue.    Indust ry,  where  
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i t  i s  go ing  ou t  to  the  indust ry  p r io r  to  my consent  and an  

announcement ,  because I  wou ld  need to  in fo rm the  board  

as  the  shareho lder  representa t i ve ,  tha t  was an anomaly  

and I  th ink  we must  no t  take  away the  powers  o f  the 

Min is te r  and a l low the  usurpat ion  o f  those powers  on  the  

bas is  tha t  peop le  m ight  have been in fo rmed tha t  they are  

to  ac t  in  pos i t ions .   The power  o f  the  Min is te r  to  take  the  

dec is ion  must  s t i l l  ves t  w i th  the  Min is te r,  because n  the  

end as  the  shareho lder  represen ta t i ve  even though the  

appo in tment  o f  ac t ing  CE ’s  i s  no t  go ing  to  go  to  cab ine t ,  i t  10 

doesn ’ t  go  to  cab ine t ,  bu t  the  Min is te r  must  s t i l l  exerc ise  

tha t  d isc re t ion  to  take  tha t  dec is ion  and then in fo rm the  

Board .   

 The Board  shou ldn ’ t  have gone out  to  in fo rm 

anyone inc lud ing  the  indust ry  as  to  who was go ing  to  ac t  

when they had no t  rece ived f ina l  word  f rom me.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But  o f  course  Mr  Tsots i ’s  ve rs ion  is  

tha t  you had agreed and you then changed your  m ind.  

MR GIGABA:    O f  cou rse .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You take  issue w i th  tha t  I  20 

unders tand.  

MR GIGABA:    Of  course  my vers ion  is  I  had not  agreed,  I  

had sa id  I  am go ing  to  app ly  my mind,  and app ly ing  your  

m ind must  never  ever  be  presumed to  mean consen t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How long d id  Mr  Mat j i la  ac t  fo r?  
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MR GIGABA:    I  don ’ t  exact ly  know because he was 

appo in ted  I  th ink  was i t  in  Apr i l  2014.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  March/Apr i l  ja .  

MR GIGABA:    Ja ,  then one month  or  two months  la te r  I  

was appo in ted  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  and I  le f t ,  

sor ry  o f  Home Affa i rs ,  o f  Home Affa i rs ,  thank you Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So do you know . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  Mr  Matona was appo in ted  w i th  

e f fec t  f rom,  as  Group Execut ive  o f  Eskom wi th  e f fec t  f rom I  

th ink  1  October  2014 i f  no t  1  November,  bu t  I  th ink  10 

October,  so  I  suspect  tha t  Mr  Mat j i la  must  have ac ted  unt i l  

Mr  Matona assumed duty.  

MR GIGABA:    Yes we cou ld  be  s l igh t ly  su rpr is ing  

Cha i rperson because to  my unders tand ing  by  the  t ime the  

genera l  e lec t ions  took p lace the  Board  had comple ted  the  

rec ru i t  p rocess.    I  th ink  what  cou ld  have de layed the  

ac tua l  appo in tment  was the  appo in tment  o f  a  new Min is te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The change o f  Min is te rs .  

MR GIGABA:   The change o f  Min is te rs ,  wh ich  then  

crea ted the  t ime de lay.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  because I  th ink  he  was the  

immedia te  ac t ing  or  CEO o r  Mr  Matona ’s  assumed i t  i s .   Mr  

Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.  I  jus t  want  to  dea l  w i th  a  

few iso la ted  issues,  cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  bund le  
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7 ,  and i f  you  cou ld  p lease tu rn  up  page 996.101.   

MR GIGABA:    You are  in  a  rush.   7A?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    7A yes.    

MR GIGABA:    996?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    101.     

MR GIGABA:    I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you  wou ld  have seen th is  

a f f idav i t  f rom Ms Rossouw.  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     She says  she is  the  bursar  a t  a  10 

pr imary  schoo l  and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS SC:   Cha i r  sor ry  i f  I  cou ld  jus t  come in  

here?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV SOLOMONS SC:   I  ob jec t  to  Mr  Myburgh dea l i ng  w i th  

th is  s ta tement  on  two bases,  one we d id  no t  rece ive  a  3 .3  

no t ice  in  respect  o f  Ms Rossouw,  bu t  second ly  and more  

fundamenta l l y  he  has been ve ry  spec i f i c  about  wh ich  

w i tnesses he is  go ing  to  t raverse  w i th  Mr  G igaba and Ms 

Rossouw i s  no t  one o f  them,  so  he  has had no oppor tun i ty  20 

to  dea l  w i th  her  ev idence a t  a l l ,  and on the  con t rary  he  

wou ld  be  taken by  surpr i se  in  hav ing  to  dea l  w i th  her  

ev idence when Mr  Myburgh spec i f i ca l l y  exc luded her  f rom 

the  l i s t  o f  w i tnesses tha t  Mr  G igaba was expected  to  dea l  

w i th .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Cha i rpe rson I  –  I  mean Mr  

G igaba as  we can see is  go ing  to  have to  come back on  

another  occas ion ,  I  have no d i f f i cu l t y  to  leave the  mat te r  

over  t i l l  then.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  I  want  us  to  cons ide r  i s  whethe r  

you can ’ t  ident i f y  the  areas where  you were  go ing  to  have 

quest ions on  fo r  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And put  quest ions to  h im in  wr i t ing  and 10 

he w i l l  be  asked to  respond by  way o f  an  a f f idav i t  to  those 

quest ions,  par t i cu la r ly  i f  they  re la te  to  i ssues where  maybe  

there  is  no  apparent  cont rove rsy  bu t  maybe a  cont roversy  

may deve lop ,  bu t  tha t  cou ld  be  the  s ta r t  and when  those 

responses are  rece ived then one can wa ive  them and see  

whethe r  i t  i s  necessary  to  have h im back  or  no t .    Where  

one can dea l  w i th  them wi thout  any fu r ther  o ra l  ev idence 

then we cou ld  look a t  do ing  i t  tha t  way,  what  do  you th ink  

o f  tha t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Uhm . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  may we l l  be  tha t  in  regard  to  some i t  

i s  impor tan t  to  hear  o ra l  ev idence but  I  am jus t  ra i s ing  th is  

as  a  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  where  we are  Cha i rperson now is  

there  a re  15  33 not ices  and a f f idav i t s .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We have dea l t  w i th  12  o f  the  15  so  

we have two more  to  dea l  w i th  and those th ree  are  the  two 

A lexkor  gent lemen,  Mr  Craythorne and Mr  B ishop,  the  

issues are  pe rhaps re la t i ve ly  na r row there  and then we 

have Mr  Mamiad f rom the  Treasury.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That ’s  perhaps s l igh t l y  more  

compl ica ted  but  what ’s  then le f t  rea l l y  a re  these smal l  

i ssues,  th is  a f f idav i t  the  photograph,  the  two  pub l i c  10 

pro tec tor  repor ts .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  yes tha t  i s  a  poss ib i l i t y  bu t  r igh t  

now i f  Mr  G igaba is  no t  comfo r tab le  dea l ing  w i th  th is  

a f f idav i t  I  don ’ t  in tend to  dea l  w i t h  i t ,  bu t  i f  what  you are 

propos ing ,  and I  see i t  i s  edg ing  towards ha l f  past  four,  i f  

what  you are  propos ing  is  tha t  we shou ld  do  tha t  in  respect  

o f  eve ry th ing  tha t  i s  le f t  I  am happy to  have a  shot  a t  tha t  

and i f  I  unders tand you cor rec t l y  he  wou ld  then pu t  up  h i s  

answers ,  hopefu l l y  tha t  w i l l  be  done in  qu i te  a  shor t  per iod  20 

o f  t ime and then we cou ld  approach you pe rhaps as  to  

whethe r  i t  i s  necessary  fo r  Mr  G igaba to  be  led  on  any 

spec i f i c  i ssue wh ich  wou ld  then presumably  na r row down to  

an  hour  o r  two,  i s  tha t  what  you have in  m ind? 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  I  cer ta in ly,  what  I  have in  m ind is  
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tha t  maybe we cou ld  s top  here  o r  maybe we cou ld  go  fo r  

another  30  m inutes ,  I  am not  sure ,  we can look a t  tha t ,  bu t  

cer ta in ly  tha t  whatever  we haven ’ t  cove red i t  can  then be  

put  to  h im by way  o f  quest ions,  he  responds in  –  by  way o f  

an  a f f idav i t .   That ’s  one scenar io ,  bu t  the  o ther  scenar io  

wh ich  I  haven ’ t  ment ioned is  th is  tha t  depend ing  on how 

much t ime we might  take ,  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  on  one o f  the  

morn ings be fo re  the  end o f  th is  week i f  everybody is  

ava i lab le  we cou ld  come together  and maybe have an hour  

o r  an  hour  and a  ha l f  o r  two hours  and a t  tha t  s tage jus t  10 

focus on  what  rea l l y  requ i res  ora l  ev idence and  

quest ion ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  i s  another  poss ib i l i t y,  bu t  I  don ’ t  

know to  what  ex ten t  tha t  amount  o f  t ime cou ld  ass i s t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  Cha i rpe rson perhaps a  hybr id  

wou ld  work ,  because i t  wou ld  then  g ive  us  an  oppor tun i ty  

to  focus ou r  m inds on in  respect  o f  what  i s  le f t ,  what  i s  

content ious.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  i f  we cou ld  have a  two hour  20 

s lo t  we cou ld  p robab ly  knock o f f  the  content ious s tu f f .   

There  m ight  then  s t i l l  be  a  need fo r  an  a f f idav i t  in  respect  

o f  th ings l i ke  fo r  example  th is  a f f idav i t ,  i t  i s  a  s imp le 

quest ion  o f  i s  i t  admi t ted ,  i t  i s  ha l f  a  page.     

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja ,  ja .  
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ADV MYBURGG SC:    So I  wou ld  propose i f  we t ry  and do  

both  and i t  m igh t  be  sens ib le  then to  ad journ  now so  tha t  

we can re f lec t  on  what  i s  rea l l y  le f t  tha t  i s  content ious,  and  

I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  we wou ld  probab ly  dea l  w i th  the  

th ree  o f  the  15  a f f idav i t s  tha t  remain  and as  fo r  these 

smal le r  i ssues they can be dea l t  w i th  by  way  o f  an 

a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay no tha t  i s  f ine .    Before  we  

proceed le t  me check whether  Mr  Hu l ley  has ar r i ved,  he  is  

to  lead ev idence  w i th  the  next  w i tnesses.    Okay,  no  are  10 

the  w i tnesses ava i lab le?    Your  w i tnesses?   Okay,  a l r igh t .    

 Mr  So lomon you heard  the  exchange between  

myse l f  and Mr  Myburgh,  have you got  any input  to  make? 

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Cha i r  on l y  tha t  we wou ld  we lcome i f  

we cou ld  d ispense w i th  Mr  G igaba  coming back i f  i t  wou ld  

be  poss ib le ,  we  w i l l  coopera te  in  supp ly ing  answers  to  

quest ions on  a f f idav i t  and then we can make the  

de terminat ion  whether  i t  i s  abso lu te ly  necessary  to  have  

h im back.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  o f  course  there  is  s t i l l  the  quest ion  20 

o f  you cross-examin ing  Ms Mngoma.    Now she –  Ms  

Mzimela  and Ms Coetzee were  schedu led  to  ava i l  

themse lves fo r  c ross-examinat ion  by  you th is  Wednesday I  

th ink ,  th is  Wednesday?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    As  I  unders tand  the  pos i t ion  Mr  Myburgh  

ind ica ted  I  th ink  on  Fr iday tha t  Ms Mzemela  w i l l  no t  be  

ava i lab le  and you ind ica ted  tha t  i f  I  reca l l  cor rec t l y  you  

thought  you wou ld  no t  need to  c ross-examine Ms Coetzee.    

I f  tha t  remains  the  pos i t ion  we cou ld  use the  morn ing  o f  

Wednesday fo r  the  cross-examina t ion  o f  Ms Ngoma,  bu t  i t  

may we l l  be  tha t  we cou ld  s ta r t  ear l ie r  w i th  Mr  G igaba 

because Ms Ngoma cou ld  come in  a t  ten ,  maybe we cou ld  

s ta r t  ear l ie r  w i th  Mr  G igaba on Wednesday morn ing  and  t ry  

and f in ish  on  the  d isputed areas or  cont rove rs ia l  a reas o r  10 

impor tan t  a reas  and thereaf te r  then you cou ld  c ross-

examine Ms Ngoma,  how does tha t  sound to  you?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    That  wou ld  be  in  o rder  Cha i r,  jus t  a  

quest ion  o f  be tween now and Wednesday wou ld  there  be  

enough t ime to  i ron  ou t  the  areas w i th  Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Chai rpe rson i f  I  cou ld  perhaps  

suggest  th is ,  I  th ink  what  I  wou ld  t ry  my best  to  do  is  use  –  

i f  we were  to  s ta r t  a t  ha l f  past  e igh t  and we had one and a  

ha l f  h  ours  I  w i l l  t ry  my best  to  focus on  what  I  cons ide r  to  

be  the  content ious issues and then we w i l l  res t  w i th  the  20 

res t  o f  our  quest ions be ing  dec ided by  way o f  a f f idav i t ,  so  

we need not  necessar i l y  engage w i th  Mr  So lomon.    What  I  

haven ’ t  dea l t  w i th  in  tha t  one and a  ha l f  hours  I  w i l l  ask  

h im to  dea l  w i th  in  an  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  you unders tand tha t  Mr  So lomon? 
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ADV SOLOMON SC:    Yes,  tha t  i s  in  o rder  then Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Okay Mr  Myburgh do you know 

whethe r  Ms Mngoma wou ld  be  ava i lab le  fo r  Wednesday? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  don ’ t  know o f fhand Cha i rperson but  

I  can cer ta in l y  f ind  ou t  I  am sure  in  the  next  ha l f  an  hour.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  le t ’s  say  you  w i l l  t ry  

and f ind  tha t  ou t ,  bu t  the  p lan  i s ,  and th is  can be conf i rmed  

maybe tomor row,  the  p lan  there fo re  i s  tha t  we wou ld  s ta r t  

a t  ha l f  past  e igh t  w i th  Mr  G igaba,  so  tha t  a l l  the  

content ious issues cou ld  be  covered,  and a f te r  he  has  10 

f in ished whatever  has no t  been covered w i l l  be  dea l t  w i th  

by  way o f  wr i t ten  quest ions and then an a f f idav i t  in  

response and a f te r  Mr  G igaba has  f in ished g iv ing  ev idence  

then i f  Ms Ngoma is  ava i lab le  she wou ld  then take  the  

w i tness s tand and be ava i lab le  fo r  c ross -examinat ion .  

 Okay,  so  tha t  i s  our  a r rangement .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you Cha i rperson.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You unders tand  Mr  G igaba?   Yes,  okay  

a l r igh t ,   so  we are  go ing  to  then ad journ  the  proceed ings  20 

re la t ing  to  Mr  G igaba now and we w i l l  resume on  

Wednesday morn ing  and then I  w i l l  ad journ  fo r  about  

ten / f i f teen minutes  to  enab le  the  next  work  s t ream to  set  

up  and then I  w i l l  come back and then we w i l l  con t inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:   Good af te rnoon Mr Hul ley,  good af ternoon 

everybody.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Are you ready? 

ADV HULLEY SC:   We are ready to  proceed Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Mr Chai r  we wi l l  be hear ing today in  the  10 

evidence in  respect  o f  the Law Enforcement  Agencies work  

st ream and we wi l l  be hear ing the evidence of  Ms Ngubane 

who I  understand – who I  understand prefers to  be ca l led  

Ms Zulu because she is  remarr ied – she is  actual l y  marr ied 

and now goes by the marr ied name of  Zulu.   Ngubane I  

understand was her  maiden name.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Sor ry what  was the marr ied surname? 

ADV HULLEY SC:   Her  maiden surname is  Ngubane.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.   Okay.   Yes do you – do you want  to  

ind icate what  her  ev idence wi l l  re la te to  for  the benef i t  o f  20 

the publ ic .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   So Mr Chai r  you wi l l  recal l  tha t  there  

was test imony that  had been g iven by Mr Trevor  Whi te who 

was a forensic audi to r  some of  which touched upon the 

evidence of  Mr Mabuyakhulu,  Mr Michael  Mabuyakhulu and 
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in  par t i cu lar  there  was a d ispute be tween the test imony that  

had been provided by Mr Trevor  Whi te and Mr Mabuyakhulu  

as to  the c i rcumstances re la t ing to  a donat ion of  some R1 

mi l l ion /  R1.053 mi l l ion that  had been paid – that  had 

apparent ly  been g iven to  Mr Shabala la or  a  Mr – and the 

evidence was that  Shabala la had handed i t  over  to  Mr  

Mabuyakhulu fo r  onward t ransmission to  the ANC as a  

donat ion.  

 Now there was some uncer ta in ty as to  the precise 

nature of  Mr Trevor  Whi te ’s  aff idav i t .   Mr Whi te has in  fact  10 

provided a supplementary aff idavi t  where he has c la r i f ied  

what  h is  test imony has been.   Mr Mabuyakhulu w i l l  come 

and test i fy  dur ing  the course of  tomorrow somet ime but  in  

the meant ime,  we have managed to  get  an aff idavi t  f rom Ms 

Zulu or  Ms Zulu  who has expla ined the c i rcumstances in  

which she ( ta lk ing  over  one another ) .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  guess – I  guess we wi l l  have to  be 

consistent  because her  aff idavi t  says Ngubane otherwise 

whoever reads the t ranscr ip t  wi l l  th ink Ms Zulu is  somebody 

e lse but  that  is  –  we mean no d isrespect  to  her  in- laws.  20 

ADV HULLEY SC:   Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good – good af ternoon Ms Ngubane – Ms 

Zulu.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:  Good af ternoon Chai r.   I  w i l l  pass on 

the message to the in- laws.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  guess you – you need to make sure that  

they must  know that  you were  protect ive of  your  new 

surname.   Yes.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Wi l l  do so Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes Mr Hul ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   So Mr Chai r  we 

wi l l  just  lead evidence on the c i rcumstances in  which the  

aff idavi t  o f  Mr Mzi la  was obta ined.   Ms Ngubane was the 

at torney who was deal ing wi th  the mat ter  a t  the t ime and 

she was the person who prepared the draf t  a ff idavi t  on  10 

behal f  o f  Mr Mzi la .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   So i f  she can be sworn in .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay r ight .   P lease admin ister  the  oath or  

a ff i rmat ion.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your  fu l l  names fo r  the record.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:  S ibusis iwe Nkosinomusa Ngubane 

Zulu.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any object ion to  tak ing the  

prescr ibed oath? 20 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   No I  do not .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you consider  the oath b ind ing on your  

conscience? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:  Yes I  do.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly swear that  the ev idence you 
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w i l l  g ive wi l l  be the t ru th;  the who le t ru th and noth ing but  

the t ru th;  i f  so p lease ra ise your  r ight  hand and say,  so help 

me God.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   So help me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you Ms Ngubane.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink i f  say Ngubane Zulu that  should be  

f ine because then at  least  Ngubane is  there – that  is  in  the  

aff idavi t .   Okay a l l  r ight  that  wi l l  cover  the in - laws.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Thank –  thank you for  avai l ing 

yoursel f  Ms Ngubane Zulu to  g ive ev idence in  the 

commission  and to assis t  –  to  assis t  us.   Thank you for  

avai l ing yoursel f .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay Mr Hul ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Ms Ngubane Zu lu i f  you could be so k ind  

as to  turn wi th  me to page 163.   Mr Chai r  there should be 

bundle which is  marked LEA27 before you and i f  we could  20 

turn to  page 163 of  that  bundle.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now i f  you have that  page I  would 

appreciate i t  i f  you could tu rn to  that  page.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Have you got  that  page Ms Ngubane 
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Zu lu?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  am going  to  quick ly  go to  i t  Chai r.   

Maybe just  to  a lso request  your  indulgence because th is  

bundle I  am looking at  i t  e lect ronica l ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   So I  am go ing to  be scro l l ing on the  

same screen that  I  am looking at .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Yes.   I f  Advocate Hul ley can just  

repeat  the page number p lease.  10 

ADV HULLEY SC:   I t  is  page 163.    

CHAIRPERSON:   So you wi l l  look  at  the b lack numbers i f  

that  has not  been expla ined to  you.   They appear on the le f t  

hand corner  of  each page.   They would be wr i t ten LEA-27-

163 but  when we refer  to  the pages we wi l l  not  ment ion 

LEA;  we wi l l  not  ment ion 27 we wi l l  s imply say 163.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Chai r  the bundle in  my possession is  

marked and Advocate Hul ley on the emai l  that  has sent  me 

th is  morning reference was made to the page number ing  

that  is  in  red the RR4TSW.  20 

ADV HULLEY SC:   To be of  ass is tance to  the wi tness Mr 

Chai r.   There is  two number ing systems as you are  aware  

Mr Chai r  but  they both in  th is  case they both ident ica l  so i f  

you could look at  the top r ight  hand corner  i t  should  be 163 

anyway Ms Ngubane Zulu.  
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MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Thank you 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  basica l l y  what  you are looking for  i s  

for  your  aff idavi t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is  the – your  aff idavi t  that  i s  a t  page 

163.   I t  is  where i t  s tar ts .    

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  hope th is  not  an  ind icat ion.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   So Chai r  in  th is  bundle –  in  th is  

bundle i t  actual ly  moves f rom RR40-TSW-0057 and then i t  10 

goes st ra ight  to  RR4TSW1358.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No i t  looks l ike  you have a complete ly  

d i f ferent  bundle.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   I f  you looking – i f  I  might  be… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Have – were you g iven one bundle or  

more than one? 

ADV HULLEY SC:   You should be… 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  was g iven more than one bundle  

Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The one tha t  we are us ing  at  the  20 

beginning of  i t  i f  you have got  the whole bundle i t  is  has got  

Exhib i t  RR7 wr i t ten that  i s  ins ide  not  necessar i ly  outs ide  

and what  i t  has  got  i s  Mr Mabuyakhulu ’s  appl i cat ion.   You 

have got  a  Not ice  of  Mot ion there paragraphs – page 2 and 

3 and then you have got  h is  aff idavi t  that  is  Mr 
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Mabuyakhulu at  page 5.   When I  say page 5 I  am referr ing  

to  the page that  i s  marked LEA-27-005 but  I  just  say page 

5.   Have you got  a  Bundle that  has got  Mr Mabuyakhulu ’s  

aff idavi t  a t  the beginning or  h is  app l icat ion? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I t  is  not  an appl i cat ion I  have got  the 

bundle that  has got  h is  aff idavi t  Chai r  but  i f  Advocate Hul ley 

can just  ind icate to  me i f  –  which aff idavi t  he is  re fer r ing to  

because I  am qui te  fami l iar  wi th  the  contents of  the a ff idavi t  

especia l l y  the one that  we had d iscussed in  our  

consul ta t ion.  10 

ADV HULLEY SC:   I t  is  the aff idavi t  which of  yours Mr 

Ngubane Zulu wh ich is  dated the 17 t h  o f  May of  2021.   In  

other  words. .  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Thank you I  am comfor table wi th  

that .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   An aff idavi t  that  you deposed to last  

month.   Have you got  i t?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Yes I  am comfor table wi th  us going  

ahead Chai r.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Okay.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   Now I  would l i ke  

you to  tu rn to  – i f  you could ident i fy  the document  in  the  

f i rs t  p lace.   So i f  you could turn to  page 163 of  that  bundle  

and ident i fy  what  that  document  is .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Do you have i t  or  you were saying you 

were comfor table to  deal  wi th  i t  even i f  you do not  – you are  

not  looking at  i t?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Yes Chai r  I  was saying I  am 

comfor table to  deal  wi th  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Even i f  I  am not  looking at  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   But  I  can cer ta in ly  conf i rm that  I  d id  

depose to an aff idavi t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is  on the 17 t h  o f   May.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   On the 17 t h  o f  May.  

CHAIRPERSON:   2021 at… 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   That  is  cor rect  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A t  –  at  Durban North – in  a pol i ce stat ion,  

is  that  r ight?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   That  is  cor rect .  

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no a Commissioner  o f  Oaths 

Hydepark by the Sea? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   That  is  cor rect .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   D id you – is  that  cor rect?  Okay a l l  r ight .   

I t  is  an aff idavi t  that  has got  one,  two,  three pages and on 

the four th page i t  is  just  your  s ignature as wel l  as the 

Commissioner ’s  cer t i f icate or  cer t i f icat ion,  i s  that  cor rect?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   That  is  cor rect  Chai r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   That  is  correct .  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  can conf i rm that  that  is  my hand 

there.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  th ink le t  us go ahead.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We wi l l  accept  that  th is  i s  the one.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now accord ing to  your  aff idavi t  you 

conf i rm here that  you had been deal ing wi th  a mat ter  – an 

invest igat ion … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe – maybe we should just  admi t  th is  10 

aff idavi t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Pardon me Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You conf i rm tha t  the contents and – of  

that  a ff idavi t  are  to  the best  o f  your  knowledge t rue and 

correct  Ms Ngubane Zulu?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  do Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   You – you would l ike me to admi t  i t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   P lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:   As exhib i t  what?  

ADV HULLEY SC:   I t  is  Exhib i t  RR7.6 Mr Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   RR7? 

ADV HULLEY SC:   Point  6 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Point  6 .    

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The aff idavi t  o f  17 May 2021 by Ms 
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S ibusis iwe Nkosinomusa Ngubane which star ts  at  page 163 

wi l l  be admi t ted as an exhib i t  and marked as Exhib i t  RR7.6.   

Yes cont inue.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   Now Ms Ngubane 

Zulu in  the aff idavi t  you speak at  paragraph 4  of  the 

c i rcumstances in  which you came to – to  deal  wi th  th is  

mat te r  and you say i f  I  might  read for  your  benef i t .  

“That  in  2009 I  was approached by  Mr Sezo 

Mchunu who was the Provinc ia l  Secretary at  

the t ime. ”  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  –  wel l  she might  just  want  to  te l l  us 

the story.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe you might  just  le t  her  do that  

because she does not  have the aff idavi t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe you can say in  – Ms Ngubane Zulu 

you are a pract ic ing at torney is  that  correct?  Are you a  

pract ic ing at torney? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Yes I  am.    20 

CHAIRPERSON:   When – f rom when have you been 

pract ic ing as an a t torney? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  have been in  p ract ice f rom 2007.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I f  I  am not  m istaken.    
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   In  2009 in  which law f i rm were you 

pract ic ing as an a t torney? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  was pract ic ing at  Ngubane Wi l ls  

Incorporated.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Were you a par tner  in  that  f i rm at  

that  s tage? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   That  is  cor rect  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   You remained in  that  f i rm for  up to  

when or  a re you s t i l l  in  that  f i rm? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  remained in  that  f i rm up to  now.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   And I  a lso work as a legal  –  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .   Mr  Hul ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you want  to  take i t  f rom there.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   Now i f  I  

understand correct ly  your  f i rm represents the ANC KwaZulu  

Nata l ,  is  that  cor rect?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Yes the f i rm at  the t ime represented 

the ANC in KwaZulu Nata l .  20 

ADV HULLEY SC:   And in  2009 you were approached by Mr  

Senzo Mchunu in  re la t ion to  an invest igat ion that  was being  

conducted by the SAPS re lat ing  to  a donat ion,  is  that  

correct?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   That  is  correct .   A t  the t ime I  was 
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deal ing wi th  other  mat te rs on behal f  o f  the ANC and Mr 

Senzo Mchunu was the Provinc ia l  Secretary and 

approached our  serv ice urgent ly  to  deal  wi th  an  urgent  

request  that  had been received by  the ANC f rom the SAPS 

who were invest igat ing a cer ta in  mat ter.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now i f  I  understand correct ly  f rom your  

aff idavi t  in  fact  Mr Wi l l s  was deal ing wi th  the mat te r  as wel l .  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   That  is  cor rect .  So maybe just  to  

g ive c lar i ty  Mr Wi l ls  is  –  i s  the cr iminal  law specia l i s t  and I  

deal  wi th  a lo t  o f  you know… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   C iv i l .  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  a lways deal t  wi th  the c iv i l  mat ters  

and a lso the l i t igat ion.   So in  th is  instance when we got  the  

inst ruct ions obviously the inst ruct ions were to  the f i rm and 

the bulk  of  the  mat te rs re la t ing to  th is  and fur ther  

consul ta t ions and inst ruct ions were g iven d i rect l y  to  Mr  

Wi l l s .   But  a t  the  t ime I  was asked by the c l ient  to  conf i rm 

you know a speci f ic  mat ter  through the – you know the  

preparat ion of  an aff idavi t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now i f  I  unders tand correct ly  the  – your  20 

law f i rm made contact  wi th  the invest igat ing off icer  whose 

deta i ls  have been provided to  you by Mr Mchunu.   Is  that  

correct?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Yes.   The deta i ls  o f  the invest igator  

were provided at  the t ime and Chai r  I  must  maybe a lso 
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apologise and ind icate to  yoursel f  that  you know th is  was 

obviously in  2008/2009 and one may not  have the exact  

recol lect ion but  you know a l l  the deta i l s  a t  the t ime but  the 

– between mysel f  and Mr Wi l l s  the invest igator  was 

contacted and he basica l ly  ind icated that  there was an 

ongoing invest igat ion and they requi red conf i rmat ion that  

the ANC had in  fact  received a donat ion of  R1 mi l l ion f rom 

you know at  the t ime.   So that  was basica l l y  the enqui ry  – 

they were just  looking for  conf i rmat ion that  a  R1 mi l l ion had 

been received by the ANC.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe le t  us pu t  i t  th is  way so you can 

just  te l l  the story  as i t  happened – as you remember i t  i f  

that  is  f ine.   Mr Hul ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Is  i t  correct  tha t  in  2009 you handled a 

mat te r  on behal f  o f  the ANC in the course of  which you 

prepared an aff idavi t  that  was to  be s igned and was actual l y  

s igned by Mr Delani  Mzi la?  You remember the – handl ing  

such a mat te r?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Yes tha t  is  cor rect  Cha i r  I  do 20 

remember the mat ter.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Can you te l l  me how that  came about  and 

what  happened and whether  – how i t  came about  that  Mr 

Mzi la  s igned that  a ff idavi t  and we know that  he  a lso  s igned 

another  one la te r  on and you might  not  have been involved 
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in  the draf t ing of  the second one.  Can you just  te l l  how the 

sto ry happened.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Thank you Chai r.   I  –  as I  have 

ind icated I  was contacted by Mr Senzo Mchunu who was the 

Provinc ia l  Secretary at  the t ime for  the  Af r i can Nat ional  

Congress ind icated that  he had received a ca l l  f rom an 

invest igator  who was looking in to a cer ta in  mat ter  and they 

requi red conf i rmat ion that  an amount  of  R1 mi l l ion had been 

donated to  the Af r ican Nat ional  Congress in  KwaZulu Nata l  

Province.  10 

 We then together  wi th  my col league Mr John Wi l l s  

reached out  to  the  invest igator.   Once again Chai r  as I  

ind icated I  could  not  recal l  the name of  the invest igator  

when you know I  consul ted wi th  Mr Hul ley but  he d id 

ind icate to  me that  the invest igator  was Colonel  Du P looy 

and I  accept  that  and a lso  once we had spoken to h im we 

then obviously were able to  go back to  – I  went  back to  Mr  

Mchunu the Provinc ia l  Secretary at  the t ime and I  in formed 

h im you know of  exact ly  what  the issue was.  

 He was then of  the v iew that  the – because the  20 

manner… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe le t  us sta r t  by you – to  te l l  us what  

the invest igat ing off icer  sa id.   What  in format ion were you 

looking fo r  and what  d id  he te l l  you as you recal l?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   So the – so as far  as I  can recal l  
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Chai r  the invest igator  I  cannot  remember a l l  the deta i ls  but  

I  can cer ta in ly  conf i rm that  the invest igator  was looking for  

conf i rmat ion f rom the ANC that  an amount  of  R1 mi l l ion had 

been received as  a donat ion.   So that  was the crux  of  the 

mat te r  and what  the invest igator  was looking fo r.   And he 

d id ind icate that  there was an ongoing invest igat ion and 

Chai r  I  would want  to  a lso ind icate that  I  mean I  – I  have no 

recol lect ion of  the  deta i l s  o f  the invest igat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja no that  i s  f ine.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Or  – yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja cont inue.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   But  the issue was just  the  

conf i rmat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Of  receipt  by the ANC KwaZulu Nata l  

o f  the R1 mi l l ion donat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay cont inue.   I  in te rrupted you when 

you sa id af te r  speaking to  the invest igator  you went  back to  

Mr Mchunu and what  happened? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Thank you Chai r.   I  then went  back 20 

to  Mr Mchunu as  the person who had basica l l y  sought  our  

assis tance just  to  g ive h im feedback that  we had engaged 

wi th  the invest igator  and he had c la r i f ied exact ly  what  

in format ion he was looking fo r.  

 He then ind icated that  because th is  re la ted to  fund 
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ra is ing issues tha t  is  basica l l y  a  mat ter  that  would be deal t  

wi th  by the f inance off i ce  through the Provinc ia l  Treasurer  

and the Provinc ia l  Treasurer  at  the t ime was Mr Mike 

Mabuyakhulu.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   He – he then obviously I  d id  b r ie f  

them that  the mat ter  was urgent  and the – the invest igators 

were just  looking  for  th is  conf i rmat ion and therefore there 

needed to be cooperat ion which  he d id not  have any 

d i f f icu l ty  wi th  and he immediate ly  contacted Mr Mike  10 

Mabuyakhulu just  to  br ing to  h is  at tent ion that  there was 

th is  request  which came f rom you know the invest igator.  

 Mr Mabuyakhulu then sa id i t  is  f ine he wi l l  engage 

wi th  mysel f  and Mr John Wi l ls  just  to  g ive us background 

and basica l l y  conf i rm i f  such monies were received.  

 Chai r  I  do not  remember i f  once again I  need to  

c la r i fy  th is  I  do  not  remember i f  I  then met  w i th  Mr  

Mabuyakhulu on the very same day or  i f  the ar rangement 

was made and then we engaged at  some point  but  I  can 

conf i rm that  we d id engage and i t  was a very br ie f  20 

engagement  because f rom what  I  understand is  that  fur ther  

engagements were held wi th  my col league and par tner  Mr 

John Wi l ls .  

 But  I  can then as stated in  my aff idavi t  Mr  

Mabuyakhulu then d id conf i rm that  he indeed the  Af r ican 
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Nat ional  Congress KwaZulu Nata l  had received a  donat ion  

of  R1 mi l l ion and that  th is  was basica l l y  received as par t  o f  

preparat ions fo r  the ANC conference – Provinc ia l  

Conference.  

 And he a lso – Chai r  I  do not  have fu l l  recol lect ion  

but  i f  you look at  the aff idavi t  because now having looked at  

i t  years la te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   You know the – the aff idavi t  has 

very,  very speci f ic  you know sta tements that  are  there.   10 

Fi rs t ly  the aff idav i ts… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Which aff idavi t  a re you ta lk ing about?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   The aff idavi t  that  Mr Mzi la  deposed 

to.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .   Cont inue.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   I  am not  sure Chai r  Mr Hul ley  would 

want  to  admi t  that  a ff idavi t  f i rs t?  

CHAIRPERSON:   We wi l l  look at  i t  la ter  but  I  just  want  you 

to  te l l  what  happened.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Sure.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   As natura l ly  as you can.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Thank you Chai r.   Then – because i f  

you look at  the content  o f  the aff idavi t  i t  c lear ly  s tates that  

f i rs t ly  the – the donat ion had been made by a cer ta in  Doctor  

somewhere and secondly that  such a donat ion was received 
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through Mr S ipho Shabala la.   Now that  is  conta ined in  an  

aff idavi t  and obviously as a – as a you know a legal  

pract i t ioner  those would be inst ruct ions that  you receive 

f rom c l ient  and then you know we would prepare an aff idavi t  

based on inst ruct ions that  c l ient  has received.  

 I  then obviously enqui red … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  –  oh wel l  I  … 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   As par t  o f… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Before we go to  the aff idavi t  your  

engagement  wi th  Mr Mabuyakhulu i s  i t  that  engagement  10 

f rom which you ind icated or  you put  in  – in fo rmat ion in  Mr  

Mzi la ’s  aff idavi t  that  the donat ion  that  was spoken about  

came f rom Dr Savoy?  So in  other  words where d id that  –  

who in  the  ANC to ld you about  that?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Chai r  there were two people that  

were ANC representat ives who gave in format ion that  is  –  or  

content  that  is  conta ined in  that  a ff idavi t  that  I  d i rect ly  

engaged wi th .  I t  was Mr Mabuyakhulu and Mr Mzi la  and I  –  I  

be l ieve that  the bulk of  the aff i  –  of  the content  had been 

g iven to  mysel f  by Mr Mabuyakhulu.   Because at  a  la ter  20 

stage I  then spoke to Mr Mzi la  to  basica l l y  –  maybe Chai r  i f  

I  can just  cont inue f rom where I  le f t  o ff?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja cont inue ja .  

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   But  those are the two ind iv iduals that  

actual ly  gave in format ion that  formed par t  o f  the content  
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that  is  in  the aff idavi t  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes cont inue then.   So you got  the  

in format ion f rom Mr Mabuyakhulu and what  were your  

inst ruct ions in  te rms of  what  to  do now that  you had spoken 

to Mr Mabuyakhulu? 

MS NGUBANE ZULU:   Once I  had spoken to Mr 

Mabuyakhulu he then – so I  –  I  asked i f  you know there  

were – there were – there was proof  o r  any documentat ion 

such as an acknowledgment  le t ter  o r  any e lement  just  

conf i rming receipt  o f  th is  donat ion.   He then requested that  10 

I  must  actual l y  engage wi th  the Mzi la  who is  respons ib le for  

the f inancia l  admin is t rat ion of  the – the ANC off ice – 

Provinc ia l  o ff i ce.   I  then – and he a lso ind icated that  

because of  Mr Mzi la ’s  posi t ion he  is  the one – he was the 

one who was going to  depose to the aff idavi t .    

 And Chai r  I  must  h igh l ight  that  th is  was noth ing 

unusual  because having done work fo r  the ANC over  the  

years they – once you have consul ted wi th  them as c l ient  

they would then make a determinat ion on who wi l l  depose to  

an aff idavi t .  20 

 For  example i f  i t  is  a  mat te r  that  re la tes to  Ethekwin i  

reg ion they wi l l  say,  the regional  secretary wi l l  s ign the 

aff idavi t  but  th is  would fo l low var ious consul ta t ions .   So i t  

was noth ing unusual  and we have done that  p reviously.   And 

hence then I  engaged wi th  Mr Mzi la  to  basica l l y  now say to  
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h im,  Mr Mzi la  these are the inst ruct ions that  we have 

received and th is  i s  the background that  is  –  they have 

been advised tha t  you are going to  depose to the aff idavi t  

by the Provinc ia l  Treasurer  and Mr Mzi la  at  the t ime 

appeared to  me as someone who had fu l l  knowledge of  the 

mat te r  because he d id ind icate that  yes indeed the – the  

Provinc ia l  Treasurer  had engaged h im on the mat te r.  

 I  then – I  remember cer ta in ly  Chai r  that  some of  the  

in format ion that  I  obta ined f rom Mr Mzi la  was just  to  – fo r  

completeness of  the aff idavi t ,  h i s  qua l i f i ca t ions and wh ich  10 

in fo rmed me tha t  he  possessed a  Bcom degree and  I  a lso  

spec i f i ca l l y  –  because in  as  much as  I  knew tha t  he  worked  

in  the  ANC of f i ce ,  I  was not  ce r ta in  o f  h is  job  t i t le .   He then  

gave tha t  to  me and adv ised tha t  he  was the  f inance  

manager  bu t  th roughout  the  d i scuss ions –  so  there  was no 

o ther  oppos i t ion ,  o r  any o ther  i ssues ra ised.   We went  

th rough,  as  the  Cha i r  wou ld  have seen,  the  a f f idav i t  i s  a  

s imp le  two-pages  tha t  bas ica l l y  conf i rms tha t  the  donat ion  

was rece ived,  tha t  i t  had come f rom a  ce r ta in  Dr  Savoy,  

and i t  had been rece ived th rough  Mr  S ipho Shaba la la  and 20 

tha t  was bas ica l l y  the  conf i rmat ion .    

 And i t  was then emai led  to  Mr  Mz i l a  and Mr  Mzi la  –  

a t  the  t ime,  I  was based in  P ie termar i t zburg  and the  

invest iga to r  was in  Durban.   So,  I  then asked Mr  Mzi la  to  

go  th rough the  a f f idav i t  –  in  fac t ,  te lephon ica l l y  we 
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engaged on i t  because i t  was jus t  a  bas ic  a f f idav i t  and then  

comple ted  i t  and then I  emai led  i t  th rough to  h im and he –  

and I  asked h im to  pr in t  i t  ou t  and get  i t  s igned and 

commiss ioned and de l i vered to  the  invest iga tor  a t  the  t ime 

to  wh ich  he  agreed.   So,  tha t  was  bas i ca l l y  the  events  on  

my s ide ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Hu l ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.   Ms Ngubane-

Zu lu ,  i f  you  cou ld  look a t  Bund le  RR-4 a t  page 1843 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I f  she  wou ld  be  ab le  to  see tha t  one.   10 

[ laughs]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    By  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    A t  wh ich  page?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    A t  page 1843.   For  your  benef i t ,  

Mr  Cha i r,  i t  i s  Bund le  D in  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    . . . in  the  ser ies (?) .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  assume i t  i s  the  one –  the  second one 

tha t  i s  here?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   D id  you  get  the  page number,  

Ms Ngubane-Zu lu?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Cha i r,  I  am jus t  go ing . . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  tak ing  you to  Mr  Mz i la ’s  f i rs t  

a f f idav i t .   I s  tha t  cor rec t ,  Mr  Hu l ley?  
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ADV HULLEY SC :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Sor ry,  Cha i r.   I  am not  very  good  

w i th  techno logy,  and I  am prov ing  to  be  one o f  them.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    I  am now on page 15.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   The page  is  1843.   I s  tha t  r igh t?   

And th i s  t ime we are  l ook ing  a t  red  numbers  because there  

are  no  b lack  numbers .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Cor rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Have you got  i t?  10 

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Have you got  i t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Yes,  I  am jus t  scro l l ing  down.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    I  am now a t  page 166.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.    

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    I  am a lmost  there ,  Cha i r.   

Apo log ies  fo r  the  de lay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    1843?  20 

ADV HULLEY SC :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Now jus t  to  ident i f y  th is  document .   I t  

has  go t  the  words a f f idav i t  be tween the  t raml ines and i t  

purpo r ts  to  be  an  a f f idav i t  p repared by  Mr  De lan i  Mz i la  and 
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i f  you  look a t  page 1844,  the  fo l low ing page,  i t  has  go t  the  

de ta i l s  o f  the  deponent  and i t  has  go t  the  de ta i l s  o f  the 

commiss ioner  o f  oa ths  on  the  fo l low ing page.   Now you 

have spoken o f  a  document  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  has  go t  the  s ignatu re  o f  the  deponent  

and the  de ta i l s  o f  the  commiss ioner  o f  oa ths?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    The s ignature .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.   And o f  course ,  

the  de ta i l s  o f  the  commiss ioner  o f  oa ths .   Have you seen  10 

th is  document  be fore ,  Ms Ngubane-Zu lu?    

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    I  d id  see i t ,  the  s igned vers ion  o f  i t ,  

Cha i r.   I  d id  see i t  when the  Commiss ion  emai led  i t  to  me.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    And is  th is  cons is ten t  w i th  the  

document  tha t  you had emai led  in  a  dra f t  fo rm to  Mr  Mzi la?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    The contents ,  i t  looks  –  i t  cer ta in ly  

looks cons is ten t ,  bu t  a l though I  do  no t  reca l l  bu t  I  doubt  

very  much the re  wou ld  have been much o f ,  you know,  

changes on the  document  because  by  the  t ime I  sent  i t  to  

Mr  Mz i la  we had,  bas ica l l y,  fu l l y  d iscussed the  content  o f  20 

the  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  i s  the  pos i t ion  tha t  a f te r  Mr  Mz i la  

had s igned the  a f f idav i t  tha t  you had sent  to  h im,  you d id  

no t  see i t  because you asked h im to  sent  i t  to  the 

invest iga to r?  
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MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  you d id  no t  ask  h im to  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    So  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    You d id  no t  ask  h im to  send  you a  

s igned copy?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    No,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    I  d id  no t  ge t  a  s igned copy.   I  am 

not  sure ,  Cha i r,  i f  maybe a  s igned  copy was a t  some po in t  

sent  to  my co l league . . . [ in te rvenes ]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Bu t  I  d id  no t  rece ive  the  s igned  

copy.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  bu t  you have had a  chance to  read 

th is  document ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Yes,  I  have Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Does i t  accord  w i th  what  –  w i th  the  

content  o f  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  you had p repared and sent  to  

Mr  Mz i la?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  cont inue Mr  Hu l ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.   Now you had an 

oppor tun i ty  to  chat  w i th  Mr  Mzi la  about  th is  a f f idav i t  

subsequent ly.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  
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ADV HULLEY SC :    And cou ld  you  te l l  us  about  the  na ture  

and the  content  o f  the  d iscuss ion  tha t  the  two o f  you had  

and when i t  took  p lace?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  and when i t  took  p lace.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    So ,  once aga in ,  Cha i r,  I  do  no t  

have the  exact  reco l lec t ion  when  tha t  d iscuss ion  be tween 

myse l f  and Mr  Mz i la  took p lace.   F i rs t l y,  i t  was not  a  fo rmal  

meet ing  where ,  you know,  he  had ar ranged to  meet  w i th  

me,  o r  I  had done the  same.   I  was,  bas ica l l y,  you know 

a t tend ing  to  o ther  work  or  in  o ther  ins t ruc t ions a t  the  ANC 10 

o f f i ce  and I  saw Mr  Mzi la ,  who bas ica l l y  ind i ca ted ,  and we  

had a  ve ry  cord ia l  re la t ionsh ip .   You know,  gree t  each 

o ther  a l l  the  t ime.    

 So,  we had bumped in to  each o the r,  and he had  

ind ica ted  tha t  he  jus t  wants  to  speak to  me qu ick l y.   You 

know,  I  must  come pass when I  am done.   Come pass h i s  

o f f i ce  when I  am done w i th  my  o ther  work .   So,  tha t  i s  

exact ly  what  I  d id .   I  went  pass h is  o f f i ce  and Mr Mz i la  then  

ra ised,  you know,  an  issue wh ich  was a  b i t  surpr is ing  to  me 

a t  the  t ime because he ind ica ted  tha t  he  had,  bas ica l l y  –  20 

he  reminded me about  the  a f f idav i t ,  you know,  tha t  he  was 

–  he  had deposed to  and I  sa id :   Yes,  obv ious ly,  I  

remember.    

 And he sa id :   You know what?   He rea l i ses  tha t  he  

shou ld  no t  have  done tha t .   That  i s  a  h igh ly  complex  
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mat te r,  and he has been ta lk ing  –  he  has been d i scuss ing  

i t  w i th  even o ther,  you know,  comrades.   And he has been  

warned because he does not  have much o f  a  background  

around mat te rs  a r is ing  the re  f rom and does not  have d i rec t  

knowledge o f  what  happened.   And you know,  he  -  Mr  Mz i la  

i s  a  ve ry,  you know,  he  is  funny guy,  so  to  speak.    

 So,  you know,  he  jus t  sa id :   Shu!   You know,  I  

a lmost  go t  myse l f  in to  t roub le .   I  sa id :   What  do  you  mean?   

He sa id :   Shu,  you a lmost  go t  me,  you know,  ar res ted .   You 

know,  bu t  in  –  obv ious ly,  we were  d iscuss ing  th is  in  10 

is iZu lu ,  Cha i r,  you know.   And he sa id ,  obv ious ly,  th is  was  

jus t  too  much.   He d id  no t  unders tand.   And I  sa id :   Oh,  

okay.   And he sa id :   No,  no ,  no .   But  he  has reso lved the  

mat te r.   You know.   Because I  was qu i te  concerned.    

 And I  d id  no t  have much,  you know,  background  

around what  h is  concerns were  and what  the  new 

deve lopments  were .   So,  I  then asked h im,  you know,  what  

had happened and then he sa id :   No,  the  mat te r  has now 

been reso lved.   He has g iven  –  he  has,  bas ica l l y,  

submi t ted  anothe r  a f f idav i t  c la r i f y ing  h is  pos i t ion  around 20 

the  mat te r.    

 And you know I  was qu i te  re l ieved and tha t  was  

bas ica l l y  the  –  and I  jus t  assured  h im,  obv ious ly,  I  am not  

as ,  you know,  he  is  someone tha t  I  knew wi th in  the  ANC 

of f i ce  bu t  a lso  I  had,  you know,  the  ob l i ga t ion  as  a  lega l  
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rep resenta t i ve  tha t  i f  the  mat te r  had been ra ised w i th  me,  I  

wou ld  have,  ac tua l l y,  you know,  ins is ted  tha t  we d iscuss i t  

as  I  had been ins t ruc ted  by  the  ANC prov inc ia l  leadersh ip  

and wou ld  have d iscussed i t .    

 And tha t  was the  end o f  the  mat te r,  bu t  a t  the  t ime  

when we d iscussed i t ,  he  seemed to  be  qu i te  comfor tab le  

because he fe l t  tha t  he  had put  on  record ,  you know,  and 

g iven background  or  c la r i f ied  cer ta in  i ssues tha t  needed to  

be  c la r i f ied .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    R igh t .   So,  i f  I  unders tand your  10 

tes t imony cor rec t l y.   He had exp la ined to  you tha t  he  had  

prepared a  subsequent  a f f idav i t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    In  wh ich  he  prov ided tha t  c la r i t y?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Yes,  and he d id  –  he  even in fo rmed  

me tha t  he  had  done so  independent ly  in  h i s  persona l  

capac i ty,  and he d id  i t  –  because I  was a lso  qu i te  

in te res ted .   I  th ink  tha t  i s  a lso  impor tan t  because I  was 

jus t  wonder ing  i f ,  you  know,  the  same mat te r  had been  

g iven to ,  you know,  o ther  l awyers  had been ins t ruc ted  to  20 

dea l  w i th  the  mat te r.    

 And he sa id ,  no ,  he  had done so  independent ly,  

and he secured the  serv i ces  o f  a  Mr  Gu lu(? )  to  –  jus t  to  

he lp  h im put  togethe r,  you know,  an  a f f idav i t ,  c la r i f y ing ,  

you know,  the  issues tha t  needed to  be  c la r i f ied .  
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ADV HULLEY SC :    And when you re fer  to  Mr  Gu lu  tha t  had  

ass is ted  h im in  p repar ing  tha t  a f f idav i t ,  a re  you re fe r r ing  to  

a  lega l  representa t i ve?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Yes,  tha t  is  co r rec t .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    And Mr  Gu lu ,  acco rd ing  to  your  

a f f idav i t ,  he  was an a t to rney,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    That  i s  what  I  unders tood.   Yes,  

tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Now. . .   So,  you yourse l f  was not  

invo l ved in  any  way in  the  prepara t ion  o f  a  second  10 

a f f idav i t ,  accord ing  to  your  tes t imony,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    No,  I  was not  Cha i r.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    And d id  you ever  ge t  to  –  d id  Mr  Mz i la  

p rov ide  you w i th  a  copy o f  the  second a f f idav i t  a t  a l l?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Not  a t  a l l ,  Cha i r.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  as  I  unders tand your  pos i t ion .   A re  

you say ing ,  one  o f  the  th ings tha t  you –  par t  o f  the 

in fo rmat ion  tha t  you were  g iven before  prepar ing  

Mr  Mzi la ’s  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  was tha t  the  donat ion  tha t  the  ANC 20 

had rece ived or  had been made by  Dr  Savoy,  i s  tha t  

unders tand o f  your  ev idence cor rec t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Cha i r,  I  am not  su re  a t  what  po in t  

the  name o f  Dr  Savoy and Mr  Shaba la la ,  you know,  came 

up.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Because  I  know when I  saw the  

a f f idav i t  now,  I  had no reco l lec t ion  o f ,  you know,  the  

d iscuss ion  a round,  fo r  example ,  Mr  S ipho Shaba la la .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Bu t  I  was reminded by  the  a f f idav i t .   

What  I  can conf i rm,  Cha i r,  i s  tha t  f i rs t l y,  the  conten t  o f  the  

a f f idav i t  was based on ins t ruc t ions tha t ,  you know,  we had 

rece ived f rom c l i en t  and be ing  the  ANC Kwazu lu-Nata l  and 

the  two ind i v idua ls  tha t  I  had persona l ly  engaged w i th  in  10 

re la t ion  to  the  contents  o f  the  a f f idav i t  were  Mr  Mike  

Mabuya Gulu  and  Mr  De lan i  Mz i la .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    So ,  the  en t i re  content  came f rom 

the  two ind i v idua ls .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   You say you cou ld  no t  remember  

the  name o f  Mr  Shaba la la  be ing  to ld  to  you.   I s  tha t  

cor rec t?   But  you  saw . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Yes.   Now,  obv ious ly,  yea rs  la te r  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    . . . I  cou ld  no t  reca l l  the ,  you know,  

the  names,  bu t  when I  looked a t  the  a f f idav i t ,  I  am qu i te  

cer ta in  o f  th is ,  tha t  tha t  wou ld  have been based on 

ins t ruc t ions tha t  we rece ived a t  the  t ime.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  i s  what  you  are  say ing  tha t  p r io r  to  

you see ing  Mr  Mz i la ’s  a f f idav i t  tha t  was supp l ied  to  you by  

the  Commiss ion ,  you wou ld  no t  –  you d id  no t  remember  

whethe r  Mr  Shaba la  fea tured in  th is  th ing ,  in  th is  mat te r,  

bu t  a f te r  you had seen i t  you remembered tha t  he  had  

fea tured,  o r  i s  the  pos i t ion  tha t  you jus t  see i t  here  in  the  

a f f idav i t ,  h is  name,  bu t  you have no reco l lec t ion ,  even now,  

tha t  i t  d id  fea ture  then?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    No,  Cha i r.   P r io r  to  be ing  supp l ied  

w i th  the  a f f idav i t ,  I  d id  no t  have reco l lec t ion ,  bu t  a f te r  10 

see ing  the  a f f idav i t ,  I  can  cer ta in ly  conf i rm tha t  the  content  

o f  the  a f f idav i t  was based on ins t ruc t ion  tha t  came f rom 

c l ien t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Now,  be tween Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  and  

Mr  Mzi la ,  who had to ld  you tha t  the  donor  o r  donat ion  had  

come f rom Dr  Savoy,  i f  anybody d id  say tha t  to  you? 

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Cha i r,  I  wou ld  be  ly ing .   I  do  no t  

have the  exact  reco l lec t ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    . . .o f  who sa id  what .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    You know,  once I  remembered,  you  

know . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    . . .even  before  look ing  a t  the  
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a f f idav i t  and what  I  am cer ta in  o f  i s  tha t  there  was  

conf i rmat ion  tha t  the  donat ion  was rece ived and tha t  was  

bas ica l l y  common cause,  you know,  be tween Mr  Mzi la  and 

Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  a t  the  t ime,  because l i ke  I  sa id  ear l ie r,  

when I  engaged w i th  Mr  Mz i la ,  I  remember  he  spec i f i ca l l y  

sa id  tha t :   No,  when I  was t ry ing  to  jus t  g ive  h im the  

background to  say why,  you know,  I  am mak ing  contac t  w i th  

h im and,  you know,  and he ind ica ted  tha t ,  yes ,  indeed,  he  

had engaged w i th  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu .    

 So,  there  was no d ispute  in  my v iew around the  10 

content  o f  the  a f f idav i t ,  bu t  I  cannot  exact ly  say  tha t  th is ,  

you know,  i s  what  was sa id  by  th is  ind iv idua l ,  bu t  there  

was cer ta in l y  ins t ruc t ions tha t  I  go t  f rom Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  

tha t  caused fo r  a  d ra f t  conf i rm ing rece ip t  o f  the  amount  o f  

a  donat ion  to  the  be  done and then the  second d iscuss ion  

or  engagement  took p lace w i th  Mr  Mz i la ,  jus t  conf i rm ing,  

you know,  the  contents  o f  the  a f f idav i t  o r  inser t ing  

whatever  de ta i l s  tha t  requ i red  to  be  inse r ted .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  see  tha t  in  your  a f f idav i t  to  the 

Commiss ion  in  paragraph 5  you say the  fo l low ing  in  the  20 

f i rs t  l i ne :  

“A f te r  I  b r ie fed  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  about  the  

request  f rom the  invest iga to r,  he  conf i rmed to 

me tha t  the  ANC KZN had indeed  rece ived a  

donat ion  o f  R 1  m i l l ion  f rom a  cer ta in  Dr  Savoy  
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when they were  prepar ing  fo r  one  o f  the  ANC 

conferences.  

I  asked h im i f  there  was any proof  o f  th is  

donat ion  be ing  made or  an  acknowledgment  

sent  to  the  donor.  

He adv ised tha t  such admin is t ra t ion  wou ld  

have been hand led  by  Mr  De lan i  Mz i la  who 

dea ls  w i th  day- to -day ANC f inance  mat te rs .  

Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  then requested me to  ass is t  

w i th  d ra f t ing  the  a f f idav i t ,  conf i rm ing rece ip t  o f  10 

th is  donat ion ,  as  he  was ce r ta in  tha t  i t  had 

been rece ived.  

He a lso  adv ised tha t  Mr  De lan i  Mz i la  wou ld  be  

the  deponent  and w i l l  accord ing ly  s ign  the  

a f f idav i t  once he  conf i rmed the  de ta i l s  in  h i s  

records  regard ing  the  rece ip t  o f  a  donat ion . . . ”  

So,  here  you are  spec i f i c  tha t  i t  was Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  who  

sa id  tha t  indeed the  ANC KZN had rece ived a  donat ion  o f  

R 1  m i l l ion  f rom a  cer ta in  Dr  Savoy when they were  

prepar ing  fo r  one  o f  the  ANC confe rences?  I s  tha t  cor rec t?   20 

Is  tha t  no t  cor rec t?   What  i s  the  pos i t ion?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Cha i r,  tha t  a f f idav i t  was bas ica l l y  

conf i rm ing the  content  o f  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  I  had rece ived 

f rom the  Commiss ion  tha t  Mr  Mz i la  had deposed to .   I  want  

to  be  very  caut ious and not  jus t  a  por t ion ,  you know,  the 
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con tent  o f  the  a f f idav i t  fo r  ce r ta in  to  any ind iv idua l  

because a t  the  t ime there  was no  d ispute  around i t  and I  

do  a lso  accept  the  content  o f  Mr  Mz i la ’s  a f f idav i t ,  the  la te r  

one,  wh ich  obv ious l y  I  have now –  because I  do  no t  have 

ev idence o f  what  was the  unders tand ing ,  h is  unders tand ing  

a t  the  t ime.    

 Safe  fo r  the  fac t  tha t  I  re l ied  on  the  fac t  tha t  he  

he ld  a  cer ta in  pos i t ion  w i th in  the  ANC,  and he bas ica l l y  

conf i rmed w i th  me tha t  a  d iscuss ion  had taken p lace w i th  

Mr  Mabuyakhu lu .   And he unders tood,  bas ica l l y,  you  know,  10 

the  content  o f  the  a f f idav i t ,  bu t  I  do  no t  want  to ,  bas i ca l l y,  

say  in  th is  ins tance,  th is  i s  what  I  was to ld  by  

Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  and/or  Mr  Mz i la .  

 But  I  want  to  conf i rm tha t  jo in t l y,  a f te r  hav ing  

consu l ted  w i th  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu ,  I  –  the  content  was a l so  

conf i rmed by  Mr  Mzi la  who then deposed to  the  a f f idav i t .   

So,  those were  the  ins t ruc t ions,  in  my v iew,  tha t  came f rom 

the  ANC as a  c l ien t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  in  th is  paragraph,  you are  no t  – 

you d id  no t  equ ivocate ,  you are  no t  uncer ta in .   Your  20 

sentence is  qu i te  c lea r.   You say:  

“A f te r  I  b r ie fed  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  about  the  

request  f rom the  invest iga to r,  he  conf i rmed to 

me tha t  the  ANC KZN had indeed  rece ived a  

donat ion  o f  R  1  m i l l ion  f rom a  cer ta in  
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Dr  Savoy. . . ”  

A re  you now say ing  tha t  i s  no t  t rue?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Cha i r,  I  am not  say ing  tha t  i s  no t  

t rue .   What  I  am say ing  i s  tha t  tha t  conf i rmat ion ,  I  am 

cer ta in  i t  had come f rom –  maybe in  the  a f f idav i t ,  I  

spec i f i ca l l y  sa id  i t  came f rom Mr Mabuyakhu lu .   What  I  

even in fo rmed the  ev idence leader  was tha t  I  am cer ta in  

tha t  there  was conf i rmat ion  o f  the  donat ion  tha t  was 

rece ived.    

 I  then –  my memory  was ass i s ted  by  hav ing  s igh t  10 

o f  the  ac tua l  a f f idav i t  by  Mr  De lan i  Mz i la  because then tha t  

i s  what  pu t  me in  a  pos i t ion  to  ac tua l l y  conf i rm tha t .   I  

wou ld  no t  want  to ,  you know,  approach a  spec i f i c  

in fo rmat ion  or  a l l egat ion  to ,  you know,  e i the r  one o f  them 

but  ra ther  to  say  I  have consu l ted  w i th  the  one and then I  

d id  no t  consu l t  w i th  the  second one and the  conten t  o f  the  

a f f idav i t  was conf i rmed by  bo th  par t ies  and then i t  was 

deposed to  by  Mr  Mzi la .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  must  –  how must  I  read th is  

sentence o f  you r  a f f idav i t  then?  Must  I  read i t  in  a  manner  20 

tha t  says you do  not  know whether  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  was  

the  one who sa id  tha t  the  ANC had rece ived a  donat ion  o f  

R 1  m i l l ion  f rom a  ce r ta in  Dr  Savoy?  Must  I  read i t  on  the  

bas is  tha t  you do not  know whether  he  sa id  tha t ,  o r  how 

must  I  read i t  to  mean?  



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 261 of 357 
 

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Cha i r,  I  wou ld  request  tha t  i t  be 

read as  these were  the  ins t ruc t ions tha t  came f rom the  

ANC as a  c l ien t  and the  consu l t a t ion  o f  the  in format ion  

wou ld  have come f rom two par t ies  and tha t  i s  what  I  can 

cer ta in ly  conf i rm tha t  i t  was Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  and De lan i  

Mz i la  who bas ica l l y  gave the  content  o f  the  a f f idav i t ,  and i t  

was put  together  as  such.    

 So,  the  ins t ruc t ions –  maybe what  I  shou ld  sa id  in  

the  a f f idav i t  i s  tha t  the  ANC d id  indeed conf i rm tha t ,  you  

know,  i t  had rece ived the  donat ion  and tha t  the  donat ion  10 

had come f rom Dr  Savoy.   Cha i r,  un for tunate ly,  th is  was 

2008 and I  have t r ied ,  and I  had the  same engagement  w i th  

the  ev idence leader,  and I  sa id  I  cannot ,  you know,  ou t r igh t  

say  th is  i s  what  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  sa id ,  th is  i s  what  Mr  Mz i la  

sa id .    

 The on ly  i ssue tha t  I  remember  cer ta in ly  i s  tha t  

Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  cou ld  no t  cont r ibu te  any content  because  

he sa id  he  does not  have in fo rmat ion  in  re la t ion  to  th is  and 

re fer red  me to  the  re levant  o f f i ce  wh ich  was the  f inance 

o f f i ce  in  th is  ins tance.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  i s  your  pos i t ion ,  as  you g ive  

ev idence,  tha t  i t  was one o f  two peop le  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .who to ld  you to ld  the  donat ion  had  

been rece ived –  a  donat ion  o f  R 1  m i l l ion  had been 
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rece ived f rom a  cer ta in  Dr  Savoy,  and you are  say ing  i t  i s  

e i ther  –  i t  was e i ther  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu  or  Mr  Mz i la .   I s  tha t  

what  you are  say ing?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   Now,  d id  you prepare  the  a f f idav i t  

be fore  speak ing  to  Mr  Mz i la  o r  meet ing  w i th  h im or  d id  you 

prepare  i t  on ly  a f te r  you had met  h im? 

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    So ,  to  be  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Mr  Mz i la  –  I  contac ted  –  the  f i rs t  10 

engagement  was w i th  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    Thereaf te r,  a  d ra f t  was p repared.   

And tha t  i s  the  po in t  I  am t ry ing  to  make,  Cha i r,  tha t  I  

cannot  exact ly  say  tha t  a t  the  t ime o f  engag ing  w i th  

Mr  Mz i la ,  paragraph A and B  and C were  a l ready there .   I  

cannot  conf i rm tha t .   And hence  I  then needed to  then  

engage w i th  Mr  Mz i la  and take  h im  th rough the  ins t ruc t ions  

tha t  I  had rece ived a t  the  t ime,  and  he appeared to  be  very  

much aware .  20 

 And I  go t  fu r ther  in fo rmat ion  f rom h im -  what  I  

have def in i te  reco l lec t ion  o f  i s  tha t  Mr  Mz i la  gave me,  

obv ious ly,  h is  educat iona l  background and h i s  pos i t ion  a t  

the  ANC of f i ce  a t  the  t ime,  bu t  the  d iscuss ion  – the re  was 

noth ing  tha t  was  d isputed a t  the  t ime or  cont rary  to ,  you 
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know –  bas ica l l y,  there  were  no  cont rad ic t ions  a round the  

ins t ruc t ions a t  the  t ime.  

 Because by  the  t ime I  was exp la in ing  myse l f  to  

Mr  Mz i la  to  say tha t  th is  i s  what ,  you know,  has happened.   

We rece ived the  ins t ruc t ions,  we engaged w i th  the  

prov inc ia l  sec re ta ry,  thereaf te r  the  prov inc ia l  t reasurer.   He 

conf i rmed tha t  he  was aware  o f  such engagement .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   I  may be m is taken but  I  unders tood 

Mr  Mzi la ’s  second a f f idav i t  to  say  tha t  he  d id  no t  have  

persona l  knowledge o f  the  donat ion ,  o ther  than what  he  10 

was to ld  by  Mr  Mabuyakhu lu .   I s  tha t  your  unders tand ing  

as  we l l  o f  –  par t  o f  what  h is  a f f idav i t  says?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    That  i s  t he  unders tand ing ,  Cha i r,  

tha t  I  now have.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    And i t  i s  in  the  second a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    And because I  do  no t  have 

background,  I  have no reason to  ac tua l l y  d ispu te ,  you 

know,  the  content  o f  h is  a f f idav i t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   Okay,  Mr  Hu l ley.   Anyth ing?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.   Jus t  one  fu r ther  

po in t .   The a f f idav i t  tha t  you prepared on the  17 t h  o f  May o f  

2021,  tha t  par t i cu la r  a f f idav i t ,  Ms  Ngubane-Zu lu ,  who d id  

you prepare  tha t  a f f idav i t?   D id  you consu l t  w i th  anybody  
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be fore  you prepared tha t  a f f idav i t?  

MS NGUBANE-ZULU :    I  d id  no t  consu l t  w i th  anybody.   

What  I  d id ,  Cha i r.   I  th ink  i t  i s  ve ry  impor tan t  to  ment ion  

th is ,  tha t  because these were  ins t ruc t ions tha t  came f rom,  

you know,  c l ien t ,  I  d id  a le r t  the  cur ren t  P rov inc ia l  

Cha i rperson,  Mr  S ih le  Z i ka la la  tha t  I  have been –  I  have 

rece ived a  no t ice  to  appear  be fore  the  Commiss ion  and 

tha t  wou ld  be  dea l ing  w i th  mat te rs  re la t ing ,  you know,  the  

ANC and the  –  you know,  a  donat ion  tha t  was rece ived.   He  

then,  you know,  accepted,  and ind ica ted  tha t  i t  appears  10 

they have in  the  o f f i ce  or  what .   I  am not  su re  i f  i t  was  

h imse l f  o r  someone e l se  i n  the  o f f i ce  had a l ready rece ived  

tha t  no t ice  so  tha t  conf i rmat ion  I  go t  f rom Mr  [ ind i s t inc t ] .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    And when you say tha t  when you had a  

consu l ta t ion  w i th  the  ev idence leaders  you are  re fe r r ing  to  

a  consu l ta t ion  tha t  took p lace  the  Saturday,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU :   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Bu t  when you prepared th is  a f f idav i t  

d id  you have an consu l ta t ion  w i th  the  ev idence  leader  20 

when you were  prepar ing  th i s  a f f idav i t?  

MS NGUBANE ZULU :   No,  I  d id  no t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you ta lk ing  about  her  a f f idav i t  to  the  

Commiss ion?  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Cor rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Or  the  answer  i s  you d id  no t ,  ja .  

MS NGUBANE ZULU :   The f i r s t  contac t  tha t  I  made w i th  

the  ev idence leader  was on –  we l l ,  in i t ia l l y  there  were  

emai ls  tha t  were  sent  las t  week and there fo re  we conf i rmed  

my appearance  fo r  today and we ar ranged  fo r  a  

consu l ta t ion  to  take  p lace on Satu rday even ing .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r ,  I  have no  fu r ther  

quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  thank you very  much,  Ms Ngubane 

Zu lu ,  thank you fo r  hav ing  ava i led  yourse l f ,  you are  now 10 

excused.  

MS NGUBANE ZULU :   Thank you,  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Do I  need to  ad jou rn  fo r  a  

few minutes  be fore  you can get  Mr  Mz i la?  

ADV HULLEY SC:    He is  on  the  screen a l ready.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  sha l l  we jus t  cont inue?  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Mr  Cha i r ,  I  th ink  we have su f f i c ien t  

contex t  o f  what  Mr  Mz i la ’s  ev idence is  about .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes ,  yes ,  so  you shou ld  be  qu i te  

shor t  w i th  h im.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    I t  shou ld  be  shor t ,  i f  he  cou ld  be  sworn  

in .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Good even ing ,  Mr  Mz i la .  
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MR MZILA:    Good even ing ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  thank you  fo r  ava i l ing  yourse l f  to  

ass is t  the  Commiss ion .   The reg i s t ra r  w i l l  admin i s te r  an  

oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion  to  you now.  

MR MZILA:    Okay,  Cha i rperson .   I  am not  ( ind is t inc t  –  

record ing  d i s to r ted)  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay,  a l r igh t .   A re  you  lega l l y  

rep resented o r  no t?   You are  no t  represented.  

MR MZILA:    Yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Okay,  she w i l l  admin is te r  10 

the  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion  to  you.   Okay,  cont inue? 

REGISTRAR :   Wi l l  you  be tak ing  the  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion?  

MR MZILA:    The  oath .  

REGISTRAR :   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record?  

MR MZILA:    Dena l i  Mz i la .  

REGISTRAR :   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  t ak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MR MZILA:    No.  

REGISTRAR :   Do you cons ider  t he  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  20 

MR MZILA:    Yes.  

REGISTRAR :   Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  the  ev idence 

you w i l l  g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th  the  who le  t ru th  and  noth ing  

bu t  the  t ru th?   I f  so ,  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand and say  

so  he lp  me God.  
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DELANI  MZILA:   So he lp  me God.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   A re  you le f t -handed,  Mr  

Mz i la?  

MR MZILA:    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    She sa id  ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and you 

ra ised your  le f t  hand.  

MR MZILA:    Oh,  okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Mr  Cha i r ,  I  know tha t  Mr  Mz i la  had 

requested the  oppor tun i ty  to  tes t i f y  th rough an in te rpre ter .   10 

I  unders tand tha t  one was a r ranged,  i t  was –  I  unders tand  

tha t  he  is  a l so  go ing  to  be  l ink ing  in  v i r tua l l y  because Mr  

Mzi la  i s  f rom Kwazu lu-Nata l .   We unders tand tha t  i f  we get  

an  in te rpre te r  f rom Johannesburg  i t  o f ten  causes prob lems.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And the  paperwork  tha t  needs to  be  

done,  has i t  been  done? 

ADV HULLEY SC:    I  unders tand tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Whenever  the re  i s  an  in te rpre ter  we 

shou ld  have tha t  done.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    I  unders tand tha t  the  in te rpre ter  has  20 

been sworn  in ,  he  was the  gent leman tha t  tes t i f ied  

prev ious l y  –  so r ry ,  tha t  we used prev ious l y  and whom you  

commended.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Where  is  the  paperwork  re la t ing  to  h im? 

ADV HULLEY SC:    I  unders tand tha t  g iven the  la teness o f  
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the  hour  because the  request  on ly  came th rough,  i f  I  

unders tand co r rec t l y ,  today.   But  the  paperwork  i t se l f  had 

not  been prepared.   But  I  unders tand tha t  the  in te rpre ter ,  

the  spec i f i c  in te rpre te r  has been  sworn  in  p rev ious l y  by  

you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  bu t  I  need  to  see whether  tha t  i s  

fac tua l l y  t rue .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Yes.   Cou ld  I  ask  tha t  the  mat te r  s tand 

down b r ie f l y ,  Mr  Cha i r ,  in  o rder  to  sor t  ou t  th is .   

CHAIRPERSON :    What  i s  h is  name,  the  in te rpre ter?   You  10 

do not  have the  name? 

ADV HULLEY SC:    We wi l l  p rov ide  you w i th  h is  de ta i l s  in  

a  moment ,  Mr  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  wanted to  see whether  i t  i s  go ing  to  

r ing  a  be l l .   I  know a  ce r ta in  in te rp re ter  tha t  we used when 

Mr  Mah langu –  was i t  Mr  Mah langu?   

ADV HULLEY SC:    I  be l ieve  so ,  Mr  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  wou ld  have been done under  your  

work  s t ream.   

ADV HULLEY SC:    That  was under  my work  s t ream,  I  20 

be l ieve  i t  i s  the  same in te rpre ter .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  tha t  i s  go ing  to  de lay  us .   Mr  Mz i la ,  

a re  you in t im ida ted by  the  language tha t  i s  used  in  th is  

fo rum?  You th ink  you w i l l  no t  manage answer ing  quest ions  

in  Eng l ish?  
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MR MZILA:    No,  I  w i l l  t ry ,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hey?  

MR MZILA:    Bu t  I  w i l l  t ry ,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  I  do  no t  want  you to  fee l  tha t  you 

have to  use Eng l ish  i f  you  rea l l y  w ish  to  use is iZu lu ,  bu t  I  

am jus t  ask ing .   Somet imes peop le  say we l l ,  I  do  know 

Eng l ish  i t  i s  jus t  tha t  maybe somet imes lega l  te rms might  

g ive  me prob lems.  

MR MZILA:    Comrade Cha i rpe rson because ( i nd i s t inc t  –  

record ing  d i s to r ted)  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink ,  Mr  Mz i la ,  you th ink  you a re  in  an  

ANC meet ing  now,  you sa id  Comrade Cha i rpe rson.  

MR MZILA:    Oh,  sor ry .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  so  maybe le t  us  s tand down fo r  

f i ve  m inutes .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Le t  us  see i f  we can so r t  th is  ou t .   

Obv ious l y  th is  shou ld  have been sor ted  ou t  much ear l ie r .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    I t  ought  to  have been,  Cha i r ,  I  

apo log i se  fo r  tha t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Unfor tunate l y ,  the  request  on l y  came 

th rough today.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay,  I  w i l l  s tand down fo r  about  f i ve  

m inutes .  
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ADV HULLEY SC:    As  i t  p leases you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I f  the  documenta t ion  is  no t  here  we 

might  have to  see what  –  how we are  go ing  to  hand le  th is .   

I  do  no t  want  us  to  lose  a  lo t  o f  t ime.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON :    You have a  repor t  back fo r  me,  Mr  

Hu l ley?  10 

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r .   Mr  Cha i r ,  I  have  

conf i rmed w i th  bo th  the  in te rpre ter ,  Mr  Ku lekan i  Zo to  as  

we l l  as  w i th  the  w i tness,  Mr  Mz i la ,  tha t  they  w i l l  be  

ava i lab le  fo r  Thursday,  i f  we cou ld  sor t  ou t  the  paperwork  

in  the  in te r im.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay,  Mr  Mz i la ,  there  is  some 

paperwork  tha t  shou ld  have been ready w i th  regard  to  the  

in te rpre ter  tha t  m ight  de lay  th ings now whereas  there  is  

another  w i tness tha t  I  must  s t i l l  hear .   So I  am happy tha t  

you and the  i n te rp re ter  have ag reed to  be  ava i l ab le  a t  20 

some s tage on Thursday.   The exact  t ime you w i l l  be  to ld  

and then we can then have your  ev idence a t  tha t  t ime.   

Once your  ev idence does i t  shou ld  no t  take  long,  i t  shou ld  

be  a  shor t  t ime.  

MR MZILA:    Okay.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    I s  tha t  f ine?  

MR MZILA:    Okay,  thank you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t  and thank you  to  the 

in te rpre ter  as  we l l .   Thank you,  you are  bo th  excused now.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

INTERPRETER :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   Okay.   Then I  can  re lease 

you as  we l l .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r ,  I  w i l l  apprec ia te  

i t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    I f  I  can  tender  apo log ies  o f  cou rse  fo r  

the  m ishaps.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Bu t  un for tunate ly  the  request  on l y  

came th rough th is  morn ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

I  am go ing  to  ad journ  fo r  a  shor t  t ime to  enab le  the  Eskom 

work  s t ream to  se t  up  be fore  we proceed.   We wi l l  ad journ  

fo r  f i ve  m inutes .   We a re  ad jou rned .  20 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON :    Good even ing ,  Mr  Se leka,  good even ing  

everybody.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Good even ing ,  Cha i rpe rson.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you ready?  We have had  some 

de lay  bu t  le t  us  s ta r t  as  soon as  poss ib le .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  we are  ready,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  ready.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    We are  ready indeed.   Mr  Pr ish  

Govender  i s  the  next  wi tness.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Mr  Govender  i s  represented by  counse l  

and an a t to rney.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Maybe they cou ld  p lace themse lves on 

record  be fo re  the  a f f i rmat ion  or  oa th  i s  taken.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  they may do so  f rom where  they are  

i f  the i r  m icrophones a re  work ing .  

ADV DORFMAN:    Thank you,  Cha i r ,  Dan ie  Dor fman is  the  

name.   I  have appeared in  f ron t  o f  you p rev ious l y .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV DORFMAN:    I  am represent ing  Mr  Govender  on  

ins t ruc t ion  o f  Messrs  Logan Na icker  A t to rneys to  the  le f t  o f  

me.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you,  thank you.   Okay.  

ADV DORFMAN:    Mr  Cha i r ,  can I  perhaps jus t  to  gu ide  us  

in  how we move  fo rward  w i th  ou r  bus iness and i t  m igh t  

exped i te  the  process,  i f  I  may?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  
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ADV DORFMAN:    Mr  Cha i r ,  we were  be ing  handed la rge  

bund les  o f  documents  f rom about  quar te r  to  th ree  

yesterday a f te rnoon unt i l  quar te r  past  n ine  las t  n igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV DORFMAN:    There  was comfor t ing  sess ion  be tween 

Mr  Govender  and  Mr  Se leka in  the  presence o f  my a t to rney  

around about  s ix  o ’c lock  where  ce r ta in  top ica l  i ssues were  

ident i f ied .   I t  i s  the  unders tand ing  tha t  Mr  Se leka w i l l  focus  

h is  a t ten t ion  on  lead ing  the  ev idence o f  Mr  Govender  w i th  

re ference to  those top ica l  i ssues.   We a re  ready to  address 10 

those.   I f  i ssues ar ise  tha t  fa l l s  ou ts ide  the  ambi t  o f  those  

top ica l  i ssues tha t  was d iscussed las t  n igh t ,  i t  may requ i re  

some indu lgence to  a l low Mr  Govender  to  address tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV DORFMAN:    A t  leas t  tha t  we have su f f i c ien t ly  

covered the  aspects  tha t  th is  Commiss ion  is  in te res ted  in  

and tha t  we can move on w i th  our  bus iness.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  tha t  is  f ine .   

Okay,  reg is t ra r ,  p lease admin is te r  the  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR :   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record?  20 

MR GOVENDER:    P r ishotham Govender.  

REGISTRAR :   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  t ak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MR GOVENDER:    No,  I  do  no t .  

REGISTRAR :   Do you cons ider  t he  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  
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your  consc ience?  

MR GOVENDER:    I  do .  

REGISTRAR :   Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  the  ev idence 

you w i l l  g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th  the  who le  t ru th  and  noth ing  

bu t  the  t ru th?   I f  so ,  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand and say  

so  he lp  me God.  

PRISHOTHAM GOVENDER:  So he lp  me God.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you,  Mr  Govender  and thank you 

fo r  ava i l ing  yourse l f ,  Mr  Govender,  to  ass i s t  the 

Commiss ion .  10 

MR GOVENDER:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  fo r  the  benef i t  o f  the  pub l i c ,  I  th ink  

you may jus t  take  a  few minutes  to  say what  a reas Mr  

Govender ’s  ev idence w i l l  cover.   Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.   Thank you,  Cha i r .   Mr  Govender  

submi t ted  an  a f f idav i t  tha t  t raverses mat te rs  beyond what  

we in tend focus ing  th is  even ing .   The focus  o f  th is  

even ing ’s  ev idence i s  on  the  McKinsey Tr i l l i an  t ransact ions 20 

in  par t i cu la r  the  corpora te  p lan  and  what  has been re fer red  

to  as  the  se rv i ce  leve l  agreement .   Both  those t ransact ions  

were  be ing  negot ia ted  a lmost  s imu l taneous ly  in  2015.   The 

one was conc luded in  December  2015 and the  o ther  one,  

be ing  the  corpora te  p lan ,  December  2015,  and the  serv ice  
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leve l  agreement  o r  the  Maste r  Serv i ces  Agreement  

purpo r ted ly  conc luded in  2016.   Mr  Govender  wou ld  tes t i f y  

be fore  the  Commiss ion  about  the  ro le  he  p layed in  respect  

o f  those two t ransact ions and a lso  about  o ther  persons  

who wou ld  have p layed a  ro le  a long w i th  h im,  ou t l ine  to  the  

Cha i rperson the  na ture  o f  tha t  ro le .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    And in  pa r t i cu la r  the  reasons why –  

how the  payments  were  made to  Tr i l l i an .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Okay,  al r ight .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You can go ahead.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Be fo re  we  go ahead,  le t  me do  

housekeep ing  i ssues.   Mr  Govender ’s  a f f idav i t ,  

Cha i rperson,  i s  conta ined in  Eskom bund le  14 (d)  and the  

a f f idav i t  i s  found on page 13.33.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Mr  Govender  you shou ld  fo l low as  we l l ,  

page 1333.  

MR GOVENDER:    I  am there ,  Cha i r .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you.   The a f f idav i t  s ta r t s  on  tha t  

page and i t  car r ies  on  unt i l  page 1354.   I f  you  wou ld  

p lease go the re?  1354,  a re  you on tha t  page,  Mr  

Govender?  

MR GOVENDER:    I  am,  Cha i r .  
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ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.   There  is  a  s ignatu re  there  above  

deponent .   I s  tha t  you r  s ignature?  

MR GOVENDER:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Do you conf i rm th is  to  be  your  

a f f idav i t?  

MR GOVENDER:    I  do ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Do you  conf i rm the  cor rec tness o f  the  

contents  o f  you r  a f f idav i t?  

MR GOVENDER:    I  do .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you.   Cha i rperson,  I  beg leave 10 

to  have the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Govender  admi t ted  as  EXHIBIT 

43.1 together wi th  the annexures thereto.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is there a  let ter  before 43? 

ADV SELEKA SC:    EXHIBIT U43.1.  Thank you, Chair .  

CHAIRPERSON :    The aff idavi t  o f  Mr Pr ishotham Govender, 

i t  s tarts at page 1333 is admitted as an exh ib i t  and wi l l  be 

marked as EXHIBIT U43.1.  

AFFIDAVIT OF PRISHOTHAM GOVENDER HANDED IN AS 

EXHIBIT U43.1 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you, Chair .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Before you proceed,  Mr Seleka,  last 

week when we sat in  the evening there was an issue that 

one staf f  member or technic ian would need to leave at  half  

past  seven in  order to  make i t  home before the cur few and I  

asked the quest ion whether we would be able  to  cont inue in 
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h is or her  absence wi th the o thers who would be able to  

stay maybe up to  e ight,  there was nobody who cou ld g ive 

an answer.   I  need to f ind out  what  constra in ts we have and 

i t  looks l ike  the people who are supposed to be here who 

should  be able  to  te l l  me are a lso not there now and that  is 

exact ly what happened last t ime.  So the people from the 

Commission who are supposed to  s i t  behind you, Mr Seleka, 

Reverend Stemela is not here today.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    The invest igator wi l l  look for… 

CHAIRPERSON :    Wil l  t ry and f ind out.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay, let  us cont inue.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So that we al l  are on the same page as 

to how much t ime we are going to  be here.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Indeed, Chair .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r ight ,  le t  us cont inue in  the 

meantime.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you, Chair .   Mr  Govender , some 

extensive evidence has been led on the Tr i l l ian /McKinsey 20 

matter  before the Commission.  There are certa in issues 

that the Commission would  l ike you to clar i fy and I  am going 

to ask you quest ions in  re lat ion to  those issues but  feel f ree 

to exp la in to the Chairperson, i f  you need to, e laborate, 

expla in,  clar i fy  re lat ive to the quest ions I  wi l l  be asking you.  
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 So I  would l ike to start  wi th the corpora te  p lan , Mr  

Govender , because you do say in your  af f idavit  that you 

had been asked by Mr Koko to put together a  contract in 

regard to the corpora te  p lan  and to put  together  

documentat ion for the approval  of the appoin tment of 

McKinsey.   Do you recal l  that?  

MR GOVENDER:    I  do ,  Cha i r .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Ja ,  jus t  keep your  m ic rophone on.   

Jus t  keep i t  on ,  yes .   Cou ld  you –  do  you conf i rm tha t  tha t  

i s  what  happened,  tha t  you rece ived ins t ruc t ions f rom Mr  10 

Koko to  do  tha t?  

MR GOVENDER:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Ja .   D id  you put  togethe r  the  cont rac t  

and the  documenta t ion  fo r  approva l?  

MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r ,  jus t  to  –  maybe i f  I  cou ld  

e labora te  a  l i t t le  b i t?   And I  apo log ise ,  I  shou ld  have been  

look ing  a t  you,  Cha i r .   The cont rac t  –  there  was a  coup le  

o f  th ings happen ing  in  tha t  po in t  o f  t ime.   We were  near ing  

the  end o f  the  negot ia t ions  on  the  Maste r  Serv i ces  

Agreement  and i f  you wou ld  reca l l ,  tha t  i s  the  b igger  20 

cont rac t .   A t  the  same t ime,  du r ing  September ,  the re  was a  

request  f rom Mr  Koko tha t  I  work  w i th  the  procurement  

team because I  was engag ing  w i th  McKinsey a t  the  t ime as  

par t  o f  the  nego t ia t ions  o f  the  MSA tha t  I  work  w i th  the  

procu rement  team to  pu t  togethe r  th is  cont rac t  on  a  so le  
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supp l ie r  bas is .   Two,  on  an  urgent  bas i s  comp le te  the  

corpo ra te  p lan  tha t  needed to  be  done.    

 So the  ac t ing  Commodi ty  Sources  Genera l  Manager   

was a  gent leman  by the  name o f  Mr  Char les  Ka lema.   Mr  

Ka lema ass igned  a  procu rement  spec ia l i s t  to  ass is t  w i th  

the  necessary  documenta t ion  tha t  needed to  be  pu t  in  

p lace .   I ,  in  tu rn ,  had top  eng ineers  work ing  w i th  me on the  

negot ia t ion  process on  the  MSA.   I  ass igned one o f  those 

top  eng ineers  to  work  w i th  –  and the  lady must  p lease 

fo rg ive  me but  i t  was Moko lya…Maybe you can he lp  me 10 

there ,  Adv Se leka .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Which  paragraph?  

MR GOVENDER:    Her  f i rs t  name was S iamo.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  le t  us  f ind  ou t  what  page you are  

on .  

MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r ,  I  am on page 1347.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  paragraph?  

MR GOVENDER:    46 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  pa ragraph?  

MR GOVENDER:    46 ,  Cha i r .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes and …[ in tervenes]  

MR GOVENDER:    Somewhere  in  the  m idd le  o f  the 

parag raph you w i l l  see  Mr  Ka lema had s igned,  Mr  S iamo.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Mako lwane.  

MR GOVENDER:    Mako lwane.   So Ms Mako lwane ass i s ted  
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w i th  the  documenta t ion  because they had the  templa tes  

and knew exact ly  what  in fo rmat ion  needed to  be  pu t  in  

there  and the  proposa l  sent  by  McKinsey,  wh ich  is  

re fe renced on pa ragraph 45,  was used by  and la rge  as  the  

bas is  fo r  the  documenta t ion  tha t  was p repared.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  may have missed th is  because  we are  

go ing  s t ra igh t  to  the  impor tan t  i ssues.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t  fo r  you to  s ta te  

what  pos i t ion  you  he ld  a t  Eskom at  tha t  t ime.  10 

MR GOVENDER:    Sure ,  Cha i r .   A t  th is  par t i cu la r  t ime I  

was pro jec t  d i rec tor  in  the  Group Cap i ta l  d i v is ion  and  

repor ted  –  my d i rec t  l ine  o f  repor t  was Mr  Abram Masango.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  I  have a lso  seen in  your  a f f idav i t  

tha t  you have re fer red  to  Mr  Mabe lane as  your  d i rec t  

repor t ing  l ine .  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    So  cou ld  you c la r i f y  the  pos i t ion ,  I  

th ink  i t ’ s  in  the  parag raph tha t  I  am look ing  fo r .   Oh,  on  20 

page 1388.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  he  w i l l  remember  i t  o f f  by  hear t .  

MR GOVENDER:    I  do .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GOVENDER:    I  do  no t  remember  i t  o f f  by  hear t  bu t  I  
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know what  Advocate  i s  ta lk ing  about ,  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  when were  you repor t ing  to  Mr  

Mabe lane,  when were  you repor t ing  to  Mr  Masango? 

MR GOVENDER:    Sure .   Cha i r ,  w i thout  tak ing  the  

Commiss ion ’s  t ime,  th is  i s  a lways long s to r ies  bu t  in  2014  

Eskom was exper ienc ing  a  c r is i s  w i th  d iese l  de l i ver ies  to  

our  Anker l ig  and Gour ikwa p lan ts  in  Mosse l  Bay and Cape  

Town.   A t  tha t  t ime I  was pro jec t  d i rec tor  w i th in  the  Group  

Cap i ta l  d iv is ion  and I  was requested by my boss who was  

a t  tha t  t ime Mr  Dan Morakane to  ass i s t  Mr  Koko in  the  10 

space o f  commodi ty  sourc ing  to  by  and la rge  make su re  

those de l i ver ies ,  and i t  was c lose  to  about  155 t rucks  tha t  

were  de l i vered on a  da i l y  bas i s  to  the  Anker l ig  s i te ,  fo r  

example ,  to  ass i s t  to  w i th  tha t  p rocess to  make sure  the  

necessary  d iese l  de l i ver ies  ge t  to  the  s i te  and I  then he ld  

my ro le  in  Group Cap i ta l ,  as  pro jec t  d i rec tor  and suppor ted  

Mr  Koko as  the  Act ing  Genera l  Manager  fo r  Commodi ty  

Sourc ing .    

That  ro le  cont inued –  I  th ink  Mr  Koko was  

suspended ear l y  in  2015.   Mr  Mabe lane then ac ted  in  Mr 20 

Koko ’s  p lace  as  the  Group Execu t ive  fo r  Techno logy and  

Commerc ia l .   I  con t inued to  repor t  to  Mr  Mabe lane.    

In  and around the  beg inn ing  o f  o r  the  end o f  Ju ly ,  

beg inn ing  o f  August  o f  2015,  I  was asked to  leave the 

McKinsey negot ia t ions  on  the  MSA and then fo r  me i t  
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p roved ve ry  d i f f i cu l t  to  manage the  Group Cap i ta l  work  

because I  had a  por t fo l io  in  Group Cap i ta l  tha t  I  used to  

look  a f te r ,  leave  the  negot ia t ions  w i th  McKinsey and run  

the  commodi ty  sourc ing  area f rom a  p rocu rement  p rocess 

perspect ive .   So I  asked Mr  Mabe lane i f  he  cou ld  –  i f  I  

cou ld  no t  ac t  in  tha t  ro le  anymore ,  Commodi ty  Sourc ing  

GM,  and jus t  focus on  my work  in  Group Cap i ta l  and then  

a lso  negot ia te  the  cont rac t  w i th  McKinsey and tha t  was  

prudent  as  we l l  because then the  process issues get  dea l t  

w i th  by  the  procu rement  spec ia l i s t s .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    So  in  th is  pos i t ion  o f  Genera l  Manager  

Commodi ty  Sourc ing  p r io r  to  the  suspens ion  o f  Mr  

Matshe la  Koko,  you were  repor t ing  to  h im? 

MR GOVENDER:    For  a  very  shor t  per iod  o f  t ime,  Cha i r .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay,  then he gets  suspended.  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Then Mr  Edwin  Mabe lane ac ts  in  h is  

pos i t ion .  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    And then you repor ted  to  Mr  Mabe lane.  20 

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    So  when Mr  Koko comes back f rom 

suspens ion ,  I  th ink  i t  i s  20  Ju ly  2015.  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Were  you now – had you re l ieved  
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yourse l f  f rom tha t  pos i t ion  o f  Genera l  Manager  

Commodi t ies?  

MR GOVENDER:    I  was –  sor ry ,  Cha i r ,  I  was  in  the 

process o f  engag ing  w i th  Mr  Mabe lane a t  tha t  t ime jus t  

be fore  Mr  Koko  came back and Mr  Mabe lane  f ina l l y  

announced the  dec i s ion  o f  me where  I  wou ld  s top  ac t ing  as  

the  GM for  commodi ty  sourc ing  I  t h ink  around the  5  August  

o r  someth ing  o f  tha t  –  I  have i t  on  record  somewhere  bu t  I  

can fu rn ish  tha t  to  the  Commiss ion  i f  needs be.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    And so  tha t  was to  a l low  you to  10 

per fo rm the  funct ion  o f  –  i s  i t  a  lead negot ia to r ,  to  lead the  

negot ia t ions  in  respect  o f  the  MSA cont rac t  o r  wou ld  be  

cont rac t  w i th  McK insey?  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Jus t  to  c la r i f y .   In  Eskom terms what  

happens is  the  board  de legates  au thor i t y  to  usua l l y  an  

Exco member  so  Group Execut ive  leve l  member  to  conduct  

negot ia t ions  w i th  a  sa id  company.   In  th is  case  i t  was 

McKinsey and tha t  de legated author i t y  goes to  the  Group  

Execut ive  tha t  is  the  one tha t  i s  respons ib le  fo r  o r  20 

accountab le  fo r  the  negot ia t ion  process.    

The negot ia t ion  p rocess then has a  lead negot ia to r .   

In  th is  case on the  MSA i t  was me and the  team then tha t  

suppor ts  the  lead negot ia to r  a l so  ge ts  de f ined  in  the  

documenta t ion  tha t  goes to  the  board  bu t  u l t imate ly  the  
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lead negot ia to r  and the  team tha t  suppor ts  h im,  we have to  

then repor t  to  the  de legated author i t y  wh ich  is  the  Group 

Execut ive  tha t  the  board  has de legated.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    So  who was the  Group Execut ive?  

MR GOVENDER:    So  i t  was in i t ia l l y  when the  mandate  to  

negot ia te ,  Cha i r,  was approved by  the  board  i t  was Mr  

Mabe lane and then Mr  Koko I  th ink  re turned and fo rg ive  me 

i f  I  do  no t  reca l l  the  da tes ,  Mr  Koko …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    18 ,  20  Ju l y  2015 .  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.   Mr  Koko  re turned and I  was then 10 

a lso  requ i red  to  repor t  to  Mr  Koko because he is  now back  

in  h is  ro le  bu t  a lso  I  have to  say tha t  Mr  Mabe lane 

remained invo lved.   So Mr  Mabe lane went  back to  h is  o ld  

pos i t ion  wh ich  I  th ink  was sen ior  genera l  manager  in  the  

techno logy d iv is ion  and he wou ld  have a lso  –  and the  

techno logy o f  Eskom is  where  the  top  eng ineers  

programme sat  in  te rms o f  i t s  h is to ry  in  Eskom and so  Mr  

Mabe lane –  I  was  a lso  repor t ing  to  Mr  Mabe lane.   So I  was 

repor t ing  to  Mr  Koko and Mr  Mabe lane on the  progress o f  

the  negot ia t ions .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Wel l ,  le t  us  f i rs t  take  Mr  Mabe lane  

dur ing  the  t ime o f  the  suspens ion  o f  Mr  Koko.   What  ro le  

d id  he  p lay  in  the  negot ia t ions  fo r  the  MSA? 

MR GOVENDER:    Mr  Mabe lane –  the  MSA needed to  be  

se t  up  in  te rms o f  the  approva ls  tha t  needed to  go  to  the  
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boa rd  and i f  you reca l l ,  a t  tha t  t ime I  was the  ac t ing  

genera l  manager  commodi ty  sourc ing .   So Mr  Mabe lane –  

and i f ,  Cha i r,  i f  I  can  go to  the  re levant  –  sor ry,  Cha i r,  i f  we  

can jus t  jump around to  the  MSA which  is  on  page 1338 

and spec i f i ca l l y  paragraph 20.5 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  a t  1339?  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  sor ry,  Cha i r,  yes ,  1339.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  cont inue?  

MR GOVENDER:    So  wh i ls t  I  was repor t ing  to  Mr  

Mabe lane as  the  ac t ing  GM for  commodi ty  sourc ing ,  Mr  10 

Mabe lane presen ted me wi th  –  i f  you  can see in  paragraph  

20.5 ,  a  memorandum tha t  was approved by  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  

w i th  regards –  and i t  was the  approva l  to  cont inue w i th  the  

Top Eng ineers  programme on a  se l f - fund ing  bas i s .   He then  

requested –  then Mr  Mabe lane requested me to  prepare  the  

necessary  board  paperwork .   That  then went  to  the  board  

and the  mandate  to  negot ia te  was approved by  –  f i rs t  i t  

went  to  the  Exco  procurement  commi t tee  and then  i t  went  

to  the  board  tender  commi t tee ,  the  BTC,  to  acqu i re  the  

mandate  to  negot ia te  and I  th ink  t ha t  mandate  to  negot ia te  20 

is  –  and I  am sure  I  have a t tached  i t  somewhere ,  Cha i r,  o r  

i f  no t  then the  Commiss ion  shou ld  have i t  on  record  in  

te rms o f  the  approva ls  tha t  was made by  the  board .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:    And I  th ink  there  i s  a  da te  in  there  –  or  
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there  i s  a  da te  assoc ia ted  w i th  the  approva l .   I  cannot  

remember  the  da te .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  the  meet ing  o f  the  BTC.  

MR GOVENDER:    The meet ing  o f  the  BTC.   So  the  BTC 

approves the  mandate  to  negot ia te  and there  is  a  l i t t le  b i t  

o f  a  per iod  tha t  lapses because McKinsey is  ge t t ing  ready 

fo r  the  negot ia t ions ,  we are  fo rmula t ing  Dr  Weiss  who was  

the  McKinsey’s  –  McKinsey’s  lead  a t  tha t  t ime in  te rms o f  

the  Eskom engagement .   He was put t ing  h is  team together ,  

we were  pu t t ing  our  team together ,  we were  f ind ing  s lo ts  in  10 

our  d ia r ies  to  s ta r t  the  negot ia t ion  per iod .    

 So there  was  not  much in te rac t ion  w i th  Mr  

Mabe lane in i t ia l l y  bu t  then there  was –  then the  

negot ia t ions  happened f rom Ju ly  t i l l  about  end o f  August ,  

Cha i r ,  beg inn ing  o f  September ,  le t  us  ca l l  i t  m idd le  o f  

September  and in  tha t  per iod  there  were  var ious i tems tha t  

were  negot ia ted  as  par t  o f  the  MSA,  var ious packages and 

feedback then had to  be  prov ided to  the  group execut ive  

fo r  commerc ia l  and techno logy who then u l t imate ly  s igned 

o f f  the  documenta t ion  tha t  went  to  the  BTC in  October  20 

where  the  recommendat ion  was to  conc lude the  cont rac t  

w i th  McKinsey and company.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes,  so  tha t  reso lu t ion  is  o f  6  Ju ly  2015 

by  the  BTC.  

MR GOVENDER:    Sor ry ,  Cha i r ,  i s  tha t  the  mandate  to  
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negot ia te?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Ja ,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  the  mandate  to  

negot ia te .  

MR GOVENDER:    To  negot ia te ,  co r rec t ,  yes .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Wel l ,  le t  us  –  I  am go ing  to  do  th is  fo r  

you so  tha t  you can see exact ly  the  focus o f  where  we are  

a t  th is  s tage.   So you,  in  respect  o f  the  MSA,  the  

ins t ruc t ions you say you rece ived f rom Mr  Mabe lane to  

p repare  the  documenta t ion  fo r  submiss ion ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GOVENDER:    Tha t  is  co r rect ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    And the  documenta t ion  were  p repared  

on the  bas i s  tha t  the  appo in tment  w i l l  be  made on  a  r i sk  

bas is .  

MR GOVENDER:    Tha t  is  co r rect ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    As  opposed to  a  ra te  bas i s ,  a  fee  ra te  

bas is .  

MR GOVENDER:    Tha t  is  co r rect ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    And can you te l l  the  Cha i rperson when 

about  was th is ,  Mr  Govender?  

MR GOVENDER:    When about  the  documenta t ion  was  20 

prepared?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:    In  about  June,  Ju ly.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    June,  Ju l y  2015?  

MR GOVENDER:    ’15 ,  ja .   Jus t  be fore  –  i t  wou ld  have  
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been p repared before  the  board  ac tua l l y  approved the  

mandate  to  negot ia te .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay.   Now I  have seen in   your  

a f f idav i t  tha t  the  r i sk  base opt ion  was a  rou te  taken  aga ins t  

the  backdrop o f  lack  o f  fund ing  in  the  sense tha t  you say 

th is  p ro jec t  had  s ta r ted  i n  2013/2014 but  i t  s topped  

because there  was no fund ing  and so  i t  was dec ided tha t  

le t  us  do  a  r i sk  based se l f - fund ing  mode l  and proceed w i th  

the  pro jec t .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GOVENDER:    Tha t  is  co r rect ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    So  in  wh ich  event  the  requ i rement  to  

budget  fo r  a  t ransact ion  wou ld  be  –  wou ld  no t  app ly,  wou ld  

be  avo ided.  

MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r,  tha t  i s  no t  en t i re ly  cor rec t  

because the  board  prov ided us  w i th  a  mandate  to  negot ia te  

on  a  r i sk  bas i s  o r  se l f - fund ing  bas i s .    

When we went  th rough the  negot ia t ions  w i th  

McKinsey,  McKinsey wanted as  pa r t  o f  tha t  p rocess cer ta in  

up f ron t  payments  to  mob i l i se  the i r  teams and to  ac tua l l y  

se t  up  opera t ions and so  fo r th  and so  on  and  in  the 20 

feedback to  the  board  we,  as  par t  o f  the  negot ia t ion  

process,  a lso  inc luded where  the  negot ia t ion  team d id  no t  

fu l l y  a l ign  w i th  the  board ’s  mandate  and we were  c lear  in  

the  documenta t ion  to  the  board  tha t  one o f  the  th ings tha t  

we d id  no t  a l ign  on  w i th  McKinsey was the  issue o f  them 
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want ing  some up f ron t  payments  and tha t  was fed  back to  

the  board .    

 So,  as  a  company,  you wou ld  say then we l l ,  we now 

cer ta in ly  have to  budget  –  i f  the  board  approves tha t ,  we  

cer ta in ly  have to  budget  fo r  these upf ron t  payments  

because ove r  t ime i t  w i l l  ne t  o f f  as  McKinsey makes the  

sav ings.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  okay.   I  do  no t  qu i te  cor rec t l y  

fo l low tha t .   I  unders tand a  down payment  McKinsey –  saw 

i t ,  I  th ink  i t  was 460 mi l l ion .  10 

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  yes .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Bu t  the  cont rac t  was sa id  to  be  zero ,  

o f  zero  va lue  because i t  was se l f - fad ing .  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    And the  main  th ing  as  I  th ink  you  

ind ica te  in  your  a f f idav i t  was tha t  th is  cont rac t  was p i t ched 

on the  bas is  tha t  i t  w i l l  be  a  se l f - fund ing  cont rac t ,  i t  w i l l  be  

r i sk -based as  you  say.  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Because there  was no fund ing  in  2014 20 

to  car ry  on  w i th  i t .   So my quest ion  to  you was because  

there  is  a  requ i rement  in  your  po l i cy  to  have a  f inance 

person approve tha t  there  i s  a  budget  o r  conf i rm tha t  there  

is  a  budget  fo r  th is  t ransact ion  be fore  you can do the  

t ransact ion .   I f  i t  i s  now se l f - fund ing  cont rac t ,  that  
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requ i rement  wou ld  be  avo ided,  tha t  tha t  i s  wha t  I  am 

say ing  to  you and I  want  to  know f rom you whether  i s  tha t  

cor rec t  o r  no t?  

MR GOVENDER:    I f  there  was no upf ron t  o r  R416mi l l ion  o f  

up- f ron t  payments  tha t  was requ i red  by  the  serv i ce  

prov ider  then the re  wou ld  no t  be  a  need fo r  us  to  se t  up  a 

budget .   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Now there  is  an  issue –  we l l  be fore  I  

ge t  to  tha t  i ssue,  can I  ask  you,  be fore  I  fo rge t ,  about  

whethe r  Mr  Koko  h imse l f ,  I  asked  you about  Mr  Maba lane  10 

in  the  negot ia t ions ,  what  ro le  he  p layed i f  any,  le t  me ask 

you the  same quest ion  in  regard  to  Mr  Koko.   D id  he  p lay  

any ro le  in  these negot ia t ions?  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes Cha i r  when  –  and I  cannot  reca l l  the  

exact  the  da te  bu t  –  now o f f -hand,  bu t  as  we were  

proceed ing  w i th  the  negot ia t ions  we were  ge t t ing  to  the 

end,  and i f  you reca l l  I  ment ioned  September  was when we  

were  s ta r t ing  to  reach the  end o f  the  negot ia t ion  process.   

I  th ink  i t  was end  o f  August  Mr  Koko asked the  team 

led  by  myse l f  fo r  an  update  as  to  where  we are  w i th  the  20 

negot ia t ion  p rocess and he was par t i cu la r ly  in te res ted  in  

obv ious ly  mov ing  the  program a long and what  no  -  where  

were  we w i th  eve ry th ing  and the  team then ass is ted  me to  

pen Mr  Koko a  le t te r,  g iv ing  h im a  fu l l  account  o f  

every th ing  and every  aspect  o f  the  en t i re  negot ia t ion  
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p rocess.   

So,  tha t  was one in te rac t ion ,  the  o ther  in te rac t ion  

w i th  Mr  Koko is  I  sent  h im the  serv i ce  leve l  ag reement ,  

wh ich  we  were  a lso  Cha i r  p rogress ing  i n  para l le l  w i th  the  

negot ia t ions.   So  i f  you  reca l l ,  the  serv i ce  leve l  agreement  

became the  eventua l  cont rac t .  So we were  progress ing  

comple t ing  the  serv i ce  leve l  ag reement  and there  was  

in te rac t ion  be tween Eskom lega l  and McKinsey 's  lega l  in  

te rms o f  p rogress ing  the  SLA.   That  i s  the  one -  the  o the r  

i ssue and there  is  a  coup le  o f  o ther  engagements  tha t  I  10 

cannot  reca l l  o f fhand but  I  do  have on record ,  wh ich  I  can  

prov ide  to  the  Commiss ion  i f  needs be.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  i f  you  cou ld  p lease p rov ide  us 

w i th  tha t  i t  w i l l  be  apprec ia ted .   A re  these emai l s  o r  a lso  

repor ts?   

MR GOVENDER:    Wi l l  do ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  I  was ask ing  whether  i s  i t  emai ls  

o r  repor t s  as  we l l ?  

MR GOVENDER:    Oh,  sor ry  advocate ,  no ,  they a re  emai ls  

and a t tachments .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  be fore  we  proceed,  Mr  Se leka,  d id  

you get  an  answer?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    I  go t  the  answer  Cha i r  tha t ,  yes ,  some 

persons w i l l  leave a t  ha l f  past  seven but  we are  –  I  
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unders tand ab le  to  cont inue unt i l  ha l f  past  e igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t  i s  f ine ,  thank you very  

much to  the  s ta f f  and techn ic ians fo r  the i r  coopera t ion .   

Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you,  then Mr  Governor,  le t  me 

go to  the  i ssue.   Would  you have been fami l ia r  w i th  the  

Eskom d i rec t i ve  on  cost  conta inment?   I t  i s  the  Ju ly  2014  

d i rec t i ve  o f  Eskom tha t  seeks to  imp lement  the  Nat iona l  10 

Treasury  ins t ruc t ion  o f  1 /2013/2014.   In  te rms o f  wh ich ,  

when we go in to  i t ,  in  te rms o f  wh ich  you cou ld  on ly  

appo in t  consu l tan ts  on  a  fee  bas i s  and not  on  a  r i sk  bas i s .   

Were  you fami l ia r  w i th  tha t?   

MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r,  i f  you  ask  me no,  do  I  know i t  in  

de ta i l  the  answer  i s  p robab ly  no t  bu t  tha t  document  was  

very  top ica l  a t  the  t ime we were  conc lud ing  the  MSA,  very  

top ica l .  So I  do  no t  know the  de ta i l s  o f  i t  because the  

procu rement  team were  the  prac t i t ioners  tha t  kept  up  to  

speed w i th  a l l  o f  those type o f  documents .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Can I  take  you back to  the  ear l i e r  top ic  

tha t  Mr  Se leka asked you about  as  fo r  one quest ion .   Was 

Mr  Koko 's  invo lvement  dur ing  the  negot ia t ions  l im i ted  to  

what  you have sa id ,  namely,  jus t  ask ing  fo r  repor t  backs,  

repor ts  f rom you?  
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MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r,  tha t  i s  why I  say  to  you I  cannot  

reca l l  bu t  le t  me  go back th rough  my in fo rmat ion  and  see 

what  i s  the  fu l l  ex ten t  tha t  I  can prov ide  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Wel l ,  can  I  a lso  ask you th is  quest ion ,  

do  you know whethe r  o r  no t  he  engaged w i th  the  

Reg iments  employees in  the  negot ia t ion  process?  

MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r,  no t  to  my knowledge I  do  no t  

have -  I  wou ld  no t  know.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  i s  the  answer  tha t  you do not  know? 10 

MR GOVENDER:    I  do  no t  know,  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    As  the  leads negot ia to r,  d id  you 

engage w i th  McK insey o f f i c ia l s?   

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t .   

ADV SELEKA SC:    D id  you a l so  engage w i th  Reg iments  

o f f i c ia ls?   

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t?   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Which  ones?  

MR GOVENDER:    So ,  Cha i r  le t  me g ive  you  some 20 

background.   We had negot ia ted  a l l  o f  the  packages,  

except  one package,  wh ich  was the  ba lance sheet  

un lock ing  ac t iv i t ies  and the  ba lance sheet  un lock ing  

ac t iv i t ies ,  we on ly  s ta r ted  negot ia t ing  tha t  w i th  McK insey in  

and around the  beg inn ing  o f  November  2015.   
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A t  the  t ime,  McK insey i n t roduced two ind iv idua ls  in  

par t i cu la r,  i t  was  Mr  Wood and Ms Mothepo,  r igh t  because 

McKinsey used a t  the  t ime,  Reg iments   wh ich  was where  

Ms Mothepo  and Mr  Wood in i t ia l l y  came f rom and  

McKinsey had  exp la ined to  us  as  the  negot ia t ing  team,  

tha t  Tr i l l i an  -  a  company ca l led  Tr i l l i an  was be ing  fo rmed 

and they wou ld  u l t imate l y  become McKinsey 's  

subcont rac to r  and tha t  peop le  f rom -  and I  th ink  there  i s  a  I  

remembered now in  the  Labour  Re la t ions Act ,  there  is   a  

par t i cu la r  sec t ion  tha t  dea ls  w i th  tha t  where  you t ransfer  10 

employees…[ in te rvene]  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  the  Cha i rperson a lso  knows i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The Cha i rperson a l so  knows i t .  

[ laugh ing ]  

MR GOVENDER:    Bu t  on  the  on  tha t  bas is ,  the re  were  

employees tha t  were  be ing  t ransfe r red…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  197.  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t ,  tha t  was be ing  t ransfer red  f rom 

Reg iments  in to  the  Tr i l l i an  company and tha t  i s  how we  

s tar ted  engag ing  w i th  Ms Mothepo and Mr  Wood in i t ia l l y,  20 

and then we proceeded w i th  the  ba lance sheet  un lock ing  

package negot ia t ions  dur ing  the  month  o f  November.  

ADV SELEKA SC:     Okay,  tha t  November  2015?  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  so  the  -  you say the  d i rec t i ve  was  
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top ica l ,  a t  tha t  s tage.  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Because you wou ld  reca l l  tha t  i t  had to  

do  w i th  Nat iona l  Treasury  approva l ,  tha t  i f  you  are  

dev ia t ing  f rom the  d i rec t i ve ,  and in  th is  case,  the  dev ia t ion  

be ing  appo in tment  on  a  r i sk  bas is  was supposed to  be  a  

feed th is  bas is ,  you d id  no t  requ i re  Nat iona l  Treasury  

approva l ,  you reca l l  a l l  tha t?  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Mr  Koko has come and sa id  tha t  10 

approva l  was not  ob ta ined.  

MR GOVENDER:    The dev ia t ion?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yeah,  the  approva l  to  dev ia te .  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.   

ADV SELEKA SC:    He sa id  i t  was not  ob ta ined.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you agree  tha t  the  approva l  f rom 

Nat iona l  Treasury  was not  ob ta ined to  au thor ise  the  

dev ia t ion ,  i s  tha t  your  unders tand ing?  

MR GOVENDER:    A fo rmal  dev ia t ion ,  approva l  was not  

acqu i red  f rom Na t iona l  Treasury.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Was not  acqu i red  or  requ i red?  

MR GOVENDER:    Not  acqu i red .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you ag ree w i th  Mr  Koko on tha t?  
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MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yeah,  because  to  ge t  an  approva l ,  you 

must  do  a  request  in  wr i t ing  and in  fac t ,  the  Nat iona l  

Treasury  ins t ruc t i on  says to  ob ta in  the  approva l  they have 

to  engage the  Pres idency and rece ive  the  consent  o f  the  

Pres idency fo r  the  dev ia t ion ,  were  you aware  o f  tha t?  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  I  was aware  o f  tha t  because Mr  

Maba lane exp la ined i t  to  me remember  a t  tha t  t ime,  and  

when we were  go ing  th rough a l l  o f  th is  p rocesses he -  and 10 

I  th ink  i t  was in  la te  2015,  there  was  an organ isa t iona l  

change.   So,  g roup techno logy and commerc ia l  k ind  o f  l i ke  

sp l i t s  where  commerc ia l ,  the  commerc ia l  par t  o f  i t  fe l l  

under  a  ch ie f  p rocurement  o f f i cer  who repor ted  in to  the  

ch ie f  f inanc ia l  o f f i ce r.  

And the  techno logy d iv i s ion  to  my unders tand ing  

was tha t  he  jo ined the  Genera t ion .   So Mr  Koko was  I  th ink  

became the  Head o f  Genera t ion  and Techno logy and then 

Mr  Maba lane became act ing  CPO,  ch ie f  p rocurement  

o f f i cer  and then CPO.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  you have  sa id  tha t  the  Nat iona l  

Treasury  approva l  was not  ob ta ined,  bu t  what  you say  

about  whether  i t  was requ i red ,  i t  shou ld  have been okay.   

A re  you ab le  to  say tha t  -  to  say whether  i t  was a  

requ i rement  o r  was i t  no t  a  requ i rement?  
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MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r,  le t  me g ive  you my account  o f  

what  was happen ing  a t  the  t ime regard ing  th is  who le  

process and fo rg ive  me i f  I  have  l im i ted  knowledge and  

unders tand ing  a l l  o f  th is…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   

MR GOVENDER:    …the Nat iona l  Treasury  s tu f f ,  bu t  in  the  

process o f  runn ing  the  negot ia t ions ,  and in  my feedback  

repor t  to  Mr  Koko  the  negot ia t ion  team was o f  the  v iew tha t  

th is  dev ia t ion  app l i ca t ion  wou ld  be  requ i red  fo r  the  r i sk  

based cont rac t ,  and i t  i s  in  the  repor t  to  Mr  Koko,  as  we l l .   10 

And as  we had -  as  we went  fo rwards,  in  te rms  o f  the  

process,  and I  am t ry ing  to  th ink  about  how do I  shor ten  i t  

fo r  you Cha i r,  because i t  i s  qu i t e  a  long s to ry  and i t  i s  

ac tua l l y  a lso  covered in  my a f f idav i t  to  some exten t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  you  -  in  te rms o f  my quest ion ,  you 

can jus t  g ive  your  unders tand ing  whethe r  your  

unders tand ing  was tha t  i t  was compulsory  to  ob ta in  the  

approva l  o f  Nat iona l  Treasury  in  o rde r  to  have the  

dev ia t ion  o r  your  unders tand ing  was tha t  i t  was not  

compulso ry  to  ge t  i t ,  o r  you do not  know.  20 

MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r  a t  the  t ime when I  subm i t ted  or  

when I  submi t ted  the  repor t  to  Mr  Koko,  and even  a t  the 

t ime when we fed  back to  the  Board ,  and I  th ink  i t  was -  

tha t  was in  September  2015.   In  te rms o f  the  feedback f rom 

the  repor t ,  my unders tand ing  was a t  tha t  t ime tha t  the  
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dev ia t ion  was requ i red .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay and d id  tha t  change a t  some 

s tage? MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  Cha i r  and I  can exp la in  tha t  

to  you as  we l l .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR GOVENDER:    Maybe I  w i l l  wa i t  fo r  Mr  Se leka,  I  do  no t  

want  to…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  maybe to  f ina l i se  th is  po in t ,  do  

you want  to  exp la in  whethe r  i t  changed and how i t  

changed?  10 

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  Cha i r  so  bas ica l l y,  th is  i ssue  

k icked around because there  was an unders tand ing  in  

Eskom f rom I  th ink  the  compl iance o f f i cer  who worked in  

lega l  tha t  th is  dev ia t ion  was be ing  -  tha t  was requ i red .   

McK insey d id  some o f  the i r  own  research ,  submi t ted  an  

op in ion  f rom themse lves,  and then eventua l l y  in  the 

beg inn ing  o f  December,  submi t ted  an  op in ion  f rom 

Ledwaba and Mazwai ,  fo rg ive  me i f  I  ge t  the  name wrong 

Cha i r.  

Where  i t  sa id  tha t  th is  p rac t ice  no tes  o r  there  was a  20 

prac t ice  no te  i f  I  cou ld  reca l l  i t  cor rec t l y  was where  i t  

a l lowed fo r  th i s  r i sk  based cont rac t  –  i t  a l lowed Eskom to  

en ter  th i s  r i sk  based cont rac t  was s t i l l  -  was va l id .   So you 

cou ld ,  you know,  va l id  in  te rms o f  Treasury  and Nat iona l  

Treasury,  and Eskom cou ld  ac tua l l y  en ter  th is  cont rac t  on  a 
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r i sk  bas i s .   What  happened the  t ime was tha t  Eskom was  

not  happy w i th  tha t  v iew,  Eskom…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  en te r  th is  cont rac t  w i thout  the  

approva l  o f  Nat iona l  Treasury?   

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  because you can in  te rms  o f  the  

o ther  ru les  o f  Nat iona l  Treasury.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  what  you a re  te l l ing  me now is  what  

the  McK insey op in ion  was say ing .   

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  no t  g iv ing  your  own…[ in tervene]  10 

MR GOVENDER:    No,  no .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay a l r igh t ,  cont inue.  

MR GOVENDER:    Eskom was  not  happy w i th  tha t  

obv ious ly  and then Eskom lega l  a lso  suggested tha t  we get  

a  separa te  op in ion  and I  th ink  the  separa te  op in ion  came 

f rom Advocate  Kennedy,  i f  memory  serves me cor rec t  and  

in  tha t  op in ion  there  was some -  my unders tand ing  f rom Mr 

Maba lane there  was some uncer ta in ty  regard ing  whethe r  

the  prac t ice  no te  tha t  a l lows fo r  the  r i sk  based fo r  Eskom 

to  en ter  in to  th is  r i sk  based cont rac t  was ac tua l l y  s t i l l  i n  20 

p lace,  o r  i t  was repea led .   

So,  eventua l l y  what  happened was in  and around  

the  beg inn ing  o f  February  o f  2016  Mr Maba lane sent  to  Mr  

Ka lema and Mr  Dave Gorey,  the  two procurement  

p rac t i t ioners  to  Nat iona l  Treasury  to  asce r ta in  whether  th is  
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p rac t i ce  no te  tha t  a l lowed Eskom to  en ter  in to  a  r i sk  based  

cont rac t  was s t i l l  va l id  and they  came back w i th  a  v iew 

f i rs t l y,  verba l l y  tha t  th is  p rac t ice  no te  was va l id  and then I  

th ink ,  Mr  Gorey  i t  i s   -  I  am  sure  I  pu t  i t  in to  my a f f idav i t ,  

i f  I  d id  no t ,  I  am  sure  I  have got  the  in fo rmat ion  

somewhere .   

Mr  Gorey sent  Mr  Tsh i tangano,  i f  memory  serves me 

cor rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    The head o f  lega l?  

MR GOVENDER:    No,  no .   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    The head o f  the  lega l  depar tment?  

MR GOVENDER:    No,  no  Mr  Tsh i tangano worked a t  

Nat iona l  Treasury  in  the  procu rement  -  was the  ch ie f  

d i rec to r,  o r  even procu rement  depar tment  and I  th ink  he  –  

no t  I  th ink  I  know he asked Mr  Tsh i tangano whether  th is  

p rac t ice  no te  was  va l id ,  and Mr  Tsh i tangano rep l ied .   

Now I  then asked the  guys the  p rocurement  team,  

inc lud ing  Mr  Maba lane…[ in te rvene ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And he rep l ied  to  say what?  

MR GOVENDER:    I t  i s  s t i l l  va l id  tha t  Eskom can use the  20 

r i sk  based cont rac t  o r  p rac t ice  no te  was va l id ,  imp l ic i t  in  

the  prac t ice  no te  was one o f  the  cont rac t ing  methodo log ies  

was r i sk  based cont rac t ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  as  you  unders tood i t ,  d id  Mr  

Tsh i tangano say  Eskom cou ld  conc lude th is  cont rac t  
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w i thout  ob ta in ing  Nat iona l  Treasury  approva l?  

MR GOVENDER:    Cha i r…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  d id  he  say  you s t i l l  need Nat iona l  

Treasury  approva l  to  conc lude th is  k ind  o f  cont rac t?   

MR GOVENDER:    He d id  no t  say  tha t  –  and I…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  no t  sure .  

MR GOVENDER:    You have the  and maybe we can go to  

tha t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes ,  the  emai l ,  we l l  the  

page…[ in te rvene]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  you can p roceed,  ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yeah,  the  page and the  parag raph is  

13 ,  in  the  a f f idav i t ,  I  beg your  pa rdon 1340.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Page 1340 tha t  i s  where  I  am.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Paragraph 20.13.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes:  

“ In  February  2016 Mr  Dave Gorey sen io r  manager  

commerc ia l  and Mr  Char les  Ka lema act ing  Genera l  

Manager  o f  commodi t ies  sourc ing  met  w i th  Mr  So l l y  

Tsh i tangano o f  the  Nat iona l  Treasury,  Mr  Gor i  has  20 

e f fec ted  and in  f ac t  ma i led  to  Mr  Tsh i tangano on o r  

about  4  February  2016 inqu i r ing  as  to  whether  tha t  

h is  Note  3  o f  2003,  wh ich  dea ls  w i th  r i sk  based 

payment  bas i s  i s  s t i l l  va l id  and e f fec t i ve  and la te r  

tha t  day he  rece ived an e lec t ron ic  mai l  f rom Mr 
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Tsh i tangano conf i rm ing tha t  the  a foresa id  p rac t ice  

no te  i s  s t i l l  va l id .  P lease see a t tached here to . ”  

That  i s  what  you wanted to  re fe r  to .  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  I  wanted  to  h igh l igh t  to  you tha t  

i ssue,  yeah.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    And Cha i r,  maybe we shou ld  go  to  

those annexures.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    The annexures ,  E  and 7 ,  wh ich  i s  page  

1399.   I s  tha t  where  you are  Mr  Govender?   So there  are  10 

two emai ls  on  tha t  page.   

MR GOVENDER:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    The one in  the  m idd le  o f  the  page is  

fo r  Mr  Dave Gorey Thursday February  4  2016,  to  Mr  So l ly  

Tsh i tangano,  CC Char les  Ka lema,  sub jec t  i s  p rac t ice  Note  

number  SCM3 o f  2003.   The emai l  reads:  

“Good a f te rnoon So l ly.  

Thank you fo r  your  hosp i ta l i t y  th is  morn ing  we look  

fo rward  to  fu r the r  p roduct ive  engagements  in  the  

fu tu re .   As  we d iscussed p lease conf i rm fo r  us  tha t  20 

prac t ice  Note  number  SCM3 o f  2003 ent i t led  

appo in tment  o f  consu l tan ts  i s  cur ren t ly  va l id  and  

e f fec t i ve  fo r  pub l i c  en t i t ies  such as  Eskom.  We 

unders tand tha t  th is  p rac t ice  no tes  and o thers  w i l l  

be  incorpora ted  i n to  a  new se t  o f  regu la t ions once  
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the  rev iew process has been comple ted . ”  

And he says:  

“Best  regards .  

Dave Gorey. ”  

And the  emai l  above,  I  be l ieve  is  a  rep l y  f rom Mr  

Tsh i tangano,  cor rec t?   Jus t  remember  to  speak to  the  m ic .   

MR GOVENDER:    Sor ry,  Cha i r,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  wh ich  tha t  i s  a  – yeah i t  i s  a  rep l y  

on  the  4 t h  o f  February  1523,  Dave Gorey is  be ing  rep l ied  to  

and CC’s  i s  Char les  Ka lema,  Vukan i  Ndaba,  S inde le  10 

Mxunye lwa,  and he says:  

“Dear  Dave.  

Prac t ice  Note  3  o f  2003 is  s t i l l  app l i cab le  un t i l  

rep laced w i th  new ins t ruc t ions a f te r  the  

promulgat ion  o f  the  new Treasury  regu la t ions.   The  

re ta iner /  cont ingency fee  p r inc ip les  are  no t  c lear l y  

ou t l ined in  the  prac t ice  no tes .   I f  you  in tend 

app ly ing  them,  you need to  do  some fu r ther  work  to  

ensure  tha t  you do not  compromise  the  pr inc ip les  o f  

Sect ion  217 o f  the  Const i tu t ion  and o the r  20 

leg is la t ion . ”  

But  d id…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  tha t  surname where  you were  say ing  

Mxunye lwa,  Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  Mxunye lwa,  M-x-u -n -y -e- l -w-a ,  

Mxunye lwa,  when  you say Mxunye lwa i t  means someth ing  

comple te l y  d i f fe ren t ,  i t  i s  another  mean ing .   For tunate ly  fo r  

you,  i t  i s  a  n ice  mean ing .  

ADV SELEKA SC:     Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you w i l l  no t  be  sued,  okay a l r igh t .  

You want  to  see okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Govender,  d id  you have 

s igh t  o f  th is  emai ls  a t  the  t ime?  

MR GOVENDER:    Abso lu te ly,  Cha i r.   10 

ADV SELEKA SC:    D id  you unders tand what  i s  meant  by  

re ta iner /cont ingency fee  pr inc ip le?  

MR GOVENDER:    I ,  assumed a t  the  t ime,  Cha i r  -  w i th  Mr  

Gorey and what  tha t  meant  and h i s  v iew was tha t  a l igned  

to  the  bas i s  fo r  the  cont rac ts  in  te rms o f  MSA tha t  we were  

negot ia t ing .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Bu t  d id  you unders tand i t?   

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  Cha i r  I  unders tood i t  to  be  tha t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  to  be  wha t?  

MR GOVENDER:    To  be  the  cont rac t ,  the  type o f  cont rac t  20 

we were  negot ia t i ng  w i th  McK insey.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    That  i t  i s  a  cont ingency fee  con t rac t?  

MR GOVENDER:    That  i t  i s  a  r i sk  based cont rac t .   

ADV SELEKA SC:    A r i sk  based cont rac t?  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.  
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ADV SELEKA SC:    I s  i t  the  same as cont ingency?  

MR GOVENDER:    I  am not  sure  Cha i r  bu t  my v iew when I  

asked Mr  Gorey about  th is ,  he  says  –  he  sa id  to  me,  tha t  i s  

the  case.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Now what  was your  unders tand ing  o f  a  

r i sk  based cont rac t?   

MR GOVENDER:    That  -  my unders tand ing  o f  a  r i sk  based 

cont rac t  i s  tha t  you enter  in to  a  cont rac t  w i th  a  pa r ty  tha t  

cont inues to  work ,  genera tes  va lue  and then based on  

whatever  pa rameters  you negot ia te  w i th  tha t  company in  10 

te rms o f  a  success fee ,  tha t  por t ion  ge ts  pa id  o f f  to  tha t  

company.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   So,  i f  there  i s  no  success,  there  

is  no  fee?  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  and tha t  i s  the  r i sk?  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  now,  the  prac t ice  no te ,  wh ich  is  

re fe r red  to  there  i s  3  o f  2003.  20 

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  Cha i r.   

ADV SELEKA SC:    But  Eskom by th is  t ime,  th is  i s  now 

2016 tha t  i s  even before  the  approva l ,  I  mean,  a f te r  the  

approva l  by  BTC to  conc lude the  cont rac t ,  by  th is  t ime 

Eskom had adopted fo r  imp lementa t ion  the  Nat iona l  
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Treasury  ins t ruc t ion  o f  one,2013/2014 much,  wh ich  comes 

much la te r  a f te r  th is  p rac t ice  no te ,  wh ich  you say you were  

aware  o f  i t  i s  the  Eskom document .    

How d id  Eskom dea l  w i th  tha t  aspect  o f  the  

prac t ice ,  o f  the  d i rec t i ve  in  re la t ion  to  what  they rece ived  

f rom Mr  So l ly  he re? Because in  te rms o f  the  d i rec t i ve  cost  

conta inment ,  i t  i s  mandatory.   You  are  requ i red  to  cont rac t  

on  a  r i sk  –  on  a  fee  ra te  bas i s .  Fa i l ing ,  wh ich  ask  fo r  a  

dev ia t ion  f rom Na t iona l  Treasury.  

So how d id  you as  the  lead nego t ia to r  o r  even the  10 

execut ive  -  the  team you were  work ing  w i th  dea l  w i th  th is  

aspect  w i th in  Eskom? 

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  Cha i r  maybe I  cou ld  exp la in  the 

issue o f  whethe r  we proceed w i th  the  cont rac t  o r  seek the  

dev ia t ion  was an issue tha t  was dea l t  w i th  by  the  

procu rement  depar tment  and Mr  –  and spec i f i ca l l y  Mr  

Maba lane.   When we rece ived  th is  feedback f rom Mr  

Tsh i tangano I  d id  no t  know how you,  ja  Tsh i tangano .  

MR GOVENDER:    Tsh i tangano.   

ADV SELEKA SC:    He w i l l  be  more  in  t roub le  than  I  was,  20 

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.  

MR GOVENDER:    I  am sor ry  i f  I  o ffended anybody.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    No,  I  am say ing  you w i l l  be  more  in  

t roub le  than I  was.  
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MR GOVENDER:    I  d iscussed the  spec i f i c  i ssue w i th  Mr  

Maba lane and  I  sa id ,  I  asked  h im.   How does th is  now 

a l low us to  cont inue w i th  the  con t rac ts  w i th  McK insey.   I f  

you  reca l l  a t  th is  s tage a l ready…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  o ther  words ,  were  you say ing  how 

does th is  2003 prac t ice  no te  or  ins t ruc t ion  a l low us  to  

p roceed w i th  th is  cont rac t  in  c i r cumstances where  we a re  

aware  o f  the  2013 d i rec t i ve?  

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  the  ques t ion  you were  fac ing ,  ja .  10 

MR GOVENDER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   So i f  you  reca l l  by  th is  

s tage,  Mr  Maba lane had a l ready s igned in  December  2015 

a  no t ice  to  p roceed w i th  McK insey and company  on the  

MSA and I  do  no t  reca l l  the  exact  word ing  bu t  when he 

s igned tha t  no t ice  to  p roceed -  and I  am sure  i t  i s  on 

record  somewhere  in  the  pack,  he  -  we were  s t i l l  unsure  

about  whethe r  we  cou ld  proceed on the  r i sk  bas is  o r  no t .   

So in  -  and maybe we must  jus t  f ind  tha t  Cha i r,  so  

tha t  I  cou ld  read i t  ou t  to  you but  bas ica l l y  in  tha t  

document ,  o r  no t ice  to  p roceed he sa id  tha t  i f  we  cannot  20 

cont inue w i th  th is ,  on  th is  r i sk  based approach,  we w i l l  

have to  come back to  the  drawing board  and tha t  i s  the  

bas is  he  s igned i t .  

Now we fas t  fo rward  and we go in to  February.   

There  is  th i s  engagement  a t  Nat iona l  Treasury,  the  team 
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comes back w i th  th is  emai l .   I  d iscuss i t  w i th  Mr  Maba lane  

and say to  h im,  how does th is  a l low us  to  cont inue,  number  

one,  as  pe r  you r  quest ion ,  in  l igh t  o f  the  fac t  you s t i l l  got  

th is  2014 and Na t iona l  Treasury  gu ide l ines  2013 d i rec t i ves  

ins t ruc t ions and  the  second pa r t  was,  what  does Mr  

Tsh i tangano,  no t  to  ge t  myse l f  in to  t roub le  -  mean when he 

says…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Tsh i tangano.  

MR GOVENDER:    Yes,  Mr  Tsh i tangano what  does he mean 

wi th  regards to  fu r the r  work  in  te rms o f  no t  compromis ing  10 

Sect ion  217 o f  the  Const i tu t ion  because I  th ink  tha t  i s  

covered somewhere  in  the  PFMA,  i f  I  am not  mak ing  a  

m is take.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:    So  there  were  d iscuss ions be tween Mr  

Maba lane,  Mr  Gorey and Mr  Ka lema and then Mr  Maba lane 

came back to  me  and sa id ,  look we -  th is  p rac t ice  no te  the  

fac t  tha t  i t  i s  va l id  and i t  covers  the  r i sk  based cont rac t ing  

approach,  and i t  i s  no t  been -  in  h is  v iew no t  been 

superseded by  the  2013/2014 gu ide l ines  o r  p rac t ice  20 

d i rec t i ve  tha t  we –  he  is  happy tha t  we cou ld  go  ahead w i th  

the  cont rac t .   And I  am sure i f  you – i f  you – i f  Mr Mabelane 

would be much more prof i c ient  than – and expla in ing th is  to  

you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  
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MR GOVENDER:   Chai r  than – than I  am but  that  was my 

understanding.   So they were  happy and the second par t  

they were happy wi th  was that  th is  – th is  i ssue of  the  

Sect ion 217 was deal t  wi th  and I  – I  then asked the 

quest ion,  should we not  have got ten someth ing more  formal  

back f rom Nat ional  Treasury? You know instead of  an emai l .   

Could there not  have been a  natura l  approval  and the  

comment  was,  th is  i s  how they dea l t  wi th  Nat ional  Treasury 

and they have deal t  wi th  a number of  t ransact ions where 

they have got  feedback th rough emai ls  on d i rect ion  to  fo l low 10 

wi th  the procurement  department  and Nat ional  Treasury and 

they fo l lowed that .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   You have be – because you see h is  

wr i t ing i s  a lso not  par t i cu la r ly  c lear  and he says the  

reta iner /cont ingency fee pr inc ip les are not  c lear ly  out l ined 

in  the pract ice no te.   And then he goes on to  te l l  you:  

“ I f  you apply them you need to do some fur ther  work to  

ensure that  you do not  compromise the pr inc ip les of  Sect ion 

217 of  the Const i tu t ion and other  leg is la t ion. ”  

 Now when he says they are not  c lear ly  out l ined in  20 

the pract ice note d id anybody go back to  h im and say,  what  

do you mean? 

MR GOVENDER:   I  do not  know Chai r  –  I  do not  know.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   In  regard to  the pr inc ip les of  Sect ion 

217 of  the Const i tu t ion d id you understand what  he was 
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re ferr ing to?  

MR GOVENDER:   I  mere ly asked the quest ion in  terms of  

what  was the issue wi th  the – wi th  the 217 and both Mr Gor i  

and Mr Mabelane conf i rmed that  we – that  th is  was not  an  

issue fo r  us – th is  sect ion but  I  d id  not  –  I  d id  not  fu l ly  

understand what  i t  meant .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   You know i t  is  compet i t ive  tender  

process.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So what  Mr Seleka is  do ing is  just  for  your  

in format ion to  te l l  you what  the g is t  o f  Sect ion 217 is .   You 10 

understand that  i t  requi res that  every organ of  s tate that  

seeks to  acqui re goods or  serv ices  that  i t  should do  so in  a  

manner that  is  fa i r,  that  is  cost  e ffect ive,  that  is  t ransparent  

and there is  a  four th requi rement .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So that  is  compet i t ive process that  i t  

requi res.   Okay.   Mr Seleka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And here so  – so  seen instead was the 

approach fo l lowed.  

MR GOVENDER:   Correct  Chai r.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Let  me accelerate Mr Govender.   I  saw 

in  the minutes you were par t  o f  the Steerco – the Steer ing 

Commit tee.  

MR GOVENDER:   Yes Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  
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MR GOVENDER:    Yes Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  saw in  the minutes of  the f i rs t  meet ing.  

MR GOVENDER:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And I  can open to i t  i f  you cannot  recal l  

where you g iv ing feedback someth ing to  the effect  that  you 

to ld  the Steerco that  you have received Treasury approval  

for  the conclus ion  of  the MSA.  

MR GOVENDER:   Chai r… 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Shal l  I  open i t?  

MR GOVENDER:   Yes,  yes can we go to  that .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Th is Eskom Bundle 14(c) .   Page 875.33.  

–  875.33 is  the minute of  the 9 t h  o f  February 2016 – minutes  

of  the Top Consul tants Program Steer ing Commit tee.   So 

once you have found them please go to  page 87536 

paragraph 8.  

MR GOVENDER:   I  have i t  Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   I t  says:  

“A h igh level  MS overv iew.   A h igh level  overv iew of  MSA 

was g iven by Pr ish”  

 Is  that  yoursel f?  20 

MR GOVENDER:   That  is  –  that  would be me Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    

“He in formed the commit tee a le t ter  o f  …” 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is  a t  what  paragraph of  the minutes? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   8  – paragraph 8 Chai r.  Oh Mr Govender 
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a lso speaks at  paragraph 7 you do not  need to go to  7.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh you are at  8  okay.   Now I  can see 8.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

“So a h igh level  rev iew of  the MSA was g iven by Pr ish.   He 

in formed the commit tee the le t ter  o f  acceptance was issued 

to McKinsey in  November 2015.   Nat ional  Treasury 

approved conf i rmat ion of  the cont ract  methodology for  the 

r isk base approach fo r  the ch ief  procurement  off icers ’ 

o ff ice. ”  

 That  is  the statement  I  am refer r ing  to .  10 

MR GOVENDER:   Yes I  do admi t  the Engl ish i s  not  very  

precise but  th is  – th is  feedback that  I  prov ided was 

d iscussed wi th  Mr Mabelane before the Steer ing Commit tee 

and you would see Chai r  that  as par t  o f  the at tendance Mr 

Mabelane was there,  Mr Gor i  was there,  Mr Kaleema who 

had – who were the procurement  off ic ia ls  that  we are 

looking af te r  the process.   And th is  i s  the – th is  i s  what  we 

a l igned on in  te rms of  g iv ing feedback to  the S teer ing  

Commit tee and – and that  was accepted by the procurement 

off ic ia ls  as wel l  because th is  sought  – th is  conf i rmat ion of  –  20 

in  – captured in  that  emai l  that  came f rom … 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Mr ( inaudib le)  

MR GOVENDER:   Yes.   Was what  was ar t icu lated in  

paragraph 8 of  the minutes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes but  there is  a  – there is  a  c lash or  
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cont radict ion in  the two posi t ions  is  i t  not?  Because the 

way the team of  Eskom interpreted Mr Sol l y ’s  emai l  was to  

the effect  that  we do not  need Treasury approval  because 

pract ice note 3 of  2003 st i l l  app l ies.   But  your  repor t ing  

says the opposi te .   I t  says:  

“We in  fact  have received. ”  

 Wel l  I  am heading  my words there.  

“We have received Nat ional  Treasury approval  for  th is  

methodology of  a  r isk based cont ract . ”  

MR GOVENDER:   But  not  in  terms of  a  deviat ion approval .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja that  is  what  you need to  expla in 

because we see your  s tatement  – your  s tatement  I  th ink to  

put  i t  mi ld ly  cannot  be cor rect  wi th  repor t ing.   

MR GOVENDER:   My understanding was Chai r  a t  the t ime in  

engagement  wi th  the – the procurement  people and Mr  

Mabelane is  that  we could – based on the emai l  that  Eskom 

received we could go ahead and cont ract  McKinsey on a 

r isk based approach.   We could go ahead wi th  that  cont ract  

that  was negot ia ted and that  what  – that  is  what  I  was t ry ing  

to  ar t icu late here .   I  was not  t ry ing to  suggest  that  Eskom 20 

went  and acqui re  a deviat ion f rom Nat ional  Treasury or  –  

and in  fact  fur ther  to  what  I  sa id previously where I  asked 

why can we not  someth ing – a le t ter  f rom Nat ional  Treasury.   

My understanding  and what  I  presented here was that  we –  

i t  was the – the opin ion of  the Treasury – oh sorry i t  was 
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the opin ion of  the procurement  pract i t ioners that  th is  

cont ract ing methodology was someth ing that  Eskom could 

go ahead wi th .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So – are you saying the statement  was 

just  not  … 

MR GOVENDER:   I  do not  –   

ADV SELEKA SC:   Was just  not  n ice ly  captured.  

MR GOVENDER:   Wel l  … 

ADV SELEKA SC:   You ref lect  that  in .  

MR GOVENDER:   The Engl ish across a l l  o f  these th ings are  10 

not  100% accurate but  I  am – I  am te l l ing the Chai r  what  my 

understanding was and what  I  actual l y  sa id to  the 

commit tee.   And I  –  and i f  I  was wrong in  what  I  sa id the  

procurement  off ic ia ls  we were w i th  – could have easi l y  

ra ised the i r  hands and said,  but  you know to the chai rman 

of  the Steer ing Commit tee what  Mr  Govender i s  not  ent i re ly  

correct .   This is  –  th is  is  what  rea l l y  happens.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  –  i s  the pos i t ion not  that  what  was 

cr i t i ca l  for  everybody was to  know whether  you needed the  

approval  o f  Nat ional  Treasury or  not  before you could  20 

proceed to conclude the contracts?   Is  that  not  what  was in  

issue? 

MR GOVENDER:   Before you cou ld conclude the cont ract  

Chai r?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  
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MR GOVENDER:   The cont ract  you ta lk ing about  was 

concluded in  – in  terms of  the le t ter  to  – the not ice to  

proceed was in  December 2015.   A t  that  t ime there was no 

approval  or  d iscussions wi th  Nat ional  Treasury up unt i l  that  

t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So what  was the  issue?  Why d id you ask  

Nat ional  Treasury  then in  response to which they sent  you 

th is  emai l?  

MR GOVENDER:   My understanding is  because we had th is  

two… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   What  was the issue ja  that  is  what  I  am –  

ja .  

MR GOVENDER:   The – yes –  we had the two conf l ic t ing  

legal  op in ions.   The f rom McKinsey.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   And the one f rom Advocate Kennedy.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   Where my understanding was that  

Advocate Kennedy’s – in  h is  – in  h is  legal  b r ie f  o r  h is  legal  

op in ion basica l l y  sa id i t  is  – or  a l luded in  h is  legal  b r ie f  that  20 

he was not  sure whether  the pract ice note which is  

SEN2003 was actual ly  superseded by the 2013/2014 

inst ruct ion and h is  v iew when he concluded h is  legal  

op in ion h is  v iew was that  Eskom should go and app ly for  a  

deviat ion to  move ahead wi th  the… 
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   So that  conf l i c t  because you had the 

Ledwabwa and Motswayo opin ion and you had th is  other  

op in ion.  Mr Mabe lane then decided wel l  he – in  h is  mind i t  

was a conf l ic t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja but  now on your  understanding why 

was i t  important  to  get  c lar i t y  on th is  issue in  the l ight  o f  

the two opin ions? 

MR GOVENDER:   Because Chai r  remember we – we s igned 

the – Mr Mabelane s igned a not ice  to  proceed in  December  10 

and we were star t ing to  k ick off  the  cont ract .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   Wi th McKinsey.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   But  th is  issue of  uncer ta in ty s t i l l  

remained.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   And i f  –  i f  that  was not  resolved as per  

the not ice to  proceed that  Mr Mabelane s igned we would 

have had to then go back to  the drawing board wi th  20 

McKinsey.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So i t  was important  to  get  c lar i t y  in  o rder  

to  decide whether  to  p roceed or  to  go back to  the drawing 

board? 

MR GOVENDER:   Yes Chai r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Now you were seeking to  do that  

a f ter  the le t te r  o f  acceptance.  

MR GOVENDER:   Correct  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Now at  that  t ime the c lar i t y  you were 

seeking is  i t  not  t rue that  the c la r i ty  you were seeking was 

whether  in  the f i rs t  p lace th is  was a mat ter  o r  an agreement 

that  should have been preceded by obta in ing an approval  

f rom the Nat ional  Treasury that  you could deviate.    

 In  other  words was that  not  the issue that  was st i l l  

t roubl ing you namely,  d id  we need the approval  o f  Nat ional  10 

Treasury to  dev iate to  conclude th is  cont ract  o r  not?  

Because as I  understand i t  that  was what  was t roubl ing  

people that  we do not  want  to  conc lude – go on only  to  f ind  

that  la ter  on we are to ld  we should have obta ined approval  

f rom Nat ional  Treasury to  deviate – we want  to  have c lar i t y  

on that .  

MR GOVENDER:   That  is  correct  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is  what  was the – was the issue.  

MR GOVENDER:   That  is  correct  Chai r.   The ideal  –  the  

ideal  th ing to  have done would have been to sor t  the c lar i t y  20 

f i rs t  before we moved ahead.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   In  – ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  now coming back then to  what  you 

to ld  the Steer ing Commit tee in  paragraph 8 i s  i t  not  correct  
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to  understand you to  have sa id to  them Nat ional  are – 

Nat ional  Treasury  had conf i rmed or  approved that  you could  

go ahead and conclude the cont ract .   You say here  

approved conf i rmat ion of  the cont ract  methodology for  the 

r isk based approach to the Chief  Procurement  Off icers ’ 

o ff ice.   

 I f  that  was the issue that  we had – that  everybody 

was concerned about  should we have obta ined approval?  

Where you not  saying here Nat ional  Treasury actual l y  d id  

approve – we d id obta in approval?  10 

MR GOVENDER:   Chai r  what  I  was saying here and to the 

Steer ing Commit tee is  the in te ract ion  I  expla ined wi th  

regards to  the emai l  that  the procurement  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   From ( inaudib le) .  

MR GOVENDER:   Yes and my –  and my fo l low up d iscussion  

wi th  Mr Mabelane and Mr Gor i  about  what  th is  – what  that  

emai l  meant  for  Eskom and can we now – my quest ion to  

them di rect ly  was,  can we now proceed wi th  the cont ract  as 

a r i sk based cont ract?  And the i r  answer to  me was,  yes and 

that  is  the basis o f  what  – of  what  I  sa id here.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   So you were  saying based on your  

understanding and your  understanding being based on what  

Mr Mabelane had said to  you.   You were saying proceeding 

wi th  th is  cont ract  has the approval  o f  Nat ional  Treasury.  

MR GOVENDER:   I  – Chai r  I  was saying that  proceeding 
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w i th  the  cont ract  was – was in  l ine wi th  what  was a l lowed 

by Nat ional  Treasury.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GOVENDER:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja so  there was noth ing wrong wi th  

proceeding as fa r  as you are understood the posi t ion .    

MR GOVENDER:   From the procurement  team yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GOVENDER:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr Seleka.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes thank you Chai r.   Mr Govender i t  

would be d i f f i cu l t  I  suppose even fo r  the people on S teerco.   

This Steerco is  chai red by Mr S ingh.  

MR GOVENDER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Mr Koko was there.  

MR GOVENDER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Mr Mabelane was par t  o f  i t .  

MR GOVENDER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And he was the – what  the ch ief  

procurement  off i cer.  20 

MR GOVENDER:   A t  that  t ime yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And so there is  a  d i rect i ve of  Eskom of  

2014 which implements the cost  conta inment  of  the Nat ional  

Treasury inst ruct ion.  I t  i s  rev iewed in  2015 and you have 

another  what  they ca l l  a  posi t ion  paper by Mr Matshela  
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Koko in  August  which he s igns the  same Nat ional  Treasury 

in to law at  Eskom.  I t  is  law anywhere because i t  is  Nat ional  

Treasury inst ruct ion which forms par t  o f  the Act  because the 

PFMA says i t  is  compr ised of  the provis ions of  the Act  and 

the inst ruct ions issued by the Nat ional  Treasury.    

 So i t  would be  hard i f  you have those in terna l  

documents of  Eskom to say you know fa i rness to  you that  

your  team was mis led by that  s tatement .   They shou ld have 

known.  

MR GOVENDER:   Chai r  f i rs t ly  i t  is  news to me that  there  10 

was a subsequent  document  in  2015 and then there was 

someth ing that  Mr  Koko s igned in to law … 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Wel l  I  am guessing 00:19:18 in to  law? 

MR GOVENDER:   In  August  Koko – I  was not  aware of  that  

because I  was not  par t  o f  the procurement  funct ion.   But  

they were a number of  people in  that  commit tee that  would  

have know exact ly  where – or  exact ly  about  Advocate  

Seleka is  ta lk ing  about  in  terms of  the documents he is  

re ferred to .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja because i f  Nat ional  Treasury  20 

approval  is  requi red as Mr Koko has sa id which I  be l ieve is  

correct  the fa i lure to  obta in i t  i s  fa ta l  to  the conclus ion of  

the agreement .   In  other  words you cannot  conclude that  

agreement  and i t  be  a  va l id  and s tanding agreement .   You 

understand.  
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MR GOVENDER:   I  do understand Chai r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja.   So – but  because you u l t imate ly  

Steerco decides to  terminate the MSA and one of  the  

reasons is  that  there is  a growing concern wi th in  Eskom 

legal  that  you requi re Nat ional  Treasury approval .   You 

remember that .   In  one of  the Steerco – you want  to  be  

ref reshed? 

MR GOVENDER:   Yes Chai r  because I  –  maybe I  do not  

recal l  that  – because – you – because I  suppose you ta lk ing 

– sor ry Chai r  –  I  am ta lk ing to  Advocate Seleka.   But  I  10 

wanted to  f ind ou t  i f  Advocate is  re ferr ing to  the reasons for  

terminat ing the MSA.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   And – and what  was presented to  the 

board.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   In  terms of  the te rminat ion.  

ADV SELEKA SC:  Correct  yes.   That  i s  the reasons for  

terminat ing.  

MR GOVENDER:   Okay can – can we have a look at  that  20 

submission that  went  to  the board? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MR GOVENDER:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   The invest igator  … 

MR GOVENDER:   Because I  –  I  do  recal l  Chai r  there was a 
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concern wi th  regards to  Nat ional  Treasury but  I  do  not  –  I  

do not  recal l  whether  there was a growing concern in  – the  

growing concern in  Eskom legal  I  cannot  remember.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes,  no i t  was – i t  was one of  the  

reasons.   Thank you.    So that  is  Eskom Bundle 14(c) .  

MR GOVENDER:   Bracket?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   C.  

MR GOVENDER:   How do we f ind that?  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is  not  the one we were us ing just  now? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  was at… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  has got  the minutes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes I  th ink that  is  the one.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is  not  that  one? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes I  th ink that  is  the one Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is  the one? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  is  the one (c )  page 829.19.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay you say where must  we go?  What  

page? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   828.19.   

CHAIRPERSON:   929.2? 20 

MR GOVENDER:   19 – 19.  

CHAIRPERSON:   19.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Point  19.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  a  f resh p iece.  –  page? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   229.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   229.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes .19.  

CHAIRPERSON:   .92  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Point  19.  –  829.19.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You are swal lowing your  words today Mr 

Seleka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Oh.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No i t  cannot  be th is  same bundle  

because th is  one does not  have 229.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Oh le t  me… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  cannot  be the same bundle.   This  

bundle sta r ts  somewhere at  600 and someth ing.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  have the minutes here.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So just  repeat .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   829.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja you see th is  was – th is  is  Bundle 14 

that  we were look ing at  the – 14(c)   

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes that  i s  the one Chai r  –  14(c) .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

MR GOVENDER:   Mr Chai r  i f  I… 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Eskom Bundle 14(c)  page 

ADV SELEKA SC:   829 

CHAIRPERSON:   29.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja 829 

CHAIRPERSON:   829 



21 JUNE 2021 – DAY 413 
 

Page 324 of 357 
 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You are swal lowing your  words.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Am I?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   829.   I  thought  you were saying 229.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   No 829.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No.  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:   Mr  Chai r  may I  ind icate I  have got  

the s imi lar  chal lenge to you but  a t  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    ( ta lk ing  over  one another )  level .   I  10 

have received these bundles e lect ronica l ly  last  n ight .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    And I  have ext reme d i f f icu l ty  

locat ing the exact  page you are referr ing to .   I  have got  a  

hard copy avai lab le.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh is  that  so.  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    Ja – we – th is  i s  some 6000 p lus  

pages that  we received e lect ronica l ly  last  n ight .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    So I  have got  to  e lect ronica l l y  20 

search a very d i f f icu l t  and chal lenging to  f ind the  actual  

page.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    I  be l ieve Mr Govender i s  

possessed of  i t  but  we – we cannot  – I  mean I  cannot  fo l low 
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i t  in te l l igent ly  consider  what  has been put  to  the wi tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:   On the e lec t ronic … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Is  there a spare hard copy that  can be 

g iven to  h is  counsel  –  Mr Govender ’s  counsel?  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    Can I  say what  my e lect ronic copy 

has?  I t  is  got  an e lect ronic paginat ion at  the top.   I f  I  could 

have that  page number I  wi l l  f ind i t .   Mine is  –  mine is  for  

example I  have got  3000 – 3852 pages.   I f  I  could have the  

page number I  wi l l  be able to  get  i t .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   I  know those page – page numbers 

are somet imes mis-a l igned.   Page – the e lect ronica l ly  p iece 

3034.  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    3034.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:   I  am indebted to  you Mr Seleka.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .   Is  there somebody who 

could check the  e lect ronic pages each t ime we make a  

reference to the hard copy pages so that  he can fo l low.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

UNKNOWN COUNSEL:    That  wou ld be very helpfu l  –  thank 

you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A l l  r ight .   You said on the hard  copies 

829.   Mr Seleka.  
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ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And af ter  829 i ts  po int  was? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Point  19 – Poin t  19.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Okay.   I t  is  a  submission  

document?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  th ink what  I  am looking fo r  maybe –  

the reasons are there Mr Govender.   There is  one par t icu la r  

reason which I  am refer r ing you to .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   These are reasons for  what  just  to?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   For  the – so these documents – these 

document  00:27:14 a submission  document  dated 9 June 

2016.   What  i s  be ing sought  here  is  a  resolut ion f rom the 

BTC to counci l  the McKinsey r i sk base process or  the  

cont ract .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And they g ive the reasons on the next  

page in  those bul le t  po ints on page 829.20.   But  I  must  

have seen the reason  I  am looking for  somewhere e lse Mr  20 

Govender because the – the so l id  bul le t  po ints on page 

829.22 so l id  bul le t  po ints reads:  

“On 25 February 2016 McKinsey responded 

to Eskom’s le t te r.   I t  is  Eskom’s v iew that  

the le t ter  d id  not  fu l ly  address the concerns 
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ra ised. ”  

Bear ing in  mind that  –  the next  bu l le t  po int .  

“Bear ing in  mind that  the McKinsey r isk base 

process was conducted v ia  so le source  

a lbe i t  permiss ib le  wi th in  the  approved 

procurement  procedures such cont racts 

at t ract  a  h igher  level  o f  scrut iny. ”  

 Next  bu l le t  po int .  

“One such cont ract  wi th  McKinsey that  was 

awarded dur ing the course of  last  year  fo r  10 

the rapid f ina l i sa t ion of  the corporate p lan  

and key inputs fo r  Nat ional  Treasury equi ty  

in ject ion has been the source of  an audi t  

f ind ing to  which the necessary management  

responds where  provided.   Fur thermore  

Nat ional  Treasury has requested key 

in format ion regard ing cont racts wi th  

McKinsey. ”  

 What  the p ic tu re I  have in  mind is  I  might  have read 

that  in  Mr Govender – Mr Mabelane’s aff idavi t  but  I  wi l l  20 

have a look at  i t  in  a  moment .   Let  me exhaust  these 

reasons.    

“The above bul le ts  c reate a s ign i f icant  need 

for  management  in te rvent ion to  formulate a l l  

o f  the responses and det racts f rom the  
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de l i very of  key business object i ves. ”  

Then you have the next  bu l le t  po int .  

“Wi th th is  in  mind i t  may be prudent  to  

terminate the cont ract  f ina l isat ion process 

for  the McKinsey r isk base cont ract .   I t  is  

management ’s  v iew that  McKinsey wi l l  have 

to  be compensated for  work car r ied out  to  

date.   Such costs  wi l l  need to be negot ia ted  

and f ina l i sed w i th  McK insey. ”  

And the  –  i t  i s  the  penu l t imate .  10 

“ I t  i s  recommended the  approva l  fo r  the  costs  be  

presented to  the  appropr ia te  tender  commi t tee  fo r  

approva l  o f  payment . . . ”  

Then you have the  las t  one wh ich  does not  address the  

issue I  wanted to  ra ise  w i th  you.   But  there  i s  captured the  

Nat iona l  Treasury  requ i r ing  in fo rmat ion  regard ing  the 

cont rac t  as  one  o f  the  reasons  why he wou ld  ra ther  

te rm inate  the  cont rac t .   And the  cont rac t  was then 

te rm inated as  a  resu l t  o f  th is  subm iss ion .  

MR GOVENDER :    Wel l ,  the  board  approved the  20 

te rm inat ion  process.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   So,  i f  you  take  the  ev idence o f  

Mr  Koko –  le t  me pa in t  a  p ic tu re  fo r  you.   That  the  wr i t ing  

was on the  wa l l ,  he  uses those words,  a l ready in  March –  

February /March 2016 tha t  Nat iona l  Treasury  approva l . . .   
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The cont rac t  cou ld ,  there fore ,  no t  be  conc luded  w i thout  

Nat iona l  Treasury  approva l .   So,  what  fo l lows thereaf te r,  i t  

i s  purpor ted  conc lus ion  o f  the  agreement .   So,  the par t ies  

purpo r t  to  conc lude the  agreement .   You unders tand  what  I  

am say ing?  

MR GOVENDER :    [No aud ib le  rep l y ]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    They ac t  as  i f  they  a re  conc lud ing  the  

agreement  when the  agreement  i s  in  fac t  nu l l i t y  because o f  

the  lack  o f  p r io r  approva l .    

MR GOVENDER :    Cha i r,  I  do  no t  unders tand fu l l y.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  am th ink ing  Mr  Se leka  may be  

expect ing  too  much . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . lawyer  [ laughs ]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]  

MR GOVENDER :    I  am su re  he  is  over (?)  qua l i f i ca t i ons.   I  

am jus t  humble  [ laughs]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    [ laughs]   Okay,  le t  us  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  le t  me ask th is  quest ion .    20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    When was i t  when the  board  approved  

the  cance l la t ion?  

MR GOVENDER :    In  June,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    In  June?  
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MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And tha t  i s  the  approva l .   And when d id  

the  ac tua l  cance l la t ion  happened as  fa r  as  you know? 

MR GOVENDER :    So  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  mean,  the  board  take  a  reso lu t ion  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    The board  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .bu t  somebody must  imp lement  the 

reso lu t ion .   So,  tha t  i s  what  I  am ta lk ing  about .  

MR GOVENDER :    Oh,  okay.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    The imp lementa t ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .o f  tha t  reso lu t ion  o f  the  board  to  say 

th is  must  be  cance l led .  

MR GOVENDER :    So ,  le t  me s tar t  w i th  th is  submiss ion  

tha t  went  to  the  board  on  the  9 t h .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MR GOVENDER :    Th is  submiss ion  was preceded by  a  

S teer ing  Commi t tee  meet ing .   I  cannot  remember  wh ich  

number  was i t  bu t  I  th ink  i t  was in  ear l y  June  20 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    . . . the  S teer ing  Commi t tee .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GOVENDER :    And then –  I  th ink ,  Cha i r,  i f  memory  
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serves me cor rec t ly.   That  meet ing ,  there  was an open 

sess ion  and a  c losed sess ion .   There  was a  c losed sess ion  

w i th  on ly  the  main  members  o f  the  S teer ing  Commi t tee  

wh ich  was cha i red  by  Mr  S ingh and then there  was an p [en  

sess ion  tha t  inc luded McKinsey and Tr i l l i an  s ta f f .   So,  the 

dec is ion  to  cance l  and bas ica l l y  the  reasons you see he re  

fo r  the  cance l la t ion  was d iscussed and then was ac tua l l y  

fo rmula ted  in to  th is  feedback repor t  tha t  went  to  the  board .    

 So,  what  happened the reaf te r  was,  there  was an  

imp lementa t ion  p rocess based on  the  board ’s  mandate  –  10 

oh,  so r ry,  based  on the  board ’s  dec i s ion  to  cance l  the  

cont rac t .   And i t  was agreed in  the  subsequent  S teer ing  

Commi t tee  tha t  –  I  th ink  i t  was in  Ju ly  –  tha t  the  too l ,  the  

t rack ing  too l  tha t  was used to  capture  the  in i t ia t i ves  across 

the  organ isa t ion  over  1600 in i t ia t i ves  wou ld  be  f rozen as  o f  

tha t  da te  in  te rms o f  a l l  i t s  approva ls  and government  

approva ls  and so  fo r th ,  so  tha t  you cou ld  do  a  ca lcu la t ion  

as  to  what  the  fees wou ld  be  then due to  McK insey.    

 Subsequent  to  tha t  Ju ly  meet ing ,  there  was  

another  S tee r ing  Commi t tee  in  August  and in  tha t  S teer ing  20 

Commi t tee  there  was payments  or  par ts  o f  payments  

requested by  McK insey and Tr i l l i an  and tha t  ended up  

go ing  in to  a  submiss ion  tha t  wen t  to  the  BTC in  August .   

So,  e f fec t i ve ly,  what  then happened was,  post  August ,  the 

agreement  w i th  McK insey was tha t  they wou ld  remain  on  
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the  ground so  tha t  the  ac tua l  board  dec i s ion  o f  cance l l ing  

the  cont rac t  and the  subsequent  work  cou ld  be  t rans i t ioned 

to  another  pa r ty.    

 So,  tha t  was the  –  how can I  say  to  you –  the  

sequence o f  events  in  te rms o f  how the  imp lementa t ion  o f  

the  board ’s  dec i s ion  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  the  ac tua l  te rm inat ion  or  

cance l la t ion  happened when?  Are  you ab le  to  remember  

tha t?   In  September,  in  October,  in  Ju ly,  in  August  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  10 

MR GOVENDER :    Oh,  the  f ina l  te rm inat ion  agreement ,  

Cha i r,  happened in  –  I  th ink  i t  was February  2017.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR GOVENDER :    Was i t  –  i t  was 2016.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  am not  sure  tha t  anybody has 

ta lked about  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    No,  they have  to  –  Mr  Govender  a lso  

ta lks  about  in  h is  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.   H ’m.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    But  Govender,  I  th ink ,  tha t  is  a  very  20 

s imp le  quest ion .   You need to  te l l  the  Cha i rpe rson the  da te  

o f  te rm inat ion  o f  the  le t te r  wh ich  you do ment ion  the  da te  

in  you r  a f f idav i t .  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Which  is  the  le t te r  o f  te rm inat ion  by  
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Mr  Koko(?)  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    Oh,  okay.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    I  now unders tand.   [ laughs]  Sor ry,  Cha i r.   

Apo log ies .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    So ,  a f te r  th is  dec is ion  was –  the  board  

had taken the  dec i s ion ,  Mr  Mabe lane penned a  le t te r  –  

sor ry,  sor ry.   Mr  Mabe lane had penned a  l e t te r  to  

McK insey,  in fo rming them o f  the  board  dec is ion  o f  10 

te rm inat ion .   So.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And tha t  was when?  Was i t  in  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    I t  was June,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  bu t  there  i s  a  d iscrepancy there 

because the  te rm inat ion  was in  fac t  made before  the  board  20 

–  I  th ink  i t  was  the  BTC – before  the  BTC made the  

dec is ion  to  te rm inate .   So,  Mr  Mabe lane wr i tes  the  le t te r  on  

the  16 t h  o f  June 2016,  tha t  i s  the  on ly. . .   Terminat ing ,  bu t  

BTC on ly  sa t  on  the  22n d  o f  June to  reso lve  to  te rm inate .  

MR GOVENDER :    I  –  so r ry,  Cha i r.   I  was not  aware  o f  tha t  
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because th is  submiss ion  tha t  was prepared is  da ted  the  

9 t h  o f  June and you can see tha t  I  suppor ted  i t  based on 

the  fac t  tha t  i t  was prepared by  myse l f ,  and the  pro jec t  

management  team and i t  was approved by  Mr Mabe lane on  

the  6 t h  o f  the  s i x th .   So,  I  was not  aware  tha t  i t  on ly  go t  to  

the  board  on  the  22n d ,  Advocate .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .   You see,  I  th ink ,  you k ind  o f  dea l t  

w i th  tha t  in  your  a f f idav i t  wh ich  is  Eskom Bund le  14(d) ,  

pages 13 and 41 and you do  g ive  the  da te  when  

Mr  Mabe lane had  cance l led  the  MSA.    10 

“Mr  Mabe lane adv ised me tha t  he  fo rmal ly  

no t i f ied  McK insey o f  the  cance l la t ion  dec i s ion  

on  16 June 2015(s ic ) . . . ”  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  in  h is  le t te r,  d id  he  then go on to  

ta lk  about  what  wou ld  –  some t rans i t iona l  a r rangements  or  

what?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  do  no t  th ink  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    P rov ided fo r  what  Mr  Govender  was 

say ing  happened in  August  and so  on .   In  o ther  words,  tha t  

the  board  had sa id  te rm inate  and then h i s  le t te r  sa id  i t  i s  20 

te rm inated.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  we know tha t  McK insey cont inued,  i s  

i t  no t?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Cor rec t .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    To  do  some work .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  was tha t  based on someth ing  tha t  he  

sa id  in  tha t  le t te r?   Because,  o therw ise ,  one wou ld  have 

expected tha t  i f  they  say the  cont rac t  i s  te rm inated,  

McK insey w i l l  s top .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  cannot  reca l l  o f f  hand but  now I  have 

the  le t te r  in  f ron t  o f  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Which  is  da ted  16 June 2016.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Addressed to  m is ter  –  to  Dr  Wise .   

Terminat ion  o f  Top Consu l tan t  Group,  MSA.    

“Th is  le t te r  se rves to  o f f i c ia l l y  no t i f y  McK insey 

and Co.  o f  a  board  dec is ion  taken on 

9  June 2016 to  te rm inate  the  McK insey R isk  

Base cont rac t .  

You are  he reby  requested to  engage w i th  

Mr  Pr ish  Govender  to  d i scuss the  per t inent  

i ssue to  g ive  e f fec t  to  the  board  reso lu t ion .  20 

In  conc lus ion ,  Eskom wi l l  embark  on  a  

t ransparent  p rocurement  p rocess  to  rea l loca te  

the  ac t iv i t ies  under  the  r i sk  base cont rac t .  

McK insey and  Company is  we lcome to  

par t i c i pa te  in  th is  p rocess. . . ”  
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And he s igns i t .   Fo r  the  record ,  I  am go ing  to  g ive  the  

page number  and  p lease look fo r  i t  in  the  e lec t ron i c  -   oh ,  

he  has i t .   The e lec t ron ic  i t  i s  page 3233.   In  the  ha rd  copy,  

i t  i s  877.26 and th is  i s  Eskom Bund le  C.    

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  in  the  le t te r,  he  does not  ta lk  about  

what  was to  happen a f te r  the  te rm inat ion ,  o ther  than tha t  

he  sa id  –  we  adv ise  you,  ta lk  to  Mr  Govender  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .about  . . . [ in te rvenes]  10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    To  g i ve  . . . [ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . in  the  imp lementa t ion  o f  the  

te rm inat ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the  reso lu t ion .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    G ive  e f fec t  to  the  board  reso lu t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR GOVENDER :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Was i t  then in  your  d iscuss ion  w i th  

Dr  Wise  tha t  th is  idea tha t  McK insey cou ld  cont inue do ing  

some work  tha t  a rose and was agreed or  what?  

MR GOVENDER :    No. . .   [ laughs]   So . . . [ in te rvenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Where  d id  tha t  come f rom? 

MR GOVENDER :    So ,  when Mr  Mabe lane penned th is  

le t te r  to  Dr  Wise ,  Dr  Wise ,  and the  Pro jec t  Management  

Team f rom Eskom,  wh ich  was led  by  me,  go t  togethe r  and I  

–  and there  was a  McK insey team tha t  was w i th  Dr  Wise ,  

he  was not  on  h is  own,  and we were  dec id ing  how best  to  

b r ing  th is  p rocess to  a  conc lus ion .    

 And par t  o f  tha t  conc lus ion  process was a  coup le  

o f  key  th ings tha t  we had to  take  care  o f .   One was the  fac t  

tha t  there  was  work  ongo ing  ex tens ive ly  ac ross  the  10 

organ isa t ion ,  in  many par t s  o f  the  organ isa t ion  and how 

best  to  b r ing  tha t  to  c lose .   Th i s  aud i t ing  way to  tha t  I  had 

d iscussed w i th  you was an issue o f  how we now te rminate  

tha t .    

 The th i rd  par t  o f  th is  equat ion  was,  you cannot  jus t  

d raw a  l ine  in  the  sand and say McKinsey i s  o f f  the  ground 

because you lose  a  who le  lo t  o f  va lue  immedia te ly.   You 

need to  t rans i t ion  i t  to  a  new veh ic le ,  a  new de l i very  

veh ic le  i n  the  fo rm o f  anothe r  con t rac tor  o r  perhaps even 

back to  the  Eskom peop le  to  ca r ry  on .   So,  those  issues  20 

were  d i scussed w i th  Dr  Wise  and myse l f .   And the  teams.    

 I t  was one pa r t  o f  tha t  i ssue was,  how do we dea l  

w i th  the  wave(?)  too l?   I t  was presented to  the  Steer ing  

Commi t tee  in  Ju ly  and the  S tee r ing  Commi t tee  excepted  

the  fac t  tha t  as  o f  the  15 t h  o f  Ju ly,  we w i l l  do ,  what  we ca l l ,  
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bas ica l l y  f reeze i t ,  and see –  f reeze the  wave to  –  and see  

what  the  imp l ica t ions in  te rms o f  the  a l l  the  approva ls  a re .   

Then,  there  was a  S tee r ing  Commi t tee  in  August ,  

par t i cu la r ly,  to  address,  how do we move th is  –  the 

programme aspec ts  to  o ther  en t i t ies?    

 And out  o f  tha t  S teer ing  commi t tee  in  August  o r  in  

tha t  S teer ing  Commi t tee  in  Augus t ,  bear ing  in  m ind  tha t  we  

d id  no t  pay any  down payments  a l though we asked the  

board  to  approve i t  and the  board  d id  approve  i t ,  the 

consu l tan ts  in  t ha t  commi t tee ,  i f  memory  serves me 10 

cor rec t ,  were  compla in ing  about  the  fac t  tha t  they had 

worked a l ready fo r  e igh t  odd mon ths ,  n ine  odd months  and  

they had not  rece ived any payment  a l l  f rom – even though  

va lue  was crea ted.    

 And so ,  tha t  commi t tee  took a  few dec is ions.   

Those dec is ions  ended up to  be  par t  o f  an  August  

submiss ion  tha t  went  to  the  BTC,  and I  am sure  tha t  

Advocate  can po in t  ou t  the  August  submiss ion .   I t  is  on  f i le  

as  we l l .   And tha t  August  submiss ion ,  i f  memory  serves me 

cor rec t ,  had ment ioned a  t rans i t ion  per iod .    20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR GOVENDER :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And tha t  was  –  you say tha t  was a  

reso lu t ion  o f  the  BTC? 

MR GOVENDER :    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    And i t  was in  August?  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  i t  wou ld  be  on f i le  here .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   So,  in  o ther  

words.   A re  you say ing  tha t  whatever  work  McK insey d id  

a f te r  they had been not i f ied  tha t  the  board  had taken a  

reso lu t ion  to  te rm inate  the  cont rac t ,  whatever  work  they 

d id  a f te r  tha t ,  was a t  some s tage in  August  g i ven approva l  

by  the  BTC to  say the re  is  a  t rans i t iona l  pe r iod  and in  

e f fec t  gave the  impress ion  to  whatever  you might  have  

thought  shou ld  be  done because you took the  v iew they  10 

cou ld  no t  jus t  take  a  dead l ine  and say . . . [ in te rvenes ]  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . th is  end.   You needed to  th ink  about  

what  the  imp l ica t i ons wou ld  be .  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And make some ar rangements .  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  tha t  there  wou ld  be  some va lue  to  

Eskom . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .o f  the  cont rac t .  

MR GOVENDER :    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   And the  Augus t  board  

submiss ion ,  the  board  approved some payments  a t  tha t  

s tage,  and they approved the  t rans i t ion  per iod .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  
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MR GOVENDER :    And McKinsey as  par t  o f  the  

d iscuss ions,  the  negot ia t ions  w i th  them to  br ing  th is  o r  

p rocess to  an  end,  wanted to  ge t  pa id  dur ing  tha t  t rans i t ion  

per iod  as  we l l .   They wanted to  ge t  pa id ,  bu t  no t  on  a  r i sk  

bas is ,  they wanted to  ge t  pa id  on  a  f i xed  fee  bas is .   And 

tha t ,  ac tua l l y,  went  in to  the  submiss ion  as  we l l .    

 And they,  ac tua l l y,  d id  submi t  one invo ice  to  us  

a f te r  they had got  pa id  in  August  fo r  tha t  per iod  and,  bu t  

we d id  no t  pay tha t  invo ice  because we were  –  Mr  S ingh  

was very  adamant  tha t  we shou ld  make su re  tha t  we  10 

proper ly  b r ing  th is  who le  process to  a  conc lus ion ,  and he 

wanted cer ta in  th ings looked a t .    

 He wanted to  look  –  he  wanted the  va lue  o f  the  

cont rac t  to  be  looked a t ,  he  wanted the  lega l  rev iew done 

and he wanted the  cont rac t  to  be  aud i ted .   So,  he  d id  no t  

want  to  –  ac tua l l y,  he  wanted to  fo l low a  proper  p rocess to  

ge t  tha t  done.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .   Wel l ,  tha t  sa id ,  Mr  Govender.   

There  is  a  m inute  o f  Steerco ,  you know,  jus t  p ick ing  on  the  

Cha i rperson ’s  quest ion .   The minute  o f  15  Ju ly  2016,  20 

where  key ob jec t i ves  are  recorded.   The  page  number  i s  

Eskom Bund le  -   I  th ink  tha t  i s  the  one  you have –  (c ) ,  i t  i s  

page 875.61 fo r  -  the  e lec t ron ic  page is  3187.  

MR GOVENDER :    3187?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I t  i s  the  m inute  o f  15  Ju ly  2016.   So,  
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tha t  i s  the  beg inn ing  o f  the  m inute .   I f  you  tu rn  to  the  next  

page,  pa ragraph  8  and you can exp la in  th i s  to  the  

Cha i rperson.   Paragraph 8  dea ls  w i th  key ob jec t i ves .  

MR GOVENDER :    Sor ry,  Cha i r.   Jus t  to  conf i rm.   A re  we  

look ing  a t  the  15 t h  o f  Ju l y  o r  the  4 t h  o f  August  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    15  Ju ly.  

MR GOVENDER :    That  i s  on  875.65?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    No,  875.61.  

MR GOVENDER :    Oh,  sor ry.    10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    So ,  there  a re  key ob jec t i ves  on  the  

next  page po in t  62 ,  pa ragraph 8  and you can exp la in  tha t  

to  the  Cha i rperson.   One o f  the  key ob jec t i ves ,  i f  you  – 

tha t  penu l t imate ,  the  second f rom the  bot tom.  

“A l l  MSA act iv i t ies  w i l l . . . ”  

I  th ink  they have got  the  spe l l ing  wrong.  

“ . . . se ize  as  o f  today unt i l  fu r ther  no t ice  as  per  

S teerco  ins t ruc t ion  f rom McKinsey 

Management . . . ”  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.   And tha t  re la ted  to  my comment  to  20 

th is  cha i r  inso far  as  f reez ing  the  wave two(?) .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H ’m.  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    So ,  you address tha t?  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  
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ADV SELEKA SC :    Wel l ,  i t  says  a l l  MSA act iv i t ies  here .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    No,  th is  was . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . to  be  to  s top .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    And wa lk  ou t .   [ laughs]  

MR GOVENDER :    [ laughs]  

[Par t ies  in te rven ing  each o the r  –  unc lear ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    The minute  taker  d id  no t  know how to  10 

spe l l  tha t . . .    

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  le t  me g ive  you –  I  know tha t  is  

p robab ly,  Cha i r,  a  lawyer ’s  v iew,  bu t  le t  me g ive  you the  

ac tua l  events  tha t  happened in  a  sense.   Th is  s ta tement  i s  

in  re la t ion  to  the  wave two(? ) .   So,  you f reeze the  wave 

two.   So,  you do not  a l low anybody to  make anymore  

approva ls .   So,  you do not  a l low  the  va lue  o f  – because 

every  t ime in  a  s t ream – I  am sor ry  to  use the  

Commiss ion ’s  te rm ino logy now,  bu t  in  a  s t ream,  fo r  

example ,  you have the  c la im s t ream,  you have the  20 

genera t ion  s t ream,  you have procurement  s t ream.    

 Every  t ime somebody in  those s t reams whoever  

the  s t ream leader  was made an approva l  in  the  wave two.   

You wou ld  have had an imp lementa t ion  leve l . . .   tha t  wou ld  

then Eskom l iab le  to  pay add i t iona l  money to  McK insey.   
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So ,  the  dec is ion  –  what  we ta lked about  here  was tha t  

wave needs to  be  f rozen,  bu t  the  ac tua l  ac t i v i t ies  tha t  were  

ongo ing  cou ld  no t  a l l  o f  a  sudden,  you know,  jus t  –  you  

drop every th ing .    

 I f  the  guys were  busy a t  some mine,  improv ing  the  

opera t ions a t  the  m ine,  you jus t  cannot  jus t  d rop  and  

leave.   There  had to  be  a  log ica l  t rans i t ion  per iod  process 

under taken.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .    

MR GOVENDER :    And tha t  ac tua l l y  –  you know tha t  10 

thought  p rocess,  Cha i r,  l i ke  I  have  desc r ibed,  went  in to  the 

board  submiss ion  in  August ,  then was approved.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  keep ing  an eye on your  t ime,  

Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    That  i s  what  I  was do ing  now.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  see  i t  i s  runn ing  away f rom us.   

Mr  Govender,  I  am go ing  to  do  th is .   I f  you –  because we  20 

were  –  I  was address ing  the  issue o f  the  d i s t inc t ion  

be tween the  da te  o f  te rm inat ion  and the  da te  o f  the 

reso lu t ion  by  BTC.  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I t  i s  s t i l l  i n  tha t  same document .   The  
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BTC dec is ion  you  w i l l  f ind  on  page  875.1 .   You w i l l  f ind  the  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    Sor ry,  Cha i r,  le t  me jus t  ge t  to  tha t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    . . . fo r  you.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    So ,  i t  i s  an  ex t rac t  f rom the  f ina l  

m inutes  o f  Eskom Board  Tender  Commi t tee .  

MR GOVENDER :    871 po in t . . .?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    875.1 .   E lec t ron ic ,  3126.    10 

MR GOVENDER :    875. . .   Yes,  I  go t  i t .   Thank you.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ex t rac t  f rom the  f ina l  m inutes  o f  

Eskom Board  Tender  Commi t tee  he ld  a t  Umkhu lu(? )  Board  

Room on 21 June 2016.   And you have the  Board  Tender  

Commi t tee  grant (?) .    

“ I t  was reso lved.    

A grant  approva l  to  cance l  the  McK insey r i sk  

base process.    

A l low a l l  cos t s  to  be  negot ia ted  and 

f ina l i sed. . . ”  20 

So,  in  h is  a f f idav i t ,  Mr  Mabe lane says th is  i s  the  da te  when 

the  BTC reso lved  to  cance l  the  MSA.  

MR GOVENDER :    Which  was the  21 s t  o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Which  is  the  one o f  21  June 2016  

wh ich  is  some f i ve  days a f te r  he  had te rm inated on the  
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16 t h  o f  Ju ly  –  o f  June.  

MR GOVENDER :    I  see  your  po in t  now.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    I  do  see your  po in t  now and. . .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    So  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    I  suppose  we w i l l  have  to  ask  

Mr  Mabe lane why  he s igned the  te rm inat ion  le t te r  be fore  

the  board  approved.   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Wel l ,  he  s igned i t  on  the  16 t h  wh ich  is  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  10 

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Bu t  you know what  he  is  say ing ,  a lso,  

in  h is  a f f idav i t ,  wh ich  we shared w i th  you?  He says  he  got  

–  when he s igned the  te rm inat ion  le t te r  on  the 

16 t h  o f  June 2016 ,  he  go t  the  assurance f rom you and  

Mr  S ingh tha t  the  board  has g iven the  green l igh t  to  

te rm inate .    

MR GOVENDER :    I  d id  see tha t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    The l im i ted  t ime tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    Sor ry,  Cha i r,  I  shou ld  be  address ing  

you.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    Apo log ies .   I  d id  see tha t  in  the  l im i ted 
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t ime.   I  have the  documenta t ion  las t  n igh t .   And I  do  no t  

unders tand why Mr  Mabe lane wou ld  say tha t  because he  

approved the  board  submiss ion  tha t  went  to  the  board .   So,  

what  –  and he was the  key procurement  o f f i cer  and the  

o f f i c ia l  a t  the  Board  Tender  Commi t tee .   So,  why d id  he  say  

he  got  the  conf i rmat ion  f rom myse l f  and Mr  S ingh?   

 I ,  ac tua l l y,  do  no t  reca l l  be ing  a t  the  board  when  

th is  th ing  was te rm inated.   I  do  no t  reca l l  be ing  a t  the  

board .   So,  I  th ink  we must  p robab ly  seek bet te r  c la r i t y  

f rom Mr  Mabe lane on tha t ,  Cha i r,  because in  m ind,  I  was 10 

asked to  p repare  tha t  cance l la t ion  submiss ion  to  the  BTC.   

I  p repared tha t  –  we l l ,  the  team prepared,  the  Pro jec t  

Management  Team.    

 I  looked a t  i t  and then i t  went  to  Mr Mabe lane fo r  

approva l  and then i t  went  to  the  BTC process.   I  do  no t  

know why there  is  th is  d iscrepancy,  Cha i r.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja ,  okay.   I  am look ing  a t  my t ime.   

Then comes the  payments .   Payments  to  Tr i l l i an  in  

par t i cu la r.   The S teer  Commi t tee  knew tha t  by  the  end o f  

March 2016,  McK insey had sa id :   We no longer  want  to  20 

have d iscuss ion  w i th  Tr i l l i an  in  o rder  to  cons ide r  them as  

our  BEE par tne r.   You remember  tha t?   You dea l  w i th  i t  in  

our  a f f idav i t .    

MR GOVENDER :    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I t  i s  a l ready in  March 2016.   So,  
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McK insey says:   We never  conc luded a  cont rac t  w i th  

Tr i l l i an .   As  a  subcont rac tor,  as  our  BEE par tne r,  we never,  

because we in fo rmed you,  Eskom.   Now,  the  quest ion  is .   

Why d id  Eskom made payments  d i rec t l y  to  Tr i l l i an  when 

Tr i l l i an  d id  no t  know the  cont rac t  w i th  McK insey,  Tr i l l i an  

d id  no t  have a  cont rac t  w i th  Eskom.    

 I t  was not  an  Eskom supp l ie r.   And i t  wou ld  no t  

have d i rec t l y  be ing  cont rac ted  to  render  se rv i ces  to  Eskom.   

You dea l  w i th  tha t  in  you r  a f f idav i t ,  how the  payments  

came about .   Cou ld  you jus t  exp la in  tha t  to  the 10 

Cha i rperson?  

MR GOVENDER :    Okay,  we are  dea l ing  w i th  the  MSA? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    The MSA,  yes.  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  okay.   So,  Eskom d id  rece ive  f rom 

McKinsey a  l e t te r.   I  th ink  i t  was the  end o f  March,  

bas ica l l y,  say ing  and I  can reca l l  soe reasons fo r  why they 

cannot  p roceed w i th  Tr i l l i an  as  a  subcont rac to r.   So,  what  

they wro te  in  tha t  le t te r  d id  no t  fu l l y  exp la in  how McKinsey  

behaved thereaf te r,  because what  happened was,  the  

teams between Tr i l l i an  and McK insey s t i l l  con t inued to  20 

work  w i th  each o ther  and they cont inued in  my reco l lec t ion  

r igh t  up  un t i l  August ,  r igh t  up  un t i l  tha t  August  S teer ing  

Commi t tee .    

 And a l l  th rough tha t  p rocess,  l i ke ,  every  one o f  the  

S teer ing  Commi t tees in  be tween,  McK insey presented –  
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there  was work  be ing  p resented by  Tr i l l i an  as  we l l  in  te rms  

o f  the  work  tha t  they were  busy w i th .    

 So,  McK insey cont inued work ing  a longs ide  Tr i l l i an  

and based on tha t ,  the  S teer ing  Commi t tee  took a  dec is ion  

tha t  because these teams cont inued to  work  a longs ide  

each o ther,  bo th  McK insey and Tr i l l i an  need  to  ge t  

compensated fo r  tha t  work  tha t  they pe r fo rmed up unt i l  the  

end o f  –  oh ,  sor ry,  up  un t i l  the  August  S teer ing  Commi t tee  

fo r  the  August  board  submiss ion .    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja ,  bu t  why d id  you a l low tha t?   I  d id  10 

no t  know tha t  you have done i t .   Why d id  you a l low when  

you knew the re  was no cont rac t  be tween the  two fo r  

Tr i l l i on  to  s t i l l  be  around.  

MR GOVENDER :   Me pe rsona l ly.   No,  s tee rco .   Cha i r,  there  

was work  tha t  was –  my unders tand ing  was tha t  the re  was  

work  ongo ing  and there  was –  and McKinsey cont inued to 

work  w i th  Tr i l l i on  and the  s teerco  wanted the  work  to  

comple te  to  ge t  to  a  log ica l  po in t  o f  comple t ion  or  log ica l  

po in t  o f  t rans i t ion  and tha t  i s  why  the  s teerco  a l lowed th is  

a r rangement  to  cont inue.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja  and there  were . . .  [ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]  was fo r  how long aga in?  

MR GOVENDER :    I  must  be  care fu l  what  I  say  because are  

you say ing  –  are  you ask ing  me. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :   Was i t  fo r  two years ,  th ree  years?  
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MR GOVENDER :    No,  the  MSA,  Cha i r,  cont inued or  the  

ac t i v i t ies  assoc ia ted  –  le t  us  fo rge t  about  the  

te rm inat ion . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :   I  am ta lk ing  about  the  fo rmal  in  te rms o f  

the  ac tua l  cont rac t  tha t  has been agreed,  what  was in  the  

agreement?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  th ink  i t  was a  th ree  year  cont rac t ,  

Cha i r.  

MR GOVENDER :    I t  was a  th ree  year  cont rac t .  

CHAIRPERSON :   Okay,  ja  [ ind is t inc t ] .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja ,  i t  was a  th ree  year  cont rac t  and i t  

was te rm inated  about  f i ve  months  a f te r  i t s  purpor ted  

conc lus ion .   January  to . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    I  am caut ious to  say I  unders tand  

because I  am th ink ing  what  does purpor ted 

mean. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :   Mr  Se leka must  s top  confus ing  us .   Ja ,  i t  

was the  board ’s  dec is ion  or  BTC’s  dec is ion  tha t  i t  shou ld  

be  te rm inated happened w i th in  about  f i ve  months ,  s i x  

months  or  thereabout  a f te r  i t  had been conc luded.   I s  tha t  20 

r igh t?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Cor rec t .   Cor rec t . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :   F i ve  months ,  s ix  months  or  the reabout .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Cor rec t .   Cor rec t .   Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :   Ja .  
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ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   You know,  on  th is  i ssue I  was 

ra is ing  w i th  you  about  why you  cont inued to  le t  Tr i l l i on  

around,  in  your  engagement  a t  leas t  by  emai l  w i th  Mr  

Mood ley  o f  CDH one o f  the  commentar ies  fo r  the  pr inc ip le  

o f  se t t lement ,  he  sa id  in  fac t  the  cont rac t  wou ld  be  

d isso l ved on the  very  bas is  tha t  there  was no BEE par tne r.   

And so  you te rm inated so  tha t  you  on ly  i ncur  cos ts  fo r  the  

main  cont rac t  and you do not  have to  pay the  BEE par t .   

Can you reca l l  tha t  commenta ry?  

MR GOVENDER :    Maybe you must  show i t  to  me.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    You a t tached i t  here  in  

your. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    We are  a t  ha l f  past ,  so  

jus t . . .  [ in te rvenes ]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Exped i te  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  jus t  wrap up,  because we do not  want  

peop le  to  be  in  b reach o f  the  COVID regu la t ions  in  te rms  

o f  the  cur few.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Page 1474,  tha t  i s  Annexure  EN22.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What ,  1474?  20 

MR GOVENDER :    I s  i t  the  f i le  tha t  I  had in  f ron t  o f  me? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    No,  now I  am back to  your  a f f idav i t .  

MR GOVENDER :    My a f f idav i t?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Eskom Bund le  14D,  sor ry.  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes.   Sor ry,  g ive  page number  aga in .  
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ADV SELEKA SC :    1474.   He does not  have the  e lec t ron ic  

page,  bu t  tha t  i s  EN22.   I f  you  fo l low the  a f f idav i t  you sent  

to  us .  

MR GOVENDER :    I  w i l l  t ry  and fo l low f rom what  my  

learned f r iend puts  to  the  w i tness.   I  cannot  loca te  the  

page.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Annexure  EN22.  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you ab le  to  pu t  you r  quest ion  and  

maybe Mr  Govender  m ight  be  ab le  to  answer  i t  w i thout  

hav ing  to  look  and i f  he  cannot  answer  10 

w i thout . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  le t  me read f rom the  

emai l . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    My a t to rneys prov ided me wi th  a  copy.   I  

have got  i t ,  thank  you.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Okay.   Le t  me read f rom the  –  i t  i s  an  

emai l  f rom Pau l  Cowley to  yourse l f ,  Mr  Govender,  on  the  

3 r d  o f  February  2017 and he dea ls  w i th  the  what  he  ca l l s  –  

he  ou t l ines  the  p r inc ip les  o f  the  agreement  based  on the  

work  we have conducted.   Now i f  you go to  the  paragraph 20 

f rom the  bot tom,  one,  two,  th ree :  

“ I t  shou ld  be  noted tha t  as  a  prerequ is i te  fo r  

successfu l l y  w inn ing  the  manda te  fo r  the  TPC 

pro jec t ,  the  supp l ie r  was requ i red  to  en ter  in to  a  

cont rac t  w i th  a  BEE par tne r. ”  
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You see tha t?  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    “ Inc lud ing  the  fa i r  d is t r ibu t ion  o f  the  

cont rac t  va lue .   The fa i lu re  to  pu t  th is  in  p lace  

cou ld  be  g rounds  fo r  fu l l  d isso lu t ion  o f  the  cont rac t  

in  p lace ,  render ing  on ly  a  t ime and  mater ia ls  based  

payment  due to  the  supp l ie r. ”  

MR GOVENDER :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    So  my po in t  was you cou ld  have got ten  

r id  o f  Tr i l l i on  and  on ly  be  l iab le  to  pay ing  McKinsey much  10 

ear l ie r  on . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    Accord ing  to . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    . . .because  there  was no cont rac t  

be tween McKinsey and Tr i l l i on .  

MR GOVENDER :   Accord ing  to  –  th is  i s  accord ing  to  O l ive r  

Wyman.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   Okay.   That  i s  the  pos i t ion  he  is  

postu la t ing  to .  

MR GOVENDER :   Okay.   I  jus t  wanted to  f ind  ou t ,  Cha i r,  

th is  emai l  f rom Pau l  Cowley,  what  re fe rence does i t  have in  20 

my a f f idav i t ,  because I  th ink  i t  has  re fe rence to  the  fac t  

tha t  I  sent  th is  ve ry  same emai l  to  Ms Dan ie ls .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Page 1345.  

MR GOVENDER :    1345.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Paragraph 35,  tha t  i s  where  
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you. . .  [ in te rvenes ]  

MR GOVENDER :    Sor ry,  1345.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you ab le  to  answer  h im qu ick ly,  Mr  

Se leka,  because we must  wrap up.   We must  s top  now.  

MR GOVENDER :   13 ,  sor ry. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja ,  he  says he  fo rwarded them to  Ms  

Dan ie ls .    

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  because as  pa r t  o f  the  O l iver  

Wyman rev iew process they knew tha t  we were  pu t t ing  in  a  10 

se t t lement  ag reement  in  p lace  w i th  McK insey and  par t  o f  

tha t  se t t lement  agreement  I  asked them to  l ook a t  some 

pr inc ip les  tha t  –  sor ry,  sor ry,  Cha i r  –  I  asked them to  look  

a t  some p r inc ip les  tha t  we need  to  incorpora te  i n to  the 

se t t lement  ag reement  f rom a  techn ica l  pe rspect ive  and 

they prepared th is  memo for  me.   And I  have submi t ted  that  

memo to  Ms Dan ie ls  to  cons ider  i t  and to  re lay  i t  to  CDH 

who was he lp ing  us  w i th  the  te rm inat ion  agreement .   And I  

know tha t  O l ive r  Wyman ra ised  tha t  i ssue,  bu t  I  was  

conf ident  tha t  i f  tha t  was the  case i t  wou ld  be  caught  by  20 

CDH and Ms Dan ie ls  as  the  lega l  exper t s  to  say tha t ,  you 

know,  we d id  no t  have to  pay them anyth ing  

and. . .  [ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :   Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   Thank you,  Cha i r.   We have 
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to . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :   Ja .   In  te rms o f  what  you needed to  

cover,  how much d id  you not  ge t  to?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    We d id  no t  address the  corpora te  p lan ,  

the  issues re la t ing  to  corpo ra te  p lan .   That  i s  four  

quest ions the re ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Bu t  the  four  quest ions do  not  t rans la te  

in to  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :   Ja ,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .   Jus t ,  ja ,  corpo ra te  10 

p lan  and what  e lse?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    And –  yes,  I  th ink  we have got  the  MSA 

except  Mr  Govender,  we needed to  go  in to  how the  

payments  were  made.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  how much t ime wou ld  be  –  wou ld  

have been requ i red  fo r  you to . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SELEKA SC :    For  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  comple te  the  issues.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    About  an  hour.  

CHAIRPERSON :    About  an  hour.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Govender,  when a re  you  

leav ing  the  count ry?  

MR GOVENDER :    Cha i r,  I  am actua l l y  [ ind is t inc t ]  to  

abso lu te l y  h i t  the  road on Thursday.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    On Thursday.  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  they are  go ing  to  come fo r  me 

o therwise ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And wou ld  your  –  you say h i t  the  road.  

MR GOVENDER :    No,  no ,  I  mean. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    F ly,  okay.   Wou ld  tha t  be  in  the  even ing  

or  wou ld  tha t  be . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    Normal l y  i t  i s  an  even ing  f l igh t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Even ing  f l igh t .  

MR GOVENDER :    Ja .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  because i f  a l l  you  need is  an  hour,  

I  am wonder ing  whether  be fo re  you depar t  i f  the  

Commiss ion  can  f ind  some t ime,  an  hour  somewhere  

whethe r  i t  i s  on  the  morn ing  or  la te r  o r  dur ing  the  day 

whethe r  tha t  cou ld  be  squeezed in .   Obv ious ly  tha t  has go t  

to  take  in to  account  the i r  s i tua t ion ,  bu t  I  am jus t  us ing  th is  

oppor tun i ty  fo r  us  to  exp lo re  whether  there  i s  a  poss ib i l i t y  

a long those l ines .   Le t  me hear  what  i s . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

UNKNOWN MALE :    Mr  Cha i r,  can I  tender  what  I  have got  

ava i lab le?  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

UNKNOWN MALE :    I  have got  ava i lab le  up  unt i l  

Wednesday a f te rnoon.   I  jus t  need to  be  ou t  o f  

Johannesburg  to  be  in  Cape Town Wednesday n igh t  so  tha t  

I  can be in  cour t  on  Thursday morn ing .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

UNKNOWN MALE :    So  I  have there fore  go t  –  where  a re  

we today,  Monday.   I  have got  Tuesday and I  have got  

Wednesday up un t i l  say  luncht ime,  shor t l y  a f te r  lunch.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay and f rom your  s ide ,  Mr  

Govender,  you wou ld  t ry  and f i t  in  w i th in  whatever  

p repara t ions you w i l l  be  do ing?  

MR GOVENDER :    Cha i r,  abso lu te l y.   I  w i l l  t ry  my best ,  bu t  

w i th  COVID there  are  a  number  o f  p repara t ions tha t  need  

to  be  made befo re  you leave.   And normal ly  I  go  fo r  th ree  10 

to  four  months ,  so  I  need a t  leas t  a  coup le  o f  days to  so r t  

ou t  med ica t ion  and a  who le  lo t  o f  o ther  th ings tha t  I  need 

to  ge t  done.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  th ink  le t  us  

leave i t  a t  th is  tha t  Mr  Se leka w i l l  be  in  touch w i th  your  

lega l  team,  bu t  i t  ought  to  be  poss ib le  be tween now and 

Wednesday a f te rnoon to  f ind  an  hour,  whether  i t  i s  n ine  in  

the  morn ing  up  to  10  be fore  the  w i tness fo r  the  day s ta r ts  

o r  somet ime in  the  la te  a f te rnoon or  even ing  and so  i t  

ought  to  be  poss ib le .   And i f  there  are  cha l lenges  we can  20 

take  i t  f rom there ,  bu t  I  am opt im is t i c  tha t  we shou ld  f ind  

t ime. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GOVENDER :    Okay,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . so  tha t  you can f in ish .  

MR GOVENDER :    Yes,  Cha i r.   Can  I  jus t  ask ,  a l though i t  i s  
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very  co ld  i n  the  even ing  here ,  bu t  an  even ing  w i l l  be  good 

fo r  me because then i t  leaves me the  day to  reso lve  my 

o ther  i ssues.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   No,  tha t  w i l l  be  borne in  m ind.  

MR GOVENDER :    Okay.   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .  

UNKNOWN MALE :   We wi l l  f i t  in  w i th  wh ichever  space you  

can accommodate ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay,  no ,  thank you.   Thank you.   

Okay,  le t  me thank everybody.   Le t  me thank you,  Mr  10 

Govender,  and your  lega l  team for  you r  coopera t ion .   Mr  

Se leka and your  team and the  techn ic ians and the  s ta f f .   

Thank you fo r  g i v ing  us  your  coopera t ion .   We are  go ing  to  

ad journ  now.   Fo r  the  benef i t  o f  the  pub l i c ,  I  ment ion  tha t  

tomorrow dur ing  the  day I  w i l l  be  hear ing  the  ev idence o f  

Mr  Ho lden in  regard  to  money f lows,  the  money f lows work  

s t ream.    

Okay,  we ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 22 JUNE 2021  20 


